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PREFACE.

In issuing a second volume of “Madras in the
Olden Time” as it is depicted in the old records
of the Madras Government, the Compiler has little
to add to the Preface which was appended to the
former volume. He has coutinued to adhere to
his design of endeavouring to convey to the reader
all the pleasure and information to be derived from
a perusal of the original records, without the
painful labour of wading through a mass of
obsolete detail. The present volume brings the
annals down to the year 1727. The third volume
will so far complete the undertaking, as to fill up
the blank which has hitherto existed in the history
of the English Settlement, between the first found-
ation of Fort St George and the period when
Mr. Orme’s history may be satd to begin,

According to the plan here sketched out, the
present scries of annals of the Madras Presidency
will be brought to a close about the middle of the
last century.  But it may not be premature to add
that the compiler has no intention of bringing his
labours to a conclusion ai so important a crisis in
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the history of British India.  From 1640 to 1750
the annals comprise little more than the story of a
commercial settlement ; and may be best gathered
from selections from the early records, such as we
are now placing before our readers. But the half
century inmedialely succceding to that period is
a period of conquest, of which enly a small portion
of the history has been told by Mr. Orme, and to
which modern historians gencrally have only done
partial justice. India as it was in the days of
Clive and Hastings, Hyder and Tippoo, of Coote
and Wellington, of Cornwallis and Mornington, is
almost a blank so far as a living narrative of the
times is concerned.  The politician, the moralist,
and the military annalist have done their best, but
it still remains for the antiquarian to exhume from
the records of the time, ibe story of that eventful
period written by the hands of the actors themselves.
Such a task however involves far more than an
examination of the records of a single Presidency ;
and the writer wust therefore defer placing any
definite plan before his readers, until the third and
concluding  volume of “Madras in the Olden
Time,” which is nearly all ready for the press,
ghall have been fairly brought to a close.

MaDRAS, }
July 1044, 1841,
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HISTORY OF THE MADRAS
PRESIDENCY.

CHAPTER XVIIL

GOVERNORSHIP OF MR. THOMAS PITT,
1701—3.

In the previons volume we brought down the
annals of Madms to the siege of Fort Ht. George
by the Nabob Dawood Khan. Before however
proceeding with the annals chronologically, we
shall bring forward a few extracts for the years
1701 and 1702, which refer to domestie ineidents,
and which could not have appeared in their cliro-
nological order without interfering with the history
of the siege. After the date of the raising of the
blockade, the events will be arranged as before in
order of time.

The fivst extract refers to the ald struggle for
the exercise of independent power by the Roman
Catholic Bishop of 8t. Thomé, against the Go-
vernor of Fort St. George.

“ Thursday, 8th \Ia\, 1701. The Secretary is
ordered to defiver Padré Friar Michael Anjous, the
following paper translated in Portuguese, and he
to be prescnt at the reading of the suue in their
Church on Sunday next.

1
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“ Whereas we, the Governor and Council of
this place, have been credibly informed that on or
about the 12th March last, the Right Rev. Father
Don Gaspar Alfonse, Bishop of 5t. Thomé, as he
styles himself, did send a paper to the Padres of
Madras belonging to the Church, for the exer-
cising the Roman Catholic Religion, commanding
and requiring them to publish the same ; the pur-
port of which paper being to require and eom-
mand the delivering up of sundry papers to the
Provisor and Vicar General of St ‘Thomé ; which
papers wholly relate to a cause depending in our
Court of Admiralty ; and upon their non compli-
ance with the same, they were to undergo the
greatest excommunication.

* In order to publish these our highest resent-
ments against the Right Reverend Don Gaspar Al-
fonso’s proceedings, and the Reverend Padre Friar
Michael Anjous compliance with the same, we
hereby declare that no Bishop whatsoever of the
Roman Catholie religion hath any power or juris-
diciion over the Clergy or Laymen of that persua-
sion, residing nnder this our government.

* And to prevent the like irrezularities for the
future, we strictly command and enjoin vou I'adre
Friar Michael Anjous, or whoever shall sueceed
you as Chief Padre in this Church, not to publish,
read, or permit to be read any paper directed to
vou from any Bishop or ecclestastical fanctionary
whatever, without first acquainting the Governor of
this place, and obtaining lLis leave for ihe same,
as you will answer the contrary at your peril. And
we further require you to publish this our crder in
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your Church in a full congregation on Sunday
next.  Given under our hands and the seal of the
Right Honourable Company. Dated at Fort St.
George in the city of Madras, this eighth day of
May, 1701,

(Signed by the President and Council.}

Our next incident i3 quite a domestic one.

¢ Tuesday, 9th May. Whereas Ensign William
Read on Sunday last coming drunk into Church
and challenging his fellow officers, it is therefore
resolved for such offences, that onc montlt’s pay be
stopped by the Paymaster, and he be severely re-
primanded by us.”

The following little anecdote illustrates the com-
mercial rivarly which prevailed between the Dutch
st Pulicat and the English at Fort 3t. George.

¢ Saturday, 28th June, Serapa and the Joint
Btock Merchants informing us that the Dutch, who
have now made great contracts all along this coast,
are {ampering with all our Weavers to seduce them
from our service. And whereas it has been the
eustom in such considerable contracts as have been
lately made here, to deposit in the Weavers hands
five Pagodas for each loom, ta be delivered in cloth
at the last payment ; the Dutch now, to engross the
Weavers and get them from our Merchants, have
offerred to deposit in the Weavers hands ten Pago-
das for each Ioom. So considering the ill conse-
quences if we should not enable our Merchants to
do the same, aud that they will inevitably lose
their looms; we order that forthwith fifteen
tBousand Pagodas be advanced to Serapa and the
Joint Stock Merchants.”
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The next incident illustrates the Native idea
of the hereditary nature of all public appointinents.

“ Wednesday, 24th December.  Angerapa Naik,
our Watchinon, dviug the 29th October last, there
has been great application by letters from several
Poligars to ns in the behalf of Timapa Naik, who
contended several years for the place with the
deceaseldl Watelmman ; but finding upon enquiry
that it was not his rizht, besides having murdered
some inhabitants of this place, he was rejected.
And whereas the late deceased Watehman bas left
a son ab infant, who upon enquiry of the most
knowing inhabitants of this place say, that the in-
fant lias the riziit of succession : so that to prevent
any more application to us, and fearing that Timapa
Natk may procure the Nabob's perwanna, which
may occasion disputes between the (Government
and us ; we have thought fit to grant eur Cowle
to the infaut, during whose minority his uncle
Tegapa Naik is to offiviate and to be Chief Wateh-
man of this place ; and aecordingly it is agreed
that the infant be tasheviffed with the usual cere-
mony, and a Cowle drawn out.”

The losses entailed upon the Company's Go-
vernment by the proceedings of the Arab Pirates
have heen already allnded to, and are sufficiently
represented in the following extracts. Our readers
will bear in mind that it was at this same Judda
or Jedda, the Porl of Mecea, that the massacre of
Christians took place in 31358, .

“ Baturday, 24th January, 1702. This place
Madras having suffered much by ships unjustly seiz-
ed by the Arabs of Muscat and the Bashaw at
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Judda, which has oecasioned great clamours amongst
the inhabitants of ail sorts in this place, chiefly
through despair of any assistance from the Govern-
ment, for procuring satisfaction, for the same; the
Governor aud Council, to pacity them for the pre-
sent, proposed the sending a Petition to the kiug of
England, and a Letter to the Company, setting
forth their grievances and great losses thereby.
Which Petition and letter was read and agreed on
as entered after this Consultation.

“To the king's most Excellent Majesty in
Council,

** The humble Petition of vour Majesty’s most
dutiful and loyal subjects, inhabitants of the city
of Madras on the Coast of Coromandel in the
East Indies.

* Humbly sheweth,

That we, vour Majesty’s Petitioners residing in
this place, having liberly of trade in these parts
gal, and thenee to Persia, where she arrived safe s
but on her return, 14th April, she met three
Arab ships off Muscat, and took her and ecarried
her into that Port, and made prize both of ship
frow the East India Compauy® Merchants of Lon-
don trading to the East Lndies, did in June 1695
equip out a ship called the ““ London,” burthen
about 120 tons, Richard William Master, to Ben-

* Our readers 1must bear in mind that the Company's
servants at this time had permission to trade om their
own account between different ports in the East, so long
as they did not interfere in the trade with Europe.
This permissive trade they generally carried on with
the assistanee of the principal Native Merchants of
Madras on the prinetple of a Joint Stock Company,
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aud cargo, valued at about £5000 sterling. She
had ten Furope men on board of her, three of
which made their escape, and the others miserably
perished in prison, whe were most part your Ma-
Jesty’s subjects, And on the 18th June 1709 did
send hence a ship called the * Friendship,” buar-
then 100 tons, William Mecrrice Master, to Surat,
who from thence went to Persia, and meeting with
two Arab ships in the Gulf, was seized on by them
and carricd to Muscat, where they sold the ship
snd cargo, amounting to about £3000 sterling,
besides Armenian goods of great value; and im-
prisoned after a most barbarous manner her ship’s
company, the master, mates, and several Officers
being your majesty’s subjects.

“We also in October 1699 sent a ship called
the “Diamond,” burthen about 100 tons, John
Cockroft Master, to Bengal, and there to lade for
Judda in the Red Seus; who accordingly did,
and proceeded to the aforesaid Port; but los-
ing her passage wintered at Acheen, so that
she did not arrive st Judda till March 17491,
They were promised by the Bashaw freedom of
trade, and the protection of the Port ; upon which
they landed their goods and sold to the Bashaw
and his officers good part thereof ; but soon after
they were possessed of the goods, they seized the
ship and the remaining part of the eargo, which
they made sale of ; so that with what they had
before in their hands, amounting to at least
£30,000 sterling. They also seized the Supercar-
go ard Commander, and what other Earope men
did not make their escape, and murdered some of
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them Ly their barbarous imprisonment, and threaten
to sell the persons of those living.  All which was
upon pretence, that this was the ship that took an
Araly’s ship off the high land of St. John’s near
Burat the year before. At which time this ship
* Diamond” was at Mocha, and returned thence
into this road in September, whilst your Majesty’s
four Men of War were here ; and being informed
that this place Judda is in some measure under
the Government of the Grand Seignour, we have
represented this great injustice by letier {o your
Majesty’s Ambassador at Constantinople and
your Consul at Grand Cairo.

“* These our misforiunes, we know not what
cause to assign for them, unless it be as is re-
ported through this country, that some of our
nation have most industriously endeavoured to fix
all piracies committed in these parts on the Old
East India Compuany and their Factors, and on
such as reside in their settlements ; inculcating
likewise into the Natives, that let themn seize what
they will of ours, that we have no power to make
ourselves restitution, nor will there be any trouble
come to them thereon,

* We having Lere most humbly represented to
your Majesty, the most motorious injustices we
have suffered from the Arabs of Muscat and
Bashaw of Judda, all amounting to at least
£43,000 slerling ; for the restitution of which
we humbly implore that your sacred Majesty will
be graciously pleased to extend your Royal protec-
tion io us, in granting us your letters of reprisal,
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or in such manuer as in your great  wisdom shall
he thought meet,

“ Aud your Petitioners as in duty bound shall
ever pray, cte.

The Letier to the Company covering the Veti-
tion to the King, contains little more than a re-
quest that the latter might be forwarded. The
following extract from it is worthy of preservation
as exlibiting the feeling of animosity which pre-
vailed ngainst the New East India Company.

“ We have too much reason to be jealous that
that unhappy misfortune at Judda may be justly
artributed to the infamous and hellish contri-
vances of some of our own countrymen (i. ¢. New
East Indin Cowpany), whe- lave stuck at nothing
in endcavouring to fix the Piracies upon you and
vour Faetors abroad.  And if that Bashaw of Jud-
da does what we are advised of, in selling the
Commander and Supereargo, why may it not be a
precedent for the Aiabs of Muscat, and the Moors
throughout India, ta de the same, and then what
will beeome of all your subordinate Tactories.
These are also many more dreadful consequences
to be inferred from the late resistencies of these
nations ; and if they be not speedily called to an
account, and forced to restitution for what is
passed, it will most certainly end in the utter ruin
of vour trade in these parts.”

We now retwin to the domestic annals of the
Presidency.  During the acinal blockade of Fort
St. George, no other entries of any imnportasee ap-
pear in the consultation books excepting those con-
nected with the siege.  In May however, matters
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returned to their old channel. The following ex-
tracts explain themsclves.

*“ Thursday, 21st May, 1702. We finding that
gardens within a mile of the works of Black town to
be very inconvenient, they giving great advantage
to an enemy for Lodgemeuts, and erecting Batte-
ries against us ; for which reason it is ordered that
Messrs. Empson and Marshall do take a view of
what Gardens have been planted these five years,
and report to the Governor and Council the dis-
tance they are from the works, and whether any
ways incommodious.

1t is ordered that the Paymaster provide scar-
let coats and beaver hats for the Portuguese Offi-
cers, as a gratuity for their readiness to serve the
Garrison, and the same for the English Officers,
viz. Lieutenants and Lnsigns.”

The departure of Dawood Khan was celebrated
with four days successive feasting as appears from
the next entry.

 Iriday, 22nd May. On the 19th instant the
Portnguese Militia, on the 20th one Company of
Solliers, the next day the other Company, and this
day the Guoroom crew, were handsonely treated
with dinners under a large teat spread in the Inner
Fort ; and the Commission Officers of the respec-
tive Companies those evenings supped with the
Governor.”  Again on the 25th, *“the Governor
and Council and Trainbands were splendidly enter-
tained with a supper at the Company’s Garden ;
they having also been under arms in our late
troubles.”

The following complaint brought by a erew

a9

o
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against their Commander and Chief Mate is worthy
of preservation.

“ Wednesday, 8th July. The Governor yester-
day receiving a sort of a Letter, with a Paper sign-
ed by twenty-mine of the Phenir Ship’s Company,
commonly called a Rowwd Robin ; the purport of
the Letter consisting chicfly of complaints against
Captain Carswell and his Chief Mate, Mr. Abbis.
The Governor immediately semt for the Captain
and Purser of said ship, who secmed to be sur-
prised at it, saying that they knew nothing of the
matter. Upon which the Governor sent off an
order to the Chief Mate, about which the Captaiu,
Chicf Mate, and five of the men appeared before
us this day ; two of the five being the Boatswain and
Gunner of the Ship, who complained chiefly of the
disability of the Chicf Mate, that he knew not how
to discharge his duty in that employ, as also of his
abusing the men:  Their complamts chiefly against
their Commander for pinching them in their pro-
visions ; he confessing hefore us  that their allow-
ance three times a week 13 but a quart of rice amd
gran together for five men a day, but promises
that for the future it shall be reetified. So upon
the whole cxamination of this business, we find
that the Gunner has been the ringleader, wio
seensy to us to be an impudent, saucy, insinuating
fellow, and belicve has been the sok, oceasion of
stirring up the men to complain i this malicious
manner, The Round Robin as well as the Letter,as he
himselt confesses, was wrote with his hand ; so that
to prevent the ill consequence that may attend
such clamours, it is resolved that the Gunuer
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and Boatswain ave discharged the ship, as also
Danicl Bultineh and Peter Middleston; the two
Iatter, as the Captain tells us, have been very active
in this villany ; and for the present that the four
aforesaic persons be committed to the main guard,
till we consider of inflicting such punishment as
they deserve.”

On the 8th March, 1702 died William I1f, and
in September the same year the news reached Fort
St. George, as will be seen from the following
entry.

* Tharsday, 1 7th September.  In pursuance to
an order of Consultation, the Tlag was early this
morning loisted, wnd at eight o'clock was lower-
ed, when there was two volleys small shot and one
hundred canmon discharged by the halt minute
glass, for the death of our late gractons King Wil-
liam the Third of blessed memory. Then the Tlag
was again hoisted up, when the Mayor, and all the
Aldermen in their gowns on horscback, with twelve
Halborteers and o Company of Grenadiers march-
ing before them, Proclaimed our gracions Queen
Anne at the Tort Gate, Town Hall, Sea Gate, and
Choultry Gate, with many huzzas aud great de-
Tnonstration of joy, with three volleys swall shot
and one hundred and one pieces of cannon dis-
charzed.  And in the cvening the Gavernor, at-
tended by ail the Gentlemen of the Council, with
the Mayor and Aldermen and several other gentle-
men in palanguins and borseback, to the Com-
pany’s Bowling Garden, where there was a hand-
some treat provided ; all Europeans of fashion in
the city being invited to the same, where they
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drank the Queen’s health, and prosperity to old
England, with many others.

The following very disinterested aci on the part
of a Native Chief deserves especiul notice.

“ Saturday, 26th. Abdul Labby Khan, Go-
vernor of Porto Novo and the country about it,
came last night to St. Thomd, having been lately
at the Camyp at Vellore ; unto whom the GGovernor
sent this moming the Moollah with a compliment,
and two bottles of rosewater, which he kindly re-
ceived, and intimated to him that he was destrous
of seeing Madras, which the Moollah was ovdered
to evade 1if possible, but not to give a flat denial.
And whereas we have always found the Governor
of Porto Novo a friend to our Cowpany’s interest,
and to preserve his friendship, it is agreed that we
make him a present of Gold Chains to the value of
about 450 Pagodas.

« Sunday, 27th. The Moollah and Bralimin
did this day attend the Nabob Abdul Lablby at
St. Thome, with the present of Gold Chains, which
they privately offered ; but he refused to accept
them, telling them he was a true friend to the
English, so would take no present, but would al-
ways continue the kindness he had for us, and
make it his study to do us all the good services
that lay in his power.”

Our next extracts explaius itself.

“ Tuesday, 20th October. TDuring the time
Dawood Khan lay before this place, we were
continually straightened for provisions, at which
time the weather being very hot we could not salt
up any ; 5o were foreed to keep a great number of
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Hoxgs, the meat for which was very chargeable,
besides the great inconvenience of keeping such a
number. So to prevent any future danger that
may happen from the Garrison wanting Provisions,
it is agreed that Detween this and January next,
that the Steward be ordered to kill three hundred
Hous, to be salted up as the Governor from time
to time shall direct.  And if it should so happen
there be no occasion for them, that then they le
disposed of to the shipping as opportunity offers.”

“ Wednesday, 4th November. The President is
advised from Masulipatam that the Mogul piteli-
ing his Camp near some great mountaios, from
which of a sudden came so great fall of waters,
that 1t swept away about 50,000 people, with
elephants, horses, camels, and baggage, he himself
narrowly escaping.”” (This event is noticed by
Elphinstone, who however reduces the nuber of
people who perished to 12,000.)

The following incident furnishes an extraordi-
nary illustration of the administration of the law.

“Triday, 6th. The 29th ult. it was ordered
that the three black fellows apprehended, and found
preparing to coin Pagodas, shoulit be brought on
their trial to-mmrrow ; but finding the evidence
against them is 50 insufficient that they will most
certaml\. be scquitted, and they offering six
humedred Pagodas to be acquitted without a trlal
it is thouﬂ-ht much hetter to aceept the same ; not
only in rogard to the six hundred Pl"’O(lﬂ.S but
likewise their being acquitted on their trial would
encouraze others “to attempt the same ; and ae-
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cordingly it is ngreed to receive the said six hun-
dred Pagodas, and banish them the place.

The news of the war of the Spanish suecession
had now reached the Iresidency, and preparations
were made to improve the defences.  The following
entry will illustrate the state of affairs.

 Saturday, 16th Junuary, 1703, Here being
a report that there is coming a strong squadron of
French and Portuguese men of war for India,
against which we are informed the Dutch are mak-
ing great preparations, and putting their garrisons
in a posture of defence ; and we fearing our nation
is engaged in the war in Europe, and well knowing
that the Dutch will give us no manner of assistance,
s0 think it necessary to keep our Garrison in the
best posture of defence we are capable of.”

This vear another series of attempts was com-
raeneed for obtaining possession of the Company’s
out towns of Egmore, Persewaunkum, and Tripli-
cane. Tle first, it will be secn, was checked by a
very decided action on the part of Governor Pitt.

“ Friday, 12th March.  The Governor having
news brought him Jast night, that there had been
six or cight Peons, who had tied leaves in the
Company’s towns, which is the custom of the
country when they take possession of any place ;
Peons were sent out immediately to seize them,
but could not find them ; but this moming
three of them came to the Governor at Eginore,
and produced a paper which is an order from
the Yonjdar of Poonamallee, grounded upon
an order he had received from the King’s
Dewan Mahomed Seid. The Governor ordered
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them to be carried prisoncrs to the Fort, where
they were put in irons, and intended to be purish-
ed for executing an order within our jurisdiction,
without first aequainting the Governor therewith.”
Four days afterwards the three Peons were re-
leased, * in consideration that they were but ser-
vanls, and obeyed only their Master’s order; but
were severely cheeked for the same, the Governor
telling them that if they or any others presumed
to do the like again, they should most eertainly
lose their heads.”

The follewing entry of the same date explains
iteelf.

* Mr. Richard Pearsen writer, who came ount in
the Pheenir, and immediately sent to Masulipatam,
where he behaved himsclf very iusclently to his
superiors, for which they sent him hither in Janu-
ary last, where soon after he belraved himself very
impudently to the Governor, who confined and
punished him for it ; and afterwards upon his sub-
mission, and acknowledging his fanlt with promis-
es of amendment he was set at liberty ; when in
few days after, be quarrelled at the Company’s
General table, where he gave opprobions language
to scveral, and blows to boot.  So finding him an
incorrigible and dcbauched fellow, and that keep-
ing him here may tend to the ruin of several of the
young men in the Company's service ;—it is
agrecd that be be confined to the inward Fort, and
sent for England by the first opportunity ; and
that he be penmitted to come no more to the Com-
pany’s Table, but that the Steward shall send Lim
such Provisions ns the Governor directs.”
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We have already seen, on the occasion of the
visit of the Nabob. Dawood Khan to Fort St.
George, that the General Table could be magnifi-
cently saived.  The following extracts will prove
that even in the matter of silver plate, the show
was by no means despicable for those days.

« Thursday, 8th April, 1703. The Company
having no plate for their General Table, or any
other use, but what is very old and battered, and
but very little of it too, which is now agreed to be
melted down, and the President who brought out
a set of plate with lim, and has used it ever since
at his own charge : it is agreed that the same now
Le taken on the Company’s account ; allowing for
the same, as the Company’s silver was lately sold,
sixteen Dollars weight for ten Pagodas Eng-
lish standard ; and for the fashioning thercof as it
cost in Lngland ; and that the same be weighed
off to the Steward, and an account of it bronght
into Consultation, that so it may be hrought into
the Books. From the particulars of an account
which is given at full length in the Consultations,
we learn that Governor Pitt’s silver plate weighed
2240 oz. 17 dwts. ; that the metal was valued at
£700 sterling, and that the fashioning cost £63.
The old plate which was melted down was valued
at less than £100. Mr. Piti’s new plate included 66
silver plates, 6 salts small, 1 salt large, 3 castors
and mustard spoon, 3 porringers, 16 spoons, &
forks and 6 knives, 1 ladle large, 12 disles, 1
teapot, 1 sauee pan, 2 salvers large, 2 salvers small,
1 Monteith, £ large candlesticks, and 7 covers,
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CHAPTER XIX.

GOVEENORSHIP OF MR. THOMAS PITT.
1703—4.

The great event which distinguished (he period
in our annmals now under review, is one which can
ke stated in a few words, viz. the union of the old
and new Companies Into one. With this cvent the
quarrels of the two Companies naturally terminat-
ed, and attention was ounce more directed to the
prosecution of trade, the progress of domestic
affairs, and occasional communications with the
Nabob.

The first incident te be wuoticed furnishes an-
other illustration of the old difficulty of collecting
new taxes from the nativea. It will be remembered
that on the advanece of Dawood Khan a brick wall
and other works had been crected for the defence
of Black-town, and arrangemenis were made to
meet the expense by collecting a  special tax from
the inhabitants. It will be seen from the follow-
ing extracts, that many abuses had occurred in the
collection, which were charged upon Serapa Naik,
the Chief merchant who had been appointed to
superintend it.

“ Friday, 9th April, 1763. The Chiefs of the
Castes having met daily for some wecks past at
the Pagoda to consider of ways and means for

3
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raising the money for bullding the Black-town
wall and works ; amd having acquainted the Go-
vernor a few days past that they bad perfected the
same ; we snmunotied all the Castes thus day before
ns, and called over the Roll of how much every
Caste wos assessed. With which they all seemed to
be satisfied, and declared shey bad given their as-
sent thereunto. Upon which we ordered it forth-
with 1o be collected in such a method as they
themselves desired ; wlich was to be by their own
Conicopolies, and two Peons to each Caste.

“Wednesday, 28th.  There having been a scan-
dalous paper dropped in the town, relativg to
the assessing of the Town wall money, written in
a vounterfeit haud in English ; which we judge to
be hy some European who has lad some insight
in the Company’s affuirs ; the (drift of which can
le for no other than to raise mutinies aid insue-
rections to prevent the collecting the money for
puilding the Black-Town wall and works ; and
there heing some particular eharges agatnst Serapa
the Chief Merchant ;—we summeoencd 2il the Lieads
of the Castes hefore us this morning, awd examined
them Lo every particulor, when they positively
denied they knew anything of it Which paper
is entered after this consultation.

¢ To the Council of Fort 3t. George,

¢ (zentlemen,

“ Yinding personal application to some of you,
16 mediate matters with the Governor about a due
regulation in asscssing for the Town wall, has been
fruitless ; we havein concert with many oflers,
token this method to lay before you the sentiments
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of the inhabitants ; hoping your justice in com-
passion to us, zeul to the Hon’ble Company, and
regard to the welfure of this place, will induce you
to consider the following.

“ That the building of the Town wall was by
the lon'ble Company’s order, some of us have
been made sensible of, and we believe it ; also
that they cxpeet the charges for the same should be
borne by the several Castes, whicl we think a very
grreat hardship ; considering the benetit of Customs
the 1lonorable Company reaps by our Sea and
Land Trade ; also the Farms of Betel, Tobaceo,
and Arrack (which fall sensibly heavy), not to
mention the Ground reut of our houses, Pedda
Nuik’s Duty, ete.

« Alithough these, as aforesaid, are hardships,
vet by length of time, being become Sallubad (as
we csteemn them) there is no great demur made
now, and are not recited here as gricvauces ; sa
much as an introduction to inform you, that we
are wholly dissatisfied in Serapa Naik’s being  in-
trusted with the collection of the town wall
money, latcly ordered by the Governor and your-
sclves to be reecived of us; for his audacious
injunctions publicly made to the Conicopolics and
Peons (who go about to gather the noney) to
beat and pull us by the necks with cords to the
Chouliry, wpon refusal of payment ; which has been
committed on some who were 1ot in & capacity to
Taunch out so much as demanded.

 Such outrages and insalts are seldom inflicted
under the Moors, therefore we are amazed at Se-
rapa’s presumption in giving such orders under the
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English Government ; but they have been redress-
ed {upon acomplaint made to the Honorable Go-
vernor) by punishing iwo Peons ; though we are
since served almost as ignominiously ; Leing con-
stroined by those sordid Cotlectors to stund before
our doors a while in the sun, till wrooght iuto a
compliance ; and if such suflevings are caused by
our backwardness to pay, please be referred to our
reasons that makes us so.

¢ First, Serapa Naik, at a General Meeting up-
on his summons, told s the lonerable Company
having been at a great charge for raising a wall
round the Black Town for our security, must be
reimbursed, and three thousand Pagodas more
added torepay the said Serapa’s charges of pre-
gents, ete. during Dawood Khan's stay here last,

“ Second. Taving well considered the Honorable
Company’s indulgent care to protect us, we shall
most willingly acquiesce to refund their cost of
the Town wall, but then humbly request mnay be
granted, viz.

«1st. That orly the first costs thereof be as-
sessed.

“2nd. That an Englishman be appointed re-
ceiver or C'ollector.

“3rd. That no pretence of presents, ete. made
by Serapa Naik, be interwoven with the Town wall
money.

< 4th, That every caste, knowing what each are
to pay, have liberty of themselves to bring the
same, which they promise to do within any time
himited.

“Third. These four requests being granted
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will give a general satisfaction, and save the hire
of so many Conicopolies and Peons employed as
new appointed in this affair,

“ Fourth. And what further induces us to in-
sist on the four requests as aforesaid, are, because
we are under some jealousy, that besides the Town
wall money, and the 3,000 VPagodas for Serapa
Naik, more may still Dbe taken, and appropriated
to the present manager’s use.

“ Qurselves, and fathers before us, have ldng ex-
perienced the quiet and moderate Englisk Govern-
ment, and hope our children's children atter us
way enjoy the like, But when some by their
characters assumae to it abuses ; under & presump-
tion that their being favourities will protect them
against all clamours (which we find too true) ; we
have only this expedient left, viz. To represent
our ralamities. And having so done now, we hope
a short time will show us the effects of your wis-
down, by interposing in matters so destructive to
the public good ; otherwise we propose to apply
ourselves to the l{onorable Cempany, by sending
them a copy hereof, with another memorial of
farther complaints of this nature. Dated Madras,
Apri}, 1703, In behalf of the Native inhabitants
of Madras.”

Notwithstanding the denial on the part of the
Natives, of any knowledge or participation in the
paper, it 1s certain that subsequently the amount
was only partially collected, and that with the
utmost difficnlty, as may be gathered from many
allusions, which need not be reproduced here.

The following quaint but graphic narrative of
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an engagement with Pirates is entered in the con-
sultations, dated 31st May, 1703, and is well
worthy of prescrvation as illustrative of the times.

“ A Relation of the taking of the Ship * Tem-
broke Frimatc,” Ly the Pirates at Mayotta, Mareh
10th, 1703, by Mr. Edward Fenwick, the Super-
cargo.

<« On the 9th of March last we made the [sland
of Mayotta, aud as we were standing in with the
Land about three leagues distance, we discovered
two ships under sail closc under the land,  They
had sent their Loats off before we could see them io
make out where we were; they were full of men, and
kept rowing about half a mile to windward of us.
After we showed our colours and fired a gun to
windward, they each of thewr put ont a flag, which
we at firsl thought to be the King’s flag, not
plainly distinguishing it ; but they would not
come near us to acquaint us which was the road
or the way in ; which we were obliged to endea-
vour the finding ourselves, being in extremity ;
and with this consideration eoncerning the ships,
that if they should prove Pirates our loading would
be of no use to them, so consequently we might
cxpeet good treatment from them, as has formerly
been shown fo others.  We steered west and west
by sonth Lill we came into five fathom water about
a learue from the shore, and theve anchored ; which
we had no sooner done, nd veered away a little
cable, but the most frightful and oreatest of dan-
gers presented themselves to us, both of the ship
and our lives ; breakers on all sides within half a
ship’s length, which, because it was dark and just
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high water, we did not perceive till we were so
near them. Whilst we were in this consternation
and hurry what to de, the two boats hailed us,
lying at a Grappling sight ahead within el ; but
would by no means come to our assistance, except
we first sent our boat to them. Then we im-
mediately sent our Yawl with four hands, two of
which they took into their boat, and put two of
their own people into our boat. When they came
on board they thought we had been fast ashore,
and said they were sorry to find usinso bad a
condition ; the loss of our ship being unaveidable
as they thought; we lying on a reef of rocks
which run out two leagues on each side of us, and
would be dry in half an hour's time, and all round
us nothing but breakers. They advised us to let
the ship lie till morning dry, and they would all
come off then, and see what possibly might be
done to save her; solittle hopes had we from them
of getting off again ; and indeed we soon perecived
they told us mnothing but ‘the truth ; for by this
time the tide had cbbed very much, and at every
hollow of the sea the ship bezan to strike.  There-
fore Captain Weoley considering  that delaying
longer was but running ourselves into greater
dangers, and that there was no other remedy but
to cut and stand the same way out as we eame
m; so desired the two men to go and send our
people on board which were in their boats, which
they presently did. ‘Then all hands turned to,
suml immediately hoved a peck and cut away,
having a spring upon the cuble to cast her. By
these endeavours it pleased God everything an-
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swered our expectations ; and before we could
cast the lead six titnes were past gll dangee, re-
ceiving no other damage than the loss of our
best bower, and about ten fathom of cable.
Now after our ship was out of danger, we began
to eonsider the answers made by the two men that
came on board, to a few questions we asked
them. They said their great ship was a Per-
mission  ship Dbound for Muscat, laden with
guns, anchors, cables, ete:; Captain  Hillyard
Commander. The little ship they said belonged
to ihe Scotch Company, one Captain Drummond
Commander, and was bound for Madagasear, to
trade for slaves, with small arms, powder, ete.
That they had lain there nearly three months be-
fore to repair and clean their ships ; and that just
as they made us coming in, they were standing out
to proceed on their voyage. We acquainted them
the great necessity we were in for provisions and
water, and that several of our men were down ; to
which they answered, they did not doubt but their
Caplain could assist us with everything, and send
their boat betimes to us in the morning,  We did
not give much credit to what they said, yet there
was no way to get clear of them but by fair words
and entreaties; so kept standing off and on all
night ; and at 12 o'clock nest dav, being the 10th,
we came to an anchor about a mile from the shore,
being low watcer, at which time we see their two
hoats lying ry upon the sand. Abhout an hour
after, when the water floated them, they rowed to-
wards us ; and being come with pistot shot under
our stern, they hailed us, asking if they might be
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suffered {o come on board, that they were friends
and bad brought us fresh provisions. Captain
Weoley answered, one of them might come, yet they
both came rowing on; and when they were under
our quarters, one on each side, they all started up
with their arms guarded, swearing if any of us fired
a picce they would give us no quarter, and if we did
not fire they would do us no harm, nor take any
thing from us. Captain Weoley ordered every
one to fire, which we all did, and they at us;
Captain Weoley jumping down the after skuttle at
the same time, and bidding every one to their close
quarters, some into the cabin and some between
decks. DBut we not able to keep either of them
long, they firing six shot to our one: and then
perceiving it was impossible for us to do more,
they having two ships very near us, we called for
quarter ; which they gave us, disarming us, and
turning us into the head. Then they began to
rummage and rifle the ship everywhere, until their
heat was over. In this scuffle we had two men
killed, Mr. Gold our Chief Mate, and Cornelius
Browne a Foremost man. Of their men they had
two wounded ; one of them mortally, the other
shot through both his arms. The rest of the day
they spent searching about the ship, and swearing
to revenge themselves on Captain Weoley, for first
bidding them come on board, and then firing upon
them as they ecame along our side; likewise to
bumn the ship. The next day they carried Cap-
tain Weoley on board one of their ships, and
kept him prisoner there; about forty of them
staying on board us till Friday the 12th, when
4
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they put it to the vote whether to burn her
or to give her to us again. If this had been done
the next day after they took her, she bud certain-
iy been burnt ; but putting it off three or four
days gave us time to make many friends to give
their votes in our favour, that we corried it by
seventeen votes more to save her than to burm
ker.  After taking several things out of her, they
delivered the ship to us again thai night about
seven o'clock ; they making the best of their way
to Madagascar and we for Johanna, giving us six
old small arms in lien of what they took out of
us. But they would by no meana elear Captain
Weoley ; forcing him to go along with them to
serve as a pilot for the Straits of Malacea, swear-
ing to shoot him if he refused it. They Likewise
detained by force Francisco de Cruz our Car-
penter ; yet one of our men, Martin  Hogendirk a
Dutchman, entered himself and went voluntarily
with them.

¢ These two Pirates are very strong, foll of
men, and one sails excellently well. The biggest
earries 40 Guns and near 200 men ; she is called
the ** Prosperous,” and was (as they told us first)
a Permission ship upon a trading voyage, but
surprised and taken about six months before at
Mudagasear. The then Commander Hillyard died
soon after of the woumds he received then, but
the new Pirate Captain of her is called Howard.
The little ship is oalled the * Speedy Return,”
and was formerly commanded by one Captain
Drummond, but now by one Bowen. She carries
1% Guns and 7@ men, and is about 100 tons. She
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with another ahout the same burden were sent out
by the Scotch Company.”

In consequence of this extraordinary relation,
those ships in the Madras Rrads which were bound
for the Straits of Malacca did not proceed au their
desiination ; ‘which iends,” says the consulta-
tion book, ¢ to the great detriment of the Port and
lessening of the customs ; besides it is to be feared
that if ﬁxese Pirates take any of the country ships,
it will bring us into new troubles with the Govern-
ment, out of which we have but a few months past
extricated ourselves.,”” It may be mentioned that
Captain Weoley made his escape from the Pirates
a few months afterwards.

Our next extract is worthy of record as illustrat-
ing the mode in which the political department
of the Company’s administration was carried on
in these primitive times.

* Thursday, 12th August, 1703, 14 being the
general report of the country that there will be
sudden alterations im the Government by the re-
moval of the Nabol, or Dewan, or hoth, and we
having but two spy Brabhmins in the Camp, and
here being who tenders his service, being
son to Vinkettee Puitee, who procured the firmaun
from the king of Goleonda for this place, and he
seeming to be an intelligible person :—it is agreed
he be entertained, if ke will serve for five or six
Pagodas per mensem, to reside es a private pers
son in the Camyp, to give us intelligence of all af-
fairs of importance, but not to be there asa
Vakeel,"”
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The following entry Hlusirates the swingent
nature of the laws against duelling,

¢ Monday, 23rd August, 1703.  The Governor
having confined Captain Seaton and Mr. Strat-
ford for going out yesterday to the Company’s old
garden to fight a duel, he ordered them to be
brought up this day before him in Council to
eramme into the occasion of it ; when it was
found that Captain Seaton gave the challenge
without any manner of provocation, so that it was
resolved their confinement should be contipued
till we had considered what punishment we should
afflict on them to deter others from doing the like.”
The confinement lasted ten days, at the expiration
of which Captain Scaton was fined 200 Pagodas
and Mr. Stratford 50 Pagodas. Captain Seaton,
however, as we bave seen on former occasions, had
a happy knack of getting out of a scrape as easily
as he got into it. Three weeks afterwards we find
the following significant eutry :—** Captain Seaton
delivering in a petition seiting forth his contrition
for his offence, for which he was fined 200 Pago-
das, and prays that we would remit the same ;
which, in consideration of his great charve of
children, and his promises of not doing the like,
is granted bim, and ordcred that the Secretary do
return him the same.’

In November this year rumours of coming
troubles appear to have reached the Pre‘udenm
The Steward of the Fort was ordered to buy up 300
hogs, and feed them up, “so that they may be fit
o kill and salt up during the cool weather for the
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service of the Garrison.”  We also find the follow-
ing entry.

“ Tuesday, 2nd November, 1703, The Gover-
por received advices this day from the Nabob’s
Camp, that there was orders given out to the
Foujdar of Iripassore to raise forces to come and
seize onr towns ; which we are resolved to defend ;
and in order thereto, it is agreed that the P’ay-
master forthwith run up a brick wall round the
Choultry at Egmore, in such manner as the Gover-
nor shall direct, to lodge such forces as we shall
send on all occasions to defend the place ; and when
the wall is done, to pull down the present Choul-
try, which is thatched and ready to tunble, and to
build a commodious ene for that purpose.”

Eleven days afterwards the news was confinoed
by the receipt of the following letter from the
Foujdar.

* Translate of a letter from Tahir Khan, Touj-
dar of Tripassore, received November 13th, 1703,

“ I wish your Honour all health, Alout three
months past T reecived a letter from Khan
Bahadur to take posséssion of those villages
you have, which are under the Poonamalice
country. I was loth to acquaint you with this
unwelcome news by reason of our friendship ;
but fresh orders are arrived to the Dewan and
myself ; and your Honour is sensible that the
servant must obey his Master's orders; so that 1
can defer it now no longer. The occasion of my
sendling you this 15 to let you understand that if
you will send ome of your Vakeels to me, my
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friendship shall not be wanting to accommodate
the matter.”

Mr. Piit’s reply was cautious, but sufficiently
firm.

“ To Tahir Khan Foujdar of Tripatore, Navem-
ber 15th, 17u3.

* T received your letter and abscrve the con-
tents, and can only return this answer. The
towns you meation were given us by Assid Khan,
the Grand Yizier, whose purwannma we have, in
consideration of the good services we had done
your king ; which was much to the satisfaction of
Khan Bahadur who ajterwards gave order for the
delivering them tons. When we thought it had
been in this country, as in all other parts of the
world, that whatever the Grand Vizier granted,
the king always made it good ; or what reliance
can there be on the favour of such great men's
purwannas, I esteemed you always as you write
yoursell our friend, and am sorry you are com-
manded to execute such unjust orders ; which will
occaston no less than a difference between the two
nations~—Who is the aggressor let the Great God
judge. Our Vakeel is -sick ; if you send one
hither, [ will immediately give my answer to what
he shall propose.”

The following incident of the war with France
respecting the Spanish succession, is interesting
from the fact that the Mr. Dolben here mentioned,
was our old friend the Judge Advocate in the
Court of Admiralty, who had been dismissed from
his Office, and engaged in a profitable trade. Not-
withstanding the report of the Piratesin the Straits
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of Malacca, he had boldly set out there in the
Canterbury, in the pursuit of commerce under diffi-
culties.

“ Friday, 14th January, 1704, Last night the
Governor received pews by a Portuguese letter
from Pondicherry, that the two French ships were
returned with an English prize called the ©* Can-
tesbury,” belonging to the New East India Com-
pany ; having met her and Mr, Dolben in the
“ Chambers” TFrigate in the Straits of Malacea;
which is this day confirmed to us by a letter from
Pondicherry, copy of which is as follows, via.

“'The two French vessels met the * Chambers”
Frigate, and another of the New Company’s called
the “ Caaterbury’”’ of more than 300 tons, com-
manded by Captain Kingsford, came from Eng-
land and bound to Surat. The 18th December,
uear the Island of SBambelan in the Straits of Ma-
lacea at night, they gave each other broadsides.
The ** Chambers’ Frigate had her mainyard dis-
abled, which he got repaired in the night. The
next morning she fought again during four hours
against the lesser French ship; after which he made
all the sail he could o the bank of Parsola. The
“ Maurcpas™ (French ship) fought agninst the
“ Canterbury™ which he took immediately. Mon-
sieur de Fontenay wes sent against the ©“ Cham-
bers” which seemed the least, but proved the big-
gest and best man.  We hear from those we have
taken, that Mr, Dolben gave 50 guineas to each
man, and a promise to each that should be wound-
ed to provide for them, to the end they should
behave themselves well,”



32 HISTORY OF MADRAS. 13704 —4.

About this time a Roman Catholic Patriarch of
Antioch arrived at Pondicherry, and subsequently,
like the Bishop of St. Thome, executed not a little
opposition by endeavouring to interfere in ecclesias-
tical affairs in the Presidency. In the previons
November, a messenger arrived from this Presi-
dency with a complimentary message for Governor
Pitt, as will be seen from the following eniry in
the consnltations, dated, 22nd November, 1703. —

¢ There being arrived at Pondicherry a Patriarch
and several Padres, suid to be missionaries from
the Pope to inspect into ecclesiastical affairs in
China; one of which eame this day into town,
sent wlth a compliment from the Putriarch to the
Governor, with a small present of Jocoles, oil, and
wines ; who was civilly received, aund afterwards
took up his lodgings in the Portuguese Church.”

The following extract shows a determination on
the part of the P'atriarch {o interfere.

* Saturday, 22nd January, Padre Michael having
applied himself to the Government for leave to go
to Pondicherry, for that he that calls himself the
Patriarch of Antioch had summoned him thither,
and he feared that if he did not go it would tend
to his ruin ; the Governor deferred giving him leave
till he had consulted his Council, which was this
day summoned and Padre Michael sent for, who
earnestly msisted for leave to go.  Whereupon he
was asked by the Governor whether the Patriarch
sent for him as Chief Priest of this Romish
Church, or on any other account. He answered
that it was as he was Chief Priest. To which it
was replied that we could allow of no persons to



1w 4 HISTORY OF MADRAS. 33

have any authority over the Priests of this place,
so as to send for them away, or return them or any
others at their pleasure. And supposing the Abbot
to have a hand in this matter we sent for him ; who
Jesuitically evaded, aud denied that he knew
anything of the matter. Whom likewise we ac-
guainted with our resolutions that the Patriarch,
nor none else, should exercise any power over the
Priests that live under our Government. So dis-
missed them both, strictly enjoining Padre Michael
not to stir out of the town ; besides that ovders
should be given the officers not to permit him to
zo without the gate.”

In our next chapter we shall have oceasion to
produce further illustrations of these intrigues.

The following entry will explain itself,

** Monday, 3rd February. Ensign Harris, who
has ofien been foumd drunk, insomuch that he
has been incapable of doing his duty, for which
he has been frequently reprehended ; but finding
it to no purpose, he was this day broke ; but in
regard he has a wife and several children, we have
permitted him o serve as Serjeant, but that no
tonger than he abstains from drinking to exeess.”

Early this year a dispute arose bLetween Gover-
nor Pitt and the Fonjdar of St. Thomé, concern-
ing an Armenian inhabitant of Madras who had
been imprisoned by the latter. It appears that
one Coja Timore, an Altorney for an Armenian
in Persia, had great demands on an Armenian
named Coja Awan who was an inhabitant of
Madras. The case was carried to court, but
meantime Coja Timere the Attorney had business
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at 5t. Thomé, and was followed there by Coja
Awan; and the latter by some means unknown,
but which we may reasonably infer to have been
bribery, prevailed ou the Foujdar to imprison the
Attorney. Governor Pitt of course sent to the
Toujdar to deliver up both as inhabitants of Mad-
ras; but the Foujdar insisted not only that a free
pardon should be granted Coja Awan, which would
have been granted, but also that the papers lodged
in the Court should be delivered up to him. To
have granted the latter demand, would have been
to establish a most awkward precedent ; as it would
virtually admit of au interference for the future on
the part of the Foujdar of St. "Thomd in all cases
pending in the Madras Cowrt of Admiralty.  The
following letters will throw some light on the
tlispute.

“ From Mirusman Foujdar of St. Thomé.

** 1 have power over Chiunapatam, and hkewise
over St. Thom¢, as it belongs to the king whose
grant of Chinnapatam ground to the Company was
on no other intent than to make the place fruitful,
and bring riches into his kingdom, but not to act
anything that should prove unjust or prejudicial
to the Merchants interest there. T cannot lelp
putting yvou in mind of the Governors of Goleonda
and Bijapore, who for their unjust actions and ill
behaviour were instantly turmed out of their Pro-
vince, notwithstanding all their resistance, and
clapped into irons. What reason therefore has the
king to value any one, seeing he turns out whoso-
ever he pleases ; and who by his great kindness
and justice towards his people, has obtained power



1703-4] HISTORY OF MADRAS, 35

of God to eonquer wheresoever he comes ; and
knowing me to be one of his Officers, T wonder at
the style you write me. What can I say more

The following was Governor Pitt’s answer.

¢ To Mirusman Foujdar of St. Thomé.

"« I received your impertinent and insolent letter.
—We all know your king to be great, wise and just,
and many of his nobles o be persons of great ho-
nour ; but most of his little Governors, amongst
whom T reckon you, to be very corrupt and
unjust. We would have you to know we
are of a nation whose sovereign is great and
powerful, able to protect his subjects in their just
rights over all the world, and vevenge whatever
injustices shall be done them, of which there will
be speedy instances given. I am not a litile sur-
prised at your saucy expressions, as well as actions
in imprisoning my iunhabitants, when you know
that I can feteh you hither and correct you for
both, This i1s an unswer to your letter.

- TuoeMas Pr1T.”

Meantime the matter had been represented to
the Nabob Dawood Khan and his Buxie. A guard
had been placed by Governor Fitt over the house
of Coja Awanm, who bad procured the impri-
sonment of his Attorney, and who of course
remained at 3t. Thomé; and both the Nabaob
and Duxic declured that this Coja Awan, was
indebted to them for jewels, and required
that he should be no further meddled with,
Governor Pitt sent very long explanatory letters in
reply. Subsequently, as Coja Awan owed a great
deal of money in Madras, Governor Pitt resolved
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to open his house, and to take an inventory of his
goods, in the presence of the Armenians, Moguls,
and Patans of the place. Accordingly the latter
were summoned to appear on the 6th April,
1704 ; buot on that morning, instead of going
to Coja Awan’s house, a number of them appeared
before the Governor, The Armenians begged to
be excused on the ground that they had goods
at 5t. Thomé, which the Foujdar would seize
directly he heard of their participation in the
matter, The Moguls on their part stated that the
Buxie’s servant had been with them that morning,
and charged them in the name of his Master and
in the name of the Nabol, not to concern them-
selves in the matter. The Patans made no op-
pearance at all. Acccordingly they were all ordered
to the Town hall, whilst the Governor and Council
took the subject into consideration. After a little
while the following decision was arrived at. The
Armentans and others were told that if they would
become seeurity for Coja Awan’s ) debts, or for the
delivery up of his person within a reasouable
time, well and good ; but otherwise they must
assist at the opening of the house and godowns,
and at the taking an inventory of the furniture,
or depart fror the place altogether within three
days time. This decisive measure ensured com-
pliance ; and it was agreed that eight Armenians,
eight Moguls, eight Patans, and eight Gentoos
shonld meet on the following Monday at Coja
Awan’s house, and assist the Registrar of the
Court in taking an inventory of his goods. The
whole matter seems to have been ultimately settled

without further difficulty,
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CHAPTER XX.

GOVERNORSHIP OF MR. THOMAS PITT.
1704—7.

The Governorship of Mr. Pitt extended over
the unusually lengthy period of eleven years, and,
as we have alveady indicated, was marked by some
extraordinary incidents. In the years now under re-
view it will be seen that though apprehensions were
still entertained of Nabob Dawood Khan, yet the
foreign relations of T'ort S8t. George were tolerably
tranquil. This state of things may be generally
ascribed to the extreme old age of Aurangzebe,
and the inability of the Mogul to subdue the
Moahmattos ; and it may here be noticed, what is
scarcely noticed in the consultations, that Aurung-
zebe died on the 21st of February 1707, in the
eighty-ninth year of his life and fiftieth of his reign.
The intemnal events of the Presidency are however
unusually interesting. Mr. Llitt had very great
fronble in putting a stop to some disastrons con-
flicis between the Right and Left Hand castes,
which for a long time oceasioned an entire stop-
page of the country trade, besides leading to the
flight of many necessary handicraftsmen from
Madras. Mr. Fraser also, who had rendered
himself so obnoxious to Governor Higginson
a8 {o induce the latter to resign, tock advantage
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of the caste dispute to engage in a quarrel with
Mzr. Pitt.  'We however leave our extracts in gene-
ral to tell their own story.

The first refers o the failure of an attempt
to rear silkworms and obtain raw silk in Madras,

“ Monday, Ist April 1704. We finding that
the experiment of making of raw sitk to be very
chargeable, the success of which depending entirely
upon the well growing of the Mulberry trees, and
this country being so excessive hot and dry, there
is little hope of effecting the same. It is there-
fore agreed that all the Necauds except two, be re-
turned 1o Bengal.”

The next entry illustrates the losses experienced
from the claims of the Native Princes to seize all
ships wrecked upon their coast : and sometimes to
seize vessels which were not sufficiently manned
without any pretence whatever.

“ Thursday, 22nd June. In the vear 1702,
when Dawood Khan was besieging this place, the
Governor sent the * Bedford” sloop te Tranquebar
for provisions, but meeting with a long passage,
was straitened for water, so that they anchored in
the king of Tanjore’s country, where the people
seizcd the vessel and all the men, and put them in
prison, where they lay several months and were
used barbarously. The vessel they hauled into a
small river, and took out her guns which were
four, and also ten candy of China root, and sent it
to the king. Uponr this the President wrote
several letlers to his Chief Minister demanding
satisfaction ; but all the answer could be had,
they pleaded the vessel wasa wreck, and soof
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course their right. At which time the Merchants
of Tanjore had several effects here, which the Pre-
sident would have seized, but that a Merchant
here, one Sanka Ramana who has great dealings
to Tanjore, pretended that he would accommodate
the matter and procure satisfaction ; but not hav-
ing hitherto dome anything in it, the President
acquainted the Council that he had a few davs back
seized goods that cume from Tanjore for the afore-
said vessel and cargo. Unto which the Counecil
unanimously assented, hoping thereby to discourage
those country people, and those adjacent to us
from doing the like.”

The Patriarch at Pondicherry and Bishop of
St. Thomé still continued their attempts to exer-
cise ecelesiastieal nuthority within the English go-
vernment,

* Iriday, 15th September. The Capuchins here
of the Portuguese Church, being under interdie-
tions from the Patriarch and Bishop of St. Thomé,
who dJesign to put uwpen us what Padres they
please, which may be the worst of consequences.
To prevent which it is agreed, for the satisfaction
of many of our inhabitants of that persuasion, that
Padre Lorenso a Capuchin, be admitted into town
to exercise his functions in their Church.”

A serious emeute st St. Thomé between the
Moorish Governor and the Portuguese Governor,
is thus recorded.

i Monday, 25th. Yesterday in the evening we
heard that the Portuguese and Moors® had had a
quarrel wherein was killed a Portuguese gentleman
Senor John Rebeiro of good fashion, and two



40 HISTORY OF MADRAS, (04—

Moors ; occasioned chiefly by the Moors Governor
going after a ireacherous mannex to his house who
they call the Governor of the Portuguese, whom
he had designed to have murdered, or used him
barbarously by imprisonment. The Governor of
the Portuguese received a slight wound, but upon
firing some nrms, the Moors’ Governor and his
people fled ; two more of whose people we hear
this day died of their wounds, and three or four it
is said are in danger thercof.

* Tuesday, 26th. About five this morniag the
Governor here received a message from the Go-
vernor and Portuguese inhabitants of St. Thomé
being come to the place of our out guards ; who
desired admittance and protection, which was ae-
- cordingly granted them ; and in the evening orie
* of their chicf inhabitants, Senor Matihias Cavallg,
" walted on the Governor and acquainted him with
the whole matter ; Leing much as before recited,
only that the original of the quarrel arose from a
Moor offering to take a candle from a young
woman as they were walking in procession at
their feast.”

The following incident is very curious, as illus-
trating the proselyting spirit that prevailed.

“ Saturday, 12th May 1705. There being
never an Ensign now in the Garrison, the Gover-
nor proposes Serjeant Dixon and Serjeant Hugo-
nin for Ensigns, one in each Company. The ob-
jection against Dixon is from an obsolete order of
the Old Company that no Roman Catholic should
bear command in the Garrisen; but in regard
that they have since employed Commanders Su-



17047 HISTORY OF MADRAS. 41

percarzos to India that have Dbeen professed Ro-
wan Catholies, we lope it way warrant usin
making this person an Ofticer ; he being likewise
one of the best soldiers we have in the Garrison;
and it is not unlikely but his preferment may
make him return to the Protestant religion, Tt ia
therefore agreed that the two aforesaid persons be
made Fnsigns, and that the Secretary draws out
their Connnissions accordingly.” 1f Fnsign Dixon
did turn Protestant on account of receiving an En-
sign’s commission, he must have proved a valu-
able convert.

The next extract will prove interesting to local
anliguarians.

“ Monday, 30th July. The President pro-
poses the hedging and ditching of the Island
round, in order to the improving of it for pasture
for cattle, which may be of great use to this Gar-
rison at all times, and more especially in times of
trouble from the country.”

The following entry will explain itself.

¢ Tuesday, 28th August. We having had for
above two years past great complaints of ships
losing their anchors in the road, and galling their
cables : which we impute to the road being very
foul by the wany anchors lost, which the muck-
yardl men and all others are discouraged from
sweeping for, by reazon of the Company having
half salvage, and they at all the'eharge. 8o to
prevent so great a misfortune of any ships driving
asiwore, if is agreed that all people are free to
sweep the Road, and to have whatever they can
take up, of anchors or anvthing else for their la-

6 .
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hour ; and no pretensions whatever to De made
upon them for account of the Company or any
other ; whichis to be notified by the Secretary
putting up a paper in all languages at the Sea
Gate”

The following curious incidents in reference io
tue wills of Roman Catholics are very significant.
The Roman Catholic inhabitants of Madras had
hzen accustomed to prove their wills before the
Capuchin Friars ; but complaints had reached the
Governor and Council that advantage was taken
of this civcumstance to convey a large portion
of the effects of deceased Roman Catholics to the
Partriarch of Antioch at Pondicherry, Acecordingly
it was ordered that for the futare all wills should
e approved at the Company’s Court. The fol.
Iowing successful attempt to evade this law, may
e best deseribed in the words of the original entry
in the consultations.

“Tuesday, 7th May, 1706. This day was read
n Petition of Donna Fohanna Teseira, widow of
John Baptista deceased, who was many years an
Alderman of this eity ; who, by the instigation of
the Padres, a little Lefore his death removed to
St. Thomd ; and leaving a will which his widow
proved in the Portaguese Court there, and the
vstate divided according to the tenor thereof, and
the Portuguese customs and laws. But since his
death his daughter having marvied a Portaguese
inhabitant of this place, who supposing .that his
wife had not her just dividend of her father’s
estate according to the English laws; her husband
Gregoria De  Arangec has commenced a suit
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azainst the widow in the Mayor’s Court, and has
attached some moneys in this place, against which
she prays relief, .And that whereas her husband
died at 3t. Thomé and the will proved there, and
that all papers and accounts relating thereto re-
main in that Court according to custom, which
they will not permit to be sent hither to make her
defence, 8o upon mature consideration of the
whole matter, and the apprehensions we have of
the ill-consequences of interfering with the pro-
ceedings of the Courts of other nations ; and con-
sidering that the danghter of the decensed was
content with her dividend before she marnied, and
gave discharges for the same : —It is unanimously
agreed that an order be directed to the Mayor’s
Court to dismiss the cause, and withdraw any at-
tachment they may have issued out agaiust the
effects of Jolin Baptista deceased, and leave the
whole matter to the Portuguese Court at St.
Thomé, where all relating to this affair has been
hitherto transacted.”

The eccentricities of the Natives with regard to
deeds and bonds, ave fully illustrated by the fol-
lowing entry of the same date.

¢ There often arising in this place great dis-
putes and demands upon accounts and bonds of
ten, twenty, and thirty vears standing, so that it is
next to impossible to decide the same; and it
being generally amongst the Natives, most of which
stick at no manner of villany, for swearing, lying,
forging, or any other vile action to gain theirend ;
to prevent which it is ordered that from the 1st of
Jannary next ensuning, no bond, bill, or account
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chall be sueable for in any of the Courts of Justice

- ot the Choultry of this eity, that are of a longer

standing than seven vears; provided it can be
proved that within the space of the aforezaid seven
vears, both parties have been vesident on the place
tix months at one and the same time, and no de-
mand has been wade of the debt in the Mavor's
Court and an action commenced for the samc.”
We must now retrace our steps a little to  de-
sersbe the ntovements of the Naboly Dawood Khan,
Tn June 1705 advices had reached Governor Pitt,
that Dawood had bLeen on a visit to the king
Aunrungzebe, and had returned to the Camatice wilzljl
additiona] houours and powers.  In March this
vear the Nabol was n the neighbourhood of Forg
G, David, amnd a letter was received from the
Agent and Council there espressing their appre-
hensions of Dawood Khan, and requesting to e
informed whether they should make him a present.
Governor Pitt replied,— We believe it necessary
to give the Nabob a present if he eomes to your
place, and hope to the amount of three or four
hundred Tagodas may do, and we would not have
you to exceed five ; but if you hear Lic intends to
come to St Thomé, it wonld be very well if vou
could evade it, and send him only a preseutv of
some Higuors ; telling his people that vou lave no
orders from Madras, and that the Governor of
Madras will be grateful o him for his eivility to
vou ; for if you should present and we 100, oth
may be conziderable, whereas good part of one, if
rot all, may be saved if you can manage it as be-

fore directed.”
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In April Dawood returned o Arcot and Go-
vernor Pitt complimented hint with one hundred
bottles of liquor. Five months aftewards we meet
with the following entries in the consultation books
which will explain themselves.

** Monday, 23rd September. The King’s Dewan
who 15 now at St. Thomé, who has all along shown
great {riendship to the Company's affairs; and
now being sent for up to the Court to supply the
place of his brother deccased, who was Lord
Bteward of the King’s lousehold : —we think it
for the interest of the Cowmpany to make him a
prezent (o the value of about two hundred or two
hundred and fifty Pagodas in gold chains, or other
things that may L8nost acceptable, leaving it to
the Governor to advice therein.

* Thursday, 3lst October. This day the Go-
veinor received advises that Nabeb Dawood Khan
was come to Loonamallee, and from thenee de~
signed for 3t. Thomd ; upon which we immediately
despatehed our Moolla and Brahmin to him with a
complitent.

fBaturday, 2nd NovemBer. The Nabob ar-
riving yesterday at 8t. Thomé, and this morning
our Moolla and Brahmin returnivg to us, saying
that the Nabob receive dvery well the Governor's
complient, and did intend to come and stay some
days at a Garden house a little to the southward
of the town ; which was ordered to be cleaned up
for his reception if he continued that reselution,
which we were resolved should not be encouraged
to by any invitation. They likewise 1old us that
they believed he came not with a design to give
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us any trouble, which they infer from the small
force he brought with him, which were not above
five or six hundred horse and foot. He also show-
ed an earnest desire to dine with the Governor.”

This intelligence was not wholly satisfactory.
Dawood Khan had the whole country at his com-
mand, and might have ordered other forces to
follow him from Arcot. Moreover he spoke
many kind things of the English nation, which the
Moors * usually do of all people, when they are
earrving on the worst of designs against them.”
Accordingly two members of Council and the
Secretary were sent to pay their respects to him at
St. Thomé ; but were directed to give no answer
about the dinner, and to say the¥had no instructious
upon the subject. The next day, being Sunday,
the three gentlemen proceeded to St. Thomé, and
met with * extraordinary kind reception,” Da-
wood Khan presented them each with an emerakl
ring, worth about thirty or forty Pagodas a picee ;
and also sent a jewel to Governor Pitt of the valne
of a hundred or hundred and fifty Pagodas. DBut
amidst all this ostentation he ardently pressed for
an invitation to dinner ; and though the deputa-
tion postponed their answer, yet Governor Pitt
considered it expedient to send an immediate in-
vitation to the Nabob, upon the condition however,
that he would not bring with him more than
twenty of his guards. Dawood Khan made the
necessary promise, and the Governor made the
necessary preparations for the dinner. The result
is fully recorded in the consultations as follows,

“ Monday, 4th November. Narrain and the
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Moolla went to wait on the Nabob at St. Thomé
as ordered this day, and the gentlemen of couneil
to the Garden, whither he came about noon ;
when Narrain discerning that a considerable part
of his forees followed him, at least 200 horse and
foot, told him he hoped he did not expect the Go-
vernor should admit them all into the Fort, who he
was confident would not admit any more than what
was agreed on. Therefore he desired the Nabob to
keep his promise, to which he answered that if he
went all those must be admitted with him.  So
lighted at the Garden and bid Narrain go and ae-
quaint the Governor with his resolution, and that
if he would not be received with all his Company,

it should be the same thing to him if we sent the
dimner to him where he was at the Garden. Witl
which message Nawtain came, and soon after the
Secretary confirmed the same ; when the Governor
positively vefused to receive bim with more than
twenty men. So ordered the dinner immediately
to bie carried to him to the Garden, with all other
necessaries ; whither the Secretary and Narrain
returned, who were to acquaint the other gentle-
men with the Governor’s resolution ; and that the
Gune be intended to fire they should acquaint
the Nabob were for the King’s health, his
own, and such of the Great Miuisters of State
as were his friends. About five in the even-
ing the English gentlemen returned from the
Garden and gave the Governor the following nae-
count. That the Nabob first seemed out of hu-

mour at the answer that was sent him, when it
was believed he would not dine there ; but after
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some pausing he dissembled his resentment and
sat down to dinner, and ate heartily, and tasted
the liquors sent him which he liked very well.
After dinner the present was set before him,
which at first he seemingly refused, but afterwards
accepted of it ; and soon after he rose up and re-

£ 33

turned to St. Thomé,

The following entry records another scrape of
Captain Seaton’s.

 Thursday, 27th February,1707. The Gover-
nor lays before the Council the insolent action of
4Captam Seaton, who on Sunday last marched part
pf lis Company (and had all had not the Gover-
nor commanded them off) over the Company’s
rolicoes that lay a dyeing ; notwithstanding there
was much more than room enough to have march-
e 1he men clear of ihew as usuul.  And after-
wards when the (ravernor sent for him to demand
his reason for doing s0 hase an action, he had the
impudence to tell him hLe did not understand it.
Upen which, when he eame for the word in the
cvening, the Governor told him that he was sus-
pended till he had advised with the Councit; for
that he thought him not fitting to serve the Com-
pany any longer, nor would he bear any more
with his insolencies. Tt is agreed that he stands
snspended, and that the consideration of breaking
him be referred to another time” A year after-
wards Captain Seaton having appealed to the Di-
rectors on the strength of his twenty vears service,
and pleaded some extenuating circumstances, was
reinstated in the command of the garrison.
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The following curicus entry will explain itself.

“ Tuesday, 17th June. The Governor produces
a letter from Robert Berriman of Fort St. David,
wherein he declares that he had coantracted mar-
riage with Mrs. Wilson who lately died here, to
whom he had made several presents, which were
found in her lodgings at her death, when the Pay-
master took an account of her effects. So consi-
dering the low circumstances of Berriman, it is
agreed that upen his taking his oath to the list of
the things he demands, that they were presented
her upon aceount of the intended marriage, that
the Paymasier delivers him the same.” .

We now have to draw attention to the quarrck
which broke out between the Right and Left Hand®

Castes,® and which is fully described in the follow-
ing extracts.

* The distinction between the two Hands is said te
be of recent origin, as no mentivn is made of them in
any of the ancient books, Moreover it is almost un-
known in the North, and is indeed chiefly confined to a
part only of Southern India. Inthe latter districts,
moat of the Hindoo castes are thua separated. The left-
hand includes the whole tribe of the Vaisya er mer-
chanta, the Panchala or five castes of artisans, together
with some other mean tribes of the Sudras, and espe-
cialiy the caste of Chakili or cobblers. The Ilight-hand
includes the most distinguished castes of the Sudras, but
ite strongest bulwark is the Pariah caste, which atill
glories in the title of ** Friends of the Right-hand."

The opposition between the two bands ariaes from
certain privileges to which they bath lay claim. The
matter 13 generally some trifling violation of mamgol or
custom, but not unfrequently leads to bloody dispates,
Dabors mentions a contest ao dreadful, that many of the

7
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“ Thursday, 26th June, 1707. There having
becn lately a dispute between the Right and Left
Hand Castes, that live in the Pettab, about pass-
ing some strects on oceasion of their weddigs,
insonmch that the Governor was obliged (o order
Guards to lic out to keep the peace.  To prevent
further disturbanee it is agreecd that Mr. Xaworth
the Paymaster takes with him the Gunner, and
Scrampn aml Narrain, 1leads for the Right Hand
Caste, and Colloway and Viukeltee Chitties Heads
for the Left Hand Caste ; and that they survey
the Pettahs, and consider of what method may be
taken to prevent any further disputes of the like
nalive, and report the same to the Governor and
Cowneil.

© Thursday, 17th July.  Mr. Raworth aud the
Ginmer, as also the 1Teads of the Right and Left
ITand Castes, report that they had surveyed the
Pettah, aml produced o draught of all the streets
and buildings in the Pettah, which showed us
whit streets were chiefly inhabited by the Left
Hand Caste, being Bridge Gate street, and  that
which ie enlled the Chief Peons street ; wherein
lives but few of the Right lland Caste. Soto
preserse the peace between  {he two  aforesaid
Cistes for the future, we hevehy order  that those
few of the Right hand Caste in the aforementioned

peneeinl inhaliviats began to leave their villages, just as
if a Miheacta invasion were impending.  This terrible
comiaotion arose from a menber of the Left-hand rtick-
peread flowersinto histurban, - To this day nothing but
tire strong artn of the police prevents Madras dteelf frone
bwing frequemly the ssene of similar disturbanees,
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slveets sell their house:s, and go and live in the
strects amonwst their own Casle ;. and that those
two streets are peculiarly appropriated for the
Left Hland Caste to pass qu at their making their
weddings and Festivals ; and that sone of the
Bight Hand Caste give than the least disturbunce
tn that precinet wt their utmost peril.  Awd it s
further ordered that neither Caste may pretend
yrnorance of these limits, that the Pavmaster scts
up four Stones at the cost of the Left Hund Custe,
accorling as we have directed himin the draught,
and insert thereon in Lnglish and Gentoo the
purport of this our order.”

“ Thursday, 14th Auzust. The Governor ae-
guaints the  Cownedl that on the 12th at  nizhé
some disaffected persons to the Government Lad
placad papers oil the Brones set up in owr Pettah,
which stinted the bounds of the Left Tand Caste :
whicll papers were wrote in the Malabar language
and now predueed.

¥ Bince the foundation of this city no such thing lns
Feen known, By the anthority of the Governruent, aud
prevalenco of money  this Pillar was  erected, in con-
tenat and derison of the Right Hard Caste, who  will
forfuit the rights of their caste if they do pot destroy
the nthers like dogs and tuwble then down, Ifit be
demanded by whose order this was written, it is by the
will of thie King of Lngland and the Corapany, who will
not fail to bring these things to pass ; and this by way
of caution.”

* The persons unknown alse laid at the foot of
the Stone, o sort of an enchantmient as is estecmed
n {his country, picees of skulls with rice and other
mixtuves. Frow the trauslate of the paper it is
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easily to be inferred that some Europeans have had
a hand in it ; there being expressions that these
people are wholly strangers to. Of whiek we
having considered are come to the following re-
sult, that a paper be fixed on each stone in all lan-
guoges, as also on the Gates in the Fnglish and
Black town ; that if any person shall come and
Inform us of what person or persons have fixed the
aforementioned paper on those Pillars, they shall
have one hundred Pagodas reward, and his pardon
if concerned therein, The Heads of the Night
Iland Caste were sent for before us, who being
cherged with having a hand in writing  these pa-
pers, which they denied ; agreed that a month's
time be given them to find out the person or per-
sons who wrote them; aund that if they do not
find them, they are to be fined such a sum of money
as the Governor and Council think fit; and this
they were acquainted with,

* Tuesday, 19th August. The Governor ac-
quaints the Board that on Sunday last, being the
17th instant, that the Right Hand Caste with a
Wedding went in great pomp through the street
which was ordered lately by the Governor and

onneil for the Weddings of the Teft Hand Caste ;

and that upon hearing of which, he sent out a
party of soldiers who seized nineteen of them, who
are now in prison in the Choultry, who he resolves
to punish and make examples.

* The Right Hand Caste came to the Fort this
day in a econsiderable body, and delivered in a
Detition as entered after this econsuliation ; with
the heads of which we had a long debate, and
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what they said tended, as well as the purport of
their Petition, for us to vetract what we have done,
and that we would give np the Left Hand Caste a
sacrifice to them,

« The Petition of the eighteen sorts of people
of the Right 11and Castes belonging to Chinna-

atam.
“ Humbly Sheweth,

Whereas upon the first scttlement of the Eng-
lish in this place, the liberty was granted your
Peiitioners’ Castes to have their strects and habi-
tations from Tom Clarke’s Gate and the Bridge
Gate, both within and without ; and to the Left
Hand Casle was granted from Mud Point Gate,
both within and without ; two streets which was
kept and observed by each Caste till broken by
the troubles which happened to the French at
St. Thomé. At which time several people retired
hither, and without knowledge or permission from
the Government, built their houses one amongst
the other in both the Pettahs ; which being
complained of to 8ir Willliam Langhorn, and
the ill effects of the falling out of the two
Castes being  taken into counsideration, it was
ordered that they should not live together; but
that the Right Hand people should go to the place
that was first granted them to inhabit, and that
the Left Hand should go to theirs.  Accordingly
to which order the Right Hand people did obey,
and likewise some of the Left Hand people ; but
others did «esire leave to stay till the rains was
over, which was granted, but after to retire to
their own streets ; which to this day they have not
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done, hut rather have encreached more upon your
Petitivner’s Mberty.  Likewise the Weddings that
were made by the Left Hand people that lived
amonyst vour Yetitioners, were ordered to be kept
always in their own streets ; but if it happened that
they did make any Weddings in your Petitioners’
streets, it was to be done privately in their own
houscs, without any music, or any such cercraony.
But they now very unreasonnbly desire your Peti-
tioners’ streets, which never was done before; and
they having complained to your Honour, but upon
what account or reason we do not know. Now in
the streets wherein the Stones are erceted, there
arc one bundred of your letitioners houses, with-
several Wells, Churches, Gardens, and Chioultrics ;
all which Dbelong to your Petitioners the Light
Hand people.  Being very many, being twenty-one
Castes in all of these people, we cannot tell every
onc’s mind.  The country people have sent let-
ters to us, but what thev can do for us we do not
know. We all living uicler your Honour’s protee-
tion, arc afraid to disoblige your Honocur, there-
forc stay very quiet. From the beginning of the
world to this day it never was known that any
Government did take away vour Petitioner’s strects,
and give them to the Left Caste people, which
they kuow to be true.  Now they (the Left Hands)
having .made many false eowplaints to your
Honoury which 15 the oceasion of all this
trouble ;, for the streets where the Stones are
erceteld e the first strects of the Right lland
Castes foir all strangers that ecome from the
country. For these streets that yowr Honowr
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has given to the Left Hand Castes is a very great
dissatisfaction to all the Tight Hand Caste people.
Thercfore your most humble Petitioners desire
your Honour would be pieased to take into con-
sideration, and they shall as in duty bound ever
ray.”’
P “ Friday, 22nd August. The foregoing con-
sultations of late mention several passages relating
to the Right Hand Caste and Left. Of the for-
mer many have deserted us, and the others have
locked themselves up in their houses in town;
which, chiefly consisting of Boatmen, Washermen,
Yishermen, and other necessary handicrafts, the Go-
vernur summoned all his Council except Mr.
Fraser; who he was jealous had betrayed us in
what we had done, as to scttling the dispute be-
tween the Castes. And the Governor gave us
this instance of it.  That when on the 19th past,
he scquainted the Board of the insolence of the
Partuhs who went through the Left Hand strects
with a Wedding and what he had done thereon ;
when immediately My, Fraser acecording to lis
custom made a long senseless speech, the purport
shewing that he wns now against what bad been
transacted in consultation about the Castes ; which
no netice was taken of, as coming from him. But
then the next minute the Right Hand Caste deli-
vercd their Petition, which was presently read, and
eutirely agreed with the purport of what just be-
fore Mr. Frazer spoke, When the Governor im-
mediately charged him with making or reading of
it, which he then denied in great confusion, and
the smme was taken notice of by Messrs, Raworth
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and Frederick present in Council. So the Governor
this day laying before the Board the worst of con-
sequences that might attend the Company’s affairs,
as well as our own persons, to have one amongst
us to betray our counsels; of which the Council
being equally sensible, desired Mr. Fraser might
be seni for; which was accordingly done. When
he was charged with what before mentioned, and
told by the (Governor that it was impossible that
he could make a speech so coherent with a Petition
that was Jnst after delivered in, without having
made or read it; to which he made no other de-
fence than that we should prove it if we could.
The Governor at the same time charged him with
directing the Malabar inscription that was put
upon the Stones, which he denied with strange
asseveration and execrations, but to the making
or reading the Petition only a plain demal. So
after he told us he had no more (o say in his de-
fence, the Governor desired him to w1thdraw which
lie refused to do, but afterwards oblized him to it.

“ When we debated the nature of his offence,
and the ill consequences of any of the Couneil en-
couraging Tetitions against our proceedings in
general, or such in particular as he himself seem-
ingly agreed to, without the least hesitation to
anything that was done relating to the castes:—
the Governor to prevent his doing further mis-
ehief, pressed the necessity of his being suspended
the Company’s service ab officio et beneficio ; al-
lezing that no inconveniency could accrue from it,
for that his abilities were so little considerable,
ihat all ofus knew in our consciences that he
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never merited rice and water {rom the Company ;
but yet with his malice, pride, and eavy, he has
often made strange progress in mischief, and
whotly incapable of doing good.  And it is not
amiss to insert one or two passages, though
foreign to this present matter, Some time past,
upon a suspicion that there was a difference be-
tween the Governor and Mr. Raworth, an fmnpu-
dent Dubash, that was often trusted with Mr,
T'raser’s whispers, came up to Mr. Raworth in his
chamber, and told him that he heard there was a
,difference between the Governor and him, and that
he treated him as he did others ; but if be would
stand against him and come and join with Mr.
Uraser and his party, he was sure they would be
able to suppress him:upon which Mr. Raworth
treated Lim as became him by kicking him down
stairs. About five years past there came from Goa
a Theatine Padre, an Englishman, Milton by name,
who often passed between this place and Fort St.
David, and several times came to the Governor for
leave to build a Chapel here or at Tort St. David ;
which he positively refused him, considering that
the worst of consequences must attend it, or that
it would be to the great dislike of the Company to
have an English priest here of the Popish religion,
for that being such he ought to die by our law.
Yet nevertheless one Joseph Hiller, a great eonsort
of Mr. Fraser, bought a piece of ground here
{without any leave or knowledge of the Governor)
for Milton ; on which he immediately erected a
fabrick after the model of a convent, and had mads
cunsiderable progress therein, before the Governor,
8
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CHAPTER XXI

QUARRELS BETWEEN THE RIGHT AND LEFT
HANDS3 IN THE GOVERNORSHIP OF
MR. THOMAS FI1TT.

1707

The quarrel between the Right and Left FHand
Castes, which resulted in the flight of the former
to St. Thomd, is one so extraordinary in its nature,
and so 1Hustrative of the character of the peopie,
that we have deemed it advisable to tell the whols
story as much as possible in the language of the
Records, only abridging those portions which
are mere reeapitulations. These extracts are all
taken from the consultation books during the
laster half of 1707, and are arranged in strict
chrouclogical order

* Monday, 25th August, 1707. This moraing
eariy the Governor summoned twelve of the prinei-
pat Of the heads of ench Caste, who were shut up
in a room fo adjnst matters now in dispute between
the Casies ; which they acquainted bim about
noon they had deme. Upon which at four this
afternoon the Council was summoned, when the
number of each Caste appeared ; when unanimons-
ly and in a most solemn manner they declared they
had agreed on the following terms.

“ lst, That none but the Right Hand Caste
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should live in the Pettah commonly called the Ped-
da Naik’s Pettah.

*“2nd. That the Pettah called Mootel Petlah
should be inbabited by none but the Left Hand
Caste,

* 3rd. That whereas there are a great many
of the Left Hand Caste in the Pedda Naik's
Pettah, and so likewise of the Right Hand Caste in
Moote] Pettah, it is agreed that each Caste com-
mence removing their Houses on or before the 1st
of December 1o their respective Pettahs before men-
tioned ; and that the ssme be all completed on or
before the 1st of June, 1738 5 and if any that have
houses in either of the Pettahs can agree upon the
sale or exchange thereof, they are at liberty to do
it, or pull down and carry the materials to the
Pettah appointed for them to live in.

“ 4th.  That no Weddings by either Caste
shall be made in the streets in the Pedda Naik's
Pettah lately in dispute between them, till that
Peitah be wholly inhabited by the Right Hand
Caste.

“ 3th. That in Mootel Pettah they shall keep
their Weddings there according to custom, till the
Right Hand Caste are removed out of it.

“6th. That in neither of these Pettahs hefare
mentioned, no one shall sell his house but to one
of his own Caste.

* Tth, That whercas there are Boatmen, Las-
kars, and Fishermen that have their hiouses by the
sea side in Mootel Pettah, it is agreed that they
remain there as they now are, without giving any
molestation to the Left Hand Caste.
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“8th, Thatas we ordered in Consultation of
the 17th July Stones to be erected for stinting the
Yimits of the Left Hand Caste making their Wed-
dings in the Pedda Naik’s Pettah, and a suitable
inscription thereon; —we mnow at the request of
hoth Castes agree that the insecription be cut ont;
but the Stones remain for such inscriptions to be
made on them as the Governor aad Council shall
think fit hereafter.

“ To all the foregoing articles the Governor and
Council do now agree; with which the Richt
Hand Caste are ordered to acquaint their people
that are now withdrawn, that they now return to
their obedience without furthcr de!ay ; which they
readily promise to do.

“ Wednesday, 27th.  Notwithstanding that all
matters scem to be so fairly adjusted before us on
the 25th past between the two Castes, we have
seen 1o good effect of it by the people returning to
their duty. 8o the Governor ordered this day to
to be brought befere him iu Council, Serapa,
Nara Verona, Sunka Rama, and Andee Chitty,
—and charged them as chief instruments in
raising the present rebetlion ; and the informa.
tion of which he hatl had from one of their own
Caste, who was in the conspireey, who sail they
had a great diffienlty to stir up the poor Handi-
crafts ; and that the Pariahs who are the most
numerons, refused to stir unless they sent with
them one of their heads of the Caste with one
thousand Pagodas to pay their subsistence, which
they aceordingly complied with ; and the Go-
vernor was informed who had contributed thereto ;
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and when they proposed it to the Boatmen,
Washermen, and Fisherinen, they likewise refused,
saying they would not leave the livelihood they
Lad there for an uncertainty ; but with much per-
suasion they prevailed with thew, upon giving
them a note under their hands that they would pay
them in proportion for the days they were absent,
according to what they wsually got here; and that
they would allow Batta or subsistence money to all
that should desert us (of which the Governor had
daily intelligence from St. Thomé) which was paid
them. They(the four Nutivessummoned) denied all ;
knowing that whoever of their Caste ecame in as
evidence against them was in no small danger of
their life,  So the aforementioned prisoners the
Governor ordered to be kept in safe custody, and
used suitable to their erimes.

“ Friday, 29th. This day were before us
3erapa, Nara Verona, Sunka Rama, and Andee
Chitty of the Righy Hand Caste, and Colloway
Chitty, Viekettee Chittv, Petombee Chitty, and
Comapa Chitty of the Left Hand Caste ; when
having a Brahmin present, they swore to be
true to the Company’s interest, and to lay
aside all animosity between them relating to their
castes, or any other dispute ; and that they would
use their ulinost influence to compose the present
differences on that account ; as also to stand by the
agreement made in Consultation the 23th instant ;
and for the security of Serapa and the other three,
four of the Right Hand Caste, the Pedda Naik,
and ten Cuomities were bound for their persona)
appearance.

.
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« The Governor acqnainting that nome that
had deserted were come in since the agreemant
hetween the two Castes, which he imparted to
their fear as well a3 shame. So advised that a
paper might be published in the nature of a gene-
ral pardon; which he now produced, and was
read, and accordingly agreed to, and ordered to
be set up in the Gates and Mettows in the Geu-
too and Malabar, and one in English at the Sea
gate as follows :

.~ ““ Whereas some wicked and evil designing

people of the Right Hand Custe, seduced by
others as wicked in the Government,* have went
about for some sinister ends to make an insurree-
tion and rebellion in this Government ; and the
better to effect their hellish designs, have deluded
the poor and ignorant with a false notion that we,
the Governor and Conneil, had favoured the Teft
Hand Caste to prejudice theirs ; whereas nothing
was done by us but by the advice and consent of
the principal of their heads ; and since this dispute
has happened, matters have been thoroughly can-
vassed by twelve of each heads of the Caste, and
all differences adjusted and finally ended before us
in Conneil 5 yel nevertheless, we hear that some
people are still earrying on their ill designs to dis-
turb the peace and tranquillity of the (overnment,
which induces us to publisk this our order and
intentions,

* That whereas we have always showed great
tenderness of the welfare of our inhabitants, and

* A Lit at Mr, Fraser,
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took especial eare to provide for the poor and la-
bouring people, who three or four of the rich and
crafty have imposcd upon them, so as to make
them desert us, and to terify them from retura-
ing to their duly, give out the Government will
punish them suitable to their crimes.

" We therefore have thought fii 1o publish this
our General Pardon to all such who have been
concerned in this insurrection ; promising and
declaring that sneh who return to their habitations
and duty on or before the 10th of September next,
are pardoned hereby to all intents aud purposes,
a3 it they had not been concerued therein ; and
such as do not comply herewith, their house$ and
estates shall be seized for the Company’s use, and
their persons when and wherever apprehended,
within the Company’s jurisdiction, shall be pro-
ceedert against with the utmost rigour ; and more
partienlarly such who shall after the date hercof
cobtribute any money or otherwise towards the
uphollding, maintaining, or employing any that shall
aot come in by the time herein limited.  Sealed
with the Uompany’s seal, aml dated at Fort St
Georze, thiz 20th day of August, one thousand
seven hundred and seven.”

Nothing appears to have transpired letweea
the 20th of August and the LOth of Septemiber
specified in the General Pardon; but on the latter
date we find the following significant entry.

“ Wednesday, I0th September. The Governor
summoned the Council to acquaint them, that ha
was just then informed that in the night the Stones
were stolen away ; which we considered of, and

9
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though the inpudence of the action deserves the
strictest enquiry and punishment, and the im-
mediate erecting others, vet it was unaunimously
acreed that we desist from doing either till these
troubles are over; thongh obliged the Pedda Naik
1o give twenty thousand Pagodas for his personal
appearance, who must doubtless have a band i it,
or at Jeast knows of the taking away the Stoues,

* Those of the Right Hand Caste that have de-
serted, retiring to St. Thomd, have sent for the
heads of their Caste out of the country, who wrote
us this day o wost saney and inpudent letter, the
translate of which is entered atter this eonsultation,
wherein is a clause that they cite former Consulta-
tions ; which is a plain indication that some of
our people had the penning of that letter ; and
though they quote is az 2 precedent for az, it isa
sign they do not understand it, we having acted
in this mwatter exactly according to that clause.

“ From Dellaway Donue Taulo Chitty, ete., of
the Kight Hand Caste, of the four corners and hftv
six commtries of the w otld, to the Hon'ble Thomas
Titt, Esq. and Counceil,

“YFrom the first foundatton of Madiasit was
never known that the Left Fand Caste should be ad-
hered to by wrongly informing your Honours to the
prejudice of the Right Hand Caste ; npon whose as-
gertions you have erected Stoncs i our streets, and
miven the same from us ; concerning which an ad-
dress was made to your Honours by way of Petition,
npen perusal whereof you directed that your Peti-
tioners were at liberty to stay or go where they
pleased, which you repeated three times, Ace
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cordingly they came to St. Thomé, from whom
they wrote your Ionours; and we learing the
matters are come hither.

* From the beginning of the world it was never
before known that the Left Hand in the fifty six
countries thereot, ever erected @ Stoue in the Right
Hand Btreet, nor was it ever allowed by any Go-
vernment.

“ One of your predecessors with Timmia and
Verona did appoint certain streets for the lett
Iand Caste, and directed bow they should act, as
upon your Consultation does appear; upoun exa-
wination whereof advantage would acerue ta the
Company, whieh vou have hitherto omitted to do.

“ From your first settlement justice and equity
have been distributed with an equal hand in vour
place; whieh has occasioned many to resort to
vou. and to increase in weaith under vour protec-
tion ; but upon this orcasion of erecting Stones
we must have recourse to the customs of the coun-
try; this we write to a charitable people w no we
lmou will observe the =ame. .

Thomd, SBeptember 8th, 1707,

o Sund.i\, 14th.  The Armenians, Persianz,
and Tutans, perceiving that the Governor and
Couneil was not fairly dealt with in this dispute
between the Castes; and that the persons who are
employed and confided in to aceommodate it, are of
the Right Haud Caste, all ofavhoin liad been cither
active or passive in raising this difference ; and
knowing we had no other, they came in a body
of fifty or sixty, and tendeved their service.
When the Governor summoned what of the Coun-
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¢il were to be found, and we accepted of their ser-
viee and mediation ; who promised to-norrow to
go some of them to St. Thomd, to which place the
Rirht Hond Caste have retived aud sent for seve-
ral of their heads out of the country, who are conie
to them; and they promised to take with them
Narramn our Brahmin and Moolla, when they wilt
demnud of them the reason of their desertion, and
acconmodate malters as well as they can, and as
soon as possible,

 Monday, 15th. The Governor with the Secre-
tary being writing a General Letter to the Com-
pany in the Consultation Xoom, there came a
Gusbardar, or messenger, to him from 8t. Thomd,
who was seut by the Nabob to turn cut the old
(iovernor there, and put in a new one.  ile had
been liere two or thiee times before, and seemed
to he coucerned at the troubles we had showt the
Castes; which he said were frequent in the cooan-
try, and sometimes grew to such a pitch that  the
Government found a great deal of trouble mid dii-
fieulty to guell them s and he said that, by some
discourse he had bad with them, he found them
very impident and sauey ; aud that the source of
our troubles was not from them in £t. Thomé, but
from our own inhabitants that remained in town,
who not anly gave them directions, but also senz
them their subsistencz.  Ile also added, saving to
the Governor, you are likewise betrayed by some
people that sits with you at this Table,  So asking
him by the Linguist what he meant, he answered
that yesterday, talking with three or four of the
heads of Castes, they told him that the Second of
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Council (Mr. Fraser) was of their side ; and that
without he was restored to his employ they would
not return on any tevms ; but i he would come
they would meet him anywhere, and return with
him without tusisting on any pardon ; for that
they were assured he was their fricud, and that he
never consented to what the Governor and Council
had done in favour of the Left Hand Caste, and
that he was against putting up tle Stones ; which
betief in them bad gained him such a reputation
amongst the mob, that they went up and down
the streets in his hearing, crying out ** Clinna
Captain,” * Chimua Captain,” which implies in
their Janguage the Second. Ou which the Go-
vernor asked him {the Gusbardar) whether he had
heard such discourse more than once from the -
heads of the Caste. He answered three or four
times, and the mob erying out as before mentioned.
Upou which the Governor told hLim that wn the
evening there would.be several of his people there
to talk to them, when we desired him to aver what
ke was told before by the heads of the Castes; to
which he readily answered he would. This nuawn
seemed to be a very sober judicions person, a
stranger in these parts of the country, and conld
have no wnanner of interest in sayine what he did.
‘There was present at this discowrse the Secretary
whom the Governer ordercd o take Minutes ; and
for Lingnist was present the AMoolla Narrain, and
Paupilia Brahmm ; who all averred that whereas
they had been several times to St. Thowmé about this
business, they bad often heard the mob ery out for
the Chiuna Captain,
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* Tuesday, 16th. The Governor summoned
this Council, when he reported to them what dis-
course he had with the Gusbardar, as entered in
a diary note of vesterday, in the presence of the
Secretary, Moolla, Narrain, and Paupilia Brabmin,
who all confessed the same. The three latter now
aequainted ns that vesterday in the afternoon they
accompanied severat of the Persians and Armenians
to 8t, Thowé, in order to accommodate this dit-
ference between the Castes ; who were stopped by
the mob at the Gate, whilst they sent in word to
their heads for admittance ; where they continuned
near two hours, and no answer but several affronts ;
and whilst there beard the mob erv out, as the
Gusbardar told us, for the Chinna Captain, and

-who asked Narrain aud several of our people why
he did not come, for nothing eoull be done to-
warids their return without him. The heads of the
Right Iand Caste at $t. Thomé wrote several let-
ters to those of their Caste remaining here (at
Madras) ; threatening their lives and being turn-
el out of their Caste, if they did not come
to them. This much intimidated the poor people,
but those of any substance little regarded it,
since that we kept so mood guards to defend
them from the threats; and what is to be ob-
served and generally believed that all the people
who have left us are not worth five thousand Pago-
dus.  Narrain likewise acquainted us that all the
heads of the Right Hand Caste remaining in town,
met last night and wrote a fetter to our inhabi-
tauts of their Caste in 3t. Thom¢ ; the purport of
which was to let thew knew they were satistied in
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all maiters relating to their Caste; and therefore
whitever ill consequences attend further disputes,

they cleared themnselves of it and laid it wholly at
their doors.  The messenger that cavried the letter
just mow arriving was bwurr‘ht in before us, who
acquainted us that they at St Thomd had returned
no answer to their Caste in writing, but bid him
fell them that iy would accept no Cowle than
what was signed by Mr. Fraser, and that the Stones
must be brought to St. Thomd ar put iuto the
Pagoda.  We were also at this time speaking of a
report that had run about town for two or three
davs, that the Castes were rose one against the
other at Fort 3¢, David, where several had been
killed, amongst which four or five of our solliers
anit au officer mortally wounded. The Governor
said he believed it vot, though he had heard of it.
Mr. Frederick said he bad heard 1t from several,
but heing alzo told it by his dubash, who said he
had it told him from Mr. Fraser's dubash, who was
sent for, when denied it. But the other confronting
him with naming the time and place, where and
when he had told it him, eaused the Governor ta
give credit to it, and pmmhed him immediately
for spreading false reports.  This was done to
encourage the Right Hand Caste, and doubtless
by order of his ma:-ter, or some of his accom-
plices ; whose chief dubash one Fango, a crafty
profligate villain, iz actuaily now at St. 'lhmm
holding with the Right 1land Caste in all their
counsels. 8o hearing all before mentioned in this
day’s consultation, and what passed  vesterday
with the (msbardar rivets in us a belief that the
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Right Hand Caste has got Mr. Fraser among
them fur their tool, or they durst not have adven-
tured to have done what they have. 3o consider-
ing that if this quarrel between them incvenses, it
will he an unspeakable prejudice to the Company,
aml effectual ruin to the place ; and to agree
to their msolent and saney demands may in futu-
rity be attended with the like ill consequences :—
to prevent all which it is agreed to send for Mr.
Fraser, when the Governor charged him with
what before mentioued, and telling him, from
whieh we are sufliciently confirmed, that he was
al the head of this vile and base action, which oc-
casioned the dispute between the Castes, that no
fess than threatened the destruetion of the place.
To which he answered that it was all a grand
suppose, and flatly denicd all.  So being ordered
1o withdraw we considered of the whole matter ;
when it was unanimonsly agreed that My, Fraser,
who is now removing out his lodgings in the
Fort to a Liouse in the towu, that he be coutinued
therein and confined, witlhout permitting any one
to come to discourse him, but in the presenee of the
seniinel. The Captain of the Guard was sent for, to
whom the Governor gave a charge accordingly.”

« Tuesday, 23rd.  The Governor and Couneil
having granted a pardon to the Right Hand Caste
{now at St. Thom() being at the request of several
Persians and Armenians, who desired that  Doctor
Lewis and Padre Michdel may go with them to
deliver the pardon and accompany them in their
return. Accordingly the refractory mermbets of the
Right Hand Caste came out of 3t. Thowmeé all to-
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gether abont nine this morning. But when they
came near the town, they took disgust at something
or other, the certainty unknown to us, and returned
again to St. Thomé; the Pariahs surrounded the
inhabitants and forced them to go with them. So
Narrain, being in hopes of giving them satisfac-
tion, wenf with them, who they abused in several
respects and confined ; bnt was the next day dis-
charged upon a threatening letter from the Go-
vernor that he would fetch him by force.”

The pardon which had proved so nearly success-
ful in bringing the Right Hand Caste from $t.
Thomé was as follows.

“ A Cowle granted by Thomas Pitt, Ilsq., Go-
vernor of Tort 8t. George, and Council to they
Right Hand Caste, L

* Whereas you deserted us by reason of our
giving your streets to the Left Ilund Caste, which
we have again returned to you ; and whereas you
say we have given a writing to them,on that
account or suy other, we say it is forged and
falze, if any such eme be produced. Therefore
you may depend upon this Cowle, and re-
turn to  vour duty, and enjoy your ancient
privileges according to salabad ; giving this before
the Great God above and Jesus Christ that we will
righteously perform, and that none shall be pun-
ished on this account hereafter. Given under our
hands and the Hon’ble Company’s seal in Fort St.
George, this 22nd of September, 1707.”

The failure of this pardon seems to have driven
Governor Pitt frantic, if we may judge from the

10



T4 HISTORY OF MADTRAS, e,

following extraordimary resolution, which he ar-
rived at the following day.

« Wednesday, 24th. We finding no likelihood
of puiting an end to these troubles between the
Castes, for that the insolency of the Pariabs daily
increases, a particular instance of which we had
yesterday by their forcing the inhabitants to return,
and imprisoning and abusing Narrain. The Go-
vernor proposed the attacking of St. Thomé the
26th al break of day (where they are harboured)
and put as many of them as possible to the sword,
but no inhabitant of any Caste else; which was
unanimously agreed to in Council, and prepara-
tions immediately made accordingly ; resolving to
march two hundred and fifty soldiers, two hundred
talliars, and two hundred peons, as also eighteen
hundred peons which the Left Iland Caste have
raised since the troubles for their security ; and
the Clovernor disposed matters to effect the same.

“ Thursdav, 25th. The preparations being made
for attacking our Pariahs in 8t. Themé to-morrow
morning, which alarmed several inhabitants, more
especially Armenians, Moors, etc. who nightly
importuned us to desist; for that many ill conse-
quences would attend it, and that they were sure
we could not effect our ends in cutting off the
Pariahs, who would certainly fiy into the country;
besides our Pedda Naik who pressed us to desist
from our intended enterprise ; saying that the new
Governor of 8t. Thomé would be there to night,
with whom he was well acquainted, and could
prevail with him to turn them out of the town, or
else he would be obliged to bring the Gavernor
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twenty or thirty of their heads. So considering
the numerous importunities, we deferred our design
two or three days to see whether milder means
would oblige their retnrn.

¢ Wednesday, [st October. The Governor ac-
guainted the Council that he observes the new Go-
vernor of St. Thomé is weary of our mob, and
seems to endeavour what he can to persuade them
to return. Yesterday our people going in hopes
to have brought them Dback, they then insisted
upon signing a paper amongst themselves, aud
that those we sent should join them ; whieh they
refused, telling them they ecould uot do it without
the Governor’s leave ; the purport of which paper
is that they may have lcave to rebel when they
please ; the translate of it is as follows.

« Al the inbabitants of the Right Hand Caste
of Chinnapatam have entered into an agreement in
the presence of the HRighi Hand Caste of the
country, viz.

¢ Whereas the Left Hand Caste have broke the salla-
bad by erecting Stones in vur streets, upon which we
cdeserted the place, and are comc hither ; since which
the Governor and Council have faken away the Stones,
and given us their Cowle that all shall be settled and
go aveonding to sallabad, which we will unanimoualy
endeavowr tv maintain ; and notwithstanding, slould
the Governor act contrary tu his Cowle, or that
the Left Hand Caste should take upun them more
than their duty, we jointly agree to stand by one another
for the saving our credit ; and whoever of us act con-
trary to which herein mentioned shall be turned out of
the Caste, and the iniquities shall light upon them as
befalls such who sacritices a cow, woman Brahmin, and
tiheir1 E};’fi:‘.er before the River Ganges, Dated October

=t, 1707,
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* S0 upon our shewing a detestation and abhor-
rence to give leave lo their signing such a paper,
it was laid aside ; and, as the Governor is credibly
informed, that that paper, as well as others we
diave received during these troubles from the
Right 1tand Caste, were drawn up and framed by
ibat notorious miscreant Timapa, a feliow adapted
10 all manner of villany, and always a great favour-
ite and privy counsellor of Mr. Fraser, and a com-
panion of Lis chief dubash.”

* The heads of the Castes and mob which de-
serted us, having accepted of our pardon the 22nd
last mouth, and still cvery day starting new de-
wands, and refuse to return, we unanimously
agreed this day to send to them our 3Moolla and
Brahmin, to demand of them their final answer,
whether they would retuwrn upon our pardon or not,
and if not to demand it of them.

* Thursday, 2nd The Moolla and Brahmin
returning last night from St. Thomé, acquainted
us that according to our order they had demanded
our pardon given our inhabitants that are fled
there ; who have refused to return it, promising
that they would come back to-day, but that it was
not a good day ; but to-morvow or next day they
would not fail, if those of their Caste here came to
meet thern, At last, as will be seen by the fol-
lowing entry, the refractary Right Hands werce
induced to return.

¢ Baturday, ~#th. This evening ahout seven
o’clock the Governer of 8t. Thomé, being a Gentoo
and of the same Caste that deserted us, came with
our people that went hence this moming, and
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brought back all the deserters. The heads ap-
peared before the Governor and were dismissed to
their habitations, with assurances that their pardon
shonld be kept inviolable.

 Aonday, 6th. Muttombee, the Governor of St.
Thomé, having to all appearance (aken a great
deal of pains to effect the returning of those that
deserted ;—it is therefore agreed that the following
present be made him ; the amount of which, in a
seasonable time, to be paid the Company by the
Right 1land Caste.
¢ Scarlet 1 piece... Aurora, 1 piece... Ordinary Red, 1

[piece.
Green 1 piece... Looking Glasses.. Swords 4,
1 Pair Pistols..... & Pair Spectaclea. Knives and pen-
1 piece of Serge. [knives.

“ The deserters or rebels returning the 4th at
night, who for some time refused to accept our
pardon, or any proposals but what should be made
by Mr. Fraser ; for which reasons therein he was
contined ; after which they never so much as men-
tioned his nane, so that none ean believe bul that
they moved by his direction ; but being returned
again, agreed that lis coufinement be taken off,
and he zet at liberly ; when the Captain of the
Guard was sent for, and the Governor acquainted
him therewith.”

A fortuight’s quiet passed away, and the storm
having subsided, we finul the following entries.

 Monday, 20th. The Washermen that desert-
ed upon the late dispute Letween their Castes,
who on their return freely deelared that they were
foreed away by the heads of their Custe, who had
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combined with the Belljawarr; besides they com-
plained of great injustices that tllev had received
from the heada of their Caste, and desired they
may have other four heads ; and they would not
only pay what the Washers pay, but also sign a
paper that they would not desert again on any pre-
tence whatever. Upon which tlm pusented four
heads of their own choosing, which we approved
of and tasherift themn when the whole body signed
the paper as agreed on,

w rJ.uesddv, 91st. The officer at Dridze Gate
bringing in this mor ning to the Goveruor a Cajan
letter that he found huniJ upon a post near the
Gate, which when tranclated seemed to be from a
body of the Right Hand Caste; the purport of
which was to disown the \lllany which had Leen
done in the name of their Caste, and charging the
contrivers of it to bhe Narrain, Serapa, Timapa,
Sunka Rama, and Andee Chitty ; upon which we
sent for the five persons before mentioned, to whom
our Bralunin read the letter, which as we expeet-
ed they disowned knowing anything of it. Se we
‘W'IEE({ that they five should go to the Pagoda
witls our Bralwin, and there send for the he'lds of
all their Castes, to whom they should read the
letter, and findd out if possible the truth and
author of it.  But in the evening the five persons
with the Brahmin returned, and acquainted the
Governor that they had all been at the Pagoda,
where the letter was read to their Caste, who
disowned they knew anvthing of it.

“ Wednesday, 22nd. This morning was brought
in four papers that were fixed on the outside of
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the Lastions of the inward Tort ; the purport of
which being {ull of the most opprobious language
against the Governor; charging him to Le the
author of the Cajan letter read yesterday. The
authors of which are doubtless the five persons,
Narrain, ete.,, who wein our consciences believe
were the sole contrivers of the late rebellion, and
are not a little nettled in fearing that that villany
will in a little time be proved upon them.

* Thursday, 30th. The Governor produces a
paper in the Gentoo language signed by President
Baker, Agent Greenhill, and Mr. Gurney, dated
in the vear 1052,% for composing differences
amongst the Right and Left 11and Castes ; which
he hadt from the. latter, and doubtless the other
had the same ; by which it appears that the Go-
vernor and Council now acted as they did then ;
the translate of which is as follows,

“In Fort St. George belonging to the Right
Honorable English Company, before the Honora-
We President Baker, agent Greenbill, and Mr.
Gurney, were present Connaree Chitty, and
Sheshadrez Naik, inhabitants of Clinnapatam.
‘Fhere havinz of late been several differenees and
disputes between the Castes about their streets,
which this day is settled ; and in ease it be not
observed by cach Caste i in regard to their Wed-
dings and Burials, the first blcakel of it shall for-
feii a thousand dollars.

* This reference js worthy of especml notice. It
refers to a period within thirteen years of the founda.
tion of Fort St. George, and of which no records are
preservec] in the Madras Record Office. The earlicst
record in Madras bears date 1670,



80 HISTORY OF BMADRAS, i

“ The Right Haud Castes are to reside in the
partieular streets appointed for them, where are
to live or comc none of the Left Hand Caste ; and
the same with the Left Hand Caste, where ave to
be none of the Right Hand Caste.

¢ The (reat street from before the Fort as far
as Taggapa Chitty's Garden, and all the streets to
the westwarid of that street, are allotted to the
Right Hand Caste; and the Great street from Mr.
Porter’s reaching to Malley- Carjun’s oid T'agoda,
with the New street (being two streets) are allot-

" ted to the Left Hand Caste.

e

“ The Market strect opposite to the Choultry as
far as the Committee’s shops, is appointed to the

- Right Hand Caste; and as far as the Chitties

shops in the same strect to the Left Hand Caste;
whete either Caste may pass with their Yreddings
or Burials ; and if either of the Castes act contrary
to this Agreement shall pay one thousand dollars.

* The Pattnawars and Carialwars are to pass
with their Weddings and Burials from the back
side of Mr. Porter’s honse to the middle of the
Quarter Porter’s house, and so to praceed to the
Portuguese Chureh ; they may likewise go through

. the Great street.

¢ Before the Fort is free for all.

+ Sheshadree Chitty is mediator to each Caste.
His servants, nor the Company’s servants and
painters, cannot pass these streets. Dated Novem-
ber 5th, 1652.

« Signed by
Aaron Baker. Cannaree Chetty.
Henry Greenhill, Sheshadree Natk.”
William Gurney.
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We have thus reproduced in full the more in-
teresting papers connected with this remarkable
dispute between the Right and Left liands.
"There are however other entries, far too lengthy
to be extracted here, frem which we gather that
the dispute was aggravated Dy other circumstances,
which were not permitted to rise to the surface.
In the first fnstance there had undoubtedly been
a fierce quarrel between the two Hands about the
streets in which each Iand might celebrate s
Weddings and Bunials. But about this time a com-
mervial vivalry arose. The Merchauts belonging o
the Right Haud had generally purchased the Con.-
pany’s goods exported from Englnd ; but now
the Merchanis of the Left Hand contrived to out-
bid them. As the Right 1lfand was said to be
favoured by Mr. Frazer, so the Left Hand was
evidently favoured by Governor Pitt. The viru-
lence of the hatred between Governor Pitt and
Mr. Fraser seems to imply something more than a
mere difference of opinion as regards the mode of
mediating Dbetween ilhe two Mands. That Mr.
Fraser was 1he champion of the Right Hand
is sufficiently proved by what has gone Le-
fore. That Governor Pitt was the champlon
of the Left Ifand seems also proved hy a Pe-
tition prestnted by the Left lland aiter the
return of their encmivs to Madras. We are sor-
ry that this Petition should be far too long

.o be reproduced in these columns ; but a careful
perusal of it has strongly impressed us with the
iden that thongh it may have Leen presented by
ke Left Haud it was origirslly from the pen

11

-
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of Mr. Pitt. It recapitulates at very great length
the whole history of the dizputes, and employs
exacily the 1anrruf\0'e and style which Mr. Titt
would himself have used to elear himself before
the Court of Directors ; and it contains a petition
that the Left Hond might be permitted to leave
Madras peaceably at the end of six months, and
seek for emplovment elsewhere ; and that a notice
of their intention of doing so might be made pub-
lie, so that they might “Thave the opportunity of
paying up every debt they owed Lefore leaving
the town!

In December matters were restored to tranquil-
lity ; and during the following year a final ar-
rangement was made Uetween the two Hands for
removing into separate strects.  Dut the quarrel
between Governor Pitt and Mr. Fruser con-
tinued to be as virulent as ever. Mr. Pitg
drew up eight charges against the latter, with
which however the yeader is generally ae-
quoined ; but we make the following ex-
tract for the sake of its style. * That it is well
known by most upon the place, as also by what
appears upon the Consultation Books, that he
(Mr. Fraser) has ever been found a person of a
factious and turbulent temper ; and though weak
in contrivitng, yet industrious in promoting mis-
chief and confusion ; of a capacity uafis for any
business or advice ; impatient of peace, and only
pleased when factions run high ; wherein he has al-
ways made one to the great prejudice of the Com-
pany’s affairs; during the time of our presentGover-
nor always herding and siding with such persons



1079 HISTORY OF MADRAS. $3

az ate under the frowns of the Government let their
crimes be ever so black ; and at the beginuing of
these troubles it was observed he was very inti-
mate with his old acquaintance Timapa, a pro-
Rigate and wicked wretch, but a bird of the same
feather, notorious for inizchief, and one of the
chicf contrivers of the rebellion.”

Mr. Fraser was promised a copy of the whole
of the charges, but notwithstanding his repeated
applications, he could not get one till just before
the ships were about to sail for England, aml then
it was only signed by the Chief Sveretary.  Ac-
cordingly he wrote a short protest couched in tole-
rably decent terms, but which led to the follow-
ing entry in the Consultation Book.

“ Saturday, 6th December, I'raser this morn-
iny sending an impudent and saucy paper to the Go-
vernor aud Council, it was agreed that it should
be delivered to the Marshall to be burned under
Gallows, whick was accordiugly done.”

In our last chapter we recorded the opinion of
the Court of Directors upon the conduct of Mr.
Fraser; and we here extract from the same Ge-
neral Letter, a copy of their judgment upon the
quarrel between the two Hands.  After some re-
marks on the investments, the Court wrote as
follows :

“This naturally leads us to the many and long
paragraphs in your letters relating to the differenecs
between the Right and Left Hand Castes ; becauss
the heads of them are the men Ly whom you make
Your investments ; and without entering into a
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particular detail of the matter, we say in general,
that the generality of men in all countrics are na-
turally disposed to be at ease and live peaceably,
if they have a quiet possession of liberty and pro-
perty ; and the most turbulent spirits willin & good
measure lie still unless they have a specious handle
given them on account of hardships done or
offered to Le done them. Nor does it appear pro-
bable to us that either of the two Castes would
have ventwred to fiy in the face of Government,
which is or should be power, without a real or ap-
prehended great provocation ; nor can we think
that the Right Hand Caste would have carried
things to that extremity on the single quarrel of
the Left Hand Caste making a wedding in their
own streets. It secms to us that the seeds of dis-
cord lay deeper, and that things growing ripe for
a rupture, this lundle was taken to begin the
quarrel and set fire to the fuel that was befare
preparing for it.  We should have esteemed it a
praiseworthy management in our Yresident and
Council 1o have foreseen and prevented this muti-
nous disposition before it broke out, or at least to
have guenched it when it first  began to flame.

¢ Nothing nore docs better bespeak the ability
and diligence of Governors than keeping their sub-
Jects and dependents in quict ; and they can never
do that without an impartial administration of jus-
tice to all under them ; for whether they them-
selves, or others by their authority or connivance,
oppress or injure the subject, it comes to all one
in the upshot ; that is to say, first the people se-
cretly wurmur and complain, then they break out
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into more open reproaches, and at last inte down
right mutinies and rebellions ; and this seems to
us to be the true reason why those scurrilous
papers were fastened upon the Stones set up, and
afterwards on the walls of the town ; whereas the
Wise Man’s remark will be found to be eternally
true, *‘ That the Throne can only be established
in righteousness.”

* Tt was very surprising to us to read that so
nany of the handierafts, and other wseful hands,
went away on this quarrel ; and gave ws but ordi-
nary apprehensions of the conduet of the then ad-
ministration. Surely they were too valuable to
be parted with without the lust extremity. All
nations and times have agreed in this, that useful
people are the riches as well as the strength of a
city or country ; and although we readily agree
that neither the one or the other Caste are over
honest, or will seruple laying hold of any handle
for their own benefit ; yet it seems plain to us
there mnat be something miore than ordinary at
the hoftom, that should make the Right Hand
Castes go away in general in a body, and the heads
of them consent to be at the charge of maintain-
ing the handicrafts people at 3¢, Thomé.

 On the whole matter we heartily recopmmen
to vou all to endeavour in vour stations to reventd
such like quarrels in future ;  and to that ned to
take care the established ancient privileges of both
Castes be preserved to them, and the like to all
other the inhabitants ; and that all of them have the
free possession of their liberty and property : that
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justice be administered equally and impartially,
and no real eanse given of discontent ; and then
if you find any makebates that would be putting
the people m a forment, make thew public ex-
amples as their faults deserve, and remember in
such cases ©* too mueh pity spoils a city.”



37680 HISTORY OF MADEAS. §7

CHAPTER XXIIL

GOVERNORSHIP OF ME. THOMAS PITT.
17088,

The Governorship of Mr. Pitt, which estendrd
over the unusually long period of eleven years,
was suddenly bronght to a close in 1709, The
later vears of hiz government are distinguislied
by events wlich emphatically belong to the his-
tory of the British rule in India. litherto the
Eaglish Governors had ouly carvied on their eom-
munications with the Nabobs in their neighbour-
hood, but cirewnstances now brought them intn
more immediate communicaiion with the Great
Mogul. During the later vears of the reign of
Auringzebe the Governor of Madras had been
brought into communiention with the Grand Vizier
Assad Khan, and with his son Zalfikar Khau, After
the death of Auwrungzebe, eircumstances, as we
shall presently see, bronght Mr. Fitt into direct
communieation with the new Lmperor himself,
Shah Anlum, known in Mahomedan bistory under
the title of Bahadwr Shah,

Before Lowever noticing these events, we lay
hefore our readers the following extracts illus-
trative of the internal state of Madras. The first
iz a copy of agreement between the Right and Left
Hand Castes, dated 14th January, 1708, which
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appears to have settled for awhile the dispute be-
tween the two.

“Whereas there has lately been differenices in the
Streets between both parties occasioned by a wedding
going in pracession tn the Pedds Naik's Pettah ; and it
being brought before your Honour, who urdered us to
chose out twelve Heads of each Caste to meet in the
Gentoo Pagoeda, aml mnuke matters up, and then report
what done to your Houour. {Names of the twelve Heads
of cach Caste omitied). These twenty-four agreed and
confirmed as fullows,

“ The Left Hand Caste co-habiting in several streets
that belong to the Right Hand in the Pedda Naik's Pet-
tah, so thal they cannot safely make thelr weddings ;
therefore from this day all the Left Hand that live in
the Pedda Naik's Pettah, shall bave the following
atreets to live and make their weddings, viz. Eastward
of Eceombre Sheraloo Pagada. as you go i the back
side corner street of Vencata Narnapa's stune Chounltry,
and go from that place along the Southward Street as
far as the well Lefore Gulla Annitehes house, where be-
pides the South Street there is another North Street as
you come from Brabmin Appelia’s Qarden which joins
to the Well ; and from the well westward a3 far aa
Dubash Ruggana’s house ; thence as you go northward
of Nantowary Pillary Pagoda as far as Mr. Empuson's
Garden ; in which streets the Left Hand Castes shall
live and make their weddings. Dut if the aforesaid
streets are not enough to hold them 2ll, some of those
houses that lie to the westward wihich belong to the
Right Hond, we will supply them with ; and in case
thuse are aot enough tow, we will find some housea cut
eithier of the east, north, or south; and Mecombre
Sheraloo’s Pagoda, and Veneata Narnapas Choultry,
shall belobe to both Castes,  And the Left Hand whall
carty their dead towards the westward of Bangana
Raww's Garden Street.  Those of the Right Hand that
were Living in the abovesaid streeta shall now change with
the Left Hand that did inbabit the Right Hand street,
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and henceforward live there.  Both parties having thus
agreed, we shall keep our Customs and weddings in our
ewn streets.  The Left Hand shall not buy those gar-
dens to the westward of the street that fronts Mr. Emp-
som's garden, without the owner's consent, nor shall the
Right Haud Luiid any lhouses there, If any of the
Castes uct contrary to this agreement, shall be fined
twelve thouzand Pagodas to the Hoo'ble Company, aned
receive punishinent accurding to the custom of their
Caste. To this we Loth agree and confirm. All the
eastward from Nawtowarry Ihllary Pagoda shall belong
to the Right Hand : all the westward to the Left
Hand.™

The following curious aceount of the kuaveries
of the Madras boatnen, and the strong measures
taken in consequenee, will be fonnd very illustra-
tive of the character of the times.

« Tuesday, 20th.  The Governor this morning
summoned this Council to acquaint them, that just
then the Pedda Naik informed him that he dis-
vovered a villuiny in the Boatmen, in opening the
Company’s bales sent on board the Duchess
which he hearing of in the night immediately
secured the head Boatmen and two Peons, at the
watching places by the sea side, on whom le found
two pieces of middling longeloth. The Governor
immediately sent for the Conicopoly of the Gedown
to enquire what peons were sent off in the boats,
that day they loaded fifteen boats ; which to his
great surprise he told him no Teons at all ; though
often at the Council Board he ordered that no
goods of the Company’s should go off or come

* This agreement was recapitulated and confirmed on
the 23rd June, 1708,
12



sy

] HISTORY GF MADRAS. (1708

ashore without Peens ju the hoats : and the same
ae had often ordered the Conicopoly wlim with
hum, and twice or thrice thrashed him hinself when
thit he found he negleeted ic*

“ The Chief of the beoatmen were before us
when the Pedda Naik chiarged them with the
Suowledge of this villainy, and brought one of their
servants to their fuce to prove it who did not
only do that, but sent some of Lis people with
their servant to one of the Chief’s  houses, aud
Tound Tonr picees of Bettelees buried guderground.
Upon whicll orders were given to apprehend all
the Boatmen that woere ashore, and those that
were gone off in boats when they retwned ; and
as soon a5 the Governor was informed of it, and
knowing four loats were gone oft this morming
with bales, he sent for Captain Raymond, whom
e desired to write to his Mute to scarch the four
Loats as soon as come on bomd, to see whether
they had not played the same tricks with those
bales. When some of those boats off returned
near the surf, their associates in this villany made
them some private sign, so that they returned
again as far as the Paddy boats, and there consulg-
et one another ; from which we apprebended they
would run away to the northward or southward.
B0 presently sent two Dboats with the Vizagapa-
tam boatmen with soldiers to prevent it; which
as soon as they discovered, ten boats run away

* We wonder what would be said now if a Governor
of Madras gravely recorded in the Consultation Book,
that he Lad more than once thrashed a Counicopoly with
hia own hand for neglect of duty.
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1o the southward; upon whiclk the Governor
ardered  the Gunner to fire shot from the
Rattery and sink them if possible ; several of
which fell very near, but had not the good luck
to do executiont ; and the ship observing it sen:
their Pinnace, who eut olf the flight of four and
brought them hack, but the other six got to St,
Thowd, whither the Government sent Peons with
our Brahmin to secure them ns they came ashore
ane bring them hitherto ; which, if' the Governor
refused, to charge them with them ; both which
they (the St. Thomé authorities) refuscd ; upon
which it was thought fit to fetch them with a
Company of soldicrs; but upon consideration, we
then Leard the Nabob was st Conjeveram and
expected every day at 5t. Thomé, we desisted, Le-
leving the conseguenee would be embroiling the
Company’s aftairs for the present. Upon which
it was agreed to write the Nahob a letter, and
another to the Governor of St Thomé, who is
now a Poonamallec; and if we have not Imme-
diate redress, then to apply ourselves to other
courses to procure it.

“ Wednesday, 2Ist. This morning the Go-
veror severely punished all the sen side Peons,
and we ordered the twe Veons that were taken
with the picces of cloth to be whipped round the
town, and to-morrow morsing to be put in the
Pillory with ears nailed thereto, and at twelve
o’cloek at noon 1o be cut off.

“ Though we are apprehensive that these vil-

+ From this and other allusivns, Governor Pitt does
uot seem to Liave been very fund of the natives.
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zebe.  Meantime Shah Aulum had assumed the
imperial erown at Cabul.  Azim Shah marched
agzainst him, and a bloody battle ensued in the
neirhbourhood of Agra, in which Azim was
slain.*

Shah Aulum was now joined by Zulfikar Khan,
and Assad Khan; both of whout, as we have scen,
are frequently mentioned in the records conueceteil
with the later years of Auranvzebe ; Zullikar Khan
as commander-in-chicf of the army against the
Mahrattas, and as predecessor of Dawood Khan
in the Nabobship of the Carnatic; and Assad
Khan, as futher of Zulfikar Klian, and Grand Vizier
of Avrunczebe. Another contest still renained. Kam
Buksh was not contented with Golconda and Bia-
poor, but aspired after the fmperial throne.  Shal
Aulum attewpted to win him over by concessions
but in vain. At last Shah Aulua marched an mmy
into the Dekkan to oppose him.  After a consi-

derable delay a battle took place near Hyderzbad
“in February, 170%,1 at which Kam DBuksh was
mortally wounded.

In 1703, when Shah Aulum was antieipating a
conflict with his vounger brother Kam Buksh in the

* Elphinstone dates this battle in June 1707,

1 Elphinstone says the bastle took place in February
1708, but it must have taken piace in January 1709,
or rather in January 17089, The exact date we are
enabled to give from the records. It is very probable
that the previons date of the defeat of Azim Shah, is
fixed a year teo early ; and indeed Mr. Elpbinstone ap-
pears from the rgcorda to have confounded the old and
new styles,  In the present publication we have invari-
ably given the new style for the eake of clearness,
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Dekkan, the Stewanrd of his houvscliold dispaiched 4
Tetter te the Governor of Fort St George, * pro-
jessing great kinduess end tendering lis serviee 1o
any affair.””  The reason for this advance is obvl-
cus. K Buksh was then in command of the
Dk, and the continied allegiance of the Tny-
lish might prove of importance to Shal vl
fiovernor Pitt determincd to take every advantage
of the erisis to sceure o better uwnderstanding with
the Mogul's Government.  Accordingly he wrote
an answer to the Roval Steward, requesting that
shal Aulum would Le pieased to confiruy the privi-
feges yranted the Euglish by s father Avrungzebe.
The progress of allnirs can now  be best explained
by the following extraets from the Consultations.

“ Baturday, S1st July, 1703, This evening at
four o’clock the Governor summoned the Couneil,
and most of the Company’s servants, with the
chictest of the Xuropean inhobitanis, to accom-
pany him to the gavden, where he wasimet by all
the Aruenians, Persiins, Moguls, Patons, and
Head Merchant Gentoo inhabitants of this place,
there to reccive a Hushulhookum from King Shak
Aubum to the Goveriment here, procured by Zoo-
dee Khan, Lord High Steward of said King's
household, which was recelved with all ceremonies
usual on such an occasion, by fiving of great guns,
ete.

“ Saturday, Tth Aungust. The purport of the
Husbulhookum frem Shah Aulum seems to invite
us to make our addresses to the King for a confir-
mation of our privileges : which opportunity we re-
solving to take hold of, believing we shall accom-
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Plish it for amuch less to the Company, than if
we defer it il the contests between the brothers
are over ; wherefore it is agreced that the Governor
draws out a petition to the King, a letter to the
Grand Vizier, and another to Zoodee Khan, and
lay them before the Council for their advice therein.

« Zoodee Khan's Lady (by whose Husbund's
meaus the Tlusbuthookum was sent us) living still
at St. Thomd, to whom it is agreed to send a pre-
senut of Persin fruit, rosewater, “ete. and some fiila-
gree work of Manilia, with a picce of Persia cloth
of gold, all to the value of 120 or 130 Pagodas,
or thereabouts.”

The Husbulhookum was said to be from Khan
Khanan Bahadur the Graud Vizier; but the real
Vizier ot this time was Monaim Khan. Khan
Khanan merely signifies ““ Khan of Khans.”

“From Khan Khanan, Bahadur Zephir Jung,
Grand Vizier.

 The Governor of Chinnapatanam may depend
upon his Majesty’s Royal Favour.

““ The good and faithful scrvices you have doue
bis ‘\.la)esty 5 subjects has been represented to
him by some of his Chief Ministers of State,
upon “whose recommmendation of vour merits,
a mark of his favour to you, he has order-
ed this Hosbulbookum to be sent you to certify
the same ; not doubling but your deportment will
contimue to be such as to inerease in fame and
reputation ; and according as you observe this
Husbulhookum you may expect further marks of
his Majesty’s grace and countenance, Dated June
1st. Received July 31st, 1703.
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¢« Friday, 13th August. The Governor lays
before the Council this day for their opinion and
adviee, a Petition he had drawn up to King Shah
Aulam, a Letter to the Grand Vizier, a letter to
Zulfikar Khan, and another to Zoodec Khan ;
which were all read, and agreed to be put in the
Persian language, and to be dispatched with all
expedition, that so they may arrive before the King
eames to Golconda.”

Petition to the Kiug Shah Aulum.

*“Gop grant the great King Shah Auwlum way
live for ever, is the hearty Yrayers of the Governor
of Chinnapatam, and of all the English Nation in
your Majesty’s Dominion, who have been liere lately
blessed with your Majesty’s most Gracious and
Boyal Husbulbookum ; and for your Majesty’s
comipands therein, they shall always Le kept as
sacred as they were in the time of your Majesty's
Boyal Predecessors, who were pleased to Lestow
their Royal favours on us in grunting us several
Privileges to encourage us in our trade ; for a con-
firmation of which we bumnbly Petition your Ma-
jesty to grant us your roval Iirmaun, with what
additional favours your Majesty in your Royal
Wisdom shall think it ; which we <hall not only
record in our books but in our hearts also ; and
as in duty bound shall ever pray for your Ma-
Jesty’s long and prosperous reign, and that you
may be always so victorious as to lay your feet
on the neck of your enemies,”

*“To his Highness Khan Khanan, Bahawdee
Zephir Jung Grand Vizier,

“ Your Highnesees noble qualifications and

13
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virtues being known to all the world, which in-
crease by your daily giving instances of your jus-
tice and mercy, and particularly your favours and
protection which you so liberally bestow on all
strangers in vour King’s dominions ; of which we
Liere have a late instance i receiving the blessing
of his Majesty’s roval Hosbulhookum ; which we
must attribute to your Highness’s favour and great
care of us; for which we return our most hum-
ble thanks ; and humbly request that as we now
send our Petition to the great King Shali Aulum,
humbly desiving his voyal Firmauan for a confirmation
of our privileges according to Sallabad throughout
his dowinions ; that vour Highness would be pleas-
ed to countenance and assist us in procuring the
same ; for which you shall not only find us grateful
but dutiful ; and shall always pray for your High-
ness’s health and prosperity, and for ever to be
blessed with the favour of your great king.”

« To Zulfikar Khan, ete.

“ The many oblizatious we lie under to your
Mlighness arc never to be forgotten, being rivetted
in our memories a3 well as recorded in our books ;
which we should have often acknow ledged, but
prevented by the great distance and troubles of
the country ; vet nevertheless we never failed to
enquire after your Highness’s health, which God
continue.

“Your Highness is well acquainted with the
privileges our nation enjoyed in the reign of
the great Aurungzebe of Dblessed memory;

-which we are endeavouring to get confirmed
thy o royal Tirmaun from the great King  Shah
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Aulum ; that we and our trade may go onin
all parts according to Satlabad ; to effect which
we humnbly petition that your ighness will con-
tiue your constant favours to us in speaking in our
behalves as an opportunity presents, for which we
shall be always grateful, and pray for your High-
ness’s health and prosperity.”

“To his Excellency Zoodce Khan Lord High
Steward of the King’s ITousehold.

“ It is your noble and generous mind that have
drawn this trouble of our application to you ; and
as I wrote you in my last Letter, which T delivered
Aza Makeem, [ now semul our humble Petition to
the King, and Address to the Grand Vizier ; copies
of which I here enclose to Your Lxcellency ; hum-
bly requesting that you will favour us with the
management thereof.

“We are not ignorant of what should accom-
pany such Petitions and  Addresses ; but the ha-
zards and droubles in the way prevent us from pee-
forming that part at preseat ; i which T humbly
desire your Exeellency’s advice and divection as to
what would be acceptable to his Majesty, the Grand
Vizier, and such others where you think it is
necessary ; and we shall endeavour to procure it
if possible.

“Your Excellency will see that we desire a
Firmaun to confirm our privileges aecording ta
Sallabad in all Lis dominions ; unless his Majesty
shall, out of his Roya! bounty, bestow some new
favours on us.  Your Excellency eannot but know
that Miljupore (St. Thomé) is a troublesomne neigh-
Lourhood to ug, ereating always disputes and quar-
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rels, of little advantage to the king nor will it cver
he more ; which could we obtain, and the town of
Trivatore on the other side of wus, it would make
us easy, and increase the riches of the king’s
country.

 And whereas the goods we import are general-
ly carried to the capital cities of Golconda and
Bijapoor, etc., which trade we should much increase
if there was no custom paid upon them between
thiz place ond those cities; and that the Mettas
ahout us, which of late years have 'been increased
to the plagae and ruin of trade, were laid aside ;
which only find employs for some little peaple,
who destroy trade by their vexation and extortion,
ant in the main very much lessen the King’s re-
venue.

“ And we bombly desire that you would get it
inserted in a Firmaun, that whenever we are so -
unfortunate as to lose any ship in any part of his
Majesty's dominions,we shall have the liberty to pre-
serve what we can  of the wreck, withoat any mo-
lestation from the Government ; which is not only
practised throughout the world, but the inhabitants
are generally commanded to assist therein. For
it is a great hardship that, after the great risk that
our people have run of their lives, they shalt not
be at liberty to save what they can of their estates,
We must own with great thankfulness that this
justice have been granted us by former pur-
wannas from Khan Bahadur and the present Nabob ;
but as it has been formerly disputed it may again,
which nothing but the King’s gracious grant can
provent.
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“ We extremely want the King’s blessing and?
favours to give new life to our trade; for since
vour Exceliency went lLence this place has lost:
nearly three Jakhs of Pagodas by misfortunes and
most by pirates ; so that it is become poor ; and,
nothing can contribute to the retrieving our losses
but God’s blessing, the King's favour, and Your
Excellency’s continuance in assisting of us.

“ Here are ships ina few days that will depart
for Pegn, when we shall write the King what you
advised in your former letter, that an Ambassador
was coming to him. Khan Bahadur always showed
himself a friend to our nation ; whose favours we
canuot but retain with great thankfulvess ; so have
wrote him a letter which comes herewith, aud a
ropy of it for your Excellency ; we leave it to your
pleasure whether it shall be delivered him.

“If please God we are so fortunate as to be
blessed with the King’s favour, as to obtain his
Royal Firmaun, we luimbly entreat Your Excellen-
cy to appoint some able person to see it so fully
penned as that it may not admit of any dispute
from Nabob's and Governors, where the samc is
to be executed. Our dependance is entirely on
Your Excellency’s friendship, for which we shall he
always full of onr acknowledgments, and  heartily
wish Your Excellency and all your family lealth
and prosperity.”

The following extracts will explain themselves,

“ Thursday, 19th August. 'There having come
some people belonging to Zoodee Khuu, our great
friend ot the King's Court, to acquaint the
Governor that his Lady at St Thomé extremely
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*
-wanted money for her charges ; not being able to
get bills upon her hushand, nor could he remit
‘my, by reasou of the great troubles in the way ;
so esired  of the Governor to lend 500 Pagodas
for his account ; who answered them that it was the
Comipany’s positive orders to lend none of their
money to any people whatever ; nor that their
Governors nor any in their service should lend
any money to any in the country Goverument,
upon the penaliy of being discurded their serviee ;
but cousidering our depencdence to procure @
Firmann is upon the friendship of the aforesaid
Lady’s husband, the Goveriment acquaintz the
Council that he promised to procure a merchaut
to lend that money, if Aga Makeem, a mevchaut
of this pluce, would give kis bond for it, which he
hacl done for 300 Tagodas to be  repaid in four
wmonths without interest ; which hond being now
produced, it was agreed that the 500 Pagodas be
on the Company’s acecunt and repaid the Govern-
ment out of the cash; being a thing absolutely
necessary at this time, though not to be drawn
into a precedent for the future.” .
"The following entries arc in the Consultations
of the same day; aml are worth preserving
thongh they do not ilustrate the  eurvent historv.
« The Company having a sorrel Persian horse
good for litile, and there being some people about
to buy him, it is agreed the Governor sells hin
for what he ean get.”
* We having lately move thefts and robberies
committed in this city than usual, and finding
tikey daily increase, to prevent which it is azreed
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That all persons ns soon as convicted shali be
punished by being whipt at a cart through all the
streets in Black Town, and afterwards lie in prison
till an opportunity presents to send them to the
West Coast, where they are to be the Company’s
slaves for ninety-nine years ; and this order to e
published by setting it up on every Gate of the
Blacx town.

* The Governor being advised from Pegu that
a Conicopoly, one Ansapal, that went hence on
one of the ships hither, had the impudence to
connterfeit a letter to the king of that country, as
if it came from the Governor here, and with it
sent a present ; for which he had an advantage-
ous return in Blephants as usual ; so to prevent
the pernicious consequences which attend such
vile practices, the Governor seized bim as soon as
he returned, and put Lim in prison, and intended
to have punished him severely ; but having been
there a Factor for several Merchants of this place,
to whom he had not yet rendered any account,
and it is thought he never would if he is dlagmccd
by a punishment ; it s thercfore agreed that he
be fined for his erime 200 Pazodas, to be paid into
the Company’s cash, and give security he never
more yoes to Pegu.”

In September this year, {he Government of Fort
St. George was informed that the Nabob was
about to procced to join the King Shab Aulum at
Goleonda, and accordingly o menmber of Counil
amt the Seeretary were sent to him with a present
of about 200 Pagodas. In return the Nabob pre-
sented the Companv with a Perwanna for the five
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following towns, the nmmes of which are spelt as
follows.
“Trivetore town itself,
Vaalawads uwnder Peruushore,
Santunganda under Trivetore.
Lungumbaca (! Nungumbaukum) under Egmore,
Cutteewauca under Trivetore.”

These Towns were valued at fifteen hundred
Pagodas. Subsequently the King’s Officers at 8t,
‘Thom¢ raised a clamour against this present of the
King’s towns, and declared that their real value
was as much as three thousand Pagodas; upon
which the Nubob ordered the King's books to be
searched, and the real value to be laid before him.
From the following entry it will be seen that the
dispute was hushed up in the Oriental fashion : —
“ 1t is ngreed that our Moolla and Brahmin return
again to St. Thomd with about two hundred Pago-
dns, which is ordered to be distributed amongst the
King’s Officers who keep the Records in order to
settle this matter.”

The next extraet is also interesting.

“ Baturday, 16th October. We having large ex-
perience that it is impossible for us to manage the
income of villages, so as not to be imposed upon,
and lose at least half the produce ; to prevent
which it is agreed this day to let or to rent
the five villages, lately given the Company by
the Nabob, for twelve years to Colloway and
Vinketty Chetties, at 1200 Pagodas per annum,
to commence from this day; who are obliged
to repair all tanks belonging thercto, which have
been let run to ruin, as customary, by those who
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have been lately the renters of them ; and the
Secretary is ordered to draw out a lease for them.”

Towards the end of the vear ancther Iusbul-
liogkwm arrived from the King Shab Avlum, with
answers penned in the wsual oviental style from
the Roval Officers to the letters sent them by
Governor Litt. It would be wearisome in the
extreme to reproduce these compositions here. I
return Governor Pitt engaged to forward the neces-
sury presents to the King Shah Aulwn and his
principal Officers ; and sent numerous fulsowme
letters to the various Ministers of State, all of
which are recorded at full fength in the Consulta-
tion. The following extracts from a letter to the
Roval Steward will sufliciently llustrate the tone
of the whole.

“* To Zoodee Khan, Lord High Steward of the
King Shah Aulum’s household, January 5th, 1704,

“ By your faithful Chobdar Cossae, by whom
Your L\cellenc\ sent the Roval Husbulthookum,
and Vest, and Purwannas, 1 now send this hum-
ble addross, which doubtless you cxpeeted sooner,
and had been sent but for the two following
reasons, Your Excellency enjoining secresy, I
was obliged to commit the translating of them to
some pnrtxcular frieuds, which toak up fourteen
davs.,  When fully apprised of the purport thereof,
I could not but be surprised at vour unparalleled
cxpressions of friendship and invaluable honours
vou have done us; which so confounded my
thoufrht:, for some days that I almost despaired of
bemg able to acknowledge them by my pen or
otherwise ; but then considering what a generous

14
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friend I had met with, who had been so lavish of
his favours to one who had as little power as
merit to oblige you ; 1 could no longer refrmin from
blessing my stars, who were so propitious to me
as to give me the homour of your first acquain-
tance ; which I esteem the happiest fate that has
attended me throngh the whole course of my life ;
which I shall ever Temember, and that posterity
may do the same, I hnmbly request that when
vou come to Golconda vou will honour- me
with sending me your picture; which I will send
to England and have copied by the most ex-
quisite limner in the world, and order it to
be sent me hither ; beside T will erect vour effigy
finely cut in marble, with such an inseription
oun it that the world may know the aathor of
our happiness in these parts. ..... Your Ex-
cellency writes that there must be presents for all
the princes and some of the great men. If you
mean such 2s are suitable to their birth and quali-
ty, it is impossible for us to purchase them with
our Compauy’s estate ; who you know are mer-
chants who run great risk to get a little, and who
often meet with loss instead of gain., We hope as
the presents we intend are suitable to our circum-
stances, that they will meet with a gracions ac-
ceptance from the great king and princes ; which
puts us in mind of what we read in history that
upon many persons making very rich presents to
a king, there happened a poor man te come with a
drop of water, which was aceeptable as any of their
presents, being according to his ability.”

Shortly afterwards the following Firmann ar-
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rived from King Shah Awlam, by which it will be
seen distinetly that the conflict with Kam Buksh
was the canze of such demonstrations of friendship.

“ Let the chosen of his Caste and Nation, the
Governor of Chinnapatam, know that he may be in
hopes of the King’s favour, Seeing that Kam
Buksh doth purpose to fly from the powerful arms
of our victorions army ; for that reason the com-
mand of the sovereign of the world, worthy of all
subinission and obedience is due, is issued forth ;
that in case he, Nam Buksh, should come wander-
ing, not knowing where to go, into those parts,
and desire to embark himself on some ship in order
to get awuy ; that the chosen of his nation shall
use his utinost endeavours to procure that he be
either killed or made 2 prisoner; and to effect
this let him know that the command from the
toyal Throwe is strict in the strictest manmer.
Written the 17th of the moon Ramazan the Bless-
ed in the second year of the King's Reign.”

In reply Governor Titt’s promised obedience in
general terms, but on the 18th January, 1709,
intelligence was brought to Madras that Shab
Aulum had obtained a complete victory over his
brother, and that Kam Buksh lad died of the
wounds he had received during the battle,
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CHAPTER XXIIL

‘GOVERNORSHIPE OF PITT, ADDISON, MONTAGLUE
AND FRASER.

1709—10.

The period upon which we are now about to
enter will be interesting to all who are foud of
listorical eoincidences. The rapid succession of
Governors, in the years 1709, 1710, and 1711,
hears a curions resemblance to the similar changes
which took place in 1839, 1860, and 1861 after
the exact interval of a century and a half.  Within
two vears Fort St. George saw five successive
Governors, viz. Mr. Pitt, Mr. Addizon, Mr, Monta-
gue, Mr, Fraser, and Mr. Harrison ; and now
within the Iast two years of our history we have
seen the same event repented in the rapid succes-
sion of Lerd Harns, Siv Charles Trevelvan, Mr.
Morehead, Sir Henry Ward, and S William
Denison.

In the middle of the vear 1709, Mr. Pitt's go-
verament was fast  drawing to a elose; but
though it is apparent from the records that he
had some suspicions of the probability of his being
recalled, yet he evidently had no idea of the sud-
den way in which the recall would be carried out,
Before however noticing this event, we make the
following curious extracls which seem to have
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somesreference to the great Pitt diamond to
which allusion has already been mane.

“ Wednesday, 3rd August, 1709, The Go-
vernor this day acquainted the Council, that he
having latety heard of some villainous and scanda-
lous reflections that had Deen made upon him by
the late Lientenant Seaton, who he yesterday sent
for from the Mount, and examined thereon ; who
with his usual impudence averred to him the most
notorious falsities that ever could be thought or im-
agined. Upon which he (the Grovernor) said, he
Liad confined him, Seaton, to the Ensign’s room ;
and he desired that he might be sent for up, and
cxamined thereto. Which accordingly was done,
and when he came into the Consultation Roow
before us, without first hearing what the Governor
had to charge him with, and the reasons of his con-
finement,— he immediately aldressed himsclf to the
Council, saving, ‘I am eome here to accuse the
Governor for buying a great diamond to the Com-
pany’s prejudice.”  When the Governor answered
and told him, * we would discourse of that by
amd by 3 and demanded of him whether he had
said, that he had received of Taupia to make him
{’hief Dubash, five hundred Pagodas; and that
LRamapa offered seven hmndred to be continued,
which was refused.  This he acknowledged
to have said, but being commanded to prove
the same, he answered he had it from 2
black fellow, but could not remember who
he was. After which the two Dubashes before
mentioned deelarved they never gave the Governor
a Pugoda, or that ever hie asked or hinted to them
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of any such thing ; and to this they took the most
solemnest oath in the Pagoda. Then the Gover-
nor demanded what he knew of his buying a
diamond. He answered in general terms, that he
knew every particular of it ; when he was com-
manded to acquaint the Council with it, which he
said he would then do, kunowing that there would
be & change of Government this month, and there-
fore for what this Governor said to him did not
signify a farthing, with mauy such insolent and
villainous expressions. He further said that to his
knowledge the Governor wus betrayed by all the
Black servants about him ; insomuch that he knew
every thing that was done and said, nay as much
as in his Counting house ; and to give an instance
thereof, said, that the great diamond he had
bought was entered in his books folio 64, 1le
further told us that one Rogers, who went hence
in October last for Bombay, had carried papers
along with him, signed by Black people, that
would do the Governor's business; which Sir
Nicholas Wait had got translated and carried home
with him.

¢ The Governor also acquainted the Council that
he had very good reason 1o suspect that this Seaton
was turned Informer to the Government, and held
a cotrespondence with them, and promised in a
few days to prove the same; in expectation of
which, and what the Governor charged him with,
and he confessed before us, —we now unanimously
confirm his confinement tiil other means can be
considered of ; and for what discourse passed be-
tween the Governor and him yesterday in the Con-
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sultation Room after his coming from the Mount,
is as entered as follows, the truth of which we
shall always be ready to justify by oath or other-
wise.”

Copy of what passed belween the Governor and
Lieutenant Sealon in the Conanltation Room on
the duy before.

“ This evening being the 2nd of August about
five o'clock, I discoursed Captain Seaton in the
Consultation Room, when charged him. with his
having said that T had 500 Pagodas given me to
make Paupia Chief Dubash ; which he owned, and
he told me that I was betrayed in whatever [ did
or spoke by all my servants about me ; and that
I had not a frientd upon the place, whatever [
thought.

““Then I asked how he durst presume to talk
up and down of what T bought or sold, and how
it was possible for him to know anything of it ; to
which e answered that he had so good intelhi-
gence that there was not the least thing said
or done by me, but that he knew; andto
convinee me desired leave to ask me some ques-
tions, which I permitted him to do and were as
follows.  Whether Mr. Roberts did not write to
me, requesting that he might be concerned in a great
diamond I had bought P Answered : ¢ False.”
“ Whether a person did not come and wish me
joy of its being sold for 500,000 dollars *” False,
“ Whether two persons did not come from the
Dekkan to demand a great diamond, and that [
gave one of them at coming eleven rupees, and the
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other at going away, a hundred and fifty.,”  All
false, only that one mun came.  Upon which T told
him that I found him (Seaton) a villain j and as
I found him endeavowring to betray me, doubt-
less he would de the same to the Government ; so
ordered the Captain of the Guard to contiue him
to the Ensign’s room, none Lo come to him but
the Council.

 Thursitay, 11th August. U is unanimously
agreed that Licutenant Seaton be confined till the
first ship goes for Bugland, and on her to be sent
home a prisoner to the Company.,”

In the following month Governor Pitt was
suddenly recalled, as will be seen by the following
entry.

« Bunday, 18th September. Yesterday evening
appeared a ship to the northward of this Dort,
and about nine at night came ashore Captain
Tolson, who aecquainted the Governor that he
was commpander of the Ship * Heathcote” come
direetly from England ; and that he had rought
the Company’s packet which he produced divect-
ed as follows : —

;“ To e Hox'BLE GULsTONE ADDISON, PRESI-
* pENT, MEssrs, FRasER, MoNTAGUE, MARTIN,
RaworTH, FREDERICK, I1UNT, BCLKLEY, AND

JExxINGs, Fort 31. GEORGE.”

And withal told him there was great alterations
Tere, and that he was dismissed the service; there-
fore pressed that the Council might be immediately
called. The Governor told him that it was impos-
sible to be done, not only from the lateness of the
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night, but that several of them were at the Mount ;
so desired the Captain to strietly observe in what
condition he delivered the packet, and be here to-
morrow morning at eight o'clock, against when
the Council shoukl be summoned, that so he might
see it in the like condition he delivered it. This
morning accordingly all the Jate Council met,
whenthe Governor refused io surrender the Govern-
ment by virtue of the superseription on the packet,
but demanded a supereedent to his Commission, by
virtue of which he had been Governor of this
place upwards of eleven vears, $o after some
hesitatiou the packet was opencd, wherein there
was a Commission which supercedul his. He also
demanded the reading of the Creneral Letter,
which was refused him ; but in the packet there
being a Letter from the Managers to hini, wherein
it was fully expressed his dismission from their
service, the eoustituting Gulstone Addison, Faquire
in his room, so he immediately read the cash and
tendered the balance thereof ; but the new Gover-
nor desired the payment for that time be defeired,
for that he was very much indisposed.  So the
Governor just as he lefi the Chaiy, challenged
the whole Board, or any upon the place, to chavge
Tm with an nnjust action during the whole time
of his Government, or that he had ever refused a
kindness to any one thet aszked it, and that it Iay
in his power ; or that ever he acted arbitrary in
any one matter, notwithstanditg some villains of
this place have had the impudence to represent
him otherwise : so rose out of the chair and
placed the new Governor in it.”
13
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The recall of Mr Pitt, at the moment he had
succeeded in establishing friendly relations between
the Company and the cowrt at Delhi, proved any-
thinz but advantageous to the English; and the
Directors on more than one occasion had cause to
regret their precipitancy, and quoted the govern-
ment of Mr. Ditt as an example to his less politic
awil less energetic successors.  The following ex-
tract from a general letter of this period will alone
warrant this inference.

“We read with pleasure that when Messrs.
Raworth and Davenport visited the Nabob at St.
Thomd with a prescat of two hundred pagodas,
he gave you for us the grants of five towns adjoin-
ing to ours, worth about fifteen hundred pagodas
& year, which you ore now in possession of ; and
that vou preserve a zowl understanding with the
government, notwithstanding sone little jangling.
This we take to he the elfcet of your good conduet
and President Pitt’s interest with the great men ;
and shall be glad you, our present President and
Couneil, will follow in the same steps, which is
now so tnuch the easter because the path isgready
trodden.”

The administration of Mr. Gulston Addison,
who was brother to the greatest of English essay-
ists, did not extend over a month. On the Sun-
day morning that he sueceeded to the government,
he wus too much indispesed to Teceive the balanee
of the cash from My, Ditt; and his signature is
wanting lo the proecedings. On the Monday he
made his appearauce and stated that he had
“laboured under most severe pains, which almaost
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rendered his inbs in a manner useless to him ;”
and the trembling signature whicll appears In the
consultationr book seews to indicate that le was
still suffering from the attack. He only attended
five consuliations afterwards ; and at the last one
te which his signature is appended, he signed the
instructions to the Captain of the *“ Heatheote™ ta
receive Mr. Pitt on board, and to treat him with
all the respect due to an ex-Governor during the
vovaze to England. Mr, Addison died at noon
oun Monday, the 17th of October, 1709, The
event is interesting from its conneetion with the
jortunes of his more celebrated brether.  Whilst
Gulston had been toiling away in the Company’s
service at Fort St Georme, the fame and fortune
of Joseph had been rapully rising in England,
Literature in ihose days was on a different footing
to what it is now. The Battle of DBlenhcim i
1704, had been celebrated with a chorus of such
wretched poems, that the government had actually
routed out Joseph Addison from his little zarret
in the 1laymarket, to write < The Campaian.” The
poem et with vast applanse, and the subsequent
prowotion of its avthor was rapid.  In 170§ he
was chief secretary to the Lord Lieutenant of
Ireland on two thousand a vear, and kecper
of the Irish records on four hundred a vear.
Abowt the very time that Gulston died, Joseph
furnished his first contribution to the Tatler. But
shortly afterwards the Whigs went out and Joseph
lost his ehief sceretaryship.  This was unfortunate
as he had deemed it expedient to fall in love with
the dowager Countess of Warwick ; a lady of ma-
ture charms, who considered My, Addison as the
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chief secretary and Mr. Addison as the mere lite-
rary man, 1o be two totally distinet individuals,
Accordingly though she had smuled on the secretary
she now frowned upen the author, Tt was at this
juncture that Joseph inhevited his brother’s for-
wune, and the inheritance seems to have won back
the heart of Chloe. 1n duc time the pair were
married ; but poer Gulston’s wealth had better
have been left at Tort St. George. Henceforth,
as the story goes, Mr. Joseph Addison was far
happier over a bettle of clarct at a tavern, thaw in
the company of his magnificent countess dowager
et Hollund 1ouse.

But to return to Madras.  The succession to
the Governorship belonged to Mr., Willium Fraser,
the enemy of Pitt and Higginson ; but as Fraser
was at that time Deputy Governor of Fort 5t
David, Mr. Edward Moutague took the post of
provisional governor until his return. The ad-
ministration of Mr. Montague only lasted a fort-
night, and was distinguished by only one incident
worthy of notice.  The government had at Jast re-
solved to send Captain Seaton to England an board
the © Heatheote.”  'The Captain however refused
to leave his house, and the Governor was oblized
to send Ensign Dixon with a file of soldiers to
corry him on board. What transpired is best de-
seribed in Ensign Dixon's own narrative of the
proceedings, addressed to the Governor and Coun-
cil on the 23th of October, 17UY, which was
follows : —

* HoxoURABLE S1Rs,

According to orders, I carried vour prisoner
Captain Scaton alongside of the Ship © Heath-
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cote,” and laying there some thme I found no
person appear to hand us a rope or any to assist
us. Then I went on board and delivered your
Honor’s and Council’s ovder to Captain Tolson,
desiring i {o receive the prisoner. [ informed
him that the said prisoner was carried from the
Sea (ate, and that he refused to come on board,
unless he were hoisted in.  Captain Tolson replied
that all bis passengers came on board willingly, and
would not hoist him in, nor suffer anybody else
tu do it, nor would he overhale the least tackle in
his ship ; and that he would not suffer any
gentleman lying alongside of bis ship to be foreed
on board or ill used. Captain Tolson asked the
prisoner, if he would come on beard, which the
said prisoner refused.  Then the prisoner demand-
ed of Captain Tolson, whether he had any further
cererrands for him.  Captain Tolson answered no.
I waited for a note, but at Jast he told me I might
go, for he would give none.”  Subsequently Cap-
tain Scaton appears to have left the Presidency of
his own accorel.

On the 2nd of November the new Governor,
Mr. Fraser, reached Madras from Fort 8t. David ;
the members of Council and cther English Gentle-
men, together with the chiel inhabitants of the
place, going out as fur as 8t. Thomas’ little Moung
to receive him. The next day a council was held,
as will be scen by the following extract.

* Thursday, 3rd November, 1709, The Coun-
cii being duly suinmoned met in Cousultation, and
having tuken their places, the President, rising up
from ihe chair, exhorted the Gentlemen of the
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Council to forget and forgive whatever hitherto
had given canse and occasion to the difference that
lad formerly happencd amongst themn ; and that
all such piques wmight for ever he burted in oblivion,
and that they might hencelorward agree amongst
themselves, m the Unity of Love and firm Friend-
ship, with all reciprocal respect to each other ;
in testimony of which they were desired to shake
hands all of them ; which was accordingly doue
with all promiscs of sincerity to the performance
of the promises.”

The Governorship of Mr. Fraser Iusted little
more than eighteen months, being bronght toa
eonclusion on the 11th of July, 1711, when Mr.
Harison came out as President of Fort St.
Georze.  The reeords connccted with the ad-
ministration of both Mr. Fraser and  his successor
are much occupied with two or three discussions
which it is imposzible to treat in detail.  In the
first place there was an interminable correspon-
deuce with Zoodee Khan, concerning the present
intended for the Court at Delhi, and which was
detained for years on its way. It seems that Go-
vernor Piit had intended to forward it to the King
whilst the latter was staving at Goleonda after the
victory over I'rince Kham Buksh ; but part only
was sent by sea to Masulipatam, and there got no
farther ; the King having by that time been called
back to Delli and the North-west in consequence
of the rising of the Sikhs.

Many consultations were Leld, not only with
the members of Couneil, but with also the chief
merchants aud inhabitants of the place, as to Low
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the present was to be conveyed. To send it over-
land to Delhi was declaved to e a Hereulean
labour, the imperial city  being little less than
2009 miles off,” which would oceasion * an im-
mense charge to the Company.””  Subsequently it
was determined to send the portion that was at
Masulipatama  to the Subah at Golconda, there
to remain until the King’s pleasure eould be
known ; whilst the remaming portion was to be
sent on to Bengal, thence to be forwarded to
Delbi. Very many months however after this de-
cision was recorded, we still find Zoodee Khan
applving for the present, and the Governor of
Fort St. George sending every kind of excuse and
apology for the delay.

Ancther subject of endiess conespondcnce Dbe-
tween the Governor and the Nabob of the sur-
rounding country, was the five uew villages which
had been granted to ihe Company by the Nabob
Dawood Khan. Notwitkstanding the present to
Dawood Khan, and the jndicious bribe administered
to the kecpers of the records, the Mogul govern-
ment  determined to recall the villages, on the
ground that they belonged to a jaghire which had
been granted to Zulfikar Khan, now styled Khan
Babadur. There were also troubles both at Vi izaga-
patam, and Fort $t. David ; but these subjects wiil
be sufficiently explained as we proceed.  We shall
now producc our extracts in ehronological order,

The first refers to a severe sterm which hroke
out about a fortnight after Mr. TFraser’s accession,
and is thus deseribed in the consultation book.

** Saturday, 19th November 1709. Saturday
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in the evening, it rained very much, and about §
at night began to thunder and lighten, wlhich was
very violent (for about an houri, by which the
Flag Stafl was rent sod shattered Trom the top to
the ground. Some pieces flew near 600 feet, and
thousands of small pieces strewed the curtains and
other places. A large iron hoop was burst from
the mast, and flew near 200 feei, and two holes
struck through the truck as though it had been
with a shot.

“The Company’s house at the Garden was
likewise damaged at the Southernmost end, one
leaf of a window being shattered to picees and
one side of the Frame mauch rent ; the door pierced
throuzh in several places, and the upper part of
the Frame much scorched, whereby it was render-
ed unserviceable. The wall was pierced through
mtwo places ; one hole just above the Terrace,
being about 3 inches diameter ; and the other,
which went beneath the beams that bear wp the
"I'errace, was nbout 7 inches diameter, and the
beam next the wall was likewise pierced through
in two places, and all this with little or no wind.”

+ We may here add that the season of 1709-10
proved in other respects a remarkable one. The
wmonsoon rains retnrned in January with considera-
ble violenece, a circumnstance which we believe is of
yery rare occurrence on the Coast of Coromandei.

The next extract will be interesting to our
Armentan readers, for notwithstanding the com-
plaints reeorded against one of their community,
the following story plainly indicatesthatthe Armeni-
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ans had gained considerable wealth and were aiming
at independent power.

* Thursday, 13th January, 1710.  Lewis Meli-
que, an inhabitant of this place, presents a petition
setting forth the abuses and insolencies of Cojah
Saffur, an Armenian, also an irhabitant here, who
hath for some yenrs past lived at 3t. Thomas’
Great Mount, where he hath fimpudently assumed
a power to himself, as if he was llavildar there .
insomuch that in a controversy between the said
Lewis Melique and Antonio Soares about a piece
of gronnd, the said Saffur concerned himself so
far, though not belonging te him, that he threaten-
ed to beat the said Lewis Melique, and send him
A prisoner to the Catwall of St. Thome ; which
he hadl ecertainly done, had not the said Lewis
Melique made his escape.

“ Un which the Governor sent for the said
Baflur yesterday, who appeared before us this day,
and the matter being put close to him did stifly
deny cvery thing, notwithstanding the evidence
that was brought against him; and it being well
known that the said Saffur las been an insolent
troublesome fellow to all the English iu general,
who have resorted to the Mount for their health ;
of which therc has been several iustances, too many
to be enumerated here.

¢ And that there is cause to belicve, that the said
Cojoh Saffur, with others of his nation, intend to
associate and form themselves into a Factory at
the Mount, and make St. Thomé their port, as ap-
pears by their having in the late Governor Pitt’s
time bought and built several hiouses there, which

16
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they ought not to have done without leave of the
Governor and Council ; and that they intended to
build a Gate at the end of the lane to stop up alk
avennes, and prevent all others having any entrance
there but themselves ; to prevent which growing
evil, it is thought expedient to pull np their inso-
tent weed of ill humour by the root,

 Agreed and ordered that the said Cojuk Saftnr
be confined to the Fort, until he give security of
Pagodas 5000, for his forthcoming and good be-
haviour for the future ; for which none of his own
nation would engage for him, and therefore was
eommitted.”

The following entry illustrates the war between
Grreat Britain and Franee which had extended to
the Bay of Bengal. The false intelligence hy
which Governor Fraser proposed to deccive the
Trench will be found ereditable to that gentle-
man’s invention. It will be seen that Mr. Mon-
tague, the late provisiona) governor of Fort St.
George, was now Deputy Governor of Fort 5t.
David ; and that he and his Council were anxious
to dispatch theship = Somers” to Europe, but were
afraid to do so whilst the Freneh ships were at
Pondicherry. Aceordingly the design of Governor
Frazer was to mdace the French shlps to leave
Pondicherr_v, 80 a3 Yo leave the coast elear for the
* Somers.”

“Tuesday, 3lst Janoary. This morning re-
ceived a gencral letter from the Deputy Governor
and Councit at Fort St. David, dated 28th in-
stant, and the President found matter enough
tontained therein to sumumon ihe Council to meet
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immediately. They, at Fort 8t. David, advise the
Ship “ Somers” to have been full laden that day.
They likewise advise of their great fears and ap-
prehensions they have of the St. Malo’s ships at
Pondicherry, of their baving some il design in
agitation against the * Somers.”  For which
reazon they think it not adviseable to desputch
her though full laden, and thercfore do enrnestly
desire our orders and directions in that watter.
 The President propounding to the Council what
they thought might be the best ways and
means to be used to prevent the © Samers”
being in danger of the Frewch. Upon the whole we
vore to this fellowing resolution, that o letter should
be devised as fromm Bengal, advizsing the great
troubles the English were in there, by reason of
the country Goverament stopping their goods
from coming down the river ; which occasioned 2
warm skirmish, in which a great many Moors were
killed and some English; ard that the Councit
there thought the Company’s affairs in great dan-
ger, and forthwith desired our wtmost assistance.
As also to write the Depaty Governor and Coun-
cil {and send them copy of said devised letter) for
tosend for Captein Peacock and endeavour to
agree with him on furtker 4ime according to a New
Charter party, that he might be unladen and sent
10 Bengal; with the intent that the same might
be industrionsly diffused and spread abroad, in
hopes it might eccasion the French Ships depar-
ture the sooner thence, who had lain full laden
for some days. Tt wos also agreed, we should
write our joint letter to Deputy Governor Moa-
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tague, Mr. Raworth, and Captain Peacock to unra-
vel and explain to them the mystery of our general
letter to the Deputy Governor and Council, and
that it was only feigned with o design in hopes, it
might hasten the despatch of the French.”

By subsequent entries we learn that this device
proved wnnecessary, butit nevertheless received
the warm approval at the Court of Directors.

The following petition will explain itself.

“ Ta the Honorable William Fraser, Esq. ete.

* The petition of the Ministers and Churchwar-
dens of the Parish of 8t. Mary’s in Fort St
George.

« Huwmbly representeth,

That whereas the monuments of the dead, and
the ground wheve they are mterred are held by
most people in some mensure sacred, and not light-
1y applied to any common or profane use, vet it is
our misfortune that the English burying place in
Fort 3t, George (where so many of our relations,
frienes awd acquaintants lie buried) is not kept in
that decent anid due manner it ought to be, but
every day profaned and applied to the most vile
and undecent nses ; for since the year 1701, when
an old building that stoed in the burying place
(and in which the Buffaloes used to be shut up)
was taken down to build lodgings for the soldiers
at the Gate adjoining, the ‘Tombs have been
made use of for stables for the Buffaloes ; which i3
not only a thing very undecent, but also a very
great damage o those buildings, by having so
mony  stakes drove into the pavement and with
the walls to fasten the Butfaloes to.
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* Another oceasion of our eomplaint on this
subject is the Cocoa-nut trees standing in the bury-
ing place ; the profit arising from them, we know
is inconziderable, but the nuisance accruing to the
place thereby, we nre swre is very great, LFor the
Toddy men have people emploved there all the day
and almost all the night in drawing and selling of
Toddy, so that we are obliged on their account to
keep the (iates always open, both by day and by
night.  And there about eight o’clock at nisht
after work is done, is such a resort of Dhasket
makers, Scavengers, people that look after the
Buftuloes, and other Parriars, to drink Toddy, that
all the Punch houses in Madras have not half the
noise in thew ; and by reason of the gates lying
open, begzars and other vagabonds {(who know
not where to go) make use of the tombe to lie in,
and what unclean uses the neighbours thereabout
o make of that place we forbear to tell. We
hope, what is here urged, together with the reflec-
tion it mmust cast on owr Chareh and nation to
have so little regard to the repositories of our dead,
when all other nations who hive among us have sa
just a regard to theirs, will prevail with vour
Honor &e. to take this matter into your considera-
tion, and to find out some method to redress these
abuses. And your petitioners as in duty bound
shall &e.

GErorGe LEWIs, "
ROBERT J()NES.} Miuiaters.
Epwirp Barkuaym.
Fravers Cooxe.
Forr S1. GEORGE,
February 19th 1710.}

} Church Hardens.”
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We are glad to inform our readers that the
matter was taken up by Governor Fraser, and the
profanation removed, The Rev. George Lewis,
who has signed his name to the above petition,
appears 1o have heen an active Chaplain, and we
shall have oceasion to mention him ina future
issue in connection with some Missionary proceed-
ings.

The following letter from Zoudee Khan to the
Governor of Fort Saint George, is not ouly in-
teresting as illustrative of the new relations which
at this time began to spring up hetween the
Mogul’s government and the English, but it seems
to indicate the commencement of a new com-
mercial policy on the part of Shah Aulum.

“ Trom Zoodee Khan, Ameny and Phoujdar of
Hooghly and other seaports under the Subah of
Benral, as also of Orissa, Masulipatam, Peddi-
polle, Chinnapatam, 5t. Thom¢, Pulicat, Chicacole,
-&e., under the Subah of Goleondah, received May
16th 1710. *

¢t [ lately wrote your Honor by your peons that
the King had granted me the above mentioned
Ameny and Phoujdarship, and therefore I have ap-
pointedd Mirza Mahomud Zaman, son-in-law of
Aloudabeeg, and Mahomed Salaubeeg, Deputies
under me for Masulipatam and Peddepolle and my
friend Aga Mookeem, Depuiy at Chinnapatam,
St. Thomé, Pulicat and Chicacole, and have sent
them their commissions with a copy of mine at-
tested by the Codjee at Court,

“ As there is a great friendship between us, and
vou have often informed me that it was your opi-
nion that if all the seaports under the King's
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dominions were under the Admiral (as a Company)
he might settle the sca aflairs, destroy the pirates,
enrich the seaperts and encourage the sea Mer-
chants to come and depart, which will increase
their profit ; and you desired me to use my ut-
most endeavours to obtain this; which I have
done ; and on account of our friendship have under-
taken this great busivess myself, and if it hap-
pens otherwise, the diseredit will be the same to
us both. TFor I have no other hopes than the
safety of all subjects, the security of ships and
merchants going or coming by sca, extirpation of
pirates and the carichment of the King's sea-
ports. So your honor must wuse your endcavours
in this matter likewize, and advise all your Gom-
astas and merchants every where to trade freely,
without suspicion of any danger, and augruent
their trade,

“T want your adviee if you think it proper to
send some of the King's ships to bring Elephants
from the other eoast.”

*“The King has ordered me to build a Tort at
Ballasore and enrich your Factory.”

 Mter I arrive ot Hooghly T will observe how
affairs are managed and adviee your honor.”

« And now 1 wust desire you to think of means,
how things may best be carried ou for the King’s
advantage and your Company's ; that so all per-
sons 1oay live happy and serve their Maker. TYor I
have neglected other business, and undertaken this
on your account, in hopes to get a great name by
it ; and within 5, 6, or 12 months’ time, if it is



128 HISTORY OF MADRAS. 0019,

your request that 1 should take in the other sea
ports, as alse Surat, I can procure it; and we
must endeavour to promote both our fames. Tor
if we agree we can conquer the whole world, and
clear the seas of all dangers for the merchants,

i As to the present, I have wrote vou lately to
send it to Bengal, accovding to the king’s order,
whicl be sure you do.  Tor it is very necessary
that vou send a present, aud when I come to
Hooghly, I will advise you of all other matters ;
and vou shounld send a Vakeel to be with me;
which if you approve of, you may send such a one
as Cojah Hamud, or Surapa, or write your people
at Calcutta to send one. For ! shall want him
on scveral occasions. I heartily wish vou all
health and prosperity.”

We are sorry to add that this arrangement
proved to be only a temporary one, and that after
a few months the seaports on the coast of Coro-
mandel were again placed under the ordinary
Jurisdiction of the Svbah of Golconda.

We now return to the subject of the five new
villages which had been obtained by Governor
Pitt. 1t must here be remarked that the purwvan-
na for the out towns hail been received from the
Nabob Dawood Khan, and subsequently confirm-
ed. The Nabob had also given to the Company
a piece of ground of about forty acres at the
Mount, in order that a house with a garden at-
tacked, might be bLuilt there as a sanatarinm for
the Company’s servants. In Aprit 1710 the
Nabol recalled the villages, and ordered them
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to be delivered to Zulfikar Khan's* officers, on
the ground that they belorged to his Jaghire.
About the same time Dawgod Khan was
Limself recalled to Delli, in conserquence pro-
bably of the rise of the Sikhs. The Govern-
ment of Fert St. George suspected that the Nubob
Lad been persuaded to this action by Yeavellappa,
the Manager of Poonnmallee, otherwise the Renter
of the country surrounding the Engtlish dominions ;
and for a long time they deferred giving them up.
in May the sune yenr, aletter arvived from Dewan
Sadatulla Khan at Arcot, who is described as the
new Nabob, demanding not only the five villages
recently graoted, but also the three old towns of
Egmore, Tandore and Pursewaukem, which had
been granted some years previously by the Nabob
Zulfikar Khan, The following letter frora President
Traser to the Dewan Sadettulla Khan, puts the
whaole matter in a clear light.

“Fo DEWaN Sapatrira Kuax, Heavrw,
Fort St. Qeorye, May 2585, 1710,
« Abont some three dayvs ago a servant of yours by
name Muzzadeen bronght me a letter, said to be
from you, which gave my Brahmin fo be trans-
lated, at which I desired your servant to go and
rest himself after his journey, until I had given an-
swer {o said letter ; when be insolently and very -
pertly, as void of all manners and respeet, insisted ;
on the delivering up the villages. Llse he would -
carry back your lejter; which he did. T told him

* \We continue the old name 4o prevent confusion ; but
Lieneeforth Zulfikar Khan ia styled Khan Babadur in the
records.

17
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smy buginess was not with him but with his mas-

Aer vourself.

< But, supposing the pm'pmt of said leiter was
to demand back the new villages, because they be-
lang to Zulfikar Khan's J'm'hue, which may be
true. But you cannot but at the smnc time
kuow that my noble great friend, the late Dawood
Khan, gave an eruivalent out of his own Faghire to
the great Zulfikar Khan which makes that matter
even, and thus far Famin the right ; and you
likewise know that 1 gave away more than those
villages brought in, so that the English here
tived in all fnend‘lv tranquility with  the late

Nabob, until Yeavellapa, that plazue of the poor
'md Loc,Ldtrlce of all venom, when at Cudapa,
never let the Nabol be quiet till he had gained
his point to revoke the several former as well
as late Perwannas, which confirmed those villages
to onr Compimy. B0 that one Perwanna s not
sufficient to take away the foree and power of
all oar former grants under the Nabob's signature
and  great chop by  whieh yom would make
the prowmise, faith, and truth of a great man
of no more value than that of an ord;mry man ;
which is a great derogation to the honor of 2 grmt
personage.

*“ Yeavellappa deals treacheronsly with Madras,
a place he s so much beholden o, where he stores
up so much paddy and grain to await a scarce and

» dear season lo increase the misery of the poor ;

- and borrows large sums of mbney at the samne

time to enable him to pay his rent at the time
due, else he must have been necessitated to sell
at the market price which would be cheap.
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¢ As for the four old villages, they were granted
and confinmed to us abont twenty vears ago hy
the then Prince Rhan Buksh, the great Assad
Khan, and the then Zulfikar Khan, now Khan
Bahadur, under their several and respective larger
seals.

# My friendly council and advice to you is that
you would consider and value the English as
Leing the king’s fiiend wnd in his favour, as may
appear by his HRoval Hosbullhookum from the
tirone to my late predecessor; und that you
would keep the King's peace, by not committing
any manner of hestility. I hope vou will da
nothing misbecoming, so wise a man as yourself,
in so grent a post amd place of trust; and then
vou and I may come to have a better understand-
mgz at least tilt I hear from the Great Zulfikar
Kban to whom I am now going to write, and
have his answer ; till when 1 shull be awake 1
need say no more.”’

About the same time Governor Fraser wrote
another lelter fo Zulfikar Kban reminding bim
that the old villages had been granted to the
English in consequence of the services render-
ed to the army of Aurungzebe by Presulent Yale
during the siege of Ginjee, and that the grant in
guestion had been  signed by his Zulfikar Khan’s
father, namely Assad Khan, the grand vizier. The
rersonstrance however was of no avail.  Zulfikar
Khan merely sent a short purwanna ordeving
that the villomes franfed by the Naboh Dawoad
Khan out of his jaghire should be delivered up
to the Manager of the Poonamallee district,
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CHAPTER XXIV.

GOVERNORSHIF OF MR. WILLIAM TRASEK.
1710—11.

The adminisiration of Mr. William Traser was
short and unhappy. 1t only lasted from Novem-
ber 1709 1o July 171}, and was distinguished by
circumstances whieh excited much animadversion
from the Directors or Managers at home. It was
through Mr. Fraser’s intrignes and inveterate op-
position, that Mr. Nathaniel Migginson had re-
sigred aud Mr. Thomas Pitt had been vecalled ;
and now that he had obtained what appearcd to
Le the object of his ambition, disorders arose at the
Presideney and out-stations ; and whilst quarrels
broke cut lLetween the subordinate chiefs and the
conntry authorities, the nccounts were neglected,
the consullation books were badly kept, aud the
advantages obtained by Mr. Pitt as regarded the
out-villages were wholly lost, and the latter were re-
tained for a while by the Reater of Poonamallee.

1n the first plaee we must notice the troubles
at Vizagapatam, which had their origin in circhm-
stunces thai teok place twelve years previously, but
which rcached a climax  during the Governorship
of Mr. Fraser. It secms thot about the vear 1698,
two neighbouring Kajahs, Ananiterauz and Pyerow,
had boncm ed l'uuc sums of money from Mr. Hol-
cowbe, the ])eputy Governor of Vizagapatam.
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Me. Holeombe bhad been induced to enter info
these transactions by a Bralmin named Juggapa,
who had been largely bribed by the Rajahs to exert
his influence in this direction. Unfortunately Mr.
Holeombe had not leat his 6wn money, but had
borrowed for the purpose 44,000 pagodas of
Tuckerla Khan, Nabob of Calinga. Seven years
elapsed, but Mr. Holcombe had culy repaid 37,500
pagoas, leaving a balance of 6,500 pagodas of the
principal; and thus the debt due to the Nabob,
wclusive of arrears of iuterest, amounted to some
sixty or seveniy thousand rupees, 'Ike following
letter, written to Mr. Holcowbe by Fuckerla Khan
as far back as 1705, exhibits the then state of
affairs.

“ ¥rom Fuckerla Khan to Mr. Holcombe chief
at Vizagapatam dated the 10th May 1705.

“ You wrote me that you have received Pagodas
44000 principal of me,

* An acconnt of what paid,
To a merchant upon my bill and order for

a Jewel Ibought of him Ra. 16,600 is Pagodas.., 4600

Sent e to Yeitore.. 28000
Toabill payable to Govindaws and Verescdaus 4100
To Sundry bills amounting to.. e 800

The total amount of what paid is...37,500
The balance is Pagodas. ... .. ... G5oe

Together is... 44000

“ Tt is true you have receipts under my seal for
all the above mentioned acecunts, excepting the
balanee 6,500 Pagodas ont of the principal money
lent, which amounts to Rs. 23,000,
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* Other people in the world allow 3 or 2 per
cent., but you gave me a bond allowing me but
one per cent (¥ per mensem) ; notwithstanding that
Deing pretty tolerable interest, I agreed to it, and
now it is above six or scven years past ; for which
time there is due to me 60 or 70 thousand rupees
with principal and interest. Likewise 10 or 13
thousand rupees more or less, which together
amounts to a hundred thousand rupecs.

“Thave showed a great esteemn for vou, and
had that confidence in you as to intrust my estate
into your hands. ‘Fherefore T am satisfied that no
person of any other religion would have dealt so
uncivilly and unrespectfully by me as you have
acted. Likewise now you unreasonably defer the
payment in telling we vou will discharge the debt
a8 soon as you receive money, and at my arrival in
vour place ; but in the meantime you have traded
with the money, and make at least 23 or 50 per
cent. profit. Besides is it proper or handsome you
should oceasion me so much trouble in perpetually
writing to you, aml sending my people up and
down, who always refurn without satisfactory an-
swer? My money is like bread as hard as iron, so
not easily digested.  Perhaps you may imagine I
cannot come to vour place, so intend to wrong me
of my money. But if [ live T wiil certainly come
into that part within the space of 4,6, 0r 12
months, if 1meet with any convenient opportunity;
and then how can you lmpe or expect to have my
favour, having rendered voursell so unjust and un-
civil. Perhaps you inay intend to give me the
slip, and go for Madras or some other sea port
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town ; but o where you will, you are still in king
\munwebe s country. So I cun procure order-
sent bv the Gusbadars to the Subah of that couns
try, and seize upon your house and goods, and
therewith clear my money or debt. Then after-
wards take no further notice of you, which you will
not digest, or well approve of.  For according to
any law I can domand my money, and will have
it by fair means or foul. Therefore fear God and
consider T must have my money. So draw Dills
upou Masulipatam, or else vou shall repent it as
long as you live, 1 write you this, as likewise 1
wrote you before by Phauntee Mahomed, which pray
peeuse and consider well of it. You maust uot think
I only threaten vou. ¥or God koows, I am very
impatient so expect a full and satisfactory answer ;
or else you shall find I will send orders with Gus-
hadars to Meida Khan and will wait no lpnger.”
Shortly after this Mr, lolcombe died without
paying the remainder of the debt; aud Fuekerla
Khan claimed the amount from the Company, as
Mr. Holeombe had actually affixed the Company’s
Yseal to the obligation. The question was still
unsettled when Mr, Fraser succeeded to the Go-
vernorship of Fort St. (eorge.  Meantime there
had Leen a competition between Fuckerla Khan
and another chief named labib Khan for the
Nuhobship ; and the suceessor to Mr. Holcombe
had Lbeen imprudent enough to ackuowledge the
latter, and thus to Ynerease the exasperation of
Fuckerla Khan, The following extracts from the
consultation books shortly after Mr. Fraser's ac-

cession will exhibit the progress of affairs.
* Monday, 27th March 1710, From the
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chief and Couneil at Vizagapatamm dated the 2nd
and Tth stant, advising the great troubles they
kave had with Tuckerla Khan, by their having
been so closely besieged Ly his people stopping up
all avenues of their bounds. For remedy of which
they advise us that they resolved to make pro-
posals to accommodate matters in a friendly way
with him, intending him a present of 5000 rupees
in Lurope goods ; in order to which they sent a
Tortuguese Padre and a Dubash, in hopes thereby
to appease him, or obtain hiz patience for some
days. Buihe refused their offer, and sent back
the messengers in a very angry manner, and wrote
the chief that he must homediately pay the money
(due from Mr. Holeombe), or leave the place or
prepare {o fight.”

“Tuesday, 15th August. General letter from
the Chief and Council at Vizagapatam read :
wherein we observe that their troubles are rather
suspended than any way accommodated, by Fucker-
ja Khan’s being gone up to the Dasheroon’s eountry
to adjust accounts, and agree with Hubib Khan
for the Government of those countries ; aud they
still continue to urge their arguments for the Com-
pany’s paying that debtof Mr. Holcombe's.  They
advised that they have supplied Habib Khan
with ten candy of country guapowder and five
candy of Jead, and that the said Nabob desires a
further supply of thirty candy of powder and
twenty of lead, which they desire may be sent
them down,” “

 Monday, 11th December. Received general
jetter from the Deputy Governor and Council at
Vizagapatam assuring us that they had sent
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the Moollah and a Brohmin to Fuckerla Khan's
eamp, to have a sight of the seal affixed to
Mr. Holcombe’s obligation. But after wait-
ing for some days they returned with am-
swer that Fuckerla Khan was enraged to the
last degree, and would not hear any more propo-
sals about his mouey without prompt payment,
but was coming himself within a day or two with
guns, ammunition &c. to besiege their town ; and
had placed guards on the roads to prevent their
sending or receiving any letters and provisions
coming to them ; and that Fuckerla Khan refusing
to show the obligation, they arc of opinion and be-
lieve that Mr. Holcombe's seal is affixed thereto
and not the Honorable Company’s.

“ That on the Sth past the said Nabob with his
army, censisting of about 7000 foot and 800
horse, encamped behind a great sand hill near the
Town, and the 9th at night fired on their ocut
guards ; which being returned again by the Eng-
fish, made the enemy retire further and turn their
stege into a blockade Ly stopping all provisions of
which they were in great want; that they lave
made a Brigantine of the ** Rising Sun™ smack, and
fitted her wp in order to sccure what may be put
aboard in time of extremity.”

“ The foregoing being a recital of their said
general letter almost verbatin,

“Tirst. We observe {hat the Chief has strange-
ly erred in his politics (not to say worse) ; that he
having by his forrger frequent letters advised us,
what he had then forescen, as what might be the
result and issue of not paying Mr. Holcombe’s old

18
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debt to Fuckerla Khan, as the event now proves,—
that the Chief in that case should not sooner and
earlier get sufficiency of provisions for the use of
their Garrison, at least until the monsoon should
serve for cur sending them supplies heuee.

“ Becorully. That the Chief should supply
Nabob Habib Khan and Fuckerla Khan with so
lurge a quantity of gunpowder and lead, when the
said Nabobs and the Chief were on so precarious
terms ; and not only so but by their general letier
of the 27th July last write us to send them 30
Candy of powder and 20 Candy of lead for a further
supply to the said Nabob ; notwithstanding the
frequent cautions we gave them, or without ever
considering they were strengtheuing the hands of
said Nabob, who were then contriving of the means
and ways of laying that siege, they Lave sjnce form-
ed against that Factory.

“ Thivdly. 1t being now the Northerly mon-
soon, it is strange that the Chicf should not have
wrofe to Bengal to the President and CGouncil
there to be supplicd thence with whatever they
wanted,

¢ Fourthly. That Juggapa the Brahmin, that
arch knave amd villain, who was tle chief canse
and instrament by the powerful bribes he received
from time to time from the Rajahs Ananterawz and
Pycrow, by whose means and persuasions he pre-
vailed so far with Mr. Holeombe, as to induce him
to lend those large sums of money at high interest
to those satd Rafahs ; which ig still a debt, which
we may reasonably suppose to have been most or
all Fuckerla Khan's money, and has been the
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original cause and first spring, whence all these
troubles are derived and devolved upon us ; and
notwithstanding our having se often or frequently
wrote to Mr. Hastings, the Chief there, to send
us up the saicd Jugzapa either by sea or by land,
which has never been complied with ; and being
credibly informed Fuckerla Khan does demand of
the Chief the said Brahmin, and that on the deli-
very up of him all the causes of their iroubles
shall cease.

* And now upon the whale, it is unanimously
agreed that we write the Chief and Council, that
upon the reading the said intended letter to them,
that they had that instant seized the said Jugzapa,
and put him in irons, and sccwre all his books,
papers and aceounts ; which if the Chief shoutd
oppose or hinder the same, it is our positive aud
peremptory order that the Council, or any one of
them, do execute this owr order, and that the
military and peons be assisting to him or them in
this matter.

“ It is likewise agveed that the President write
his letter to Fuckerla Khan relating to the premis-
es, andl desire him to send us up a person fitly
qualified to accommodate all matters and that in
the meantime to withdraw his forces from the
Factory.”

Next year this troublesome business was brought
to a close through the mediation of Habib Khan ;
the money demanded being paid to Fuckerla Khan,
and the obligation swhich was foundd to have the
Company’s seal affixed, being forwarded to Fort
8t. George. The record is chiefly remarkable as
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exposing the evils which arose at this early period
from pecuniary dealings between the Company’s
servants and Native authoritics ; and it is worthy
‘of note as being the origin of a standing order
which stricily prohibited “all such dealmgs for the
future.

We now turn to a curious entry which is very
suggestive,

* Monday, 4th December. They having wrote
us from Fort St. David that it has been usual for
us at the festival tiges of the year to send them
one of the ministers of this place, and Christmas
being now approaching they request that one may
be sent. It is, therefore, agreed and ordered that
Mr. Jones do proceed thither, as soon as con-
veniently he can ; and that the paymaster do take
care to fit him out for his journey accordingly.”

Cases of breach of promise of marriage are al-
ways inferesting, but we are rather inclined to
regard the one we are now about to place lLefore
our readers as somewhat unique in its character.
The matchmaking tendencies of the manuma and
deughter, and the  interested” nature of the
gentleman’s affection, are plainly evident through-
out the papers.  Moreover the record is valuable
as illustrating social life as it actually was at the
commencement of the last century. The extracts
will explain themselves.

*To the Honorable William Fraser, Esq. Gover-
nor of Fort St. George and to the Gentlemen of
the Couneil,

* The petition of Anne Foquet and Elizabeth
Brown doth humbly set forth the unworthy
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treatment your Petitioners have met with from
Captain Henry Cornwall, Commander of the
* Sherborne.”  Your Honor is no stranger to ths
story, nor the rest of the Gentlemen at this Honor-
able Board ; therefore shall be as brief in relating
it as we can. In the vear 1707 and before he
went last for Englaud, Henry Cornwall aforesaid,
anidl your Petitioner Elizabeth Brown, did enter
into a contract of marriage, and that in as solemn
a manner as such contracts usually are, or can be
done ; for we plighted our faith either to other in
the most binding terms, and chauged rings in the
presence of competent witnesses ; Anne-Foguet
vour petitioner, Mr. James Wendcy, then one of
the ministers of this place, and Mr. Bernard
Benyon, merchant being present. And for the
due performing of the aforesaid contract, the said
Henry Cornwall and Elizabeth Brown did enter
into articles in writing, and did both of them sign
and seal the same in the presence of the Rev. Mr,
James Wendey and Mr. Bernard Benyon aforesaid,
who hath been sworn in Court.  And morcover,
the said Captain Henry Cornwall did bind himself
in a bond of onethousand pounds sterling for the
due performance of those articles ; and further to
confirm us in the reality of his intentions, he made
a gift to your petitioner Elizabeth Brown of what
estate he had in India and left a will in her hands;
wherein he bequeaths her his whole estate and
makes her sole Exceutrix. But notwithstanding
alt the vows, ties, and cbligations he had brought
hismself under, Captain ifenry Cornwall in =« short
time after his arrival in England marrics himself to
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another woman ; and after all this injurious and un-
fair dealing towards your petitiouer, the said Henry
Cornwall, to prove himself the same man through-
out, would have his bonds and obligations under
his hand and seal to ¢o for nothing, and to be of
as little foree and validity as his words and vows.
We, therefore, vour petitioners humbly apply our-
selves to your Honors for redress, hoping you will
oblize him to satisfy his bond for one thousand
pounds, which he hath forfeited ; a poor repara-
tion for all the injustice he hath done us. There
hath been a snit commenced upon tlus Bond, for
some time depending in the Mayor’s Court, buf
deferred to be brought to a judgment upon advice
that Captain Henry Cornwall was designed for this
place ; presuming, as mnay be =|upporacd he would
either comply with his bond, or offer such terms
as would be aceepted of ; and the Revd. Padre
Lewis did before and  since the arvival of the
¢ Sherborne,” speak to your pelitioners to ac-
commaodate matters amicably with Captain Corn-
wall (if it might be done) sl not drive things to
extremity. Yo which yourpetitioners did not seem
averse. But instcad of offering to come to an ac-
commodation, Captain Henry Cornwall, the second
day after his arrival, sent a letter to your Petitioner
Elizabeth Brown, of which she cannot better, nor
wore modestly give you the contents, than hy
saying, it was made up of all the iil nature and ili
language he is master of ; and after so much un-
worthy and base treatment as «e have met with
from this man, for him to think at last to run us
down, and to carry his point by calumny and
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slander is so vile a thing, that no man who hath
the least sense of honor or the least grain of
honesty would be guilty of. We shall not be
furthier troublesome to your Honors, but only beg
Ieave to observe, that if such principles and such
practices be comnived at, no man’s honour, per-
sol, or estate can be any longer safe. We hope
your Houors will take things into your serious
consideration, and do us that justice which to your
wisdom shall appear our due. The reason of our
addressing your Honors at this time is, that
Mr. Mayor hath refused his warrant to arrest
Captain Cornwall in an action of one thousand
pounds, at the suit of your Petitioner Hlizabeth
Brown, and we as in duty bound shall cver
pray. Yort St. George, February 12th, 1711.”

Captain Cornwall’'s answer to these charges is
still more interesting.

“ Monday, 19th February. To the Honorable

William Fraser, Esy. Governor of Fort 8t. George
and Couneil,
"« Gentlemen—* You were pleased on Thurs-
day last to summon me to answer to a petition,
preferred by Mrs. Elizabeth Brown and Anne
Foyuet of this place, touching a designed marriage
between the said Elizabeth Brown and self, a per-
feet aceount of which I gave at that time, and
comes inseried in this narrative,

* The motive that invduced e to enter into an
obligation cf that nature was the assuvances Mrs.
Anne Foquet gave we of preferment from England
by her and her frierds’ rerommendations home ;
which proved no ways serviceable, but rather the
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contrary. I often repeated to her and daughters,
if I could not better myself by post or fortune, I
would by no means think of complying with that
obligation. When Mrs. Foquet’s friends proved
of no use, I solicited my own relations, that en-
tirely refused all merchandize, being strangers
to trade. Then the time drawing necar for the
India SBhipping to depart that year, I petitioned
the Honorable United Company to come abroad
8 passenger on Captain Phrip, which they granted
and he refused, being full and my circumstances
not able to permit me to pay for my passage. I
then solicited both the Captain Hudsons who re-
fused the same. I then advised with my friends
what method to take that might be of service to
Mrs. Elizabeth Brown, and a sufficient acquittance
tome. First, I declared my circumstances, so
miserable when in England, T was forced to run
in debt and that considerably. Secondly, I had
no interest in the Cowpany then governing to
serve me by recommendation abroad. Thirdly, I
presumme the most of this place knows Mrs. Foquet
not able to betier any -one’s -circumstances by
interest or fortune. Notwithstanding her present
encouragement in this affair, these circumstances
considered on - both sides, if any ome gentleman
ean see the least appearance of any thing but com-
plete misery, in case of that marriage, T should
willingly submit to the several sentiments. I
cannol perceive that Mrs. Anne Foquet ever de-
signed a marriage, because shor declared to Robery
Rawerth Esq., Mayor of this place, that she refused
me marriage before I went home, because she was
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aszired | would marry in Fneland, when shie would
have the opportunity of proseeuting this oblizaticn.
Further, why died Mrs. Amne Foquet and Brown
oive me au obligation of Captain Lee’s. now (on-
mander of the ** Litehfield,” to prosecute him for
o complyving with the marriage according to his
oblization, not vut of date at the eommencine of
nine i she desizned her daughter my wife. ]
van 2ive severnl dnstanees whereln Mrs, Foyuet
ins showed herself o desizning woman of uo sin-
ceritv. She and her doughter ave pleased o
ten the penalty of the olligation, a poor veparu-
tisn for mjurics T have doue thewm.  1f they were
as just i their aspersions as ¥ have been it
pracvedine, they would not have troubled vour
IEmor and Counedl with their petition o this oc-

eazEm.

=} ihik, sinee I could not procure a passaus
out occasioned by my miserable elreumstances,
Mrs. Toguet and doughter are under ohliga-
tionz 1 we, that 1 advized them of it in order
1o Mrs. Elizabeth Brown's not refusing any ofler
to her advantage, 1did ot my first areival at the
West coast, order my attorney  hore to make
Mre. Elizabeth Brown o considerable  present
for the favours received when lust here. But
sinec my arvival at this Port, | found <o many
malicions reports from her, that it has entirely re-
woved the thoughts of any suech thing. My cir-
cumstances are mizernble enongh, lLaviog lost all
I weas worth, by nfy misfortune in Cevlon; wud
the balance of my acconnts for four years” serviee
in thiz place amounts to so small a sum that I fear
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1 shall go of a debtor from this place. I am
ready to make onth in every particular here in-
serted ; hoping vour Honor and the Council will
take it into vour serious consileration ; then doubt
not but vou will perceive my actions on my side
Jjustifiable ; otherwise I must refer myself to the
Courts at home, by whose verdict I inust rest
satisfied. I am, with due respect,

Your IToner's and Council’s most humble Servant,
Hexry CornwaLr.”

The Judgment of the Governor and Council
upon this case is worthy of reeonl.

« AMonday, 19th February 1711.  Pursuant to
the order of last Censultation, Mrs, Foquet, and
her daughter Llizabeth Brown, as likewise Captain
Cornwall appear now before us ; where after all
parties were fully hieard, more especially Captuin

_ Cornwall, all persons being desired to withdraw :—
it 15 the unanimous opinion of the Board (Mr.
Raworth excepted), that Captain Henrvy Cornwall,
having mwarried & wife in England notwithstanding
his pnenmrrement with Mrs. Brown, he has for-
feited his obligation and thereby become fiable
to the penalty therein expressed : but in regard
we onght to weigh matters in the scales of Lquity
and right reason, and considering the present
circumstanees of Captair Cornwall which are but
moderate, having met with great losses, and
lie generously oﬂerm" a moiety* of what he has in
the “orld and he !mmn' cleared the reputation of
saidd Mrs, Browx: both~ parties being called in,
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were reconciled and made friends, and the said
Captain Cornwall's proposal accepted of.”

About this time the Ky of Degu appears to
have been very anxious to obtain some artictes, of
Europenn workmanship, particulatly clocks, as ap-
pears from the following letter to the Governor of
Fort 3t. George, dated 24th February, 1711,

¢ In the jurisdiction of Sunapranda and Thama-
diha, the precious kinedom of Ava aud Golden
Court, Rajah of Ni and king of twenty and tkree
kingdoms and \Ionarohtes, Lard of Silver, Gold,
\mber Ruby mines. and red and gold Palaces 12
in number made of Gald, Lord of the Eleplant of
great value, Lord of many  horses of great price,
Tond of ail nations, Lord of all munner oF arms,
Lord of many armies, Lord of this world, the ex-
cellent 1ligh and Mighty Tord,

* 1lis order to the Grovernor of Madras, being
informed, that aniongst the English nation, there
are many able men, and that without muek tronble
a elock may be had. 1 desire that it may be thus,
viz. that it strikes the hours distinetly, bewsinning
in the morning by one and so on till twelve ;
having two images to sirike the hours on the bell
or clock.  This and another cleck of Malca, with
a woman's image pouring oil in a vessel which
vuns all the hour ; and when it is out the said
image fills it again and so every hour. The king
having heard of these things will have much to Le
done to get them ; and if not to be got, to send a
man here to make them and shall then return to
hiz country. I have sent by the Captain of my
Ship, Coyah Simon, 1o the Governor of Madras
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two Ruby rings ; if amongst the English or For-
(nguese there is any curicsity to e got, let it be
sont. If my desire iz accomplished there shall be
great rewards according (o my piety, ke’

The zovernorship of Mr. Fraser was, as already
imblieated, broucht to o sudden close by the -
val of & sueeessor, ns appears from  the following
Ty,

- Wednesday, Ilth July.  This morning abiou
8 o'elock, emme aszhore the Honorable Tdward
{Tarvison Erq., who produced his{ommission. dated
the 22nd Pecember L5710, appeinting kim DPresi-
tlent for the Richt Hounerable United Tast [ndia
Company’s affnits ¢n e eoast of Coremundel and
Oris=a, and o the Ginjee sud Malizatea country,
and Governor of Fort 21, George. Fort ¥t David,
amd the Tsland of Sumatea, Which being read.
the fate President Williame Fraser Vs did resion
the chair, amed deliver the keys of the Fort to tie
satd Edward MHoamson Fsq”
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CHAPTER XXV,

GOVERNORSHIP OF MU. EDWARD HARRISGN

1i11--12,
The commencewent of the Governorshiy o Mr
Uarrizon is a Hitting moment Jor reviewine the

contemporary state of Seathern India andd the
Dekkan.  The declming coudision of the Meey!
power had led to the  establishment of pew pe-
lations  between the  Baslish aml the Naurve
aunthorities ; and at the same Hme we ane ap-
proaching the period when onr historians wene-
rally have commenced whiat they have been vicased
to term the history of the British empire it India,
Henreforth therctore the new facts we shall hrmg
forward from the otheral records witl rapully -
creaze in value, They will serve to thrm\ o clear-
er hight upon ene of the most obseure porticus 0'
the histery of the Momul rube s aud ths thes
form a (’onnunng link between the dry Natiar
annals of Sauthern India, and the (h-ligl thal and
picturesque history of Robert Orwe,

The death of the great Awringzebe W 1707,
arcl the subsequent struggle between hiz thre
sons whiclh led to the establishuent of =hub
Aulumn on the tllmnr\ of Delhi have alecadv been
noticed : and it Will be rememhered Usat a large
portion of the Mahemedan  conguests in iu.- Car-
natie, including the country round Madias, had
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been granted as a jaghire to the celebrated gene-
ral Zulfikar Khan. The rising of the Sikhs to
the west of Delhi had ealled away Zultikar Khan
to the assistance of his roval waster Shah Aulwn.
Yor a brief period Dawogd Khan had acted as
Soubah of Goleonda, in behall of Zulfikar Khan ;
but i his turn was called away Dby the troubles
in the North West. ®

In 1710 the Dewan Sadatulla Khan was appoint-
el Nabob of the Camatic, and appears to have
retained the government untit his death in 1732,
e is briefly mentioned by Orine as having been
a regular amd acknowledged Nubob of the Carna-
tic; and appears to have leen noticed by that
historia m vonsequence of his being the first
Nabob who attempted to render the oftice heredi-
tary,  Orme savs that Sadatulla Khan, © having
no issue, adopted the two sous of his brother,
appointing the clder, Dost Ali, to suceeed in the
Nabobship; and conferring on the yvonnger, Boker
Ali, the woverminent of Vellore.”  Thiz Sada-
tulla Khan has alveady been mentioned as laving
required Governor Fraser to deliver up the
five out-villages to the Renter of P'oonamallee ;
and his further intercourse with the English will
be fully illnstrated i future chaplers,

As regards the general state of the Mogul em-

* From entries in the Consultation Books, respective-
ly dated 2nd of QOctober and 24th af November, 1710,
we learn that Iseph Khan held the post of Subah of
Gulconda at this tie, but that if consequence +f some
troubles caused by the Mahrattas in the neighbourhood
of Golewnda, Dawoed Khoan was again appointed Subah
in his room.
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pire dunng the reign of King Shah Aulum, but
little need be said.  Shah Aulam sacrificed the
prestize of his sovercignty for the sake of a hollow
peace. He eftected n compromise with the Raj-
poots and Mahrattas, but thougii he thus ap-
peared to secure his throne from their attacks, he
was wholly unable to vepress the growing dis-
orders, which in the end produced the downfal of
the Mognl dynasty. le died i 17132, aftera
short reiga of five vears.

The great event in the governorship of Mr.
Harrison, namely the rupture between the English
at Fort St. David and the Mussulman Governor
of (iinjee, is strikingly illustrative of the con-
temporary  state  of Southern India.  Sixteen
miles south of Tondicherry and a hundred miles
south of Madras, was the English scttlement of
Fort 3t. David, to which we have already had
frequent occasion to allude. In 1691 the
English had bought the settlement, previously
name:d Ternapatam, of Ram Raja, the Mahratta
goverelrn who was at that tine in possession of
Ginjee.  The plot of Dr. Blackwell to deliver up
Fort 3t. David to Zulfikar Khan in 1693 has been
mentioned in its proper place. The celebrated
fortress of Ginjee 1s worthy of a passing notiee.
It is* seated on the declivities of three detached
rocky mountains, of very difficult ascent and from
four to 600 feet in height, whieh were Tonnected
by lines of works enclosing an extensive triangle
in the pliains betwedn them ; and for centuries this
place had been regarded by the natives of Southern
India as the strongest Fort in the Carnatic. Its
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ongiv dates far back in immemorial antiguiiy

Somewhere aboat the inne of the wars of the white
aitd red Ruses, it appears to have heen the grew
stranshokl of the kings of Chola (Tanjore) amainst
the famous old Hinduo sovereizus of Bijanugur. At
teneth about 1. 1500, —abort the time of the
battic of Bosworth Fichl and the accession of the
house of Tuder,—the Kingdom of Chola, aml with
i the fortress of Ginjee, was trausferred to the
possesion of the Rajulis of Pijanuzwr: and long
after the kingdom  of Bijanugur had been over-
thrown by the Mussulmun sovervigns  of the
Dekkan, the Hindoos still rgtained  possession of
Ginjee,  About 1664 the Turt was captured by
the Mussnlman king of Bijapore; but o 1677 &t
was taken by Sevajee the great Mahratta, Vo
four or five years it held cut under Kam laja
acainst the whole foree of the army of Aurungzebe |
but was finalhy eaptured by Zultikar Khao in 1648
A series of }meuoi covernots wete then appointed
by the Mogul, and ruled the surrounding  country
in his name 3 but during the auarchy  which fol-
lowed the death of Aurungzebe, these Rajpoois af-
fected independenee and assumed the rank of
Rajahs.

At the time of Mr. Harrison’s aceession to the
(iovernment of Fort st George, Serope Singh was
Governor or Rajuh of Ginjee. It is difiicult 1o
assign the exact limits of the country under the
jurisdiction of Serope Singh ; hut it was probably
bounded on the north Ly thetwrritory under the
Nabobs of Arcot, and ou the south by the Hindoo
principalitics of Trichinepoly and Tanjore. TFort
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5t. David was tbus included in the country under
Serope Singh, in the same way that Fort St
George was included in the country of Sadatulla
Khan. Tt appears that a former Deputy Gover-
nor of Fort 8t. David, Mr. Roberts by name, had
in some sort of way, not sufficiently explamed in the
- records, become security to Serope Singh for the
sumis collected by the Renters. bub=eqmnth the
Renters had run away with the money, und Seropc
Singh held the English Compauy responsible for the
amount. By way of expediting a settlement,
Serope Singh had carried away two Furopean Offi-
cers of the garrizon of Fort 8t. David, and confiued
thewn and treaved them with the greatest barbarity
at Ginjec. In February 1711, an aitempt was
made by the Government of Fort St. David to
seize some Chief men of the Ginjee governmnent,
who happened ta be in the neighbourhood of Fort
St. David. No prisoners were taken, but three
Moormen, and one of the Forl St. David Garrison
were killed on the spot. Great troubles were
therefore to be anticipated from this direct act of
hostility on the part of the English ; and as it ap-
pears that the Government of Fort'St. David had
acted in many cases most injudiciously, and that
the utmost disorder prevailed in the Garvison, Mr.
Raworth, a member of the Council of Fort St.
George was dispatched to the scene of action,
accompanied by five Kuropean ships whose
presence it was lioped would bring the enemy
to terms. Mr. Raworlh set off in July 1711,

The following extracts will iflustrate the  state of
affairs. The enemy's foree from Ginjee had

20
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blockaded Fort St. David by laud, so that am-
munition snd provisions could only be forwarded
by sea. The first extract is entered in the con-
sultation on Sunday evening 19th Auzust, 1711,
and is entitled * A true narrative of an action that
happened between Capiain Roach’s party and our
enemy this day, being the 11th of August, 1711.7
1t is related in Captain Roach’s own words, and
describes a desperate encounter in which he was
engazed with the forces of Ginjee. The uwarrative
is as follows :—

“ T was ordered to possess myself of a partof
the bounds, where the enemy were seen to be firing
very Driskly from last night ; which I did this
raoriing by break of day. I ordered about 200
peons that belonged 1o the outcuards to attend
me. The coolies began to work about the de-
molishing the walls by six in the morning, and
continued till 12 at noon ; but could not hear of
any of the enemy’s to be near our bounds, only a
few peons about a mile off.  But about 12 o'clock,
intelligence was brought that Mahobat Khan. with
all the foree of (Fhinjee, was within & mile of our
bounds.  Lpon which [ despatched immediately
a peon to the Governor and Council, who was not
arvived in two hours. In the interim, before I
had any relief from the rest of the hounds, they
attacked me with about 480 horses and 1920 foot.
It was a great misfortune to me their attacking
the party Captain Coventry had the command of,
and Ensign Somervile ; the latter proved such a
coward, that he was the oceasion of the ruin of
the whole party. in showing them an example by
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ranning away first, which cost him his life, and
abundance more of the same party. DBut F must
do Captain Coventry that justice, that he behaved
himsell extraordinarily well, and would have made
a very good officer, if please God he had lived.
He received several wounds before he dropt. I
had my horse shot under me, and was charged
severnl times by the whole party of horse upon
both flanks and rear, and kept them in play till
they were glad to leave me master of the field with
less thun forty men. There was not omne of the
200 peons I carried with me, would stand, neither
officers, nor peons ; but when the horse charged
me, they presently ran away, If they lad but
stood by me, I would bave mounted as many
horses of the enemies as would have made a good
troop for the Company. For there was not less
than seventy or eighty of them running about
the field, without riders, their masters being dis-
mounted. We compute that the enemy could
have lost not less than 146 and 150 men killed
and wounded, besides horses. I have buried the
dead all in the ficld of battle, excepting Captain
Coventry and Ensign Somervile whom [ sent to
the fort. Tleave any impartial person to judge
what the loss of the enemy must be, wheu they
were at the push of the pike for two howurs to-
gether, and applied with our bullets and swan shot
as fast as possibly we could. ‘This is the true nar-
rative of what happened.”

‘The next extract, daled 10th September, 171],
will show the disorders which prevailed at this time
amongst the soldiers of the garrison. It is entitled
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« An account of the murder of Thomas Parsons,
Serjeant, by Jacob Vanbash yson, Centinel, one of
the Bengal men, but at present belonging to Cap-
tain Roach’s party.”,

* Thomas Kirk, Johu Buck, and Abraham Clark,
belonging to Captain Viver's company at Cudda-
lore, by his permission came to the Fort to visit
some of their comrades, particularly Thomas Par-
sons who bad the command of the party at Teve-
mapatam Gate.  On neeting him they went in
company to a punch house pear the said gate,
where they found several more of their voeation
drinking ; but being none of their acqunaintance,
they passed by them, saluting them with their
usual ceremony, “ Good morrow to ye brothers,”
and so went into another yard, where ®hey stayed
no longer than to drink a dram each man. Then
they were returning, when Jacob Vaubashayson, a
Dutchman, without any manuner of provocation
given, ttacked the said Berjeant Thomas Parsons
with his naked sword, and struck him several blows
over his head.  Secondly, without giving him time
to defend himself, he gave him a thrust
into his body, on which he immediately fell.
John Kirk ahovementioned was the person next
to the Serjeant, who the said Jacob Vanbashayson
attacked in the same manner he did Parsons. But
seeing the fate intended him, he defended himself
so well with lis sword (which was not drawn),
that though he eut his scabbard in six places and
made several thrusts at him, yet he reesived no
harm; Lut bad certainly been murdered, had not
John Buek stept into his assistance, John Buck
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immediately called Jacob Vanbashayson, and seized
his sword,which—notwithstanding he drew through
his hand and gave him some strokes over the heacl
and at Jast made a stab at hisn which just touch-
ing his thigh,—for safety of his life he was obliged
to quit his hold; when the said Jacol Van-
bashayson still pursued him, and to save his
life, having no weapon, he was forced to dodge
him round some pillars which were in the \dld
till he fownd an opportunity fo go out of the
door ; which he immediately embraced, but as
he was going over the threshiiold was prevented
by Derrick Johuson, who pulled liim back by the
coat and likewise knocked down Jolm Kirk. By
this time the guard from Tevenapatam came, and
wade the two Dutchmen prisoners.  Though they
resisted some tine with sword in hand, before they
would surrender, and the murderer was so very des-
perate for fear of condign puunishment, that had he
not been bound he would open breasted have run
upon the bayonets on the muzzle of the guard’s
pieces.

“ Jacob Vanbashayson says nothing more i his
defence than that he was drunk and krew not
what he did, that he had no malice at all against
the Serjeant, and repented sincerely of ihe faet,
Notwithstanding, as he had imbrued his hands in
a fellow soldicr’s blood, he thought he deserved to
dic ; but begzed if we could not be merciful, a8
he had good relations (Lthough he now was no more
than a Centinel) that he might not die the death
of & Yogue, but a soldier, and be shot to death by
& fils or two of men of the party he belonged to.
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¢ Perrick Johnson who was with bim, is a fel-

low that has bLeen publicly scourged at Batavia,
and wears the cross on his back.  He denies he
was accessory o the murder, and that he only
interfered when he knocked Kirk down, to part the
persons engaged.  But all ctreumstances make the
contrary appear, and shows his inclinations as
good.  But it was not iu his power to commit as
heious a crime as his companion,
* * Thomas Tarsons was brought specchless into
the fort ; but at that juncture more ocrasioned by
liquor than his wound. ‘fhe Doctor had some
hopes at first ; but in six hours they ended with
the fellow’slife.  Upon opening his bedy we found
the wound, very ncar direet down, and that the
sword had penctrated his midrit and wounded
several of his intestines.

“This is what the three persons first named
have declared upon oath before the Deputy Gover-
nor and Council.* Too, Grav, Seegary.”

“ Fort 3t. David, September 11th 17117

Adout this time a Licatenant and Lnsign wer o
found drunk and iucapable whitst on guard :
Cuddalore, at o time of imminent danger. 2 ..
cordingly they were sent to Madras, and the * ).
lowing remarks upon their case, as well as u'pop
the murder of Parsons, are entered in the con® g1,
tation book as follows :— ;i

“ Thursday, 20th September, 1711, Lieuter] unt
Viver and Ensign Williams being sent for up, , and

* The murderer appears to have been subsequer Wy
executed,
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the charge against them being read by the Secre-
tary, they were asked by the President, what they
had to say in their vindication ; who making
many frivolons excuses. but at last confessing their
erime and begging pardon, were ordered to with-
draw, and the President offered to the board us fol-
lows, That the military in general under this
Presidency are, by slack discipline for the past two
vears, hecome so intolerably sottish and disorcler-
ly that it is high time a reformation should be
made for the security of our settlements, and the
Honorable Company’s estate committed to our
charge.

“The barbarous murder lately eommitted on
Serjeant Parsons by a drunken Dutchman at Fort
St. David, is testimony sufficient to wiat a height
of insolence matters are grown ; and it is well
known that 3™ Farmer when Deputy Governor
of Fort St. I'*Xfd durst not go out of the Fort for
fear the Guard should shoot him as he passed the
frate.

“ Add to these instances the dailv disarders of
drunkenness in this garrison, which though severe-
Iy punished, vet the seeds still remain, and the
eura is not thoronghly perfected.

“.1f the officers themselves, whose business it is
by strietness of discipline and good examples to
preserve their command and keep their people
within ihe bounds of their duty ; 1l they shall be
found dead drunk upon their posts in a tine of
service when surrounded by the enemy, what can
be expected but ruin and destruction to the affairs
of those that employ them.
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“ Offered further that the crime in our Eu-
ropean Armies is punished in a-capital manner ;
and then the question was put and unanimously
agreed that Lieutenant Viver and Fasign Williams
be cashiered, and that Lieutenaut Viver do prepare
to 2o for Kngland by the Hulifax.”

Whilst Fort St. David was thus in danger of
falling into the hands of Serope Singh, Mr, Harri-
son thought it advisable to fay the whole matter
hefore Zulfikar Khan, in the hope that the inter-
ference of so great a man might have its effect up-
on the Rajuh of Ginjee. “The letter to Zulfikar
Khan is dated 11th October, 1711 and is as
follows :—

*To His DExeellency Zolfikar Khan Babadur,
Nurzerat Sing, Backshee of the wheole Em-
pire, &e.
¢ 8Bir, -- Understanding how great o share your

Exce]lenc_\ bears in the Governmen'ept this mighty

Empire, 1 thought it my duty to acquaint you of

my arrival here to presuk over the Fnelish affairs

inn these parts; and 1 think myself obliged moye
e=pe('n'll\ so to (o, in regard that my predececjar
in this Government (Mr, Vitt) have informed ;ne,
before T left Lngland ; that as vour L\cellfnc‘
was one of the Cliief p:llals of the Empire, o you
had npon sundry oreasions manifested vour good in-
clinations to the English in these parts; mul that it
was under vour shadow aud by vour good counte-
nance that they enjoy those privileges and security
in their trade, which now ther do. While Your

Lxeelleney lay with vour army at Ginjee, I under-

standd vou were plensed fo iesue out your Purwan-
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na for securing to us our privileges at Tevenapa-
tam (Fort St. David). Upon my arrival here [
found that place in trouble; Serope Singh
having seized some of the English there and car-
ried them prisoners to Ginjee, on occasion of some
disgust given him by a former Governor. We are
but a small handful of people, and our business
is trade ; and, therefore, all quarrels with the Go-
vernment is extremely prejudicial to us, and dis-
troys the end for which we settle in these parts.
Since my coming I have laboured all I could to
compose this difference, but to my great trouble,
it hath hitherto proved ineffectual. If this affair
comes to be represented at Court, no doubt but
Serope Singh’s agents will do it as much to our
disadvantage as they can. [, therefore, humbly
beg of your Excellency, that if any complaint be
made against us on this subject that vou will be
pleased to excuse the matter, and that we desire
nothing more than to live in tranquility and peace
in our small Factories. And if Your Excellency
would be pleased to procure us his Majesty’s
Hoosbulthookum 1o Serope Singh, to let us live
in quiet and mend on trade, it will be a singular
service to your petitioner, and which he shall al-
waya retain a grateful sense of.”

To this letter no reply appears to have been re-
eeived. Zulfikar Khan, now the great Bahadur
Khan, was far too much engaged to trouble himself
about the affairs of a small Factory of foreign
merchants, like thoge at Fort St. David and Fort
St, George.

Qur next extract is a s§ill more curious one.

21
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Mr. Raworth on arriving at Fort St. David to
take up the duties of Deputy Governor, discover-
ed that his immnediate predecessor Mr. Farmer
kad ordered the destruction of a great quantity
of grain and a large number of villages belonging
to the Ginjee zovernment, simply because he had
heard that Mohabat Khan, the commander of the
beseiging foree, had boasted that the English
* dared not make another attempt by marching
put into the country belonging to Serope Singh.”
This needless act of destruction and ravage natu-
rally increased both the exasperation and the de-
mands of the Rajah of Ginjee, who at that time
had sent ambassudors to Fort St. David with the
terms on which he was prepared to conclude a

eace. When these terms were communicated to
Fort St. George, together with the cause of their
being s0 much in excess of the Renters debt, the
matter was warmly commented on by Governor
Harrison and Council as follows :—

« Monday, 29th October. A general leiter
from Fort St. David was read ; in which to our
great surprise, we find that Mr. Farmer and the
€Couneil in’ bis time have set their hands to the
following paragraph.

¢}t is moest certainly true that Serope Singh
could not before in justice demand more of us
than the Renters debt, and not that neither be-
gause Mr. Hoberts was their cecurity when they
run away, uot the Company ; but the destruction
of fifty or sixty thousand pagodps worth of grain,
about fifty two village: and towns, among which
was his favorite town Yembollum, and killing the
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Pandarrum : these are things which really make his
demands carry too much justice with them ; and we
beartily wish the differcuees may be composed,
and so happily settled as befcre the commencerent
of this war.  Without your permission though te
disburse something considerable out of the Com-
pany’s cash, we shall not ask it till we find an
ahsolute necessity.”

“We (the Governor and Council of Fort St.
George) cannot but observe with a great deal
of concern the unactountable folly and ill-
management of these geotlemen through the
whole course of this alfair ; but most parti-
cularly in this article. For after thcy had sent
out all their forces, without any orders {rom
hence, to burm and destroy all the country
and grain round about them, empowered uya
single order sizned by Mr. Farmer only,—they now
as good as tell us in =0 wany words, that the un-
lawful depredations they have committed really
make Serope Singh's demands caryy too much jus-
tice with them ; and shametully confess that they
are afraid they shall be necessitated to ask us to
disburse something considerable out of the Com-
pany’s cash.  Mr. Farmer and his then Council
wonhi have done very well to have cousidered this
inconvenicnee before they proeeeded so rashly on
their own heads.”

A few days afterwards some further progress
was made v effecting a settlement with the am-
bassadors of Serope Singh, as will be seen by the

* following extracts.
“ Tuesday, 6th November, The President
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communicates to the Board a letter from the
Deputy Governor of Fort St. David ; the sub-
stance of which is as {ollows :~

** That the enemy cannot be brought to more
moderate demands than thirty thousan. Chuckrums,
which is sixteen thousand six hundred pagodas.
In consideration of which they will give us three
towns, Trevandrum, Padre Copang and Coronut-
tum, besides their half of all the towns that lay
part within and part without our bounds, They
likewise agree for ever to renounce all claim to our
bounds, and all pretensions upon us whatsoever,
with the nsnal presents of horses and vests upon
the like occasion. To all whick the Deputy Go-
vernor desires a speedy answer ; thizs being their
last result, and that he keeps the ambassadors
with very much diffieully from returning to
Ginjee.”

* Then the state of the Fort St. David war was
taken into consideration and fully debated.

* Agreed that our Honorable Masters are at
four thousand pagodas charge more or less per
month for maintainmg the war, besides several
stores and provisions sent from hence; and no rent
was received for the villages in our bounds since.
the beginning of the war, which is an intolerable
charge ; and no hopes of any ease as long as the
war continues, amounting to forty-eight thousand

odas per annum.

¢ Agreed that if the war continues, our people
will be shut up in their bounds, and we must sup-
ply them with grain from heuce and ali other
necessaries. Most of their inhabitants out of fear
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would desert them; and our merchants, though
they have made a large contract, will never be able
to bring in their goods; and consequently we
shall have our broad cloth left upon vur hands
when the next year’s shipping arrives.

* Agreed likewise unanimously that let us con-
tinue the war never so long, we can never hope to
be reimbursed one farthing of our vast expenses.
Tt would indeed have been well, if all these things
had been duly considered before our predecessors
were so far engaged init. But itis never too
Iate to repent of wrong measures, and now we must
make the best of a bad market ; wherefore we
bave agreed that a letter he wrote to the Deputy
Governor and Council of Fort St. David as fol-
lows :—

“ To Robert Raworth, Esq., Deputy Governor
of Fort St. David and Couneil.

« §irs,-=This morning the Governor has laid
before us Mr. Raworth's letter of the 3rd instant,
wherein he writes that the enemy will not come to
any agreement unless we consent to pay thirty
thousand Chuckrums, which we take to be sixteen
thousand six hundred and odd pagodas. In consi-
deration of which they will give the villages of
Trevandrum, Padre Copang and Coronuttum,
besides their half of ali the towns which lie part
within our hedge and parl without, and that they
will entirely renounce all claim to our bounds on
any pretence whatgoever.

“ We have very seriously considered the first
article and find it to be so unreasongble a sum of
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money that we can never consent to pay it on cur
Honorable Masters” account.

““ We cannot judge if it be worth while to buy
the three villages befrre mentioned, aud the half of
the towns that kic part within our bounds and part
without, till von send us a eomputation of what
revenue they will annuaily vield, and what security
we can have we shall continue in quiet possession
of them hereafter,  For we must be of opinion we
have too mueh ground already at vour settlement
to defend  against an enemy. 1 Serope Singh
dares dispute a grant confirmed to us by Zul-
fikar Xhan Babadur, what value ought we to put
upon his grant, (or what elze he will call it) who
is no more in comperison with the other than his
Buckshi is to him, and may be not so much.
Pray let this point be urged home, and let us have
a speerl\ answer.

** An entire renonneiation of claim to all things
within our bounds is a tender point to be handled ; ;
for his pretending to a clain, after Zulfikar Khan
Bahadur's grant, i3 an undeniable reason why we
should buy uo grants of him ; sinee by the same
rule the next Governor of (vinjee may dispute our
title to all we possess, and, by the same forcible
means may compel ns to pay what sum he pleases,
so that our title will always be precarious.

“ We should consent to paving off the Renter’s
debt ; and i we coukl have good security that
even he himself and the rorues about him would
not moelest us in the possessign of these grants
he offers, wd might though unwillisgly consent to
pay a sum of money for them, but never the sum
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they insist upon. Sinee upon the best account
we can get of the villages here, the rent will be
but inconsiderable.

Ve shall wait your answer to these material
peints, and in the mean time desire that the treaty
mmay go on in the manner we have mentiou-
ed ; that isto say that the Reunter's debt be
kept apart and made up by itself; and if
we give any thing more that it may be for some
thing that you are satisfied will bring in an equiva-
lent in a few years, or otherwise we can never con-
sent to buy till we have orders fromn England.

“ We leave this management as we did formerly
to the Deputy Governor, with the same dircetions
that he lay the treaty before the Board, ere the
ugreement is perfected.”

Iinmediately atterwards further intelligence was
received from Fort St. David to the effect that the
Company's merchants and all the chief inhabitants,
were determined to leave the bounds if the treaty
shounld break through ; also that the towns oftered by
Serope Singh were worth six thousand chuckruma
per annum ; and that if the ambassadors were onee
suifered to return to Ginjee there would be no hopes
of getting them down a second time; and if the
English should be forced to send their own am-
bassadors to (injee for a peace, it would cost at
least double the money. Accordingly another
letter was dispatched to Mr. Raworth, from which
we make the following extracts,

“ We are still of the same opiniou for a speedy
and honorable peace. We agree that Scrope Singh
ought to have satisfaction for the Renter’s debt,
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and we should as readily agree to make Mr. Ro-
berts pay it, if it was in our power. But since it
is not, we must by the necessity of affairs submit
to pay it for him ; because he was the Company’s
Governor, and it being always customary for the
Governors to treat singly with the great men of
these parts, that whatever is transacted between
them, they look upon it as firm as if done with the
Cowpany themsclves. Ve shall apply the money
we have attached belonging to Mr. Roberts, for
the payment of this matter as far as it will go, and
shall take care to debit him for the remainder.

* We think this article of our treaty ought to
be first settled; and as to the remaining part of
the sum demanded, we had much rather let his
precarious villages alone than have any thing
to do with them ; though we must confess six
thousand chuckrums per annum s a sufficient
rent for the sum we are to pay.

* If you can make good what you write in your
letter, and can have good security that we shall
enjoy the villages peaceably, and be unmolested
in our affairs, we are content that you make a
peace upon the terms that yow mention ; thongh
we hope you will show your dexterity in procuring
an abatement.

*Jt will behove you to be very cireumspect
in the Articles of the treaty, and to part with no
money till you have some security, For there is
not a more faithless wretch upon earth than the
man you have to deal with. We desire that there
may be an article inserted for the ease and securi-
ty of passengers at Tanapollum, which we think is
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the place where Mr. Raworth formerly met with
so much {rouble in going to Fort St. David.

“ You will do well to lay these matters now
before your Council ; and before you conclude the
treaty, it will be proper that you protest in form
jointly against Mr. Roberts as the author of all
these troubles, and the person that ought to he ac-
countable for all the dumages sustained thereby.

“ As for your merchants offering to leave
the bounds, we cannot but think it a great piece
of insolence at such a juncture; and since
they would seem thereby to necessitate you to a
compliance, it was a very proper time to ask them
how much they could contribute to a pence.
When they made their contract, they knew the
war wasa afoot ; and though you have mnot yet
sent us a copy of your contract, we do not remern-
ber you ever mentioned that you had obliged yous-
selves to buy a peace.

“ It is a great sum of money we now consent to,
and should never have done it upon any terms but
the equivalent to re-imburse us, We shall impati-
ently expect your answers,”

We gather from the following graphic account
of an attack on the enemy’s entrenchments, that
the negociations were for a while broken off,

“ Friday, 25th January, 1712, A general letter
from the Deputy Governor and Council of Fort
St. David, daled the 20th instant, was read ; ac-
quainting us that they had made an attack upom
an entrenchment of the enemy’s at a place called
Crimumbaukum, about half way between that
place and Pondicherry, in the following manner.

22
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“ Mr. Raworth being advised that a party of
about three hundred Moorish foot detached from
their entrenchment at Crimumbaukum, used in
their rounds to pass between Coniquile and our
hedge. Ordered Captain Cowrtney and Captain
Howson, with sixty Grenadiers, to lay ambuscade
for them on the 19th, in a place that was thought
the most convenient, and if possible eut them off.
Acecordingly at nine they went to the place appoini-
ed, where they watted 1ill one o’clock, wheu per-
ceiving none of the enemy appeared they marched
directly to their entrenchment, which was immedi-
ately alarmed, about forty of them being without
the door, who repairing in with o great deal of
precipitation on iheir approach, excluded about
twentv-two of their comrades. All which were
immedately put to the sword, and then they (Cap-
tains Courtney and Howson) ordeved Serjeant Au-
lin with two file of men, to tnount the wall on the
opposite side ; which he did with a great deal of
bravery, and forced them to retreat where the two
vaplains were with the main body of the party ;
who immediaicly npon it ordered forty grenadoes to
be flung in, which did wouderful execution. And
while they were in this consternation, the grena-
does flying in pieces amongst them, and the serjeant
on the other side firing upon them with swan shot,
they forced open the door and entered sword in
hand ; where they met with a good stout repulse.
BRut the exerntion done upon them before had so
dispirited thein, that in the end every man began
io shift for lumself some making for the door, and
others flinging themselyes over the wall iuto the



A HISTORY OF MADBAS. 1

ditch, in order to make their escape ; till what witli’
those that rot away, and those that fell, they had
in a short ttme free pos:ession of the place without

any molestation ; when they had an opportunity to

view the slain which amounted to more than one

hundred. Besides which they say the ground was

all strewed with pieces of skulls, h.mds and legs,

which to be sure was the effect of the greuadoe

shells,”

The disorderly state of the garrison of Fort St.
David has already been illustrated, but still we
cannot aveld bringing forward the following parti-
culars as giving us an insight not ouly into the
affairs of Fort St. Duvid, but into 1oilitary life in
general as it was a hundred and fifty years ago.

“ Wednesday, 28th January. The President
acquaints the Board that the Deputy Governor
and Council of Fort St. David have sent up
Lieutenant Courtoey, Ensign Brooks, and Serjeant
Peterson prisoners in two Mussulars, for several
crimes set forth as follows in their general lctter.

“ On 'fuesday last Captain Courtney having
dined with the Deputy Governor (Mr. Raworth}
went as he was accustomed into Mr. Weld’s room,
where was sitting Eusign Paddle. He walked
backwards and forwards for sometime without
spenking a word.  But al last attacked him in a
very odd sort of a manner, telling him he was an
impudent {ellow, son of a 8kip Jack, and used
abundanee of other epithets, very improper for a
man that carries a comnmission, {o utter or take ; but
Paddle it seems, régarding the place he was in,
and not caring to make any disturbance under
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Mr. Raworth’s roof, bore it very patiently, til}
Courtney at last drew and assaulted him ; and be-
fore the guard could come in to guiet the distur-
banee, had wounded Paddle about an inch and
a half deep in the belly and stabbed him in the
left temple. The Deputy Governor immediately
secured them both under guards in different ap-
partments, and yesterday acquainted us with it in
consultation ; when they were both sent for wp,
and heard what they could say for themselves, and
the declarations of Mesers. Matthew Weld and
Heury Cottrel taken. The cne of whick was pre-
sent when some words past between them on Sun-
day last ; and the others not only there but like-
wise the greatest part of the time they were scuf-
fling together. The copies of which we enclose for
vour Honor’s perusal.”

* The Declaration of Mr. Matthew Weld.

“ Bunday the 20th in the Afternoon. Captain
Hereules Courtney and Ensign Joseph Paddle
being at my lodzings, where also was Mr. Henry
Cottrel, when Captain Couriney asked Ensign
Paddle to give one Richard Pain, a Centinel on the
main guard and a drunken abusive fellow, liberty
to go out of the Fort for two or three hours in a
dny about some business be had for him. To
which Ensign Paddle replied, he could not. There-
at Captain Courtney paused a little, and then flew
into a passion, saying, “ What do you mean
Ensign Paddle, D— me, I will have him with-
out asking you.” To that Ensign Paddle said,
* If be i3 a man belonging to your Company you
may bave him, but as he is upon this guard. I
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must have another in his room todo his duty.”
Hereat Captain Courlney grew very abusive to
Mr. Paddle the Ensign of the guard, giving him
the lie, calling him an impudent saucy tellow, and
threatened to beat him and thrust his cane down
his throat, which he shook at him in a menacing
manuner, uttering many other abusive expressions.
To all which said Ensign Joseph Taddle made
civil replies and mild, and gave bis reason, why
he could not permit said Pain to go out of the
Fort; be being so frequently guilty of misdemnea-
ners when at his liberty, that Te feared, he should
be blamed if he suffered him abroad ; desiring
Captain Courtney not to treat him so seurv lly,
and that he would not strike him, for he would
not suffer it. When their difference grew to this
height I desired them bLoth to forbear quarrelling
in my house. Whereat, they then gave over, and
I thought all would have been past by.

“ But ’lueﬂday the 22nd of Januarv 1712,
about three in the afternoon, Captain Hercules
Courtney came into my lodgings, where Mr.
Joseph Paddle was with me at a table smok-
ing a plpe of tobacco ; and after taking scme
few turns in my room seemingly in a passion,
stood by me and demanded of Ensign Paddle,
how he came to write so sauey and impudently to
him in the parole note ; telling him that his su-
periors used him with more respect than bharely to
conclude after the word with his name only. To
this Ensign Paddle lephed he wrote it in haste and
designed no aﬂ"mnt by it, and hoped Lic would not
meke this omission occasion of quareiling with
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him, on account of their late difference about said
Richard Pain ; adding that Captain Courtney had
then very grossly abused him, who answered he
had not, but he very much deserved it ; and im-
mediately tlew into a passion, and said he was a
saucy impudent fellow and would make hin
know his distanee, and let Lin see he did not
make sucl as bin his companion, with several
such like scomful expressions. To which
Mr. Paddie replied in a very calm manner, * Sir,
I bear a Commission so well as you;” and
then desired he would curb his passion, for he
couldd not bear such abuses.

« Upon that Captain Courtney fiew into a more
violent passion, and stepping back into the mid-
dle of the room immediately drew his sword.
Whereat Fnsign Paddle {whose sword lay with
the belt and seabbard about two steps on one side
of him upon two chairs) got up and took hold of
it. But before he had completely drawn, and put-
ting himself into a posture of defence, whilst the
point of his sword was scarcely out of the sheath
and pointing downward, Captain Courtney who
drew first and was in a readiness, advanced on him
and struck a forcible blow on Ensign Paddle’s
sword, which beat it up hackward and so struck it
out of his hand, pushed Ensign Paddle into the
belly who notwithstanding readily got hold of his
sword again.  But in the very instant as he stoop-
ed to recover it, Captain Courtney closed in with
him, and shuffied him down into the window ;
where Captain Courtney had Him under, with his
left hand on Ensign Paddie’s sword arm, and his
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own sword pointed at Ensign Paddle’s breast, bid-
ding him deliver his sword and beg Lis life. Upon
this I left them, and made what haste I could
to call a guard ; and on my return found Captain
Cowrtney with both swords in his lLands and
Eunsign Paddle asking for his sword, which
Captain Courtney returned.  After this a dispute
arose about the difference, when Ensign Lladdle
told Captam Courtney that be used him very
scarvily in drawing on him in the Fort and un-
awares ; but that now lie was so good a man
as himself. With that Captain Courtney said
“D me Sirrah, what after I have given you
vour life and sword, you have the impudence to
prate 7 and immediately ran furiously upon him,
and catching hold of Ensign Paddle’s sword, broke
it in two picees ; and then they fell to cutting, but
were parted by Berjeant Wanton. Soon after came
the Captain of the Guard, in whose presence Cap-
tain Courtney continued to abuse Ensign Paddle in
very seurrilous language, calling him © skipkennel,”
“sorry fellow,” ** just come from waiting at a
table ;" and treated him with abundance of such like
insufferable expressicns ; though at the same time
Ensign Paddle desived him to shake hands and be
friends. To which Captain Courtney replied, Le
would not concern himself with any such fellow
a3 he 18.”

Marruew WerLp.’*

* The other deposition is little more than a repeti-
tion of the above, Taptain Courtney was subseguent-
1y recalled. -
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The troubles at Fort St. David were at last
brought to a conelusion in April 1712, through the
mediation of M. Hebert, French Governor of Pon-
dicherry ; but the peace appears to have cost the
Company a sum of 12,000 pagodas in direct pay-
ment to the Rajah Serope Singh and  his officers,
in addition to the other charges and losses attend-
ing the war. This mediation of the French was
only accepted after some deliberation, #s the war
with France was not brought to 3 final close until
the treaty of Utrecht in 1713, It may be men-
tioned here that the fortress of Ginjee was captur- -
ed in 1715 by the Dewan Sadatulla Khan.
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CHAPTER XXVI

GOVEERNORSIHIIP OF MR. EDWARD HARRISON.
(Continued.)
i712—13.

During tke troubles at Fort 8t. Tdavid recorded
in the lust chapter, but few incidents of importance
appear to have taken place at Fort St. (reorge.
In 1711 the celebrated Danish Protestant Mis-
sionary, Bartholomew Ziegenbalgh appears to have
arrived from the Danish settlewent at  Tranquebar
on a visit to Madras; and in the cousultation
book of the 13th August, 1711, we find the fol-
lowing entry.

 The Danes Padre, Bmiholomew Ziegenbalgh,
requests leave to go for Europe on  the first ship ;
and in consideration that he is the head of a Pro-
testant Mission cspoused by the Right Reverend
the Lord Arch-Bishop of Canterbury, and the rest
of our ¥piscopal Clergy, and that our Masters
were pleased to send out their money freight free,
we have presumed to grant him his passage with-
out paying pernission money.”

A few days afterwards a member of the Danish
Council at Tranguebar asrived at Madras on his
way to Bengal, aud requested that this permission
might be rescinded, as a dispute between Ziegen-
balgh and the Damish commandant which had
been referred howme to the king of Denmark., Ac-
cordingly the passage was wtefused until the said

23
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Missionury had obtuiged the consent of the Go-
vernor of Tranquebar.

The following cxiract from a General Letter,
dated February 2md, 1712, and addressed by the
Board of Directors to the Governor ard Cowneil of”
Fort 8t. George, containing some furthier informa-
tion respecting any Missionary proceedings in
Northern India.

“ 1t is proper here to tell yom that since the
entire union of the two Companies, we act on the
foot of the new Company’s Charter, which dircets,
that the Company shall constantly muiutaiu, in
every of their garrisons and superior factorics, one
Miuister ; and that all such Ministers as shall be
sent to reside in Indlia shall be obliged to learn,
within one vear after their arrival, the Vortuguese
langnage ; and that they shall apply themselves to
Tearn the mative language of the country where
they shall reside, the better to enable them to in-
struet the Gentoos that shall be servants or slaves
of the Company or of their agents in the P'rotes-
tant religion.  That in ease of the death of any of
the said Ministers residing in the East Indies, lis
place shall be supplied by oue of the Chaplains out
of the next ships that shall arrive at or near the
place where such Minister shall happen to die;
and that the Company shall from time to time pro-
vide School Masters in all their Garrisons and
superior Factories, where they shall be found ne-
cessary.

“ We are further to acquaini you that the So-
ciety for Prometing Christian  Knowledge, which
is composed of many of the Reverend Bishops and
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other Clergy, together with divers well disposed
Gentlemen have addressed to us in behalf of the
Protestant  Missionaries (at Tranguebar), to give
thum our protection and encouragement, and to
perit them a Charity School or Schools at Mad-
ras. They find it dilficult to get any English to
undertake this service, but hape to be able 1o do
it in another season.  We have consented to their
sendling three persons by this shippiag, viz. Mr.
Berkin to he a School Master, Mr. Adler a printer,
amnd his brother.  They are not certatn whether he
will reside at Madras, bul wherever it is, be s to
instruet children there gratis.  They have printud
some surall Tracts in Portugnese of prayers, the Ca-
techism, aud other pious collections, tor the use of
the scholars.  We recoinmend to you to give your
sonutenance and protection to the said persons,
and other Urotestant Missionanies ; and to supply
them with a few of the Portugnese Litorgics as
you findl it veceszary, amd do whatever you think
proper for the strengthening theic bands in this
ditheult but honourable work of spreading the
Gospel among the heathens,  Seme other roquests
they hiave winle us, amons the rest, that yon
should be empowered to pretee snehvas they shail
instraet, preferalile to other wnatives; whieh will
he time enough to prenounce wpon, when we hear
the sueceess of their endeavours, and whether yon
have any and what ohjections thereto.”

About a year after receivine the above, Governor
Harrison and Conngil rephied  as follows in a (e-
neval Letter, dived 1oth Septewnber, 1713,

©The design of crvetings a Charity  Sclinol or
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Schools at this plare is a very noble one, and
worthy that Honorable Soriety for Promoting
Christinn Knowledge.  We will not only he ready
to adjust them with the power yon have given us,
bnt also with onr purses; and do not doubt but
many of your inhabitants will do the same, if the
persons they send out are of tempers amd qualifica-
tions fit for the undertakizg. Tut we hope they
will be English and not foreigeers.  The Danish
missionattes have not wanted for our assistance
on all oerasions, thongh we must still continue of
opinion that they spend a great deal of the Saciety’s
money to little or no purpose; and though there
may be some good men among them there is one
very turbwlent person, of whose prineiples vou
may please to judwe, by his contriving the eseape
of Mr. Abendana’s widow from her eroditors heve
1n Tranguebar, and marryiug her though a Jew to a
Christian by the way.””  To this letter the Diree-
tors veplictl by the nest ships as follews, ¢ The
Socicty for Promoting Christian Knowledge have
presented to us, that they have not as vet heen
able to prevail with any of the British nation to
undertake the Serviee of the Proteztant Mission to
the East Indies. But are advised to make an ex-
periment of two Malabar Christinns, cdncated ag
Tranquebar under the Danish Missionaries, to he
employved as masters of {wo Charity Seloals, one to
he kept ut Fort i George and the other at Fort
8t. David, subject to the inspection of yourselves
and direction of our Chaplait at Madras, wnd of
the Deputy CGovernor and Council at Fort St.
David; and desiring we would appiove thereof,
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and protect the persons that shall be emploved
therein. We have prowised to recomnmend this,
as we hereby do, to your cousideration ; and to
give them all proper nssistances for propagating
the Protestant relizion in the way they propose.
We have also allowed the Society to send the Ais-
sionaries three hundred pounds’ value in pieces 3-8,
and fifty-five reams of paper, witl a chest of Books,
a chest of Beer and a cheese, Trcight free.”

We must add that the Charity School was not
founded in Medras until the Governorship of
Mr. Collett, the sueerssor of Governor Harnsoi.

TFrom the two following extracts from the con-
suliation books, it would seem that at this tine
the merals and manners of the Company’s ser-
vants themselves were very far from what they
ought {o have been.

“Thursday, 2nd August, 1711, The Right
Honorable Company’s Servants, Factors,and Writers
beingr sunimoned, acconding to an order fast Con-
sultation do now attend, and leing called in,
were severally  checked by the President, for not
giving their attendance st Divine Service ; and toll
that for the future, whosvever shall be sbsent on
Sundays from morning aml evening service shall
not only be fined nine fanams to the poor but
be under the displeasure of this board amd Le
treated accordingty.”

« AMonday, 3uth June, 1712. Several disorders
having Dbeen committeid at  the General Table,
which we fimd 10 e partly oceasioued by the ahsenee
of those persons in the service, that are of a su-
perier standing and might awe the veung ones
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into betier behaviour ;—we have thought fit to ap-
point Joseph [mart head searcher, and five others,
to take their fums, either weekly, or monthly, or
as they shatl agree among  themselves, to be pre-
sent at the Luble, and o take vave that no inde-
cencies or disorders are comnitted.”

We must now turn to the history of the Presi-
dency.  Whilst Fort 3t. David wus  warring
amainst the Mussulman clief of Ginjee, Tort St
Gicorge seems to huve maintained toierably peace-
ful relations with the Dewan Sadatulla Khan, now
Nabob of Aveot, The Dewan sent Governor Har-
rison the enstmmary vest, turban, and purwanna,
all of which were received in public with the asual
solenities. It is a noticeable fact that at this
time the anthority of the Mogul was declining,
whilst the distant authoritics were become more fu-
dependent in the exercise of their power. The follow-
ing story of the arbitrary conduet of the Foujdar
at St. 'Thomd {ully illustrates this state of things.

« AMonday, 21st January, 1712, Pier Zudida,
Tonjdar of St.'Thomd, is a Moollah of the Serad
Caste, which 1s the chief of all the Moor's castes
these parts. e is likewise chief priest to the
Pewnn Sadatulla Khan; and bhas such an influenee
over him that whalever he says is a law, and the
Dewan does nothing without his advice.  When
Yier Zadda visits him, he rises fromn his seat, and
meets him abt the door; amdl when the Dewan
goes to him he reecives him sitting, aud frequently
suffers him 1o kiss his feet. .

“« This priest hos his Jaghircin and  abont St.
Thomd to the yearly awouut of nine thonsand
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pngm];!s : atid has by his eruclty tathe Portuguese
mhabitants of that place foreed most of them to
quit it and retive bither, the Bishop among the vest,
They found means by a Clirbtian woman in Shah
Auluw’s Jeraglio to lay their conplaints heime
himi 5 whe owdered Zulikar Khan to send down
a Perwotna mnediately to the Pewan, comrnund-
ing him to vestore the Portuguese to theie Lhabita-
tious and privileres, and to see restitution made
them. A copy of the saiill Perwanua was sent by
the Christing weman to the Bishop of St Thome,
who sent several persons with the same to the
Duewan at Arcet. But he received themn  very
rougitly ; charging them with accusing him falsely
to the Ning, put them in prisou, and threatened
them till they paid o sum of money for their
reloase 3 withal obliging them to sign o paper
in the Persion Linguage without reading it, where-
in it is said they own all their former complaints
to be false and seandalous.  This is a picce of
roguery that we cammot forbear taking notiee of,
to show the weakness of the present Governinent
under Shah Anlum, and the great power of Zul-
fikar Khan, whose creabires the Dewan and Pier
Zudda are ; and undoubtedly he has directed
them what to de in this atfair. However the
Portuguese are preparing for 8 second complaint
by the same hand, by which we shall sce if the
King will exert his anthority or no.”

In April the news of Shab Aulum’s death had
reached the Presicdency, as will be seen from the
following extraet.

* Monday, 7th April, 1712, The news of King
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Shah Anlanes death being duly confirmed, we find
the nejghhowring countries romul about vs under
a wreat apprehension ;o all the Poligars having
loug waitedd this opportunity to set up for thew-
selves, andd assert their ancient rights and privi-
Teeres 3 wmnd our Dewan, who is at present Soobuh
(Nubob) of these parts, being marched away 10-
wards the Junjore country to raise woney, which
i3 what he chiefly minds, and reglects the welfare
and security of the Government committed to his
charze.  We have just reason to fear advantages
will be taken of his absence by the petty Go-
vernors, 1o the prejudice of trade and owr invesi~
ment ; and several cousiderable persens and in-
habitants ol Arcot, and other neighbouring places
infand, have within these few days past sent con-
siderable swms of money to be ledged here for
security against the expected troubles. Where-
fore it behoves us Lo put ourselves into as good a
posture of defence as we can, for the security
of our Master’'s Estales, our own inhabitants,
and all such as shall have receurse to our pro-
tection.”

1t will here he necessary to glance at the events
which immediately followed the death of Shah
Aulum ; and we cannot do so better than by ex-
tracting the account sent home by the Governor
and Council of Fort St. George, in their General
Letter 1o the Court of Directors. It records some
circumstances which have not yet been published
in 1eference to the accession first of Jehander
Bhah, and secondly of Feroksere ; together with the
fist appointment of the Nizam of the Dekkan.
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The first estract is dated October 14th, 1712,
and is as follows.

““ On the 3rd of April 1712, we received advices
by way of Goleondah that king Shah Aulum died
at Lahore on the 17th February, after very few
days sickness, and most people are of opinien thae
he was poisoned. All his four sons being pre-
sent when he died, immediately put themselves at
the head of their friends to dispute the Empire.
Azim-oos-Shaun, the sccond of the four who had
the Government of Bengal many vears, where he
awmassed vast treasures, was much more powerful
both in men and money than any of the other
three. For which reasou Zulfikar Khan the Vizier,
who was entirely in the interest of Moiz-ad-deen,
the eldest brother, found means by fair promises
to untte the elder with the two younger brothers
against Azim-cos-Shaun ; a verbal agreement being
made between them, that Ruffeh-oos-Shaun the
third brother should have the kingdom of Cabul,
and Kojesta Acktar, the fourth, the kingdom of the
Dekkan., Upon these terms they joined their armies
and fought a bloody battle with their second bro-
ther ; in which after, a stout resistance, he and his
eldest son were slain.  Moiz-ad-deen, having gained
so complete a victory, and heing proclaimed king,
the two vounger brothers sent to him to make
good their agreement by a finnaun, that they
might depari to their several kingdoms.  To which
Moiz-ad-deen returned answer (as it is said by
the advice of Zulfikqr Khan) shat he was ready to
put them in possession of their several Goveru-
ments ; but that he would reserve to himseif the

24
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stamp of all money coined in his reign, and the
Duroy,—for which we have no word in English,
but the sense of it is that he would retain a Su-
preme power and command over them. These
new terms enragel the two younger brothers to
such a degree that they immediately joined their
forces and invited the elder to a battle ; declaring
that they would be either real kings or die iu the
dispute. In this second batile fell the two
younger brothers and their sons after a very sharp
engazenrent ; and it is said that of the youngest
brother, who was a very valiant prince, had not
been killed by a chance sbhot just as he had sur-
vounded the eldest, he had taken him prisoner and
won the battle. Zulfikar khan having been the main
fostrument W prowmoting the interest of Moiz-ad-
deen, and behaved himself with wonderful courage
in both baitles,he was hnmediately confirmed Prime
Vizier and received other unusual lioners, one of
which was permitting him to have a seat in the
king’s presence.  As soon as he had established
the Government he slew several great Omrahs,
who had been in his brother’s interest, aid im-
prisoned them. After this he marched with his camp
away to Delhi, having disgusted most of the great
Omrahs, by the honors done to Zulfikar Khan.

« Azim-cos-Shaun, upon leaving Beugal to go
1o his father Shah Aulum’s court, left the Govern-
ment of that kingdom in the hands of his second
son Feroksere ; who no sooner heard the desth of
his father, but he immedintely, set up for Liimself,
raising f{orees and coining money in his own name,
and endeavoured to seize upon the king’s treasure
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in possession of the Dewan, but we do not hear
he bas yel etfected it.  The last advices we had
from Bengal were dated the 28th July, and give
us aa account that he was then at Putna with a
considerable army ; where he waits for Moiz-ad-
«leen’s son, who is marching agaiost him ; and
they were in hopes the affair would be decided
before the rains were set i, but that we believe is
impossible.”
The next extracts are taken from a General
Letter to England, dated 1%th September, 1713,
“ We wrote your Honors by the fast year’s ship-
ping the great Revolution that bad happened in
this Empire upon the death of Slhah Aulom. We
- added that Prince Feroksere, son to Aziin-oos-
Shaun that geverned Bengal, bad passed Agra with
his army and defeated the king his uncle Jehandar
Shah,* which has been since confirmed as follows.
** ‘I'his young prince, hearing the sad fate of his
father, by advice of an old Seiad called Abdulla
Khan, whom Aurungzebe had given him for a
‘Tutor, immediately caused himself to be prociaimed
king ; and with his fatber’s treasure, and what he
raized {n Patna among the merchants of all na-
tiens, be got a pretiy good army altogether ; aud
hearing his unele had disobliged most of the great
Omrahs, by his barbarous cruelties and vicious
course of life, he marched directly for Agra, near
which city the king’s army gave him battle and
was entirely defeated, many great men going over

—
* Jebandar Shah was the title assumed by Moiz-ad-
«teen on ascending the throne.
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to Feroksere's side. The king with Zulfikar Khan
fled to Dethi; but Feroksere with his victorious
army followed them close at their heel and sur-
rounded the city that inmediately surrendered and
teok them prisoners. Few days atter they were both
murdered, and Feroksere now remains the peace-
able possessor of the Lwpire.  Ile has inade Seiwd
Abdulls Khan Bis prime Vizier and Gousdeen
Khan, who came over to him in the battle, Nabol
of il the Dekkan country, which inclides this
Carnata, Bijapoor, and Goleonda; he has the
character of 2 byave generous man, and a friend to
the Europeans.®* We have news of his (the Ni-
zam- ul-Muik’s) arrival at Aurungabad, and ex-
pect him to take his residence near Bijapoor, at a
place called Burhampoor, where when arrived it
will be absolutely necessary for us to address to
him, becanse he has # very great intercst with the
present king and indeed throsghout the Lmpire.
Whatever we are obliged to o shall be managed
with the greatest ivugality. Your Honors will have
heard from Bengal that our old friend Zoodec
Khan came early into this new king's interest,
and made a very brave defence in Hooghly against

* The father is here apparently confounded with the
ton.  Gousdeen Khan (more properly Ghazee-ud-din
Khan' was the father of Cheen Kulich Khan (Chicklis
Khan in the records): and it was the latter who was
appointed Viceroy of the Dekkan under the title of
“ Nizam-ul-Mulk, or  Regulator of the State.” Cheen
Kuolich Khan, the “ Nizam," wag the founder of the
great independent kingdom of the Dekkan, whose
sovercigns still bare the namie of their illustriovs
aucestor,
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a much superior foree on the side of the former
king. He is now rewarded by heing made Dewan
of all the Dekkan country under Gousdeen Khau
{i. e. the Nizam) ; which is a very great employ-
ment. The gentlemen in Bengal, who were very
agsisting to him under hand at Hooghly, seem to
bave their chief dependance upon him for intro-
ducing our present to the new king.

“ Zulfikar Khan being cut off, there came imme-
diate orders from Court to re-nssume all the lands
and villages that were grantedl him in these parts by
Aurnngzebe, in consideration of his good services
in the conquest of the Gingzee country. Accord-
ingly the Dewan Sadatulla Kbhan sent us a sum-
mons to deliver np Egmore &e., villoges granted
us by Znlfikar Khan on account of the assistance
we gave him with ammunition, and what else he
wanted to carry on his designs,  We have hitherto
staved this business off with good words and
pleading our rights; and when the new Nabob
{Nizam) comes nearer, we will endeavor to get our
grant confirmed.  In the mean time, if any force
is used to take them from us we resolve to defend
them as well as we can.  We are in daily expecta-
tion that onr Dewan Sadatulla Khan will be turned
out, as having heen a Creature and Vasszal of Zul-
fikar Khan. For which rcazon, we avoid pur-
chasing his friendship in this matter by presents.

* The new king Feroksere is a young man of
about twenty-six vears of age. e has the char-
acter of being brave, pradent and generous ; .and
is the last of the race of Aurungzebe except some
voung children jmprisoned in  the fortress of
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Gwalior, where when once they have entered they
never came out, and have potions given them to
destroy their senses. This seems to be the King
for whom Providence has designed your present,
which leads us to touch upon that affair.”

The following extract from a General Letter to
England dated 14th October 1712 is curious as
showiug the changes in the trade which attended
thiese revolutions in the Government, as well as the
nature of the Native demand for the more im-
portant urticles of English manafacture.

“ In obedience to your commands we shall lay
before your Honours, the best account we can
gt concerning the consumption of Broad Cloth
and other manufactures in the Mogul's dominions.
The coarse red amd green broad cloth is chiefly
userd among the soldiers and ordinary Moormen
for saddles, saddle cloths, sumpture cloth, covers,
beds and eushions, for palankeens, carpets to sit
upon, mantles to cover them from ihe rain and
sometimes covering for their tents of pleasure.
The fine broad cloth as scarlet, aurora, sowe blue
and yellow is used for the inside of tents for vests
or mantles in the rainy season among the great
met1 ; covering cloths for the Elephants and hae-
karys cloths to hang round their drums; for
shoulder and waist Belts, scabbards to their swords
and Jimdars or daggers; for slippers and for
covers, beds and pillows, and for palankeens. The
embossed cloth is used to hang vound the bottom
on the inside of the great men’y tents three feet
high; for spreadings (o sit upon, and cushions
to Jean against; and for cloths to cover the Ele-
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phanis and horses. Perpetuamos arc only used
among the meaner sort of people for caps, coats,
and covering cloths to sleep in during the raius.

* And now we are upon this subject, we must
inform your Honors that at least uine-tenths of the
Woollen manufactures venifed in these purts is
among the Moors; the Gertoos making very
little or no use of them. The greatest consump-
tion is in the Mogul’s camp, which when at La-
hore or Delhi is supplied wholly from Surat and
Persia ; but when at Agra, partly from Sarat and
partly from Bengal by way of Patua, from which
ports the convevance to the camp is casy and sufe. -
But what is disposed of hereabouts is  dispevsed ™
among the Nabob's fiving armies in the Carnatta
courtry, Bijapore and Goleoundal, seldom reaching -
so far us Auwrungabad, beeause the carriage is very
ehargeuble, and the roads are difficult and danger-
ous to pass. When king Shah Aulun canie down
to Golrondah with his army in the vear 1708 to
destroy his Drother Kam Buksh, we inmediate-
ly found a quicker vent than ordinary for our
broad cloth; and indeed for all other sorts of
goods consumed among them. And when Dawood
Khan was formerly Nabob of these parts, he
always kept a good body of horse in pay,
which obliged the neighbouring Governors to do
the =ame, being always jealous of each other.
And among these horsemen by much the greatest
guantity of our broad cloth then imported was
consumed ; the trade from this place to their
camps being very considerable. But now our
Dewan, who is Subah of all this country, seldom
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keeps above five hundred horse with him; and
the Government in general being grown much
weaker than in Aurungzebe’s time, none of the
great men keep up the unmber of borse allow-
cid by the king, but apply the money to their own
use ; and this has brought o considerable dawmp
to our trade in general, but more especially upon
the sale of your manufactures. For we have not
only lost the camp trade, but the reads are become
impassable for want of these liorsemen to scour
them as usual ; so that the merchants are discour-
aged from eoming down with their money and
ciamonds to buy up and carry away our lurope
and other goods as formerly ; and we caonot see
any likelihood of better times till the Government
is wrll settled and some active man employed on
the Government of these parts.”

We now proceed with the general current of
events at the Presidency. The troubles which
accompanied the death of Shah Aulum and Jehan-
dar Shah, and the accession of Feroksere, had 1i{l—
duced a number of wealthy persons fo take ref:
in Fort 8t. {zeorge. Amongst others came o
Nauvajee, or Collector General of the revenues, .
Zulfikar Khan, with treasure estimated at fiv _»
six hundred thousand pagodas. The following
extract respecting this individual will explain itself,

* Thursday, 26th March, 1713.  The President
produces a Purwanna from the Subah Sadatulla
Khan, wherein he demands by virtue of an order
from Conrt, that the Nauvajee Collector of Zulfi-
kar Khan’s revenues in this Carhata country (who
came down hither upon the beginning of the late
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tronbles for the seeurity of the treasure under his
charge) be delivered up with the said trcasure into
- the hands of Fire Khan his Deputy Governor
at Arcot.

“ The reason of this demand, we take to be,
becanse the new King Feroksere has cut off Zulfi-
kar Khau and his father Assid Khan, and would
now seize upon all their treasure.

* The Tresident further acquaints the Board that
immediately upon receipt of the Perwanna, he sent
it to the Nauvajee, with the slight intimation that
we could not think of engazing ourselves in any
(ll\l)lltf‘:, with the Country (;O\ernmcnt by protect-
ing persons employed under the King, contmry to
}n, positive commands, To w]u('h he returned
answer that he was ready to go directly to the
Subah with the treasure, acknowledging the many
civilities received during his residence here.

 Agreed that a proper answer be returned the
Subah, acquainting him that as the Nauvajee
came here a stranger upon his master’s Dbusiness,
we were niuler an obligation to receive him with
civility and distinetion, but know nothing of the
treasure he brounght with him, it ot being our
custom to search strangers, But finding lLim
very willing to retarn upon the first summons, we
had no occasion to use any compulsion ; and
whatever he might bring with him he cariies baek
under charge of the person that brought the
Perwanua.”’

Our next extract §s a further illustration of the
disorderly character of the times,

“ Wednesday, 16th September, 1713. The Pre-

23
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sident aenuaints the Board that Fleet Aynsworth
writer (id, onn the 14th instant in the evening upon
rising from supper ot the Geueral table, draw his
sword and made several passes at Thomas Wilford
writer, one of which enteved his body, just under
the left pap about three inches.  Dr. Ilobson being
seut for and examined, declares he has hopes the
satd Willord may do well but that he is not yet
oul of danger.  Ordered that Fleet Aynaworti
writer be kept under strict confinement till further
order.” A few days afterwards it was agreed
“ that the said Aynsworth always behaved
himself ina very disorderly manner, continually
drinking, quarrelling with oue or other, for which
he has frequently been reprimanded to no purpose,
as appears by this Jast bloody sction;” and he was
therefore dizmissed the Company's service and sent
to Tingland by the fiest ship.

The foliowing Will, which is entered in the con-
sultation book of this period, furnishes a eurions
picture of social life,

< In the name of God, Amen, this thirteenth
day of May in the year of our Lord one thousand,
goven hundred and twelve, T, Thomas Saunders of
Bengal, mariner, make this my last Willand Testa-
ment, in manuer and form following.,  First, 1
commit my soul into the hands of God that gave
it, and my bhodv to be decently buried as my ¥xe-
cutors shafl think eouvenient.  As for those world-
ly goods it has pleased Almighty God to bestow
upon me, T give and bequeath,in maoner and form
following ; viz.

“To iy Unele Richard Saunder’s Children, on
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account of an adventure which was losl in the
ship that I eame to India, valued at one huudred
and len pounds sterling or thereabouts, sixicen
huadred rupees, if they give no furthertrouble to
my cstate.  Otherwise no more than the Law will
give them.

* To a slave girl, named Clara, her liberty, with
all her jewels and five huudred rupees; and if
brought to bed within eight wonths and a lalf
after my leaving Bengal, being the twenty-thind
day of January onc thousand seven hundred eleven
twelve, I bequeath unto the said chkild four thou-
sand rupees and to be under the cure of my Lxe-
cutors. A slave boy named Pompey 1 give his
liberty, and five rupees per month during his life.
A slave bov named Anthouy, his {recdom.  If the
said child that 1 bequeathed four thousand rupees
dies afore it comes to age or mnarried, then the said
four thousand rupees shall go to my son John
Saunnders.

 The remainder part of my esiate T bequeath
unto my son John Saunders, after my debts are
paid.  If my son should die I give my wife, that
was now Mrs, Martha Bingleyv, four thousand ru-
pees, and each Exccutor four thousand rupees:
the remainder part of my estate after the said
Legacies above and my delts are paid unto my
lom:rr brothers John and Richard Saunders,

«] appoint executors to sce this my last will
and Testament executed, my esteerued friends Mr.
James Williamson of Bengal and Mr. Charles
Boone of Madras ; 'and to manage my estate to
the best ad\ant'\ge fill my son cotpes of age. T
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allow my said Executors the power of remitting
money to Eugland for the use of my son, it there,
and employing my estate to sca, if' they shall think
conveniert for my son’s best advantage; I pui
wy son wholly under the eare of my sid Exeeu-
tors till of age. In witness whereof I lave here-
unto put my “hand and seal in Gombroone the day
and year above mentioned.”
TiioMas SAUNDERS.

Our next extract will explain itself.

¢ Thursday, §th October, 1713. The present
Nabeb Sadatulla Khan, having received a firmawun
from the new King VFeroksere, confirming him in
the Governnient of these parts; upon which the
French and Duteh have presented him each to the
amount of a thousand pazodas or thereabouts;
and having lately received 2 message by a horse-
man from !mn that if we do not imthmth deliver
up the villages he intends to come and take pos-
session of them.”

“ Agreed that a present be sent to the amount
of about five hundred pagodas, and lodged in the
hands of Sunka Ramna at Arcot, to be presented
the Nabob by way of congratulation on account
of his new dignity ; but that it be a chse in the
instruetions to Sunka Rama, not to part with it
before he gets assurances that we  shalt have wo
farther troubles about the villages ; and this to he
done as from himsell, beeause we will fnsist upon
the zoodness of our title aml reserve a right to
defend them upon oecasion.’

The year 1713 clozed with a singular rebellion
at Fort 8. Dgyid. Our readers will remenber
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that Mr. Raworth, the Deputy Governor, had gal
lantly conducted the defence of the place against
Serape Singh, Rajal of Ginjee. They will now
be surprised to hwar that this same Mr. Raworth,
openly rebelled against the authority of Governor
Harrison.  The st()ry is best told in the following
extracts from the consultations.

“ Mouday, 5th October.  The President offers
to the Board that the Method established by the
Right itonorable Company for carrving on their
mermuhlu affairs, and for the (Joxunmcnt of their
Garrisons aml Factories, has been entirely neglect-
ed and despised by the Deputy Governor of Fort
5t. David, who has assumed to bimsell a liberty
of acting as If he was independant of this Board.
Consultations are negleeted ; Paymaster’s and Cash
accounts are fietitious and wregularly passed ; and
our strictest orders have been contemned.  Ile has
promoted and  commissioned officers of the Gavrd-
son unknown to this Board. e has considerably
increased the pay and nllowances of several per-
sons, particularly in Tet money to the Gentlenen
of Comneil, three pogodas per month each, awd
almost all other expences in general. e has aid
out considerable sums in building, and has let out
the Company’s bounds to rent without our know-
ledge or consent. He has used the Cowpany’s
merchants very barbarously, whereby they have
been necessitated to seck  protection and  re-
dress from this Board. 1le retwns no -
swers to sueh peysons as have large and just de-
mands upon him ; with many other irvegularities,
which this Board ought wot to bear with any
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longer, lest the Ifonorable Company’s affairs
should Le brought tuto irrecoverable confusion.

* The President further offers to the Board
several paragraphs of their general letters, as also a
copy of o paper or protest signed by Mr. Raworth
and Council, which were read and considered ; and
the Board came to the following Resolution.

“ That whercas the Deputy Governor inhis
name, teclares our proceedings (iu seruling for the
Company’s merchants up hither at their repeated
request} to be hizhly prejudicial to the Company’s
mterest, and that of this place ; we are oblized to
justify onrselves in as plain and public a mamer
as possible to our Right Honorable Tanployers ;
though we cannot but thiuk it au incxcusable picee
of presumption in Mr. Raworth to send us such a
charge in a general letter from a subordinate
Factory, which is giving encourngement to those
under him by his example to dispute and disobey
our orders hercatter.

“ Agreed that a charge be brought in against
Robert Raworth Esq. Deputy Governor of Fort
St. David, eoktaining such articles as can be fully
proved without any room for dispute.

« Monday, 5th October.  All the foregoing pre-
mises having been tully considercd and  debated
the following question was put :

“ Q. Whether this Board is not obliged upon
the charge now read, and other circumstanees con-
curring, to remove Robert Raworth Esq from the
Government of Fort St David 3

“ Agreed in the affirmative nemine eontradic-
entc.
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“ Q. Whether he shall be suspended or dis-
missed ?

“ Agreed unanimously that he he suspended,
that his commission be revoked and superseded,
the same to be signified in a general letter to Lim
with orders for him do repair hither when his
charge shall be delivered him.”

“ Agrrced and ordered that Mr, Henry Daven-
pert be commissioned as commissary aud Provis-
sional Deputy Governor of Tort 5t. David, to set
out this evening, in order to receive the (rovern-
ment from My, Robert Raworth,

¢ Sunday, 11th October. The President com-
municates to the Board a letter from Henry
Davenport Esq., advising us, that, upon his arrival
at the edge of the bounds of Fort St. David, he
dispatched Licutenant 'orricr before with our letter
to Mr. Raworth, and a short one from bimself.
To which Mr. laworth in a short time returned
answer, that he would not allow himn any authority
to rule there by whatevey commission he could
receive from us. Al the outworks were alarmed
with the usnal signals for enemies when Mr.
Davenport entered the bounds ; and when he came
to Tevenapatam gate, he was denied entrance by
shutting it upon him, and the oflicer’s declaring
he had an order not to let hitn in.  AJ] the Council
camc in to Mr. Davenport, except Mr. Richard
Marrison. Fnsign Ilobbs being posted at the
Guarden with a hundred wen, Mr. Davenport sent
to him for admittance there ; but he sent word
thai he would obey no orders but Mr. Uaworth's,
and that if he offered 1o come into the Garden with
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any peons or soldiers, he would five upon him.
LUypon which, finding the whole Gaerison debauched
from their duty (except old Captain Hugonin and
some other of the officers which were confined
before hand), he was forced to retire out of the
bounds to a choultry about five miles distance,
for the seeurity of hus life and the treasure he las
with him ; Mr. Raworth kaving given ouf several
unaccountable orders to someof the officers, and
publicly threatened to cut him off.

* This plfair being debated, with the greatest
concern to see @ whole Garrison of five hundred
men and upwards, seduced by some false persana-
sions from their duty to our Right Hounorable
Lwmployers, and commanded opeuly to resist our
orders which may Dbe of veryill consequence
hereafter.

* Agreed that it is not safe for Mr. Davenport
to remain where he is, considering the small guard
he has with him and the threatening expressions
Mr. Raworth has used.

“ Ordered that he do forthwith return hither
and bring with him the Gentlemen of the Fort St.
David Connedl {(that cannot safely return into the
Bounds), to inform us of several necessary points
before we can come lo any further resolition.”

¢ Monday, 12th October. A pgeneral letter
from Henvey Davenport Ezq. and Council dated the
10th instant from Monapa’s choultry ; read also a
private letier from Mr., Davenport to the Presi-
dent ; advising that Mr. Richard Harrison is as
active in this rebellion as any officer in the (Garri-
son ; that the council now with him {Mr. Daven-
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port) affirm that by the promotion of severnl
officers and increasing their pay, Mr. Raworth
has the majority entirely at command, and that he
openly declares he will stick at nothing to be re-
veuged. They add further that he has held no
consulfation, since August ; transacting the Com-
pany’s affairs wholly by himself.

“The President’s private letter being wrote
after the General advices, that Ensigns Paddle
and Handlon were come over to Mr. Davenport,
and acquainted Lim that the Garrison was in
great confusion and most of them would follow,
if they were sure of aplace to resort to; that
they had received no pay for two months past,
whieh is very surprising to us considering that we
know they arc in cash, though they have kept the
aceount so loug from us,

« Agreed that orders be immediately sent to
Mr. Dxavenport to remain where he 1s, and see
what the Garrison will do ; that a party of sixty
chosen wmen be forthwith sent away to be landed
at Pondicherry for a guard to Mr. Davenport and
the others, against any sudden attempt of the
desparadoes ; and that a protest be drawn up
against Mr. Raworth for this unwarrantable way
of proceeding.”

¢ Thursday, 15th October. A general letter
from Henry Davenport Ezq., dated the 15th in-
stant read, advising that he has drapped declara-
tions and copies of his commission at the several
guards, which has had a very good effect and oc-
casioned many mef coming it ; that whole Gar-
rison seem inclinable to return to their duty, and

26
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that Lie has now so many men with him that he
is foreed to draw towards Tondicherry for assist-
anee to maintain them.

“ Agreed that it be an instruction to Henry
Davenport Esq., and Council to avoid as much as
possible coming to blows ; and not to attack any
party or post, unless obliged to it for their own
safety ; but to use all peaceable methods of re-
covering the men to their duty, promising them
full pardon und their arvears.

* Agreed that Mr. William Warre and the
Revd. Mr. George Lewis be immediately sent
down with proper instructions to persuade Mr.
Raworth to reason, by representing the ill conse-
quences that are likely lo attend bis rash way of
proceeding.”

 Monday, 19th October. The President lays
before the Board several letters from Henry Da-
venport Esq., advising that finding himself strong
enough he marched into the bounds on the !Tth
very peaccubly, finding all the out guards desert-
ed ; and that he put a serdeant with twenty men
into one of the most considerable to protect it
fromn the country enemy. After whichk he march-
ed to the Garden, where he found Ensign
Hobbs posted with about fifty men, whom he
summoned to their duty. Dut they absolutely re-
fused to surrender, and he woulkd not force them,
though it was very practicable, for fear of shed-
ding blood.  But while they were parleying, they
were saluted with a twenty-four pounder from the
Fort that fell within twenty vakds of Mr. Daven-
port, After which he marched away and took
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possession of Cuddalore, that was also entirely
deserted ; in their way being open to the Fort,
they were again saluted  with a  twenty-four
pourder, which fell among them, but by God’s
good providence did no harm. .

“ Agreed that Menry Davenport Esq. and
Council remain at Cuddalore, endeavouring to
save our bounds without committing any acts of
hostility, whilst AMr. Warre and Mr. Lewis are
endeavouring to terminate this unhappy affair ;
and that they do set the merchants to work as
fast as possble to procure Loeg Cloth and Sal-
lampores.”

“ Wednesday, 21lst October. The President
communicates a letter from Henry Davenport Esq.,
advising that he has put men into as many of the
ont guards as he can spare from Cuddalore.  But
that on the 18th instant Mr. Raworth sent a party
of horse to eat the men out ofCondapah Chonltry,
who dismonnted and summoned them within to sur-
render ; which being refused they fired upon them
and threw in several Granadoes, which wounded
some of the men and killed ouve outright. The Ser-
jeant that commanded immediately fired afield picee
with partridere shot, which killed two and wound-
ed three more of the attackers. Upon which the
rest fled, leaving five of their horses belind them.
The Serjeant being so near the Fort, and at least
six miles distanee from Cuddalore, dreading a
morc dangerous attack in the nmight, when he could
not be supported, yithdrew in time to  Cuddalore
and the five horses with him. Mr. Raworth jast
before the attack was made, fired three great shots
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at the Chouliry from Tevenapatem, which fell very
near them.”

Friday, 23rd October. “ A general letter from
Henry Davenport, Isq., and Council, dated the
19th instant read, advising that those who remain
in the Fort and at the Gurden withi Mr, Raworth,
are already reduced to such necessities that many
of them would get away if they could.

“ \ letter from Messrs. Warre and Lewis, dated
the 20th instant, read, advising their reception Ly
Mr. Raworth; that they had fairly laid all matters
before him as recowmended in our insttuctions.
Upon which he desired sometiue to consider there-
on, andd he would give them an answer in the
evening, seeming in very good temper ; that they
went to Cuddalore and returned to him about five
o’clock, when he very Driefly answered that pro-
vided the (Governor would come in person, he would
mmediately resign, upon condition that those who
had been faithful to him (as L calls it) should be
treated with superior respect to such as deserted.
Upon which they desived time to receive our
answer, and got his consent to forbear all acts of
hostility till then. This matter being debated,

« Agreed that as matters now stand here with
the Nubob, and considering the necessary prepara-
tions to fond our shipping that are expected carly
from Bengal, it is no way convenient for the Pre-
sident to leave this place ; especially when Mr.
Raworth iusists on such terms as are impossible
for us to conseut tn; since it i3 no better than
coufessing ourselves in the wrong, and encourag-
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ing others hereafier to follow this wicked and per-
nicious example,

*“It was also cousidered that if the Nahob
should come to 5t. Thomd, as is credibly reported,
the President cannot come back hither till Febru-
ary by sea; nor can he come by land withous pass-
ing through his camp at his mercy, since he cau
have no body of men with him fit to foree his way.

 Agreed that a letter be wrote to Mr, William
Warre and the Rev. Mr. George Lewis, requiring
them to see Mr. Raworth once more, and offer him
every thing that is in our power to graut, pro-
vided he will surrender quietly without any further
troubles or mischief.

¢ Agreed that a short commission be given Mr.
William Warre to receive the Giovernment at Mr.
Raworth’s hands, if he should conzent, and to
make ali easy, insisting only upon not sceing Mr.
Davenport before he comes away hither,

< Agreed that if Mr. Raworth does not aceept
the terms offercdl bim in owr letter of this dute,
Mr. Warre and the Rev. Mr. Lewis be permitied
to return.”

“ Wednesday, 28th October. General letter
from Messrs, Davenport : Warre and Lewis, dated
241h instant read, advising that the two latter
having been with Mr. Raworth that same day,
found him in mueh worse temper than ever pe-
remptorily declaring that he would resign the Fort
to none but the President himself,

“ A letter from Henry Davenport Esq. singly
of the same date Tead, wherein e says, he is very
well assured Mr., Raw orth will not (ielu er up even
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to the President himself, and that there is no way
but to starve him out.

¢ Sunday, 13t November. The President pro-
duces a letter from Mr. William Warre and the
Rev. Mr. George Lewis, dated the 27th, wherein
they say that though they must acknowledge
themselves uistaken as to Mr. Raworth’s sin-
cerity, they arc still of opinion, the Governor’s
presence would soon put an end to all  disputes.
The foremoing words being  considered and debat-
cd, and the President ﬂ(quﬂmtmﬂ‘ the Board that
I)y the last advices from Sunka Rama at Arcot,
matters are likely to be fairly accommodated with
the Nabob about the villages,

* Agreed that there seems an absolute necessity
for the President to set out for Fort St. David, ag
soon a3 the rivers will permil, in order to put an
end to the present troubles if possible before
further mischief is done,

¢ Agreed that a party of sixty men be despatch-
ed away before hand to Pondicher ry, for a guard
to wait the President’s arrival ; and that a hundred
Tagodas be advanced the enmgn to defray their
expenses.’

* Wednesday, 4th November. Thisevening the
Houorable President attended by the Rev. Mr.
Stevenson, Lieutenant Roach, and Messrs. Theo-
batds, Bulklev, Maubert, Nanney, Langlier, Tur-
ner, aud Richardson set ot overland for Fort St.
David.

¢ Triday, 6th November. A general letter from
the Honorable President and MY William Warre,

dated the 5th November, read, ecnelosing SC\CI"\]
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letters and papers the Homnorable President met
upon the Road, and advising that they Lave fired
six shots into Cuddalore from the Fort in one day,
but it pleased God they did no Jamage; that some
deserters daily came in, and that Ilenvy Davenport
Esq. bas possessed himself of Condapa Choultry
and Horse tail point, in order tu facilitate the
Honorable President’s entry into the Bounds,

* A meneral letter from Ienry Davenport, Esq.
and Council dated the 3rd instant rcad, wherein
they acruaint us that they were in great hopes Mr.
Raworth and his adherents, would by this time
have been reduced to a very low condition for want
of provisions. But that contrary to their expecta-
tions, aud to the promize made to the Deput
Governor from the Gentlemen at Poudicherry no
ways to assist them, of which he reminded Gover-
nor Dusivier in his letters dated 24th ultimo and
3rd instant ; notwithstanding which there wasa
chelinga sent them full of provisions. They fur-
ther advise the sloop, that was sent down with
stores for Cuddalore, as she passed hy Fort St.
David they fired three shots at her ; but that she
continued her course for the road and that Mus-
soolas were goune ofl {o bring the stores ashare,
They also remit us their account cash for the wmonth
of October, balance Leing six thousand three hun-
dred and nivety-five pagodas.

“ Thursday, 12ih November, Another of the
10th informs that after the hopes they had of
bringing matters 1g an end that they found Mr,
Raworth the same fickle and unfaithful man as
veer ; that they had sent the same persons in that



208 HISTORY OF M3DRAS. [1713—18.

morning with such terms as they thought ne
neither could nor would refuse ; but were strangely
surprized at their return to find he absolutely re-
fuzed what he gave under his band the day before ;
which was that it the Governor insisted he would
Lring the keys of the Fort where he pleased ; that
they had offered to venture into the Fort if
he would permit Captain Road to go in first with
fifty men for the Governor’s Guard.  For which
his answer was under his hand, that he would not
sitffer the Governor to enter with any guard, and
several other extravaganeies ; so that they can see
no hopes of his being brought to better temper
whilst he is able to hold out.”

s ““ Sunday, 22nd November. General letter from
ibe Honorable ldward Harrison Esq., Messrs.
Davenport and ¥arre dated 20th instant read,
wherein they sequaint us that having perused the
Fort 8t. David eash accounts from April 1712,
and by what they can learn from the Couneil &c.,
Mr. Raworth onght now to have a balance by him
of sevenleen thousand pagodas, which they took
to be onc of his chief reasons for acling in
this unaccountable manncy ; that Mr. Raworth
and  his  adherenis Deing cooped up in the
Fort and in want of provisions are very un-
easy ; that some desert him daily, but not
without the risk of their lives, They add that
on the 13th in the morning Mr. Raworth saluted
themn in the Garden with a fourteen pounder ; but
afterwards made an apology that a drunken Dutch-
man fired the gun, between sleeping and waking,
that happened to be pointed that way ; that on
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the 19th at night the President, beng accompani-
ed with all the Madras Gentleinen, went into
Tevenapatam to visit the men posted there ; and
having been for sometime in the streets, they were
briskly entertained from the batteries with all the
guns they could bring to bear, besides their smalt
shot, in the reach of which they happened to be ;
but by Good Providence no misclief was done ;
that they teturned them & Culverin salute from
Patcharee hill, which went through Mr. Raworth's
lodgings, as they learn from deserters ; that several
of the men sallied from the Fort, but were warmly
received, and two very dangerously wounded, which
made them return faster than they came out.”

“ Tuesday, Jst December. General letter from
the Honorable Edward Harrison, Esq. and M.
William Warre, dated 29th ultimo read, wherein
they acquaint us that they have not as yet brought
Mzr. Raworth to an accommodation ; and that they
are fearful they must be obliged to consent to his
going to Pondicherry to veside there and settle
his account; andif so Governor Dusivier is to
give his parole that in case satisfaction is not
given us in fifteen days he will deliver Mr. Ra-
worth to us at Fort 8t. George.”

«« Monday, Tth December. From the Honora-
ble President and My, Willlam Warre, dated the
2nd instant, advising but that that morning the
Honorable President entered the Fort, aceording to
articles of agreement passed between him and
Council and Mr. Buworth ; who received him at
the head of his rebellious crew in sueh a mauney
as none but Mr. Raworth could be capable of;

27
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seetning o wavs concerned for the many ill actions
he has  committet in this atloic,  There was a
hndred and thivty men wnder anns in the Fort, of
whom ciclty Burepeans, who seemod to be as
stout men az any in the Compauy’s  serviee.
Every thing was found in confusion ; which wilk
require the President’s longer stay than he expeet-
ed ; as also o settle the Garrison and separate
those he fonurd in the Fort, that it may not liere-
after be in their power to act ihe like again,”

“ Monday, Tth December.  Tlerry Daveuport
acquninig the Doavd, that be this afternonn receiv-
el pnivate letter fiomy the tlonorable  President,
datedl the 51, mlvising that Thomas Frederick,
Evq. apived at Port 3t Parv]l that nirht; and
that the nexi day inthe evening the -Honorable
Presitleat desizned to Jepset thence fur Yort St.
George, expeciing {o reach the Mount tu-morrow
night, where he desited the Gentlemen of the
Cuuncil woubl go and wait upon him.

« Momday, 21st December. The jollowing zene-
ral feitera raad.  Crom the Gavernoggef Pondi-
eherey Jdated 3uth instant (new siyle) advising
that Mr. Raworth, having publicly  demanded
their king's protection aml passage upon their
ships for France, which they cannot refuse him
withnut expoaing themselves to their king’s dis-
pleasure.

“ The Prestlent likewise produces a letter from
Father 'Thomas e DPnictiers! (apuchin of the
Charch here, witomn he has employed at Pondi-
cherry to solieit the Governor and Couneil on this
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aflair; wlherem the said Father Thomas advises
that one of the principal reasons why Mre. Raworth
refused fo come bitner and settle his acenunt wiih
us, was that hie had scen a letter from & member
of this Board to a persen at Foit 8t. David, men-
tioning that it was resolved o have him assassi-
nated.  Every member now present solemuly de-
clares, and offers to take his oath if required, that
he nrever mave him any such advices, nor ever
heard the Governor say gny thing tending ihat
way.

* The Governer for himself solemnly  protests
vefore UGod that he abliors the very thought of sa
barbarous an action ; theugh he can bring suifi-
cient proof that Mr. Ruworth, when Deputy Go-
vernor of Fort Su Duvid, did wore than onee
threaten the same to him.

“ 1t being debated what messures are most
proper {or us fu fake apon this extraordivary pro-
ceeding of the Governnr and Councils of Pandi-
cherry ; agresd that we defer coming to a resnla-
tion thereupon il Father Thomas relurns from
Pondicherry.”

* Thursday, 24th Deecniber. Mr. Taworth's
answer to the proposals made Mm in the Co-
vernor's name hy Padre Thome read which is full
of notorious falsities and calumny withot any
manner of ground or proof and of a piece with all
the rest of his behaviour, and npon the whole it
appears very  plain® that he will do or suffer any-
thing rather than come te a fair account for what
he has had under bis charge.”
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This extraordinary affair ended shortly after-
wards in Mr. Raworth’s departure to France ;
and it i3 a singular circumstance that he died at
Paris, just as the Directors of the Company were
preparing to prosecute him in England.
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CHAPTER XXVII.

GOVERNORSHIY OF MR. EDWARD HARRISON,
( Continred,)

171417,

Before proceeding further with our extracts from
the records of the Governorship of Mr. Edwurd
Harrison, it will be necessary to glance at the con-
temporary state of India. Shah Aulum, eldest
son of Aurungzebe, had died in 1712 ; and a
struggle ensued between his four sons which termi-
nated in the establishment of Jehandar Shah on the
throne of Delhi.  Jehandar Shah owed his eleva-
tion to the support of Zulfikar Khan, but his vices
rapidly lowered him in the eves of his subjects,
and excited the religious hostility of all who re-
spected the precepts of the Prophet. A drunken
sovereign, ruled by a concubine wha had once been
a public dancer, and frequently appearing in the
streets of Delhi in a condition which but too
plainly indicated his vices, was not the potentate
who couldd long hope to maintain his authority
over a distracted empire like that of the Moguls,
I'wo Sciads, or descendants of the Prophet, advo-
cated the cause of Feroksere, a nephew of Jehandar
Shah, Forees wele raised, the imperial army was
defeated, and Jehandar Shah and his minister
Zulfikar Khan were both 1aken and put to death,
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Teroksere now ascended the throne at Dethy,
anm ruled the ewpire from 1713 to 17200 His
reign thus eorresponds to abioud four years of the
Governorship of Mr. Hartison, and three years of
his successor My, Collett. [t is remarkable from
the fact that a mission was at this time sent to
el by the English Governor of Caleuuta ; and
many advantages, including the disputed out vil-
lages near Madvas, and the Zemindarship of some
villages In the neighbourhood of aleutta, were at
that time obiained from the Mouwul.  Vortunately
vopics of most of the oriinal dispatehes from the
Lualish envoys at Delln to the Covernors of Cal-
cutla and Madras, have been preserved in the
Madras rvecords ; and fhese docenients throw a
Hond of Jirht upen the initisues of the pariod, and
enable us tn obtain a clear picture of the court of
the Crear Mozul.  This mission arrived in Dellid
m 1715 and left it in 1717, and tiws extended
over a period of two years.  As it isa subject of
imperial interest rather than of lneal interest, we
shall not incorporate the narrative embodied in
the dispatehes.with the history of Mr. Harrizon's
administration, but reserve it for a {uture and sepa-
rate chapler.

As regards the changes more immediately effect-
ing the Madras Tresidency, we may remark that
Cheen Kulieh Khan, variously spelt in the recons,
Lad been appointed Subah of the Dekkan under
the title of Nizam-col-Moolk: an individual
whao is remarkable in the histdey of Southern 1n-
dia as the founder of the present kinmdoma of the
Dekkan,  Our old  friced Dawood Khban obtained
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the Soubahship of Guzerat in place of Goleonda,
but was killed in a battle a year or two alterwauds,
At the same time Sadatulla Khan continued
Nubol of the Carnatic, and effected the reduction
of the great forivess of Ginjee, which had been de-
fended by the son of that Serope Stneh, who has
already been introduced to our readers as the Rajah
who nearly sueccecded in capturing Fort 5t. Duvid.

We now turn to the loeal aunals of the Presi-
dency. The records of the remaining period of
Mr. arrison’s {overnurship contain but fow mat-
ters worthy of interest.  The reduction of Ginjuc
in 1714 is thus noticed in the consultation hooks,

 Suturday, Yth October 1714,  General letter
from the Deputy Governor and Council of Fort
St. David, dated the 6th iustant, advising that
our Nabol Sadatolla Khan had dwawa all his forces
round Ginjee, and summoncrd Serope Singh's son
to surrender, upon pretence of an order from Conrt
to take possession of that place ; which he refused
to do, and making a desperate sally will about
300 Rajpoots, was very near killing the Nabab,
baving cut the harness of his Elephant with his
own hands,  DBut umely suceour coming into
the Nabob’s rescue, Tejoh Sing, Serope Singl's
son, with Mohabut Khan and several others uf the
principal men belonging to Ginjee, were overpower-
ed and cut off, so that it is helieved Ginjee will
surrender in a few days.” On the 15th of Noven-
ber the news avvivest that Ginjee was captured by
Sadatulla Klian.

The following strange revelation appears in a
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petition adidressed by one Dr. Thomas to the Go-
vernor in Council, dated 9th November, L714.

*The humble petition of Doctor Thomas.
* Showeth,

* That vour petilioner’s father-in-law Lewis de
Melho in bis life time held a converse with one
of his slaves named Ignacia near the space
of thirty years; liviug with her ina scparate
house, end cntrusting the greatest part of his
estate in her hands, and taking ne notice of his
wife or daughter. DBut upon his death bed re-
penting himself of the ills he had done, he asked
pardon of his wife for his ill usage of her; and
declured that the said Ignacin had been the cause
of it by the power of medicines she bad given him,
and that he had delivered into her charge 2600
pazodas in money, besides jewels and medicines
of value.  And he did appoint and constitute his
said wife and daughter heiresses to his estate; as
appears by a certificate under the hand of the Rev,
Padre Paschall Pereiva de Cuntra.  But now so
it is, may it please your Honor that the said
Ignacia refuses to deliver up or give any account
of the said estate; though it can be proved hy
witnesses that she has divers things of a large value
as well as money In her possession. Wherefore
your petitioner, in behalf of his mother-in-law
Francisea and his wife Tsabella, humsbly prays that
your Honor will oblige the said slave to make s
true discovery and surrender of all those things in
her possession, belonging to the estate of the de-
ceased Mr. Lewis de Melho, that so they may
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have their right, and he as in duty bound shait
ever pray.”’

The Governor and Council ordered that the
goads should be secured, but referred the matier
to the decision of the heads of their Castes.

On the 1st of August, 1714, died Queen Anne,
and the crown of England thus descended io
George I The event passed off quictly and more
than cight months passed away before the news
reached Madras., It will be seen from the follow-
ing eutry, that the Presidency still kept carly
hours.

“TFriday, 8th Aprii, 1715. 'The letter read
advising the anfortunate death of Her lute Majesty
Queen Anne, and the happy accession of His most
serene Highness the Elector of Hanover and
Brunswick to the Tinperial crown of Great Britain
under the title of hing George ; at nine o’clock this
morning the Mayor and Aldermen, attended with
the proper officers and a company  of soldiers be-
longing to the Garrison, proctaimed his Royal
Majesty King George ; and at noon there was an
enterfaiminent made for the council and all the
chicf inbabitants of the place, at which his Royal
Majesty, the Prinee of Wales, the Royal fumily
and the Honorable Company’s healths were drank
and guns fived at each.”

The following extract concerning the Capuchin
Friars, is a curious testimony to their character at
1his time. ’

“ Monday, the 32th December 1715. * Ed-
ward Harrison Lsq., President of and for all the
Right Honorable United Epglish Fast India Com-

28
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peny’s affuirs on this coast of Coromandel and
Orissn, in the Ginjee and Mahratta countries,
Commander in Chicf of all the forces, which now
are or hereafier may or shall be employed for the
Service of the said United Company uoder this
Presidency, and Governor of the Fort St. George,
Bt. David, and Council. 7To all to whom these
presents shall come Greeting,

* Know ve, that the Reverend the Capucin
Fatlers of the French nation that officiate in the
Portuguese Church of this place, and others of the
same nation and order at Vondicherry that formerly
resided here, having made application to us for
our assistance to justify themselves from several
aspersions that have lately been cast upon them
in France by their inveterate euemies, in order to
blast their reputation and render them  contempti-
ble in these parts of the world, and having in order
thereto humbly proposed the following queries.

¢« lst. Whether the Capuein Yathers that have
dwelt and offiviated in this city of Madras from
the first seltlement to this time, viz. Ephraim de
Nevers, Zenon de Bauge, Cosme de Gien, Jaeques
de Bourges, Esprit de Tours, Laurent d’Engoule-
e, Michael Ange de Dourges, Rene d"Engouleme,
and Thomas de Yoitiers ; they or any of them ever
behaved themselves otherwise than beepme their
sacred function as Alissionaries and persons in
Religicus orders, or whether they have given any
cause for seandal by their deportinent.

< 2nd. Whether they have eper had any quarrels
or differences among themselves, which obliged
them to have recourse to our Tribunal for an ac-
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commedation, and particularly Father Esprit de
Tours with Father Michael Ange before mentioned.

¢ 3rd. Whether the Capucin Fathers of Madras
or those of Pondicherry, particularly Tather Esprit
de Tours, either now lave or cver had any noney
at Interest or otherwize in the Cash of the Right
Honorable Campany our 3lasters.

““ 4th. Whether Father Thomas de Poitiers, now
residing and officiating here, ever bought or sold
500 chests of Persin wine, as he is accused of
having done in the year 1713, or before or since
that time.

* To the first article we are obliged io declare
that the Capucia Fathers above namned, wha have
had the care of the mission in this city of Madras
from the first establishment thereof to the present
time by permission of our Right Honorable Mas-
ters, have always demeaned themselves in so hand-
some a manner, Loth in spivitual and femporal
aftairs, as to give no just cause of complaint to us
their representatives ; their conduct has been regu-
lar and agreeable to their profession, nor have we
ever heard of or remarked any action of theirs that
conld occasion the least seandal to their order.

“ To the second article, we never heard, nor
can we find upon examining our Registers, that
any of the satd Capucin Fathers, particularly the
persons before mentioned in this article, ever
had any difference, which obliged them to have re-
course to this or any other Tribunal here for a de-
eision. )

* To the third ar'{iclc, we must declare it to be
a notorious falsity that the Capucin Father of Ma-
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dras or Pondicherry, or of avy olher place, ever
had any money or effects at Intevest or otherwise
in the Rizht Honorable Company’s casle that we
know of.

“ To the fourth article, we know it to be very
false that Fulber Thomas de Poitiers bought or
solll 500 chests of wine dn 1713, either he or any
other of the samme order; and we farther certify
that none of the Capucins before mentioned have
ever been known to be concerned in any sort of
comwerce whatsoever. In witness whereof, we
have at their humble request given them this our
certificate, which could not in conscience be re-
fused. Done in Fort St. George this 12th day of
December 1715, sud sealed with the Right 1lonor-
able Company’s seal.””

From this testimony to the character of the
Capuchin Fathers we turn to the proceedings of
the Protestant inhabitants, The scheme set on foot
for a Charity School in Madras has already been
noticed ; and the following copy of the Rules will
be found eurious and interesting.

< Rtules for the better cstablishing and manage-
ment of the Charity School, erceted by the unani-
mons consent of the Vestry of 8t Mary’s parish
in Fort 81. George, on the 28th October 1715.

“‘[hat in some convenient place within the
English town, there be proper acconunodation made
at first for 30 poor Protestant Children, diet and
education gratis.

“ That the Scholars be traingd up to a practical
sense of religion, and be particularly instrueted in
the doctrines of the Chuich of England as by law
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established ; and therefore no person shall be
capable of being master of the School unless he be
qualified according to the acts of Parliament.

“That the childzen, whether boyvs or girls, shall
be taken into the School house at tive years of age
or thereabout ; and be put out to service or ap-
prenticeships when they are about 12 years old,
And while they are entertained in the Sechool, the
boys shall be taught to read, write, cast accounts,
or what they may Ue further capable of, and the
girls shall be instructed in reading and the neces-
sary parts of house wifery,

“ That no scholar shall be taken in, nor
any matter of moment transacted, without the
previous consent of the Honorable Governor for
the time being.

¢ That besides the Ministers and Church war-
dens, who shall always be overseers of the Charity
Sechool, there be three others chosen yearly by the
Vestry for the better management and more care-
ful inspeetion of the affairs of the School ; and in
order thercunto, that the satd overseers (or at least
four of them) meet every week at the Vestry, and
keep Minutes of what they agree upon (if it be of
any moment) to be laid before the Governor for
his approbation.

 That one of the overseers annually chosen by
the Vestry shall at the same time be nominated
Treasurer to the School, and be oblized to keep
exacet regular accoupts of the School stock and ex-
penses ; to be laid before every Vestry, and before
the other overseers, or any of the contributors,
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shall deliver a copy toour President, and send
a copy home to us ; and we desive our President
to order two of our Servants, together with our
Ministers, to examine the Books by the Catalogue
once a year ; that is to say some few days before
the Vestry is held and make their report at the
Vestry. It would be very proper also to put our
ehop on the said Books in the title page or first
leaf, to show to whom they belong, if they should
any of their happen to be stolen, and to stamp
our arms on the cover.”

The next extvact refers to an incident already re-
corded, from which it seems that at one time the
Mussulman inhabltants contributed to the support
of the Hindoo poagodas ; an arrangement which
was finally abolished during the Governorship of
Mr. liarrison,

¢« Monday, 16th January, 1716, Petition of the
Patan Merchants Inhabitants of this place, and
severnl others that trade hither annualiy {rom
Bengal; wherein they set forth the havdship of
Leing obliged, contrary to the rules of their religion,
to contribute to the maintenance of the Gentoo
Idols.

¢ This affair having formerly occasioned great
disputes and troubles, particularly onec in the
time of Governor Pitt, and again sinee the arrival
of the present (Governor ; at which time it was de-
cided in favour of the Gentos Pagoda upon ac-
count of its having been a custom of long stand-
ing, and that our Honorable Macters approved of
what was (lone in the time of J:. Pitt; but now
_ the Board being sensible it has oucasioned a great
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heart burning among the Patan merchants afore-
said, who annually import great quantitics of rich
goods from Bengal ; insomuch that we find they
begin to leave us and land their goods at St
Thomé, where the present Naboly has granted
them a Cowie with several valuable privileges,
and particularly that they shall pay no more than
2 per cent. custom :—it is thought high time to
use all means in our power fo make these people
easy aud prevent their forsaking us to settle at
5t. Thomd,

« Accordingly agreed that the President make for
them a Cowle for collecting that duty themsclves,
Kanakapill, of 25 cash for every pagoda, to be
applied to the maintenance of their own Mosque;
and to promise them all manner of favourable
usuge, and encouragement, if they contiuue to
trade hither as usual.”

The following extraordinary story of a common
soldier, who passed himself off #s a Chaplain, and
marrield himself to the daughter of his Captain
without her father’s cousent, is worthy of preser-
vation.

* Tuesday, 12th June, 1716, The worshipful
the Mayor acquaings the Board that  Captain Wil
liam, having cutered an action against Soln
Mitchel in  the Mavor Court for defaming
his daughter and deluding her by a putcndvd
marriaze, in which he oﬂmatod himself as 1'riest,
and Tushand.  Upon which a trial ensued, and
e proof being made by several sufficient wit-
nesses, as well as from the said Mitehelts origi-
nal letters ; the Court had respited jucgnent on

29
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account of his being in the Military service, till
the pleasure of this Board be known, what punish-
ment shall be inflicted in suck a case.

¢ The Board taking this matter into consider-
ation, it appears that the forementioned John
Mitchel came ount a soldier uwpon the last year's
ships to serve the Honorable Company the wsual
term of years. But pretending himselfl a regular
clergyman in Holy Orders, and titat he had serv-
ed some years Chaplain of one of her Majesty’s
ships of war, but was forced to abscond and fly
for these parts upon account of a debt contracted
by being bound for a brother in England ; which
circumstances inclining every body to compas-
sionate him {(though he brought no Orders with
him) he was taken off is duty as a Scldier, and
employed as Master to the Charity Schoal lately
established in this place, at a handsome salary,
with all fitting encouragement, besides a recom-
mendation to the Honorable Company in our last
general letter. But since that time he has been
guilty of many irregularities and scandalous ac-
tions, altogether unbecoming the profession he
pretends to; many of which appear under his
own hand, and others are proved by undoubted
testimony, and particularly his unwarrantable ae-
tion of marrying himself clandestinely. Wherefore
the Board thinks fit to come to the following re-
solutions concerning him.

¢« That the said Mitchel, if in holy orders (as
he pretends but cannot prove), has basely seanda-
lized the priesthood by an irregular and unheaxd
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of way of marrying himself to a woman, and ab-
solutely against her father’s consent.

* That the Board is not obliged to regard him
otherwise in this case than a soldier, cnlisted in
the Honorable Company’s service upon the usual
terms, and that he ought to be punished accord-
ingly.

““ That however as he has appeared under the
notion of a clergyman, and been entertained as
School Master, it will not be proper to expose him
to public punishment in the eye of the natives ; and
not having wherewithal to make just satisfaction
io the persons he has injured, it is agreed that the
said John Mitchel, Centinel, do give sufficient
security for his good behaviour ; or else that he be
kept under confinement till opportunity offers to
send him off the place for Europe.”

Mr. Edward MHarrison left the Madras Presi-
dency on the 8th January 1717, upon which the
governorship fell to Mr. Joseph Collett.  The Jast
months of his administration and the opening
months of the administration of his successor were
occupied by another of those strange disputes
between the Right and Left Hands, which furnish
such curious illustrations of the character of the
people.  We have already brought forward the
nartative of more than one of these caste riots ;
but some curious particulars are recorded in con-
nection with the present disturbance which are
worth preserving.

Tt may help the jeader somewhat if we mention
that in olden times the Chetties and Comatees
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bad separate streets and separate idols ; the Chet-
ties belonging to the Left Fland Caste and the
Comatees to the Right 1land. A Comatee could
never enter a Chetty street except by permission
of the Chetties, and then he could net enter it
in a carriage, or a palanquin, or even with shoes
on his feet. A Chetty was  also probibited in the
same manner from entering a street belonging to a
Comatee. The present dispute scems to have
arisen in consequence of a Comatee having pre-
sumed to offer ceremonics to an idol belonging
#o the Chetties.

‘* F.iuay, 12th October 1716. A dispute hav-
ing arisen between the Chetty and Comatee or
Banian castes, about some ceremonies at their
feasts, the former pretending that the latter have
usurped several titles belonging to them, and per-
formed some ceremonies before an image that they
have no night to do.  7The heads of the Right and
Left Haud eastes were called in, and acquainted
that the Board is very nnwilling to intermeddle in
any business of this nature, which they cannot
pretend to wnderstand ; and therefore they are
strietly enjoined to keep the peace ameng them-
selves, and by no means to disturb the quict of
the place, upon pain of forfeiting the 12,000 pago-
das mentioned in the agreement between the castes
in consultation the 21st of June, 1708. They
were further required to choose a number of per-
sons out of the neutral caste to decide their differ-
ences without further delay by fair arbitration ;
which the Left Hand side readily agreed to, but
the Right Hand insist to choose ont of their own



14— HISTORY OF MADRAS, 229

caste, and a number of Brahmins®* besides ; which
the Board judees to be unreasonable and therefore
orders them to choose ten Brahmius for each party,
and to enter into arbitration bonds without fuwrther
delay.”

“ Monday, 15th October. The President ac-
quaints the Board that upon summoning the heads
of the Comatee and Chetty castes (o sign their
arbitration bonds according to order of last con-
sultation, they flew off from their agreement ; the
Comatees insisting to eloose out of all the Right
Hand castes, which are of their own side. Con-
sequently the Left Hand would be over-powered
by numbers, and therefore refuse to comply.
Whereupon we were obliged to confine them all
to the Merchants Gotlowns till they ecan come to
some agreement among themselves ; the distur-
bance daily increasing in the Black Town ; and the
Painters of Triplicane, that had the Honorable
Company’s work in hand, having deserted their
habitations.”

“ The leads were agaiy called in, and the ill
eonsequence of this foolish dispute fairly laid be-
fore them ; but all persuasions being to no pur-
pose, they were again remanded to the Gedown.”

* Thursday, 18th October. Colloway Chetty
appears as the Head of the Chetty caste, and
makes an offer of having the differcnce between
them and the Comatees decided among the heads
of all their costes in the country ; by means of

* The Brahmins are the neutral caste ; they belonging
neither to the Right’Mand nor to the Left Handd,
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Deputies to be sent from hence ; which appearing
to be a reasonable expedient, it is agreed to let
the parties concerned have their liberty, in hopes
they will come to an accomodation in this way.”

* Thursday, 25th October. The President ac-
quaints the Board that when afl things seemed in
a fair way towards an accommodation belween the
castes, the following accident happened on the
21st instant,

** A young lad of the Left band caste having
done hurt to a Pariah woman of the Right hand
castes (big with child), the whole caste got
together end came in a tumultuous manner to de-
mand justice, Upon examining the matter, he
ordered the offender to close confinement, promis-
ing the heads of the caste to do them justice when
it should appear whether the woman would die or
live. 'they secmed satisfied, and the crowd was
dispersed. But in the night, without amy further
provocation, they got together again ; and all sueh
as serve under the Honorable Company and the
English Inhabitants, deserted their Employs;
such as Cooks, water hearers, coolies, palankeen

!boys, roundel men (umbrella carriers) and other
'useful servants; and arming themselves with
pikes, daggers, and long staves, made a grievous
uproar in the Black Town ; stopping all the water

* from coming in, and committing many other dis-
orders. The Captain of the Guard, with the Stew-
ard and several others, were sent to them to de-
mand their reasons for making such an uproar ;
and finding they were headed by several peans in
the English service, they seized two of the ring-
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leaders a1d brought them to the Governor, who
are secured in irons till further order.

* The Heads of the Right Hand Caste are or-
dered to go immediately and acquaint them that
we will make any shift without them rather than
submit to such usage; and not a man of them
shall ever be taken into service again, if they do
not forthwith disperse and return to their duty ;
also to let them kunow that orders are given at all
the guards to fall upon them if they commit any
disorder, or draw near in a body where the guards
are posted.”

* Thursday, 1st November. The Painters that
deserted Triplicape, as mentioned in consultation
the 15th ultimo, on aceount of the caste disputes,
bave made some overtures towards returning to
their habitations ; but at present insist on such
unreasonable terms, that the Board cannot comply
with them, considering that they ran away without
any just provocation, and on purpose to distress
us in our affairs.”

“ Friday, 16th November. The President ac-
quaints the Board that he has intercepted a vilain-
ous letter or Cojan, wrote by sowe of the Right
hand castes to the TPainters that deserted Tripli-
cane and now reside at St, Thomé ; wherein they
are encouraged to insist upon unreasonable terms,
and promised to be supported with money for their
expenses, in hopes of creating further disturbances.
Those that write the letter are inconsiderable per-
sons, but he hopes to discover those that set them
to work. In the mean time all possible diligence



232 HISTORY OF MADRAS. {1716=5,

is used to reconcile those unhappy disputes and
prevent future trouble.”

“ Monday, 10th December. The President ac-
quaints the Board that though be hoped all things
would have continued quiet between the eastes,
upon a resolution formerly taken to have the con-
troversy decided by the heads of them that reside
in the country ; the Chetties have this day shut up
all their shops, and called all the coolies from their
work that belong to thety caste ; and that he has
employed proper persons to enquire into the mean-
ing of it, which he will lay before the Board in
next consultation.”

 Thursday, 20th December. The President
produces a petition delivered last night Ly the
heads of the Chetty caste, that have for sometime
shut up their shops and refused to do any business.
The substance of the said petition is, that they
have already complained of the Comatees singing
their Naggarum before the idol named Chindadry
Piblarry (Ganesha, the © Belly God™) ;* and that
their caste peaple in the country have heard of it,
and threaten to turn them out if they suffer such
abuses. Wherefore they desire the matter may be
deculed by the Brahmins (who are the fittest per.
sons to do it); otherwise they eannot continue i
this place ; and that a houd of 12,000 pagodas on

* The Naggarum iz the verse which is addressed to
Ganesha ¢ the remover of hindrances,” before under-
taking any kind of Lusiness or engaging in any allair
Naggarum is properly the name of the langnage rather
than of the verse. The complairt here made was that
the Comatees recited their verse before a Chetty Pageda
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botl sides may be signed to stand to the said Brah-
min’s award.

** Agreed, that since the Comatee and Chetiy
castes cannot be persuaded to reconcile their ditfer-
ences by the heads of their own or any otlier
castes, the Board will on Monday morning next
hear the opinion of all neutral persons among the
inhabitants, and endeavour to determine the matter
in dispute so as will hest secure the peace and
quiet of the place.

Monday, the 24th December, 1716, < The
heads of the Chetty and Comatce castes being
summoned made their appearance, aud a great
number of witiesses were examined coneeruing
the ceremony in dispule, whether the Comatees
have a right to ery out their Naggarum (Sanscrit
hymn) before the Chindadey Pillary Pagoda or not.
After three hours spent in vain codeavouring Lo
persuade them to come to some agreement amang
themselves, the Board deferred the affair till next
meeting.”

« Monday, 7th Jannary 1717. The President
(Bdward Harsison Esq.} being ready to embark
for Great Britain, proposes to the Board the best
method that he can think of, after having discours-
ed with all the principal inbabitants “of the place
that are not actually engaged in the dispute now
afoot between Comatee and Chetty castes, for
putting an end to all fulure trouble; and tie
Board npon reading them came to the following
resefutions.

“That for anytldng that has yet appeared the
Comatees, may crv out their Yennagundoo Nag-

30
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garum at their houses, feasts, weddings &e. accord-
ing to Salabad, but not before the Pagodu of Chin-
dry Pillary, till that matter can be decided in the
manner hereafter mentioned.”

** That whereas the Comatees did agree before
this Board to defer the matters in dispute to 20
Brahmins, which are the neutral caste; ten of
which to be chosen by the Comatees and ten by
the Chetties ; though they went from their word
pext morning, and insisted upon joining some of
their own Right Hand caste, when they found the
Chetties were willing to comply ; the Board think
it just for the Company’s and their own honour,
that the Comatees shall be obliged to make good
their promise by referring the ceremonies in dis-
pute to 20 Brahmius as before mentioned.

“That in case of any foul play by the 20 Brah-
mins that shall be chosen on this occasion, upon
full proof thereof being made, the parties aggrieved
shall have justice done them.

¢« That in case the Comatees refuse to comply
with their first promise of areference to the Brah-
mins, the image of the Chindadry Pillary Pagoda
shall be removed to the great Gentoo Pagoda ; and
to prevent all future disputes the Chindadry Dil-
lary Pagoda shall be shut up for ever,

“ That, whereas great numbers of these smail
Pagodas have been cland estinely built without
the knowledge or permission of the Governmeut,
and more are daily begun, which tend to raise
¢hsputes among the eastes, none shall be built
henceforward without the perfiission of the Go-
vernor and Couneil.



-7 HISTORY OF MADRAS. 235

* That no colours for the future shall be used
at any feast in Madras, but the English, commonty
known by the name of St. George’s colours, with
a white field and a red cross.

“ That the Pedda Naik shall be Overseer of the
Pariah caste, and take care to keep them in due
obedience ; and that no other person shali pre-
tend to summon or have any command over them.

* That whoever shall hereafter presume to stir
up the castes to mutiny or desert on account of
the disputes between the Comatees and Cleities,
oF any other such frivolous pretence ; such person
or persons, upen full proof being made before the
Board, shall forfeit the Honorable Company’s pro-
tection, be rendered incapable of any employ in
their service, and fined at the discretion of the
Board.

* These resolutions will be pursued by the suc-
ceeding President and Council, unless any unfore-
seen difficulty should arise to occasion an  alter-
ation in opimion ; and there is good reason to
hope that all matters will be fairly accommodated
by the Brahmins.”

“ Wednesday, 8th January, 1717. Early this
morning the Honorable President, Edward 1larri-
son Esq., embarked upon Ship “ King George,”
for Great Britain ; upon which the Government of
this place fell to the lonorable Joseph Collett
Esq. pursuant to the Honorable Court of Diree-
tor’s appointment in their general letters by the
Yast ships.”

* Tuesday, 224 Januarv, 1717. The President
reports that he has received an answer from Col-
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loway Chetty and Collastry Chetty to the sum-
mons affixed yesterday at the gates to this purpose :
that they would not return unless we would oblige
the Comatees to refer the differences belween
them to 20 Braluuins as formerly proposed.
 Agreed that although we had determined, if
the Chetties had stayed for our decision, to have
veferred the matter as they propose, yet that now
it 1s not fit to make such an agreement with them
in order for their return for the {ollowing reasons.

“ First, the lmmediate cousequenee would be
that all the Comatces, and probably scveral

_other tribes of the Right Hand easte, would descrt
the place upon our making suel a coudescention
to the Chetties, on condition of their returning ;
hy which we should be dreve to greater siraits
that we are or can bu by the desertion of the
Cheitics,

“ Secondly, such a condescention would so far
encrvate awl weaken our authority, that we should
never after be able to govern the scveral castes
with any steadiness ; who would be ready on
every occasion to threaten us with a desertion, by
which they would govern us at their pleasure.

“ For these reasons we think it necessavy to
nssert our authority, and either to force them to a
compliance, or take what satisfaction we can get
out of their estates.”

““ Ordered that the Warehouse keeper, assisted
by one of the board alternately, remove the mast
valuable wures belouging to the said Chetties into
the Fort godown ; and take a® exact account of
them ; there being large quantitics to a consider-
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able value. By which means we bope to frighten
the Chetties into a subunission, and return ; or
otherwise to obtain some satisfuction cut of their
estates for the damages that may acerue to the
Honcrable Company by their desertion.

* Ordered that an attachment of moneys due
from any iuhabitant of Madras, whether Liuro-
peans or others, to any Chettics now  deserted, be
afhixed at the Sm Gate ; with a declaration tlmt
whoever shali pay any such debrs alter this publi-
cation to any of the said Chettics, ot their order,
shall be ubllued to repay the same to the Honor-
able Lompau_\

These resolutions appear to have rought mat-
ters to a conciusion ; and the President according-
ly drew up the follomnn agreement.

Thursday, 7th Fehrumv 1717, ¢ We, Joseph
Collett I‘,bq , President and Couneil of Iott Bt
George, in order to determine and put an end to
the differences whieh have beeu for sometime past
between the Comatee and Chetty castes, and also
to prevent all public disturbance of the like kind
for the future, do hereby appeoint and order for
determination of the preseat  ditfercoces, that the
Cowmatee shall have the liberty of saving the en-
pagundoo Naggarum, ov any other of their titles,
before the pagoda within the T'illarry ov any other in
the Right Hand streets; and that the Chetties shall
have hl)Ll‘l\ of rehearsing their titles, or saying
their \'1;:,9,. rum, before any pagoda in the Left
Ihand streets. Dot that the Cowatees shall not
say the Noggaruw® in the Left hand  streets, nor
shail the Chetties say their Naggarum in the Right
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liand streets, And we do hereby further order
that neither the Comatees nor the Chettics
shafl have the liberty of saying their Nagsa-
rum or rehearsing their titles before the great
Gentoo Pagoda. And for preventing disturb-
ance of the like kind for the future, we do
hercby forbid all persons whatsoever, building
any new pagodas in any part of this city with-
out leave first obtained of the President and Coun-
cil. Wedo also forbid any flags to be used in
the public procession and solemnities by any of
the castes whatsoever, besides St. George’s flag;
that is a flag with a white field and a red cross.
We do herehy publish and declare that it any in-
habitants of this city do on anv prelenee, grievance,
or any differences umongzst thewselves whatsoever,
desert their habitations, and go out of the Honor-
able Company’s bounds, withont leave from the
Governor ; before they have applied themselves to
the {iovernor and Council for redress, or before
the said (itferences shall be determined in such
manner as shall be appointed by us, and shall re-
fuse to return being swmwoned ; shall forfeit their
estates to the lonorable Company and be put out
of their protection.”

Four days sfterwards the termination of the dis-
pute is thus recoriled in the consultation books.

« Monday, 11th February, 1717. Colloway
Chetty, Collastry Chetty and Mino Chetty, the
heads of the Chetties that lately deserted to St.
Thomé, being come back again appeav before the
Board, and ask pardon for thembelves and the rest
of their caste, requesting they may be permitted
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to live under the Honorable Company’s protection
and enjoy their ancient liberties as Inhabitants,

 Agreed that their request be granted, upon
their depositing in the Honorable Company’s cash
for 12 mounths the sum of 4,000 pagodas for their
good bebaviour ; and the heads of the caste sizn-
ing the law lately established,

 Agreed that an interest Lond of this day’s
date at 8 per cent. per annum be given to Collo-
way Chetty und Collastry Chetty for the 4,000
pagodas deposited as before mentioned ; and that
the warehouse keeper do deliver them up all their
bonds, papers, accounts and poods a5 soon as eon-
veniently he can; and the remainder of their
money shall be paid them after the account of
charges we have been at on their accouut can be
made up.”
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CHAPTER XXVIIL

ENGLISH MISSION FROM CALCUTTA TO DELHI.
1715—17.

Before proceeding farther with our annals of the
Madras Presidleney, we shall devote a chapter to
the consideration of an event, which is not only
intercsting in connection with the carly fortunes of
the Linglish on the coast of Coromandel, but which
marks un epoch in the history of all the English
settlements in India, — in Calcutta and Bombay, as
well as in Fort St. George and Fort 3t. David.
This event 13 one to which Mr. Orme and Mr.
Mill have each devoted a page of their respective
historics, but yvet which we have reason to helieve
ia but little known to the majortty of cither Eng-
Iish or Indian readers. It appears that about a
century and a half ago, a mission was sent from
Caleutta to Delli, to earry a valuable present to
the Great Mogul, and to endeavour to remove cer-
tain grievances which affected the several Presi-
deneies, and proeure sueh advautages as could be
obtained by bribery or cajollery from the Durbar.
This mission was entrusted to two of the English
Factors at Caleutta, Mr. John Surman and Mr,
Edward Stephenson ; and with them were joined
an Armenian named Cojes Serhaud, and a surgeon
named Hamilten. These gentlemen remained at
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the Court of the Great Mogul for more than two
vears, during which they sent frequent dispatches
to Caleutta, and some few to Madras and Bom-
bay. Copies of most of them however appear to
have been forwarded to Fort St. George, and were
entered from time to time in the consultation
books. Accordingly it has been the good fortune
of the present wrter to exhume these mouldering
dispafches from the ol manuseript records in the
Government Office of this Presidency. We shall
not however publish them in detail, for whilst a
large portion refers {o discussions which have long
since lost all interest, another portion is wanting,
and could only be recovered by a collation of the
records at Calcutta with those of Fort St. George.
We shall therefore simply review these old letters
by the light of contemporary history ; eombining
our extracts and illustrations in such a manner as
will best serve to render the narrative an interest-
ing picture of the times.

But what were the times? We candidly ex-
press our belief that in the present day there are
sery few who either know or care to know. Indian
histories, whether of Hindoo or of Mussulman, are
generally regarded with a distaste highly flavoured
with contempt. The reason of this is obvious.
Qur historians generally fail altogether to exeite
our interest or enlist our sympathies. Many can
dwell upon the picturesque pages of old Orme
with the liveliest emotions. There the intrigues and
treacheries of Native princes derive a powerful
interest from the fact that the genius of our own
countrymen, and perchance of our own great-grand-

31



242 HISTORY OF MADRAS, sy,

fathers, triumphed over all. Arcot and Plassey are
to us still spirit stirring names ; and a host of riclk
associations still hang round the old Fort et
Vellore, and the precipitous heights of (Ginjee.
But who cares to read the history of Ferishta *
Who cares to peruse that dreary chbronicle of
Mussulman dynasties wlho have long since withered
in their tombs ? We may vet exult in the triumphs
of Englishmen over Mussulman, Mahratta, or
Pindarce ; but neither Mill, nor Elphinstore, nor
any one "else, has hitherto sneceeded in exciting
our interest in the old wars between Mussulman
kings and Hindoo Rajabs,—in old religious dissen-
sions between Sheahs and Sonneahs, Vaishnavas
and Saivas,—or even in those seraglio stories of
murder and sensuality which pervade oriental his-
tory in every direction. TYet the tire has been
when the anuals of historians like Ferishta were
the delight alike of people and of princes; whem
every Mussulman throughout the land lstened to
tha old annals of (Ghazni and Delbi, of Bijapore,
Goleonda, or Berar, with 2n eothusiasm only to
be surpassed by that with which the Jew listens
to the chronicles of the kings of Israel and Judah,
and to the inspired traditions of Jernsalem and
Samaria. ILiven the very sames of places and of
men, names which are a positive torture to Eng-
Yish eyes and ears, would awaken his feeiings aud
sympathies, in the same way that the hearts of the
old Scottisli eavaliers warmed at the pames of
Dundee, Montrose, or Killieerankie.

We believe that this evil wolld be 1emedied if an
historian possessed larger sympathies as well as
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a larger persoual acquaintance with the country
and the people; if he appealed to the affections
as well as to the judgment ; if ina word he not
only familiarised himself with those differenees
which are the result of a peculiar history and a
peculiar culture, but also with all those complex
desires and passions, in which all men can sympa-
thize because they are common to all the great
family of meukind.

The story which we are about to relate is one
which ought to largely excite the interest of our
readers. Tbe vear 1715, the very vear that the
Highlanders and the Pretender rose against king
George, the two English Factors, together with
the Surgeon and the Artaenian, set out from Cal-
cutta to Delki. The character of the honest
Factors is reflected in every page of their dispatch-
es. They displayed none of the enlightened curio-
sity of a Clavijo at the court of Timour, or of a
Bernier at the court of Aurungzelbe; but they
were shrewd practical business wen; and they
went out like members of a Chamber of Com-
meree, eager to obtain eertain privileges, which
would not ouly redound to the advantage of their
honocarable emplovers, Lut to their own eredit and
reputation. In Caleutta they desired some protec-
tion against the oppressions of the Nabob of Ben-
gal, and permission ta pucchase more villages. In
Madras they desive Lo recover the out villages, which
had been granted in former vears, but which had
been sinee resumed by the Nabob of Areot. In
Surat they wanted to pay a fixed yearly rent in
view of the customs levied by the Mogul gover-
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nor. A few other similar privileges they desired
to obiain, which were of considerable importance
in those days, but which would excite no interest
now. In o word they went, not as political envoys,
but as petitioners. Neither one of them had ever
been to Delli before, but stitl they were not without
Indian experiences, They had formed an exalted
idea of the wealth and power of the Great Mogul;
aud they knew something of the character of the
Omrahs or nobles at the Court of Delhi. Jaf-
fier Khan, the Nabob of Bengal, was himself a
good type of an Omrah ; a man who rose from
nothing, by that happy mixture of intrigue and au-
dacity, which is peculiar to the Asiatic. Originally
he had been a mere Tartar adventurer, who had
rapidly risen in the army during the wars in the
Dekkan, and had subsequently been appointed
Dewan, or comptroller of tinance, in Bengal. At
that time, Prince Azim, the grand son of Aurung-
zebe, was Nabob or Subah of Bengal; and
when the sovereign died, Azim and his three
brothers plunged into a war for the imperial
throne. Azim was slain, and Jaffier seized the
happy moment for appeinting himself to the Na-
bobship ; and this post he managed to retain un-
til it was not thought worth while to remove him.
Towaris the LEnglish Jaffier had acted the part
of a petty tyrant. e had insisted upon searching
their goods which were sent up country, and in
levying exactions in that arbitrary manner which
is especially offensive to Englishmen. This was
one of the grievances for which Mr. Surman and
Mr. Stephenson now hoped to obiain redress ;
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and it was therefore expected that the influence of
Jatfier Khan wonld be exercised to the utost to
impede the success of the mission at Delhi.

But to return to the narrative of the mission.
For some reason not explained, the hottest part of
the year had been chosen for the jowrney. The
envoys left Caleutta in April 1715, and reach-
ed Dethi on the Tth of July, after a three months
journey. The report that they were carrying a
large present to the Great Mogul, secured them an
escort from the Governors of the different pro-
vinces through which they passed ; and they even
travelled through the district of the Jauts, wlo at
that time were regarded as the most dangerous of
robbers, without meeting with any serious mis-
chance. The day after they reached Delhi, they dis-
patched a letier to Mr. Hedges, the Governor of
Calcutta, from which we wake the following extract.

** We passed the country of the Jauts with stccess,
pot meeting with much trouhle, except thal ouce in
the night rogues came on our Camp, but Leing repuls-
ed three times they left ws. We arrived at Phwor-
dabad the 3rd instant (July), where we were met by
Padre Stephanung, bringing two seerpaws, which were
received with the usual ceremony by John Surman
and Cojee Serhand. The 4th we arrived at Eaora-
})oola, three coss from the city, sending the Padre be-
ore to prepare our reception. that if possible, we
might visit the king the first day, even before we
went to the house which was got for us.  Accordingly
the 7th in the morning we made our entry with very
good order ; there leing sent a Munsubdar of two
thousand Munsub, with about 200 horse aud peons, to
meet us ; bringing likewise two elephants and flags,
About the migdle of the city, we were met by the
Seiad Sallabut Khan Bahadur, and were by him con-
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ducted to the palace, where we waited till about 12
o’clock till the king came out. Before whicl time we
wet with Khan Dowran Baliadar, who received us
very civilly, assuring us of his protection and good
services, We prepared for our first present, viz. 1001
gold Mohurs, the table clock set with precious stones,
the unicorn's horn, the gold escritore bought from
Zoudee Khan, the large piece of ambergreese, the
astoa and chelumgie Manilla work, and the map of the
world. These, with the Honorable the Governor's
letter, were presented, every oue holding something ia
Lis hand as usual John Surman received a vest and
Culgee set with precious stoues ; and Serhaud a vest
and Cunger set with preciousstones likewise, amid the
great pomp and state of the kings of Hindoustan. We
were very well received ; and on our arrival at our
house, we were entertained by Seiad Sallabut Khan with
dinner sufficient botl for us and vur people. In the even.
ing he visited us again and stayed about 2 hours. The
great favour Khan Dowran is in with the King givea
us hopes of success in this nndertaking. He assures
us of his protection, and says the King has promised
us very great favours. We have received orders first
to visit Khan Dowran as our patron ; after which we
shall e ordered to visit the Grand Vizier and other
Omraks. We would have avoided this, if we eould,
fearing to disoblige the Vizier ; but finding it not
feasable, rather than disoblige one who has heen so
servickable, and Ly whose means we expect to obtain
our desires, we comply with it.”

On the seventeenth of the same month, Mr.
John Surman dispatched another letter to Go-
vernor 1edges, from which we make an extract
showing the farther proceedings of the mission.

* We have lately sent to your Honor the good news
of our safe arrival here, the visit of the King. and the
civil treatment wa met with, all which will without
doubt be very welcome news, We have since visited
several Omrahs, as the Vizier (Abdutla Khan) and

1
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Khan Dowran, and Tuckrub Khan ; where we were
received with all the rispect that could be expectsd,
and gives me some hopes that all will end well ; but
what gives me the mnst encouragement (for I am well
acqusinted these nobles, as long as they are expecting
to pet any thing are always complaisant) is that the
wmethods we are at present taking is consistent and
with the advice and counsel of Zuwdee Khan. We
visited that gentleman the 11th current, and met with
the same treatment he has always given to English-
men, with the highest acknowledgments of the favoury
he has received from them, that as yet he had never
beeu able to retaliate any of them, but hoped he had
now an epportunity of doing something, He pressing-
Iy advised us to do nothing without the advice, coun-
s¢l, and order of Khan Dowran and the main instra-
ment of our affairs) Seiad Sallabut Khan ; that the turn
of atfairs at the Durbar obliged ws to it. This, which
he told us by word of mouth, he wrote me when I sent
your Homnor's letter to him. Weare convinced he
adviges like a friend, and we are intent on the method,
but at the same time very cautions, how we any ways
disoblige the Vizier ; we being very sure that Zowdee
Khan was very intimate there, sent and advised him
when we intended to visit, that he would use his
interest for our better reception, intending to manage
the Durbar by his means. He assured us that we
might be satisfied as to the important Durbar. The
Ezod prospect we have of onr affairs makes Cojee Ser-

ud verﬁ good humoured, and at present tractable,
in hopes he shall obtain his promised reward and con-
sidered that every thing is come to its crisia. 1 take
particular care that he remains so, and as much as
possible persuade every one with me to do the like ;
which I fear gains me but little pood will. But as
Lassmn must now be curbed, except we exrect to be

ughed at, we must be very circumspect in our ac.
tions and counsels,”

Three days afterwards Mr. Surman and M.
Stephenson dispatched another letier to Governor
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Hedges, complaining of {he invalidity of their let-
ters of credit, and the difficulty they had in ob-
taining money, which they felt to be the main-
spring of their negociations. But befare follow-
ing the course of their proceedings, it may be as
well to glance at the contemporary state of the -
court at Delhi.

The Moguls were Mussulmans, but they were
rltogether a different race from the first Mahomme-
dan congquerors of Asia. They were Tartars, whilst
thetr predecessors were Arabs or Afghans. During
the Afzhan period the Mussnliians had establish-
ed several large and independent kingdoms both in
Hindustan antt the Dekkan.  During the Mogul
period, these independent kingdoms were brought
under the supremacy of one sovereign—the great
Mogul who reizned at Delhi.  The Afghan supre-
macey dates back to the time of William the con-
queror.  The Mogul period only commenced in the
sixteenth century, about the time of Henry VIII,
It reached its zenith in the reign of Aurungzebe,
who ronguered the last Afghan dynastiesin the
Dekkan, and who died in1707, after having flourish-
ed from the time of Oliver Cromnwell to that of
Queen Anne.  But at the very momenl when the
power of Aurungzebe seemed to extend from the
Timnalayas to Comorin, a new enemy had arisen.
The old Hindoo nationality flashed out in the Mah-
rattas, and the Mahrattas resisted Aurungzebe until
the day of his death. From that hour the Mognl
empire was on the deeline. It became a prey to
disorders of every kind, to wafs without and wars
within. 1t was threatened by the Sikhs on one side,
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ad by the Malirattas on the other.  Moantime
the country was desolated by luternal strugeles.
No sooner lad Aurungzebe departed this file than
his sons plunged into a desperate conflict for the
throne, which terminated in the deatht of all save
his fortunate suceessor and survivor Shal Aubaw.
The latter diedd in 1712, and then another conflict
arose between his sons, which likewise termiuated
in the death of all, save a drunken and depraved
wretch named Jehandar Bhah.  The new sovercign
was vven toeo bad for Delhi. A sort of relizious re-
volution was got up by two Seciads, or descendants
of the Prophet, who were brothers; and after
another desperate stimgyle Teroksere, a nephew of
Jehandar Shali, was plaecd upon the throne.

Feroksere was thus the reizning sovereign when
the English mission arrived at Dethi.  His great
aim was to eseape from the thraldom of the two
Seiads, through whom he had obtainad the empire.
These two Seiads had been amply rewarded. Their
names were Abdulla and Hussein,  Abduila was
made Vizier, and Hussein was made Bukshi, or
pavmaster of the forces. We may add that the
Ouwrabs of the Court were as ready as their roval
master to procure the vuin of the two Seiads.
Amongst these must be especially mentioned a
particular favourite of the king, named Ewir Sum-
{a. But as we shall see, all their machinations and
intrigues  were defeated by the energy and genius
of Hussein.

It will have been scen by the extracts alremdy
wade from the desphtelies, that the great friend of
the English at the court was an Omrah named

32
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Zowdee Khan, the same who had carried on au
amicable coreespondence with My, Pitt, the former
Governor of Madras. By his adviee, the envoys
endeavoured {0 obtain the favour bath of Ab-
dulla, the Vizier, and of a powerful nobleman
named Khan Dowran.  But Khan Dowran was a
styong supporter of ITanir Jumla, and & great
enemy of the Vizier. This clicunstance, amd
others which will be presently uoticed, served to
delay the negociation of the English envoys for a
vory considerable period,

The inlvigues against the two Scinds were in
full play at the moment of the arrival of the mis-
sion at Delhi. Emiy Jumla bad made au effort to
separate: the brothers, hut withowt inflicting any
blow upon their power.  Hussein had been raised
o the rauk of Conmuamler-in-Catef, and sent to
reduce Ajeet Sing, Rajali of Marwar ;—a Rajpool
prince, who had rebelled during the recent trou-
bles, andd had likewise distnguished himself Ly
destroying Mussulman  mosques  and - erecting
Himloo pagodaz.  The Court party  however was
nnt ashamed to Intrigae with this worshipper of
idols. Accordingly, private advices were seut to the
LRajah, assuring him that the king Fevokscre would
he infinitely obliged to him, if he would use his
Lest oxertines to resist Hussein,  Bot  this little
plot proved a failure.  Hussein trintplied over the
Rajal, and the Rajsh did not deem it expedicnt to
saerifice himszell for the good of the Court party.
Terms were concluded between the two in a man-
ner worthy of u passing notiee!  Notwithstanding
the infinence of rnste prejudiecs, it had been the
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faslion throughout all the ater conflicts hetween
Mussulman awd lHindoo, to cement  every peuce
by a royal marriage ; that is, the defeated Rajah
was persuaded, or constrained, to give one of his
own Llooming daughters as a hride to the Mussul-
man sovereigin.  This enstom was followed ou the
present oecusion ; and the Tujuly Ajeet Bing gave
not ouly a large peisensh, but promised also to
give his vouthiul danghter to the king Feroksere,
Hussein hurried back to Delli with the welcome
news, and was once again all powerful at court ;
and Emir Jumla was compelled to retire to Patna
ancl undertake the Government of Bahar,  Ferok-
sere however still fretted wader the domiuation of
the Selads, and meditated upon the best means of
escaping from the constraint they tinposed. At this
juncture 1lussein ohtamed the uppointment of Vice-
rey of the Dekkan; and about the sane time the
English Factors reached Dethiund were adwitted to
anautdience. Three days afterwards however, they
wers asfonished by the news that Feroksere had
left Detht; but the following extract from o letter
which thev addressed to Governor IHarrison at
Madras on th August, 1715, wiil sufliciently ex-
plain the state of affairs.

* Three days after our arrival here, the king left the
city, under pretence of visiting a sacred place, abont 6
coss from thence. B the true reason (we are of
opinion} was to clear himself of a kind of continement,
which he thoughs he suffered whilst in the Fort, After-
ward+ on the petition of his Omrahs to return to the
city, the time of the rains being improper for travel.
ling, he showed himsell resolved to proceed cither t
Labore or Ajmeer.  Neither coull all the argunients
weed avert hiz intended jowrney. This startled us,
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and considering with how great trouble and risk we
had brought the present thus far, and how to carry it
on at this time of the year, we were something at a
staml. At last we concluded to give the gross of war
present in, notwithstanding the king was abroad.
But in delivering some of the fine clocks, they were
ordered to be returned and kept in good erder till he
eame back to the city, he baving now determinel
only to visit a sacred place about 40 coss from Delhi ;
after which he would return.  This stopped cur jre-
senting the remainder of our goods, but we concluded
that it was necessary to attemnd his Majesty in this
tour. We now costinue in the camp, leaving Mr.
Stephenson and Mr. Philips to take care of what goods
remuin in the ciby ; and in case that the king should
proceed further, that they may concert meusures to
bring the gonds after us.  We are in this iuterval
preparing petitions tu be delivered to his Majesty,
hoping we shall do something for our Homoralble
Masters that has not been yet obtained.  The patro-
nage and wanagement of this negotiation isiu the
handxs of the greatest favosrite at Court, Khau Dow-
ran, and under him Seiad Sallabut Khan, Withal, we
hieing no ways wnmindfud of an old friend Zowdee
Khan, without wliose advice, we enter upon nothing.
Buat he Leing at present in se low a station iznot
able to obtain the King's ear.  However we are
satitied that in whatever lies in bis power, he docs and
will assist us, but particalarly in the Vizier's Durhar,

Huwsein Ah Khan Babader Ameer-ul-Omazah is late-
Iy gone into the Delikan country, having the entive
command of all that part of lus kingdem. Your
Honors have undoubtedly heard how great le has
male himeelf even to vie with the command of his
mperial Majesty, as lately appeared in the disputes
between himself and Emir Jumla whilst at Court,
when hie obliged his antagonist, contrary to the King's
desires, to remove from Conrt > Patna, wherchy
through the intevcst of Hussein, and his own mis-
management, be is quite ruived. Whepefore we hum-
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Lly recommend a very good correpondence with Hus-
sein. Utherwise, whatever we shall Le able to do here
will be of very little service before Lim.”

Another pleasant intrigue awaited Hussein AR
in the Dekkim.  Fuwir Jumla Lind been sent to
Patna to undertake the Government of Bahar, at
the tune that lussein had sct out for the Dekkay,
Belore leaviug Delhi, Hussein had assured the king,
that if any mischief were aimed at his brother
Abdully, he would be at Delli within twenty days
to avenge him.  Buit the Dlow was ulmed not at
Abdulla but at Hussein,  Our old riend Twood
Kian had been appointed Governor of Guucrat ;
and he was instructed to pick a quarel with
ilussein and cut him ofl if possible. The further
progress of affairs is fully tlustrated in the dis-
patehes.  On the 31st August, 1713, Messrs.
Surnam and Stephenson wrote as follows,

“ We have advices here that Hussein Ali Khan and
Dawocod Khan are come to o rupture in Harcampore,
a0 that it iv likely a battle will eusue, the latter having
engagel many of the Dekkan country to his party.
1t is whispered at this Court that this is a design laid
to involve Hussein Al Kban in trouble, and retrench
bis grandenr which of late has not been very pleasing.

* The king proceeding no further than ’anipug,*
returned to the city on the 15th, but being a little dis-
ordeved iv his health bis ot wade any public appear-
ance, Su that we bave not had an opportunity to

* The shrine of & Mahommedan saint of great re-
pute, and famons in history as the scene of two of the
wreatest batthes ever fought in India; viz. that which
overturned the Afchan dynasty and establishud the
Megnl emperors tn 15255 awd that which nearly erush-
ed the Mahrattas in 1761,
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deliver the remaining part of owr present, or commence
our negotiation, which shall be done by the 1st proxm.”

On the 6th of October, the envoys wrote to Go-
vernor 1ledees as follows,

““We designed to have presented ownr petition on
the first goud opportunity ; but Lis Majesty’s indispo-
sition continuing, and Mr. Hamilton having undertaken
tu eure him, it has Dbeen thought advisable by our
friends, as well as by ouvselves, o defer delivering it
till such time as it shall please God that his Majesty
in some mensure retucns to his former state of health,
Which advice, we inteud to follow, considering that,
whilst Lie 35 in so mueh pain, it can be but a very in-
different opportunity to beg favours of him, The
first (istemper the Doctor tovok him in hand for, was
swellings in his groin, which thanks be to God he is
in & fair way of curing ; but within these few days
last past he bas been taken with a violent pain, which
is likely to eome 1o a fistula; it hinders bLis Majesty
from coming oub, so naturally pata a stop to all man-
ner of business, wherefore must have patience perforce,

** Your Honors will have heard of the death of Da-
wood Kban in the Dekkan, siain in a battle with
Hussein Ali.  (This was a desperate contlict, in
whichk a wmatehlock ball struck Dawood at the
moment when vietory had declared on his sile,)
This has given a pgreat deal of uneasiness to this
court, it being quite otherwise laid by the king
and his favourites ; and that which was desiyned for
Hussein Al's rain, has proved a great additioy to
his former glories, The king at first seemed to resent
it to his Erother Abdulla, who not taking it so
patiently, as he expected, he has altered his resolution
to sending Hussein Al Khan a Seerpaw aud other
marks of favour,  We have advised in our letters tu
the Governor and Council of Madras to have partienlar
regard to the friendships of that great Omrealy ; other-
wise whatever we shall be abld to do here for that
coast will be of little service, unless backed with his
favour.”
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The dispatches are here sident upon a point of
considerable intevest,  The king labonred under a
disease, which was not only painful in itself, but
which prevented him from completing his marriage
with the doughter of the defeated Rajuli,  After
some wonths De. Hamilton suceeeded in caring
him ; ael according to the popular story the gra-
tituwle of the sovereign was unbounded.  Yerok-
sere is gaid to have promized to grant any faveur
which Dr. Hamilton chose to ask; and we are
told 1hat the generons surgeon requested no re-
wards for himselt, but simply asked that the re-
quisitions of the Company might be complied
with.  The king it is added, immediately granted
this favour, and also directed that all the fees of
office should be remitted.  No such storv however
appears in the dispatehes; nor indeed 15 it likely
that the cnvoys woull have given prominence to
a faet, which was caleulated to deprive them of all
the personal eredit which wauld otherwize lave
accrued from thelr successful negociations,  The
follewing extract of a letter to Governcr Hedges,
dated 7th December, 1713, contains all they had
to say upon the matter.

“We write your Honors the welcome news of the
Kings recovery. As a clear demonstration to the
world, he washed himself the 23ed ultimo, and accord-
mgly received the congratulations of the whole court,
As areward for Mr. Hamilton’s care and success, the
King was pleased on the 30th to give him i jublic viz,
a vest, a enlgee seb with prectons stones, two diamond
rings, an Klephant, horse, and 5300 rupees; lLesides
ordering at the samestime all his small instraments to
be made in gold, with gold buttous for Lis coat and
waist coat, wnd brushes set with jewels. The same
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day Cujee Serhand received an Elephant and vest as
a reward for Lis attendance on this occaston.

*“ We have csteemned this as a pavticular happiness,
aml hope it will prove ominous to the success of our
affairs, it being the only thing that detained us hither-
to from delivering our peneral petition. So pursuant
tu the orders we received from Khan Dowran, the
King's recovery was succeeded by the giving in the
remainder of onur present (reserving a small part only
tiil the ceremony of his marriage should be over);
and thea delivered our petition to khan Dowran, by
his means to be introduced to his Majesty, Seiad
sallabat Khan, who has all along managed our atfairs
utcler Kkan Dowran, bleing at that instant, and
some time before much indisposed, we were obliged
to carry it cursclves ; not withoutteking care to have
his recommendation anoexed. Since the delivery
Cojee Serband  has been freyuently with Khan
Dowran, to remind him of introducing it to his Ma-
jesty; but bas always been informed, no business
can po forward till the solermnization of the king's
wedding iz vver, when he has promised a speedy dis-
patch. ~AlQ oftices bave been shut up for some days,
and al! business in the kingdom must naturally sub-
side to this approaching ceremony, so that we cannot
repine at the delay.

“The lajpuots are likely to receive great houor by
this wedding ; the king having consented to all ther
desires in res}»cct to the ceremoninls ; aml this evening
goes on kis throne attemded by his whole nobility on
foot, to receive bis spowse.  All the Fort and Street,
through which he passes will le made resplendent with
innumerable lichts; and in fine all will appear as
glorivus as the riches of Hindoostan and two months
indefatigable labour can provide,”

We are surprized that we cannot find in the
dispatcles any further notice of this celebrated
maryiage. According to Mussulman historians, the
festivitics on the part of the bride were conducted
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by Hussein Ali, and *‘ the marriage was performed
with a splendour and magnificence till then un-
seen among the sovercigns of Hindustan.  Many
pompous lusignia-were added to the royal train
upon this occasion. The illuminations rivailed
the planets, and seemed to upbraid the faint lnstre
of the stars, High and low shared the festivity,
and joy thrilled through the veins of all. The
Emperor Feroksere came to the palace of Hussein
Ali, where the ceremony was performed ; after
which, he carried the princess in the hichest splen-
dour of imperial pomp to the citadel, amid the re-
soundings of musical instrument and acclamations
of the metropolis.*

It was now {o be expected that the care of the
king by Dr. llamilton, would have led to a speedy
consideration of the petition; but no such good
foriune happened to the embassy. The king’s
marriage, and the general dilatoriness which pre-
vailed,—every Omrah at the Court being far too
much ocenpied in plotting and intriguing to pay
any attention to the petition of the Feringhees,—1led
to a delay which threatened sometimes to iwperil
the suceess of the mission. On the Sth January,
1716, the envoys wrote to Governor Hedges as
follows,

* As to the course of our megotiations, we can give
but a very alender account of their progress; for al-
thaugh our affairs are fallen into the patronage of one
of the most able men iu this court to dispateh them, if
he pleases, yet his ditatory methods of proceeding are
such a3 must malke wrypuraue our desighs with patience

* Scott’s History of the successor of Aurungzehe.
33 .
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for the present. Our petition ia returned, after baving
passed the examination of the books ; the next that
follows will e the King's signing ; after which we
shall take care to give your honors a particular ac-
count of if.

* We have lately been surprized with the King's
designs of departing from uﬂ:ia place, but God be
thanked he is delayed for some days at least. We
shall make the best use we can of the delay, if possible
to effect our business before his departure, but which
we cannot rely on.

“ Two nights ago Emir Jumla arrived in this place
from RBahar, attended by about 8 or 10 horsemen,
much to the surprize of this city ; for it is but at best
supposed that he has made an elopement from his own
camp for fear of his soldiers who mutinied for pay.
The particulars of all which we are not yet acquainted
with, nor what veception he is like to meet with from
his Majesty.”

On the 10th March, 1716, Messrs. Surman and
Stephenson again wrote to Governor Hedges as
follows.

““ Your Honors will doubtless have heard by flying
reports the troubies that have possessed thia place
for the past month, cccasioned by the coming of Emir
Jumla and all his forces, as it is said without the
king's order. All the Tartars mautinounsly joined to
demand their pay, which they gave out they wonld
force either from the Vizier or éhan Dawran, This
was certainly the grounds of gathering forces on all.
sides, the Vizier himself having not less than 20,000
herse ; all which continuaily filled the streets and at-
tended him when he weat to the king. Khan Dowran
and the rest of the Omrahs, with their forces and all
the kings Tope Conna, kept guard round the Fort for
sbout 20 days. The Vizier was obstinately bent not
to pay the Tartars any thing, without very particular
examipations and accounts to be made up for the plun-
dering the town of Patna ; which conditions the Tay-
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tars did not think to comply with till such time as
they found the Vizier was motto be bullied ; when
they seemed to be willing to come to a composition,
which was effected by breaking their party, and the
king’s orders for Emir Jumla's procedure for Lahore.
The kiug ordered Chicklis* Khan to go and gee Emir
Jumla out of the city ; divesting him of all his posts at
Court, as aleo of his Munsul, Jageers, &c¢. with his
glorions additional titles, which are ordered for the
fufure never o be used. It is the general observation of
this city, that this has only been a scheme laid if possible
to entrap the Vizier, and take away his life ; but he haa
been so continually on his guard, that nothing could
be effected. So once more all is calmed, much to his
(the Vizier's) Honors, and the eutire disgrace of all
Tartars in general ; they being almost all turned out of
service, a few great oves excepted. Emir Jumlais
now 20 coss off this place in hia way to Lahore, at
present without any Munsul or post. But it is report-
ed he will enjoy the former by the king’s favour.
These troubles occasioned the shutting up all the
Cutcherries for this uonth, so that no business could
possibly go on ; in which ours met the same fate, with
the rest, being just in the same state as a month ago.
Kban Dowran very frequently promises that he will
make an end with all possible expedient ; but he is
such a strapge dilatory man, and withal inacces-
sible, that we bhave occasion to summon the ut-.
most of our patience. There is no help for it, for
with all this dilateriness, he is the only reigning man
in the King's Durbar, so that we hope he will at last
consider and for his own honor see us handsomely des-
patehed with all full grant to all our petitions,

¢ The great rebel Gooroo (Bandu the Seikh) who has
been for these 20 years so troublesomein the Subah-
ship of Lahore, is at length taken with alihis family
and attendance by the Subah of that province. Some

¥
* This man afterwards became famous as Subah of
the Dekkan, under the name of ¢ Nizam-ool-Mulk.”
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days ago they entered the city laden with fetters, his
whole attendants which were left alive being about
780, all severally monnted on Camels, which were
sent out of the city for that purpose, besides about
2000 heads stuck upon poles, being those who died by
the sword in battle. He was carried into the presence
of the king, auvd from thence to a close prison. He
at present has his life prolonged with most of his
Mutsuddies, in hopes to geb an account of his treasure
in the several parts of his kiugdom, and of those that
assisted him, when afterwards he will be execated for
the rest, There are 100 each day beheaded. 1tis
not a little remarkable with what patience they un-
dergo their fate, and to the last it has not been
found that one has apostatised from the new formed
religion.”*

It is scarcely possible to conceive of a more
wretched state of affairs than that depicted in the
forezoing extracts. The leading events are al-
ready known to the listorical student; but these
notices, written on the spot by Englishmen who
were probably eye witnesses of many of the
scenes they describe, seem to lring the events
more clearly to our eyes. The revoll of a Tartar
army in the streets of Delbiis bad enough; but
that terrible procession of 780 Sikh prisoners,
with*two thousand bleeding heads elevated on
poles, is something too terrible to contemplate.
We may add that the whole 780 were subse-
quently beheaded on  seven successive days,
We learn from Elphinstose that Bandu the chief
was reserved for greater cruelties. * He was

* This religion was a sort of componnd of Hindooism
and Mahommedanism, in which dhe leading doctrines
of both were reconciled by o strange kind of com-
promise,
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exhibited in an iron cage, clad in a robe of
cloth of gold, and a scarlet turban ; an executioner
stood behind him with a drawn sword ; around
him were the heads of his followers on pikes, and
even a dead cat was stuck on a similar weapon
to indicate the extirpation of everything belonging
to him. He was then given a dagger, and ordered
1o stab lds infant son ; and on his refusing, the
child was buichered before his eyes, and its heart
thrown in his face. e was at last torn to pieces
with kot pir.cers, and died with unshaken con-
staney, glorying in having been raised uvp by God
to be a scourge to the iniquities and oppressions
of the age.”

But to proceed with the story of the English
mission. The following extract from a letter
dated 21st March 1716, is a singular description
of the procrastination which generally pervaded
the court of the Mogul.

‘tWe have frequently complained to your Honors
of the strange dilatoriness of our patron Khan Dowran,
He is never known to sit out in public, and return
answers to any manner of business ; so that what can
be said to him in the way from his apartment to his
palankeen, is all that can be got; which is so very
fittle for » man of agreat business, that many days
pass before an opportunity can behad even for the least
answer; and that his own servant, Seiad Salabut
Khan, who has the management of our affairs under
him, and is a8 intimate as any one with him, can do as
little that way as other people. Wherefore the main

of all our business bas been managed by notes,
This has been a griat occasion of the dilatoriness of
our affairs ; all which we were obliged to bear with
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abundance of patience ; still having very fair promises
that our business should be done to jour satisfaction.
Nay Khan Dowran himself, very often both Ly word
of mouth, and in several notes, promised to doit. A
few days ago when Serhaud went to pay his respects
as usual to Khan Dowran, and put him 1n mind of eur
petition, he was very surprizingly asked what peti-
tion ? ““ Have not I done all your business »’ To which
Cojee Serhaud answered ; but the time and place not
allowing of a further explanation, he got into his pa-
lankeen and went away. This strange forgetfulness
made us in very pathetic terms ewyuire of Salabut
Kban, what we might expect after so many prowises
of having our business eflected to our satisfaction,
when we had so long and patiently waited, and been
at so great an expence, to be thus answered was very
surprizing, and what we did not nor could not expect
in the least. We were answered that daily experience
might convince us of the strange carriages and forgetful-
ness of that great man. Still bidding us not to despoad,
but that every thing would go very well after su many
fair promises as we before had received. This gave
us bot small satisinction, and the rather made us the
more inquisitive, which gave us this further light,
viz, that Khan Dowran %md been advised by his
own Mutsuddies that it was not his business to
persuade the king to  sign our petition, but that
1t was better to get the Vizier to advise the king
what things were proper to be granted we. We
werc in hope that in case we would have got those
petitions granted us by the means of Khan Dowran,
that afterwards the Vizier would not gainsay it, as at
least by a little bribery it might have passed. There
has been several endeavoursmade to get an opportuni-
ty to speak with Khan Dowran so as to convince him ;
but more has been procurable.  We fear the petition
in this interim may be gone in, and will come out
migned by the Vizier as before mentioned.

** Yesterday the King contrarydo the advice of the
Vizier, and purely on his own will, went out a hunt-
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ing ; and all the Omrahs to their tents.  The place at
present mentioned is about 18 coss off ; but God
knows what may be the designs of it, or where he will
march to. This obliges us to follow him to-morrow
or next day, leaving Mr. Edward Stephenson and Philips
behind to take care of the Houorable Company's
effects here. Should the petition come out aigued as
above mentioned, we shall be obliged to make a new
address to the Vizier ; which will” not only protract
this negotiation, but must Iay us open to a denial, and
atthe lest very expensive, We shall advise your
Honors as soon as we have any bopes of auccess (which
God send) or what we shall be obliged to recede from.”

It wonld be useless to inguire into the various
motives which induced Khan Dowran to hand the
English ecmbassy overto the Vizier Abduilah.
Sometimes it was supposed that the bribes to the
subordinate officers had been insufficient ; some-
times that khan Dowran was desirous of escaping
from the responsibility of advising the king. One
rnmour reached the ears of the English envoys,
and seems to have been more likely a cause than
any of the others. Tt was said that the mysteri-
ous discase with which the king had been attacked
the preceding year, had again made its appearance,
and threatened to hecome annual; and that the
king had given private orders that the business of
the embassy should be delayed, in order that he
might retain the services of Dr. Hamilton. Mean-
time the results were most unfortunate to the em-
bassy. Mr. Sorman and Mr. Stephenson, strong-
Iy objected to being handed over to the Vizier ase
the *cast-off favourites” of Khan Dowran. At
this moment an ineident oecurred, which so plainly
illustrates the disorderly state of the court, that we
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extract the account from one of the dispatches,
daied 20th April, 1716.

* Whilst the king was encamped 14 coss from Dethi
in order to hunt, there happened a quarrel between
the pecple of Khan Dowran and Mabamud Amilkban
as they came from the Durbar; which, after their
masters gob into their tents, ended in a downright
fight, Lerein they fired with small arms, boms and
Ereat gnos for about 2howrs, notwithstanding the

ing's repeated command to forbear, yet wasitat
last made up after about 100 men were killed and
wounded. ‘The king was highly displensed with the
liberty they took, and resented itto both of them.
But the munsal of all the actors took the trumpet
from his favourite; who was not admitted to his
presence for three days, and threatened much more.
But at present all ismade wp and his Majesty again
reconciled to them.”

The story of the delays which followed in ac-
complishing the busincss of the embassy, would
be somewhat amusing were it not also intermina-
ble. Khan Dowran was at last induced to stir him-
self ; but again the envoys were disappointed, for
their petition was only in part granted, and then
was only signed by the Dewan. At length the news
reached the Court that the English at Bombay in-
tended to withdraw from Surat altogether, in con-
sequence of the oppressions of the Mogul Governor
of the district ; and fears were entertained that
the English fleet would immediately appearin
those seas, and retaliate upon the Mogul ships, as
it had done on a previous oceasion. This intelli-
gence appeara to have had an extraordinary effect,
The Vizier Abdulla, began to take an active in-
terest in the petition ; and accordingly he is men-
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tioned in the dispatches as the “ good Vizier.’
All the forms of a roval firmann were gone through
as rapidly as could be expected. The petition was
signeld without any further demur, by the Vizier,
and finally by the king Feroksere. But when the
royal firmaun was an accomplished fact, and the en-
voys prayed to be permitted to return to Calcutta,
another ditficulty arose. Tn consequence apparent-
ly of another unaccountable exhibition of dilatori-
ness on the part of their patron, Kban Dowran,
they could not obtain permission to leave Delhi.
At length even this dificulty was apparently sur-
mounted, and the envoys were admnitted to a fare- .
well audience with the king. But the event is best
described in a letier addressed by the envoys to
Governor Hedges, dated 7th June, 1717.

¢t The 23rd ultimo, John Surman received from his
Majesty an horse and Cunger, as was pre-appointed ;
and the 30th nit. we were sent for by Khaw Dowran
to receive our dispatches, which we had accordingly ; a
geerpaw and culgee beingafiveu to John Surman, and
peerpaws to Serbaud and Edward Stephenson, as like-
wise to the rest of our companions. We were ordered
to pass one by one to our obeisnnece ; then to move
fromw the Pewan. We did se. But when it came to
Mr, Hamilton's turn, he was told the king had granted
him a vest ag a mark of his favour, but not for his dia-
patch. So he was ordered up to his standing again.
Whilst he was performing  thi3 the king got up. We
were highly surprized at this unexpected notion, not
having the least notice of it till that minute, either
from our Patron orany of authority ; it being near
a twelve month since Mre, Hamilton had been in private
with the Majesty, arglin ail this time not the least
notice taken. We were very much concerned at his
detainment, and the more because we were assured of

34
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his firm aversion to accepting the service, even with
all its charms of vast pay, honour &e.; that if the king
did detain bim by force, if he outlived the trouble of
his esteeming itnprizonment, he mizht be endeavour-
tng at an escape, which every way lad itsill counse-
quences, To free enr Honorable Masters from any
damages that might accrue to them from  the™ pas-
sionate temper of the king, our pateon Khan Dowrau
was applied to for leave, twice or thrice; lnt he posi-
tively denied to speak or even lave a hand in this
busiuess, till onr friend Seiad Sallabut Khan had an
opportunity to lay the case open to him, when le
ordered us to speak to the Vizier, and if by any means
we coulld gain him to intercede that he would hack it ;
nay if the Vizier refused, he would make oue effurs
for the doctor himself.  Nay Sallabut Kban promised
to convince the king bimself in case of any delay, pur-
suant to our patrou’s directions.  We made a visit to
the Vizier the tith instant, and laid the case open to
himn in a petition from Mr. Hamiltou, of how litte
service he conld be without any physic, language or
experience in the country medicines, or their names;
besides which the heart breaking distractions of
being parted for ever frem his wife and chil-
dren would be insupportable, and eutirely take
awny his gualifications for the king's service;
that under the favour of his Majesty's clemency,
with the utmost submission, he desired that he night
have leave to depart with ws. From ourselves we in-
formeil the Vizier that we should have esteemed this
a very grest honour, but finding the DNoctor under
these troubles not to be persuaded, we were olliged
to fay the case before his Majesty, and we hum-
bly desiredd he would use his intercessions to the king,
that bis Majesty might be prevailed npon to despatch
him. The good Vizier readily offered to use his utmost
endeavonrs ; and sinee the case wos 5o, the busingsa
was to gain the Doctor's dispateh withont displeasing
the Niug ; aud he ordered a peti%ion to be drawn up
tu his Majesty inthe same form as that given to
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himsclf, It was sent him and the Vizier was as
good as his word ; writing o very pathetic address
to his Majesty, eniorcing Mr. Hamilton's reasons,
and backing them with his own optnion, that it
was better to let him go. The King returned
an answer which came out the 6t ay follows : since
he is privy to my disease, aud perfectly under-
stand his business, I would very fain have kept him,
and given him whatsvever he :?;ouhl have asked, Uat
seeing he cannot be brought on any terms to be con-
tent 1 agrec to it ; and on condition that after he has
yome to Europe and procured  such Medicines as are
not to be got here and seen his wife and children, ho
return to visit the court once more, let hiin go,  We
hope in God the troublsome bustness is now blown
over.”

Such then is the history of this curious erubassy.
We leave our readers to moralize upon the contrast
of those days with the present ; and mercly conclude
our narraiive, by dismissing the dramatis persone.
Dr. Hamilton died of a putrid fever soon after his
return to Bengal ; and a curious anecdote respecting
his memory was told to Jonathan Scott, the trans-
lator of I enshta,ln the celebrated WarrenITastings.
The emperor Fercksere was not satisfied with the
account of Hamilton’s death, which he received
from the Governor and Council at Caleutta. Ac-
cordingly he sent an Officer of rank to Caleutta to
examine the truth from the Natives, whose solemn
testimony and that of the Luropeans were carried
to the emperor. This cirevuistance was afterwards
engraved on the tombstone of the deceased sur-
peon. The other anhah envoys returned in safety
to Caleutta, and’we trust * lived happy ever
afterwards.”” The cnd of the principal  actors
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in the Mogul court forms a part of the tragical
history of the times. Three years after the visit
of the English cmbassy, Feroksere was suddenly
placed under confinement by the two Seiad
brothers, Abdulla and Hussein ; but the story of
his death belongs to a future chapter. During the
succeeding reign Hussein was assassinated by the
connivance of the then sovereign ; and shortly
afterwards Abdulla wasalso thrown into hopeless
captivity, and his life is said to have been ouly
spared out of respect for his descent from the
prophet. 'Thus ends our story of the English
embassy from Calcultz to Delhi a century and a
half ago.
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CHAPTER XXIX.

GOVERNORSHI¥Y OF MH. JOSEPH COLLET.
1717—18.

Mr. Collet succeeded Mr, Harrison as Gover-
nor of Madias on the 8th of January 1717. His
sdministration only lasted three years, for on the
18th of January 1720, Mr. Cotlet retired in his
turn, and was succeeded by Mr. Irancis Hastings.
The annals of those three years, 1717-20 are marked
by events, which are well worthy of preservation.
The English at that time possessed a great many
slaves, and accordingly two Charity Schools were
creeted for the children of those slaves.  Then
again the reception and proclamation of the Fir-
wmaun, granted by the emperor Feroksere to the Eng-
tish envoys at Calentta, was evidently regarded as a
most important alfair ; and it is interesting to note
the ccremonies and rejoicings which tock place on
the occasion. Wehave also a lively account of sorme
serious and sharp fighting which took place re-
specting the possession of the out-villages which
had been guaranteed by the Firmauu ; together with
notices of various incidents which serve to enlarge
cur pieture of those primitive but stirring times.

Before however we proceed with the annals of
Madras, it will be hecessary to briefly explain the
povition of affairs in Southern India, Sada-
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tulla Khan was siill Nabob of Arcot ; but Cheen
Kulich Khan, better known as the Nizam-ul-Mulk,
had been recalled from the Dekkan, and the Seiad
Hussein Ali Khan, had been appointed in his
room. Hussein Al, as Subalh of the Dekkan,
thus exercised supreine authority over the whole
of Southern India in the name of the Mogul em-
peror Yeroksere.

We shall now place our extracts before our
readers in chronological order. The first refers to
a curious case of forgery, one however which ap-
pears to be more common in our own times than
in the generation which Tas just passed away.

* Thursday, $th April, 1717. The President
acquaints the Board that on Monday in the after-
noon, Captain Jolm Powney having mude a com-
plaint to him of Mr. John Richardsen, writer in
the Honorable Company’s Service, for counterfeit-
ing his hand, by drawing out a false inveice of
goods ; pretending to have sent them by the said
John Powney on Ship ¢ Britannia” to Siam ; writ-
ing a receipt on the bottom of said invoice, and
counterfeiting Captain  Powney's name thereunio.
Thut he, the President, had upon the said John
Richardson’s acknowledging of the fact, closely
confined bim te his room. The said invoice, with
another note, wherenunto Richardson forged Mr.
Benjamin Walker's hand, being given te Scon-
drum, a Conacapily, in pawn for the sum of 200
P'lﬂ‘od'ls lent to Lichardson; Soondrum is called
i, and produces the true notes to the said John
Richardson ; who being shown *the same, and ask-
ed whose hand writing thc notes were of, and the
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names signed  thereanto, acknowledged both the
notes aud the names to be of his own hand writing ;
only excusing himsel, by saving he was greatly
put fo it for money, andl hoped to have recovered
his notes before they were due. ‘lhe said John
Richarason being therevnpon ordered to withdraw,
the Board eame to the following resolutions in
relation to him.

“ That he be immediately discharged from the
Honorable Company’s service; that he be close
confined tn the cock house, and sent for Great
Britain (with the consent of lis creditors) by the
fivst ship ; aud the Sceretary is ordered to endorse
the said John Richardson’s true counterfeited notes
on the back side of them, declaring they have
passed this Board’s examination, and arve found
to be forged.”

The next extract explains itself.

« Monday, 20th April. The President reports
to the Board, that he has been  acquainted  with
very great inconveniences which the soldiers suffer,
by being obliged to give their whole pay to the
Steward of the Hospital, for sustenance during the
time of their contmuing sick in it; and being
also obliged to pay half a pagoda per month to-
wards their clothes, as many months as they
stay in the Hospital for recovery of their healths.
‘By paying so many half pagodas, they of course
become in debt, which is 2o great a hardship upon
them, that when they leave the hospital, the pay-
ment of the debtg they thereby coutracted takes
away great part of what they should buy provi-
sions with.  To aveid which, many poor fellows
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have ruined their healths rather than go into the
Hospital to be cured, when their distempers have
been but in their infancy.

“ Ordered that for the future the soldiers be
obliged to pay the Steward no more than two
pagodas per mensem for sustenance, during the
time they continue in the hospital ; it being found
upon a scrutiny into the matter, f’ull_s, sufﬁment to
furnish the men with good provisions.’

The next extract Tefers to a piece of im-
morality we should have hesitated to publish, were
it not curious as illustrating the light in which
such proceedings were regarded five or six gene-
rations ago.

« Monday, 6th May. Petition from Benjamin
Skinner, Serjcant at Vizagapatam, complainiug of
Thoma: Wilford, Factor in the Honorable Com-
pany’s Service for having used too mneh familiarity
with Qs wife ; as fullv appears Ly the deposition he
wow produces, takew upon oath belore Mr. Robert
Symounds, Chief, and Mr. John Ewmersor, Second
of Council at Vizagupatam, which is entered after
this consultation,

«t Agreed that the said Thomas Wilford be sent
for up from Vizagapatam, and that he be suspend-
ed the IHonorable Company’s Service till their
pleasure be kuown concerning him.”

* The depositiof of Stephen Whinship taken be-
fore the Chief and Council of Vizagapatam.

“The deponent declares upon examination in
the case between Benjamin "vkmnel and  his
wife Anne, that he, the albve said Stephen
Whinship, with his wife, Mary, inhabiting in
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the house with the above said DBenjamin Skin-
ner and his wife Arne; that Mary the wife of de-
ponent did tell him her husband, that Anne the
wife of the above said Benjamnin Skinner held a
familiarity and an unallowable commuuication with
Mr. Thomas Wilford, one of the Right Honorable
Compauy’s Factors; and that said Mr. Thomas
‘Wilford used to climb over the wall at unreasonable
hours, and enter into the apartment of Anne, wife
to the above saul Benjamin Skinner ; which the
deponent taxiog her with, and threatening to ac-
quaint her husband of her evil practices, when she
with tears coufessed the fact, entreating him to
conceal it from her husband’s ears.  Afterwards,
upon some difference between the wives of the de-
pounent and the abovesaid Benjamin Skinner, Mary
the wife of the deponent revealed it to the above
said Skinner.”

Our next extract is far more pleasing. It refers
io the erection of the two Chanty Schools for the
cducation of the children of the slaves,

* Monday, 27th May. The President lays be-
fore the Board a paper of proposals delivered him
by Mr. Grundler, one of the Danish Missionaries
lately arrived from Tranquebar, for erecting two
Charity Schools in this city. It is agreed that
liberty be miven for crecting two Charity Schools,
one jor Portuguese in the English town, and
another for Malaburs in the Black-town. The
proposals are as follows : —

1. Whereas ihe slaves belonging to the Eng-
lish Inhabitants of* this place have a great many
children, who bave no manner of care taken of

35
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them, but are kept entirely ignorant of the Chris-
tian Neligion ; it is hwunbly proposed that a
Charity Sclwol be erected, wherein such poor chil-
dren shail be fanught to rewd and write the Portu-
guese lanruage (which is the only one they under-
stand) and be fully instructed and trained upon
praciical knowledge of religion and the true doc-
trines of the Gospel.

2. ‘There bemg some reason to hope that the
knowledge of Christianity may ulso be propagated
among the Natives of this couutry, it is likewise
proposcd that o Malabar Charity School be erect-
il 1 some  eonvenient place in the Biack-Town,
for instructing poor children in the principles of
Relizion, and to teach them to read, write, and
cast accounts, after the way and wanner used
among 1he Malabars.

3. ‘That these two Sclools be allowed the pro-
fection and patronage of the Ilonorable Governor
and Couneil, without whose consent and approba-
tion nothing of moment relating to the said
Schools shall be transacted.

4. That the immediate care and direetions of
the said two Schools shall be committed to two
or mote Trustees, to be appoiuted by the Honorable
Governor for the time being.

5. That leave be given to such Trustecs to
build or buy two School houses, onc for the
Portuguese School within the English town, and
another for the Malubar Schoal in the Black-Town.

6. That what money, gifts or legacies shall
be given by Charitable persout. for  the support
of the suid two Schools, or cither of (hem, shail
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duly be registered by the Trustees in a book to be
kept for that purpose,

7. That the Trustees shall have power to make
what particular orders and regulations shall be
foand necessary for the betier management of the
said two Schools, provided that said regulations
shall be approved of by the Honorable Governor
and Council.”

We now come to the all-important event, the
reception  and  proclamation of the imperial
Firmaun. The history of the embassy from Cal-
cutta fo Delhi, by means of which the Firmaun
was obtained, has already Leen given in the preced-
ing chapter. -

“ Wednesday, 24th July. This day being ap-
pointed for proclaiming the Roval Virmauwn or
charter, granted by the Great Mogul King [e-
roksere 1o the Honorable English Last India
Company, for enjoyment of several privileges in
his dominions (reccived from Bengal the 21st in-
stant) the following orders for the ccremony are to
be observed.

 All the Soldiers of the Garrison are to be upon
duty, and one company {o be drawn up under
arms before the Fort gate.

¢ The Mayor with all the Aldermen and city
officers to attend on horseback at the ILFort Gate,
where the Firmaun will lic in the Governor's state
palankeen, till the Governor ecames down and
orders the Secretary to reacl it in the English lan-
guage, and the Chief Dubash in the Moors and
Gentoo languages) in presence of all the inhabi-
tants of the eity. Afier which, the palankeen with
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the Firmoun, attended by the Mayor, Aldermen,
eity officers on horse back, a company of foot sol-
diers, all the English with music, are to move for-
ward down Charles Street to St. Thomas’ Gate,
where the Registrar is to proclaim His Majesty’s
Firmaun. From thence to proceed to the Sea
Gate, procloiminy it there ; and soon to the Middle
Gate repeating the proclamation over again ; from
which {rate the Mayor, Aldermen and city officers
are to return to the Governor in the Fort, and the
Firmaun to be carried forward 4rom this Middle
Gate through the Blaek Town to Attapolliom Gate
in manner following : viz. First the Pedda Naik,
or watchman of the city, to be on horse back with
all his Taliars aml the country music, then one
eompany of the English Guards, next two trumpets,
after which the Chief Dubash on horse back, the
palankeen with the Fhmaun guarded by six Ser-
jeants after him; and then al! the Moors and
Gentoe merchants on horse back close after the
palankeen to the aforementioned Attapollium Gate ;
where the Chief Dubash or horse back is to hold
up the Roval Firmaun, and proclaim it by express-
ing himself in the following words.

* This is Jlis Majesty King Feroksere’s Royal
Firmaun, wherein he eonfirms to the Honorable
English East India Company all former graunts and
privileges, enjoyed by them heretofore ; and further
grants mwany new privileges, with the possession of
several lands m many parts of India, with such
favour as has never before heen granted to any

European nation.
* Then he, the Chief Dubash is with the re-
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tinue to go out at the said Attapollium Gate, and
enter the town at Tom Clarke’s Gate, proclaiwing
the Royal Firmaun a second time there ; and thence
to proceed within the town at Bridge Foot Gate, in
order to proclaim it a third time ; and from the said
Giate to return to the Choultry, where the Taliars
ond Black Music are to stay without, and the
guards with the Dubash and palankeen to return
to the Fort and deliver up the Firmaun to the
Governor ; the Black merchants being permitied
on foot to attend it back from the Choultry gate:
and for the more regular management of this
solemnization the following orders were delivered
the Guoner of the Garrison for discharging his
part of the ceremony.

* To Mr. Frans Hugonin, Gunner,

“ As soon as the Firmaun is read before the
Governor at the Fort Gate, you shall Lbegin to fire
from St. Thonas Bastion, and procecd from thence
to the Westwarnd and on the Northward till you
come roundd to the said St. Thomas Bastion ; and
then to continue firing round the walls of the
Black Town to the numbers of 151 guns. As
soon as the fire is gone round the White Town,
Captain Matthew Martin, Commander of the “Marl-
borough,” must take up the fire ; and when he hgs
done, all the Europe Ships in the road must fire one
after another ; and the comntry ships, upon the
Furope Ships finishing, to fire altogether as fast as
they can ; the ships being handsomely dressed out
with their colours and streamers,

“ When the Governor and Company come to
the garden at Tiffin, the Governor will begin the
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Mogul’s health, when you must begin to fire from
the Garden point, and continue the fire round the
town to the number of 101 guns ; after which yon
are Lo prepare against Dinner to fire 101 guns at
King George's health, 31 guns at the Prince and
Princess and Royal Fanilies health, and after Din.
ner 31 cuns for the Honorable Company’s heatth ;
the ships In the road to fire at drinking the Mogul’s
and King George’s healths, in the same manner
as they did upon proelaiming the Royal Firmaun,
¢ After the ceremony of proclaiming the Firmauu
in the English and Black Town was over, the
Honorable President with the Gentlenien of Coun-
cil procecded to the Gavden house throuzl the
Black town, attended upon by all the Gentlemen
of the city on herse back with handsome accoutre-
ments; where all they, English, Portuguese, Ar-
menian  and Moors Inhabitants, were splendidly
entertained at Dinner; and the day concluded
with feasting of the soldiers, with tubs of punch,
and a boufire at night ; and the Black Merchants,
to show their jov at the Honarable Company’s ye-
ceiving so much favour from the Mogzul, made
abundance of fireworks upon the Island.”

The next extract refers to the projected ocenpa-
Lion of Divy Island, off Masulipatam, by the Eng-
lish. Tossession had been granted in the Firmaun,
but some difficultics rose in the way.  The extract
is chicfly interesting as illustrating the feelings of
the Natives towards the English of that period.

“Monday, 26th Angust. The TPresident de-
livers tn the Board a translation of their letters

" from Masulipatam, one by Cunsum Pers, who had
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heen formerly Chief Pubash to the New East In-
din Company there, the other from Khan Colenoo
Buggawun, an emment Bralimin in those parts,
advising and pressing us to take speedy possession
of Divy Istand, They Dboth agreed that all the
inhabitants wait tmpaticntly for us, and that we
may depend upon having an aceession of people
from the continent; the itubabitants being very
desirous of living nuder the Euglish Government,
awd that there are already cighteen towns and vil-
lages upon the Istand.

“ AMter full debating the matter, it is agreed
that Cunsnm Pera be sent for hither to give ns a
more full account of the state of affairs there ; that
he be taken into the Cowpany's service and em-
ploved in that business ; and that in the meantime,
the President do give orders for providing all
necessaries ready for taking possession of Divy
Island.”

The following extracts exhibit the operation of
the imperial Firmaun, as regards regaining pos-
session of the out-villages.

« Monday, 2nd Scptemher, The President pro-
duces translates of letters from the Nabob Sada-
tulla Khan, Sunka Ramah, and ouwr spy Drahmin
at Arcot, relating to the demand he had made of
Trivatore and other villoges lately aranted by the
Royal Firmaun, The Naboly's letter is wyote in ge-
neral terms, with a great many compliments, but
refers to Bunka Ramah and the spy Brahmin for
an answer to the business in hand.  They both
advise that i convrsation the Nabob told them, he
could not deliver wp possegsion of the villages
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without secing the original Firmaur, but that he
was lesirous to maintain good understanding with
the English.

* On a full consideration of the matter it was
agreed that the President should write to the Na-
bob, rendering him thanks for the assurances of his
friendship and favour, and acquainting him that
21 days after this date, he designs to take posses-
sion of the said villages ; and together with his
Iciter to send the present, usually made upon a
new President’s accession to the Government of
this place ; which has been suspended so long,
that we might be assured of the Nabob’s kceping
his post ; which has been very unlikely, and if a
new Nabeb had been established, we should have
been oblizged 1o have given it over again. The
sum agreed on is 500 pagodas, and one pieee of
superfine scarlet cloth to the Nabob, and 290 pa-
godas with some cordial wafers to Ducknaroy,
the Nabob’s Secretary and Son-in-law, who has
the chief management of his affuirs. To whom
also it was agreed the President should write a
short compliment. It 1s further agge..! that the
President do write lo Sunka Ramy,3> ~  ‘he
several presents ; and at the samg.cted accupa
quaint the Nabob that it isan ex py ¢dead ol
the Royal Firmaun, that neither e, nor any of the
King’s officers, shoulil demand to see any of the
original papers ; but that copies, duly attested by
the Cazi, shall be a sullicient claim on our parts
for the several privileges and grants bestowed upon
us; and that himeelf and all other officers are ob-
liged o yield obedience to such attested copies.”
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“ Thursday, 19th September. The President
proposes to the Board the taking possession of
Trivatore, &e. {five villages granted the Lnglish
Company by the Mogul) on Monday and Tuesday
nest, and begin with Trivatore, and in case of op-
position iwhich is hardly expected) to repel force
by force.”

“ Monday, 23rd September. Early this morn.
ing the Honorable President (attended by most
of the Gentlemen in the place) set out for Triva-
tore, whereof he took possession, stayed there and
dined and returned in the evening, having in the
interim taken possession of two more villages.

“ Tuesday, 24th September. Early this morning
Mr. Richard Lordon set out with a party of men,
and took possession ef the two ether villages with-
oul any opposition, and returned about noon.”

* Sunday, 29th September. The TPresident
represents that this woming he has received
advices from the Nabob’s Court at Arcat, and from
Peersada at Poonamallee, that the former would
not accept of the 500 pagodas present, we had sent
to Sunka Ramah for that purpose; nnd that less
than 1000 would rot content him. That Peersada
bad stopped the roads to this eity from Poonamal-
lee, and would not permit merchandize, or the
common uecessaries of firewood, &e. to be Lrought
into Madras ; and that he had sent to Diaram, the
Head Renter of the country under Hussein Al
Khan, for assistance to distress us further.

“ On mature deliberation upon these advices it
was agreed to makethe Nabob's preseat 1000 pa-
godas for the following reasons.

36
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* First, that we might divide the interest of the
country Government about us, and thercby prevent
their joining together to distress ns.

¢ Secondly, the present last made by our late
President amounted to that value, and might give
them the fairer pretence to demand the same now.

“ Thirdly, the present is conditional on his giving
a letter confirming te us the peaceable possession
of the villages we have lately taken.”

“ Wednesday, Hh October, The President pro-
duces a letter which ke received from Diaram
yesterday, wherein the szid Diaram demands by
what authority we have taken possession of Triva-
tore and the other villages ; and adds that unless
we have a sunnud under Sadatulla Khan’s secal or
Seiad Hussein All Khan's Perwanna, to warrant
our so doing, we must restore the villages to his
order.

© The President’s answer to the aforesaid letter
is also read, siguifying to the said Diaram, that
what we have done in relation to the villages is by
virtue of his Majesty’s authority ; and that we will
not give up our just rights on any pretence what-
soever, but on the contrary will defend them to the
utmost of our power. The V'resident’s conduct on
this occasion is approved by the Board,

“ The President likewise communicates to the
Board a letter which he lately received from some
of the inhabitants of Divy Island, pressing him to
despatch the Deputy Governor thither with ail
specd, to prevent the countries being laid waste
by Apporrow the Renter, who'is now plundering
the inhabitants, os apprehending their desertion
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from him upon the arrival of our people there. The
President’s answer to the said letter is also read
and approved ; encouraging them as much as pos-
sible to wait with patience till the rains are over,
when they may expeet the Deputy Governor with
a sufficient force to rescue them from the oppres-
sions of Apporrow and to redress their grievances.

“ Wednesday, 16th October. The President
communicates 1o the Board a proposal which was
made him by Sunka Rammah and the other late joiut
Stock merchants, torent the five new viilages
granted by the Firmaun, viz. Trivatore, Batangodu,
Catawauela, Vezallawarrow and Lingambauca at
1200 Pagodas per anpum for 12 years. Where-
upon the yearly amount of that Revenue being
examined into, when the said villages were grant-
ed the Honorable Company in President Pitt's
time, and found to be just the same, it is agreed
that they be let to the aforeimnentioned persons for
12 years, at 1230 pagodas per annnm ; and that
the Secretary do prepare a lease against next
consultation.”

Diaram the Head Renter was not disposed to
see the villages taken out of his hands, without
making an effort to force Governor Collet to give
him a present. The following extracts in reference
to these proceedings will be found very curious.

“ Friday, 18th October. Yhe President ac-
guaints the Board that he has just now received
advice from Trivatore, that Diaram’s son has enter-
ed that town with 250 horse and 1000 foot, and
had cut down our "lagstatf and posted himself in
the town. He adds that in the morning a Brak-
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min belonging to Diaram had been with him ; and
after a very long harangue wide of his purpose,
delivered his errand, which was to demand a pre-
sent of 1000 pagodas to Diaram, in cousideration
of which he would quit all pretentions to the vil-
lages we were possessed of. He declared withal
that unless we would comply with that demand,
Diaram’s forces wosld take possession of them the
next day. It appeared in fact that the forces were
on their march to Trivatorc whilst the Brahmin
was delivering his message.

“ The Bresident then proposed to the Board to
consider whether we should comply with their de-
mands of money in order to buy a peace; or whe-
ther we should tamely sit down with the affront
they had given us in ecutting down our flag, and
wait o see how much further they would proceed ;
or whether we shonld make a vigorous charge with
our forces, and endeavour to drive them out of the
Town by foree of arms.

© After mature deliberation it appeared to be
the unanimous opinion of the whole Board, that
we should endeavonr to drive the enemy out of
Trivatore by force, for the following reasons.

*t First, that Diaram has no pretence to make any
demands on us on account of the said town ; that
we are not dirceted by the Finnaun to demand
possession of them from him, but from the Nabob ;
his business being only to colleet the rents for
Seiad Hussein Al Khan; and that to give him
money upon this occasion would be a precedent
for him to make demands an any other, or perhaps
without any pretence, whenever he should think fit.
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** Secondly, that to sit down quictly without re-
senting the affrout, would but encourage the enemy
to proceed to greater injuries; and give themn rea-
son to apprehend that we were doubtful of our
own strength, and must submit to whatever terms
they should think fit to impose on us,

< Thirdly, our men having of late been pretty
well disciplined, and being now completely officer-
ed, we do not doubt their being able to drive the
encmy out of the town and maintain the posses-
sion ; which we hope will have so good an effect
as to deter them from attacking us rashly again.

“ Agreed that the dircetion of the Military be
left to the Governor singly.”

* Monday, 21st October. The President repots
that after closing the consultation on Friday even-
ing, he held a consultation with the military offi-
cers ; the result of which was, that he gave orders
to Lieutenant John Roach to draw out 150 men
of the Garrison, to be in a readiness to march by
two o’clock ir the morning ef the 19th to Trivatore ;
that he should endeavour to enter the town about
break of day, and if he found the enemy there, to
attack thein immediately, and endeavour to drive
them out of the town, and to keep possession of it
till further orders. The President adds that about
9 o’clock in the morning he received advices from
Lieutenant Roach, that he had entered the town
exactly at the time appointed, and found the enemy
in possession ; but that after abeut an hour’s dis-
pute he had obliged them to quit the town and
take to the plaine. That after this they ade
some attacks, but were constantly drove Lack ;
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and Lieutenant Roach pursuing some of them to
the plain, saw a fresh body of horse coming from
the northward, which he then guessed Dy view to
be about 500 in number. On these advices the
President ordered Lieutenant Fullerton to draw
out 100 men more of the Garrison, and with a
suflicient quantity of provisions and ammunition,
and two field pieces, to march immediately in
order to join Lieutenant Roach. By 12 o'clock
at noon all things were in a readiness, and Lieu-
tenant Fullerton began his march. In the mean-
timme the President ordered the militia of the town
to be raised, who took possession of the White
town; while the out-guards were strengthened
by the remainder of the Garrison; and Gunner
Hugonin, with the Governor’'s Horse Guards (being
six in the whole), were ordered to patrol about
the Washer town and Tondore, to prevent the
enemy from burhing or plundering on that side.
At 3 o'cloek in the afternoon, the President receiv-
ed further advices from Lieutenant Roach, dated
half an hour after 12, advising that the enemy had
kept skimmishing with them till near that time,
but then were all drawn off, and marched+ - “1rds
Satangody, after he had recovered the Fiake aaff,
and Flag, which he again hoisted in them ; th of
the Town. Soon after arrived furtho demgices
that Lieutenant Fullerton had joined Lieutenant
Roach with his body, and that the enemy were
marched off to some mile distance. On which the
President sent order to Lieutenants Roach and
Fullerton to march back in the evening or early
the next morning ; it being difficult to supply them
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with necessaries at ihat distance. They returned
the same evening, and arrived at Fort 8t. George
about 8 o’clock.

“ 1t appeared that on Lieutenant Roach’s
entering the town the boors were not prepared to
receive him, presuming we durst not march out
of the reach of our own cannon. As soon as he
gained the middle of the town, he saluted them
with three vollies which did some execution. As
fust as they (the encmy) got into order, thev pos-
sessed themselves of the Avenucs which are numer-
ous, and endeavoured to regain the middle of the
town ; it being a very large square containing a
Tank and a Pagodas; but in about a hour’s time
they were obliged to quit the town and take to
the plains, though they afterwards made several
attempt to re-enter the town but were obliged to
retire about noon.

#In the whole action, which lasted abont six
hours, there was not one man of our Garrison killed
or wounded by the enemy; one only of our
Europeans was shot in the arm by his comrade’s
error in firing ; three of our peons -werc slightly
wounded, but none killed. The enemy left in
the place one camel, 6 horses killed ; six horses
were taken alive by our men. Five men ouly of
the slain were left, the rest being carried away ; so
thai we do not know the certain number, but sup-
pose there might be about 10 or 12 killed in the
action.

* The President adds that he received advices
yesterday from Paonamallee, that when the enemy
had marched about 3 miles from Frivatore towards
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Poonamallee, they encamped and continued there
till 9 o’clock at night; and then marched one
hour (contrary to their custom) without lights ;
fearing, as it appeared, to be attacked in the night ;
for when they thought themselves out of reach of
pursuit, they light their duties and proceed on
their march towards Poonamallee, Advices from
thence further adds that Disram’s son, who com-
manded the party, was shot through the shoulder
blade and his life endangered ; that the com-
mander next to him had several balls in his thigh ;
that thirteen more of their men were wounded, and
eleven horses, besides one camel and two Lorses
which dropped on the road.

 'Fhe President concluded that this great suc-
cess without any loss must, next to the blessing
of God on the justice of our cause, be aseribed to
the good conduct of Lieutenant Roach, who had
posted his men in such a manner that the enemy
was not able to make any attack without certain
loss to themselves, as at the same time they were
umnable to do us the least injury. 1le, therefore,
proposes to the Board to consider of some honorary
reward to be given Lieutenant Roach, who to
his former merit at Fort §t. David, has added this
new anid eminent service,

© Agreed that in consideration of Lieutenant
John Roach’s former services at Fort St. David, for
which the Honorable Company have in their letters
ordered him a gratuity, which has never yet been
given, and also in consideration of his eminent
service at Trivatore on the 19th¢instant, in defeat-
ing the enemy, with somuch loss on iheir side,
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and without the loss of one man in ouwrs ; —that
the President by his Comimission constituted
Licutenant John Roach, Major of all the llonor-
abie Company’s forees on the (‘oast of Coromandel
aud Island of Swinaira o and that a Gold Medal,
arith the Nonorable Company’s arns set round
with diamond sparks, with an lnseription on the
reverse suitable to the eccasion, (the value about
300 pagodas) be given him.

* Agreed that his pay as Major be 20 pagodas
Per mensen.

« Agreed that it be left to the diszretion of the
President to order smart money to the wounded,
and some gratuity to the inferior oflicers, who all
behaved themselves very well in the engugement.”

Thus ended this galiunt Wttle affair, which must
have created mo small exciteinent amoungst the
denizens of Fort 3. (feorge.

The following story of a gpy is very curions as
illustrating the .hte of an adveaturer In the olden
tine.

“ Friday, 7th Felrnary, The President informs
the Board that he had for semetime past kept ane
Francisco Ferera, a pretended Doctor, close pri-
soner in the Fort, on an information he had re-
ceived that the said Ilacter had performed the
part of a spy, and given infermation of our circum-
stances to the Moors during our guarrels with
Diaram.  That as to his personal character, he
bad formerly been a Jew in Italy, and Consranti-
nople, and at Graad Catvo ; and that tn the tatter
place he turned Turk, and married and bad ehil-
«ren, who now reside there. ‘fhat he has heen

37
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sometime in these parts, and professing himself a
Christian, married a Porluzuese woman an inhabi-
tant of this citv. The President adds that he has been
very much solicited to relcase the prisoner, who is
ot capable of doing any further hurt with respeet
to Diaram. e proposes to consider whether the
prizoner wray not be freed on giving  security for
his behaviour, and that he shall ot go out of the
F¥aglish bounds without leave of the Governor.
AN the eircamstarces being considered, it is
agreed, that on giving good security as above, that
the said Franeisco Ferera be dirchiarged from his
imprisonment.

* The prisoner proposing one Francisco Gre-
gorio, an inhabitnnt of this place of zome substance,
to be bound with him in the penal swn of 1000
pagodas for his good hehaviour ;—it is orderecd
that the Secretary make out a  bond accordingly.”

"Fhe next story of a murder gives us an insight
mto the working of the police peons uunder the
Pedda Naik.

“ Monday, 95h June 1738, The President re-
ports that some Guzerat Merchants bad been with
him this moruing, te advise him that one Frivadee,
a Surat Merchant Inhabitaut of this place, was
foundl this morning with his servant hanged in his
own house, and that it was suppesed they had
hanged themselves.  That et this information he
had ordered the Secretary, in the presence of the
Company’s merchants and the Guzerat merchants,
10 take an account of the deceaszd’s effects and se-
eure them for his relations.

*“ Wednesday, 11th June. The President ae-



r—18.3 MISTORY OF MADRAS. 29%

quaints the Board that yesterday morning he had
discovered that Frivadee and bis servant, who
were supposed to have langed themselves, were
murdered by robbers, who had carried off a very
large booty in money ; that he had immediately
given out orders for a strict search after the mur-
dereys; and that just now three persons were
brought before him, charged with that murder;
that the case being extraordinary, he had sum-
moned thew together to  hear the examination of
the prisoners, and such witnesses as should appear
against them.

 The prisoners and witnesses, with a considera-
IMe number of the principal inbabitants, Furopeans
and Natives, were culled in; and the money and
jewels whick had been taken by the prisoners fiom
Yrivadee were produced, bLaving leen taken in
pussession of the several prisoners to the amount
of five or six thousand pagodas.

“ On a full examination it appeared to the whole
Board that there was sufficient reason to put the
prizoners upon trial for their lives for murder and
robbery ; and it was accordingly agrecd that they
should be tried in the Mayor's Court according to
the charter, and that an order be given the Mayor
in the following muanner.

“Ona full examination of Cadojee, Perseram,
and Kisnados, whe stand charged with the murder
of Frivadee and his servant on the night between
eighth and ninth inslant, and several other wit-
nesses eoncerning that murder,—we do find full
and sufficlent eanse to put the said Cadojee, Per-
seramy and Kisnades on trial for their lives ; and
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m order thereto, we do hereby authorize you, the
Worshipful John Legs, Esq., Mavor, to summon «
court to-morrow, being the 12th instant, for the
trial of the said prisomers, and to acquit them, or
on their conviction of murder and robbery, to
corilemn them to suffer death in sweh manner as
shall seem to you most proper to deter others {rom
committing the like crines.”

Short work was made of these gentlemen, for
two days afterwanls we fmd the following signifi-
eant entry.

“ Friday, 13th June. This morning about
9 o'clock Cacdojee, Perseram, and Kisnados were
exccuted upon the Island.”

This event directed the attention of Governor
Collet’s attention to the incfficiency of the Pedda
Naik.  We extract the proceedings at length.

“ Momday, Tth July. The Tiesident reports to
the Board that Pedida Naik, the chtef Watchman
of the town, has forfeited his Cowle by open and
notorious transgressions of every part thercof ;
that he )s become utterly incapable of discharging
the duty of that post. laving by his extravagance
rendered hMmself unalble either to maintain a suffi-
cient number of Taliars to watch the city, or to
make good any losscs that shall happen as by the
Cowle he is obliged to do; that through his in-
eapacity as & watchman te discharge his duty,
frequent robberies bave happened of late, and one
instavce of what is wnusual in these parts of a
merchant aud his servant mnfilered in their own
bouse by robbers. The P'resident added that if 2
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speedy stop was not pul to this mischief it would
increase upon us till it become past remedy.

“ The Cowle was then read, and the violation
of every part thereof by Pedda Naik was notarious
to the whole TBoard.

* The Pedda Naik being called in, and acquaint-
ed with the sentiments of the Ioard on his con-
duct, was asked if he had anv thing to say in his
own defence. He only replied that he was not
able to do better, and left himself to the judgment
of the Board,

“ Agreed that Tedda XNaik, chief watchman of
the city, having forfeited his Cowle, aud being in-
capable of performing the duty of his office, be
tismissed the Honorable Company’s Service.

* Agreedt that Koonugorec Timapa, Naik of
the same east and family with Vedda Naik, be
constituted chief watchman of this city of Madras,
under the same oblization of duty, and with the
same privileges and reverues as the former enjoved.

¢ Agreed that the revenues from the Sea Gate,
Choultry and Bazar appropriated to the Watch-
man, be to the end of this montl carvied to Pedda
Naik aecount, they being mortgaged to the cor-
poration ; and the beginning of the next month
delivered up to the new Watchman ; and that afl
these other revenues be immediately delivered up
to the new Watchmau.”

Towards the end of the vear 1718, Governor
Collet appears to have concluded a definite arrange-
ment with Sadatuwdla Khan, Nabob of Arcot, as
regards possession of the out-villages. The fol-
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lowing cxtracts will sufficiently explam the mat-
ter.

< Aonday, 10th November 1718. The Presi-
dent represents to the Board the present state of
affairs with respect to the country Government ;
that he has been for sometime past, as they know,
threatened with foreres from the Nabob, in case
he would not deliver up Trivatore and the villages
granted by the firmaun. But that for about a
fortnight past the Nalrol liad by some of his agents
begun privately a treaty of peace with him. The
fiest terms that were offered were that the villages
shonld Le delivered into the hands of Sunka Ramah
till a sunnud could be procured from Sciad Hus-
sein Ali Khan; which being rejected by the
President, the Nabob proposed that the President
should write to him in general terms to this pur-
pose ; viz, that he had token possession of the
village by virtue of the king’s grant, and that the
Company would give orders to return the king
thauks for his bounty, aml to procure a sunnud
from Seiad Hussein Ali Khan.  If not that the
Nabob was at liberly to act as he should think
fit. To which the Nabob was to answer, that if
the Company procured a sunnud from Seiad Hus-
sein All Khan, it woukl confirm the peace between
ns. The President adds that the sum insisted on
for presents is 2000 pagodas for the Nabob, and
1000 pagodas for Ducknaroy his Secretary, and
prime minister ; of which he proposes 1000 to be
paid out of the tax levied for building the choul-
tries, and the other 2000 ont of eash.  The Presi-
dent further adds that he has not vet returned an
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answer o this preposal, being williny first fo know
the sentiments of the Board concerniug it.

 After mature deliberation the whole Board
unaminously agreed that the President should ac-
cept of the Naboly's proposal, and make peace with
him accordingly, for the following reasons.

First.  1lereby we fully assert our right to the
possession of the villages by virtue of the King's
grant, without entering inte any eugagements
of receding from that right, even though a
suntud shonid not be obtained.

Secondly, That tluee years time of settled
peace (as far as such a thing can be with the
Moors) is hereby gained, and thereby time suffici-
ent for the Honorable Cowmpany to give their
ordevs for our futnre conduct.

Thirdly. We hereby assert the Honorable Com-
pany’s right to all the grants made in the Firmaun,
in which that of Divy Island is included.

Fourthly. By making peace on these terms, we
effectually prevent all future demands upon us on
account of our new forfifications on the Northside
of the Town, and of our fortifving Lgwmaore, which
used to be alwayvs esteemed a ground of complaint
and cause of quarrel, It also prevents all elaim
on account of the goods recovered out of the wreek
of the Ship © Success,”” and the mauner of our doing
it, that is by open foree, A peace Leing onee con-
cluded withont any claim on these accounts, there
can be no pretensions raised on them hereafter.

“The President then told the mentlemen of the
Board that this negotiation required the utmost
secrecy till it was effected.  Besides that, though
he does believe the Nabob to be in carnest, yet the
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Moors so much affect a mysterious conduct, that
it is not to be depended on till perfecteld. It being
very nsunl for them 1o enter on a Treaiy when
they desion a surprizing blow. He added that to
prevent any danger of that kind, he had placed a
sufficient Garrison in Lgmare Tort, and doubled
the ruards at all the Choultries 5 and that he had
emploved several sples in the epemy’s camp as
well a3 in the country ronnd about.”

“ Momiay, 15th December.  The President re-
ports to the Board that this day the peace con-
chuded with the Nabolr was fully ratified ; that
Aga Mogheen, who had negotiated that aftair with
him, came to the Garden about 10 o’clock this
morning with two elephants, fifteen horses, and
about three hundred peons ; that one of the ele-
phants earried 2 chair of state with a canopy, in
which sat two persons who brought two Seerpaws
for the President, with a perwanna in answer to
the letters wrote sometime sit'ce, expressing the
Naubob’s agreement to the terms of peace, and de-
siring a suunud might be procured from Seiad
Hussein Ali Khan as soon as it could be done con-
veniently, The Nabob sent also a horse which
Aga Mogheen delivered to the President. 'Lhe
solemnity was zreater than usual on the oceasion
on the Moeors part.  We received themm with a
body of nearly 300 men in arms;  all the 1lonor-
able Company’s servants and most of the inha-
bitants being present, with great mwmbers of the
Natives, The presents being reecived, the Na-
Lioh's health was drank and 31 guns fired.”

During this vear Governor Collet was engaged
in a long and troublesome inquiry into the con-
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duet of the Governor of Sumatra, who by ir-
regular proceedings had brought on a war with
the Sultan, which had terminated iu the forced
retirement of the English. The particulars would
afford but little interest tq our Madras readers ;
but the following cerlified statement of the inhu-
man conduct of an LEnglish supervisor at this
time, furnishes such a sad picture of the atrocities
which occasionally occurred, that we cannot pass it
over. Theentry is to be found in the consultation
book of 14th August, 1718 ; but the event itself
had taken place at the beginning of the year. The
statement is as follows,

“ To whom it doth or may concern,

*This is to certify that on Sunday the 2nd of
February 1718, before noon cameon shoreat
Bantall, Mr. James Morris (supervisor from the
Malborough) some thing in liquor.  After dinner,
he being drunk, he sent for two of the wen pri-
soners of war out of the cock house ; wheu having
asked a few questions, he ardered them down up~
on the parade, himself attending, where he ordered
one of themn to be beheaded first, and then the other
inhumanly to have his fingers and thumbs hacked
off joint by joint, and at last his head cut off;
after which, or uext day, he obliged Sultan Cut-
cheel Lo sign their death warrants ; in attestation
of which we have hereunto set our hands this 9th
day of August 1717 in Madras.

BENIAMIN (GRAVES,

RoBErT Wynw,

Atvcustus WyNny,

RoBert DARRET.”
38
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CHAPTER XXX.

GOVERNORSHIP OF MR. JOSEPH COLLET.
(Continued,)
171920,

The closing year of Mr. Collet's governorship
seem to have passed tranquilly away ; and the
domestie incidents which occurred at Madras thus
present a striking contrast to those tragical
revolutions at Delhi which were heralding the
fall of the Mogul empire. In a previous chapter,
we noticed the state of the court at Delht in
1715-17, when the English embassy was despatch-
ed from (aleutta to the c~-ror Feroksere. We
now purpose to  ®WN ® PEIWhold relief the con-
trast alveady indieMECME SIC epinging together
the coneluding am t0 the termyas ynder Governor
Collet ; and then tiflhg a glance at the contempo-
rary events which were being enacted in the em-
pire of the Mogul.

Our first incident is simple enongh, and the ex-
tract will explain itself,

“ Monday, 5th Jannary, 1718, Augustus Bur-
ton, who come out in the Honorable Company’s
Service upon the “ Mary” the last year, on
his coming on board the ship brought with him
clandestinely a young man, nated Edmund Massey,
his brother-in-law ; without permission of the Com-
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pany or Caplain, who was ignorant of it til the
ship wns under sail, when it was too late to send
him ashore. The (,apt'\m since his urrival from
Beugal, applied to the President for permission to
carry the said Edmnnd Massey back again co bng-
tand, to prevent his having to pay the penalty  for
bringing out any passenger to India without the
(_.ompany s permission, which he is oblized to by
his charter party. But the said Edmumd Mas-
sey, having likewise requested to be entertained in
the service here as o writer, and being a sober lad
and capable of business,—it is agreed that we do
give Captain 1iobben a permission to leave hLim
here, awd that he be admitted into  the service till
the Honorable Company’s pleasure can be known
concerning him.”

Our next extract illustrates the peaceful state of
the relations hetween the Government of Fort St.
George, and Sadatulla Khan, the Nabob of the
Carnatic.

“ Wodnesday, 11th February, The President
represeni to the Boarml that Ducknaroy, who is
prime minister to the Nabol Sadutulla Khan, and
Fyre Khan the Nabob's general, came to 8t Thomé
last Saturday, with a bod} of 410 horse and 1000
foot, in order to perform a religions cereinony of
washing in the sea at the time of the Sun’s hthpsc
the nest day 5 mui that e (the President) had
sent the Company’s black servants and merchants
to welcome him mto this part of the country, and
to sound the inclinations of Duacknaroy, whether
he was inelined to dccept an invitation to see the
Fort; and that he had received a vevy eivil answer
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from Ducknaroy and Fyre Khan, with assurances
of their friendship, and an intimation that they
were iuclined to give him a visit.

“ These two persons having the greatest influ-
ence both in the direction and in the execution of
the Nabob’s affairs, it is thought convenient to
receive them in such a manner as may establish
the goodl understanding between us and them be-
gun on making the peace; and that presents be
made them in such n manner as may be most ac-
ceptable to them to the amount of 1000 pagedas ;
that they may be adinitted into the White Town
with 20 palankeens, 100 horse, and 200 foot ;
that the President receive them at the foot of the
stairs in the inner Fort, and lead Ducknaroy into
the Consuftation Room ; that 51 guns be fired by
the Fort; and then taken up by the ships; that
on his departure out of the ¥White Town the same
number of guns be again fired, and taken up by
the ships also; that the Secretary and Captain
Fullerton be sent to S8t. Thomé to invite them to
come into Town to-morrow morning.”

« Thursday, 12th February. About 8 o’clock
this morning Dncknaroy, the Nabob Sadatulla
Khan's Prime Minister and favorite, together with
Fyre Khan his General, entered the Town with
101} horse and 200 foot (in pursuance to the invi-
tation) and came to pay a visit to the President.
They were weleomed into Town with 51 guns
from the Fort and afterwards from the © King
George” and other ships in the road with a pro-
portionable number. The Président attended by
the gentlemen of Council, covenanted servants
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and most of the inhabitants of the place, conduct-
ed them into the Consultation Room, where the
Nabob's health was drank, and after a shoit con-
fabulation, they took their leaves (being saluted
with 51 guns from the Fort and aflerwards by the
ships as above) and went to a house in the Black
Town prepared by Sunkah Hamah for their recep-
tion ; where they were sumptuously entertained at
the Honorable Company’s Expense till 5 o’clock
in the evening, when they went to t{ake a view
of the Garden house and from thence returned to
St. Thomé,”

The following incidents are so simple that we
leave the records to tell their own story.

* Monday, 23rd February, 1719. The President
acquaints the Board that being informed several
Patan Merchants were come from Bengal on a
ship bound to St. Thomé, he had used means to
indiee them to settle at Madras and to land their
goodi here ; that he had prevailed with them, on
condition they bad a cowle granted exempiing
them from paying the Pagoda or Musqueet duty.
They alledged that to pay to the Pagoda would be
coutributing to the promoting of idolatry ; and
that they cannol ronsent to contribute to the Mus-
queet in this place, which belongs to a different
sect of Mahommadans.

“ Agreed that in consideration the granting
such a cowle will be no detriment to any part of the
Haonorable Company’s revenues, but on the con-
trary will inerease them by the addition of foreign
Merchants becoming inhabitants, such a cowle be
granted them.”
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¢ Thursday, 26th Tebruary, 1719, Chiana
Chetty, one ot the Chetty Caste, was brought before
the Board and charged with the hreach of the law
made the 7th February 1717, for preventing  dis-
putes and  differences between the several Castes ; ;
wherein it is provided that all the several castes
shall, on their public festivals and solemnities,
make use of St George's flag and no other. In
violation of which Law the said Chinna Chettv «id
hoist n Gentoo flug at Trivatore on Sunday lnst.
He confessed the fact, but pleaded ignovance of
the law, which could not be true ; that law having
been promulgated with the utmost solemnity, being
alfixed to all the gates of the town for some
months, aud made on o remarkable an occasion
as the desertion of the Chetty caste.

© The Board, not being informed of the erimi-
nal’s circumstances, fully agreed to defer pronounc-
ing sentence till the next consultation ; clesigning,
if he be a man of some substunce, to impose a pro-
portionate fine wpon him ; otherwise to inflict a
corporal punisliaent and turn him ot of the
bounds ; it being necessary to make an example
of such offenders on the first breach of that law ;
the preservation of which is so requisite to prevent
all disturbances that may otherwise arise on caste
affairs.

¢ Monday, 2ud Marelt. The President reports
to the Board that aecording to agreement in last
consultation, he bad enquived into the ecircum-
stances of Chinna Chetty, and found him incapable
of paying a fine which would bew large enough to
deter others irom committing the like offence.
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Wherefore the Board gave sentence that he should
stand in the pillory for the spuce of an hour the
next choultry day, with a label before himto
siguify his offence, and that then he be expelled
the Bounds.”

The next incident is particularly interesting, as
illustrating the growth of religious toleration in
the English setilement at Fort St. George. Some
of our readers will rememnber that in the year 1680,
when Mr. Streynsham Master was Governor of
Madras, the intermarriage of Protestants with
Homan Catholies had excited the attention of the
English Governent ; and the two English Chap-
lains being taking into Council, the following
atrocious order was forthwith promulgated.
¢ That upon the marriage of a Protestant with a
Roman Catholie, both the parties to be married
ghall solexanly promise before one of the Chaplains
of the place, before the Banns shall be published,
and alzo in the Chapel or Chureh upon the day
of marriage, that sLL the children by them be-
gotten aud born, shall be brought up in the Pro-
testant religion.”” llow this narrow-minded re-
gulation worked for the benefit of the Protestant
religion, will be gathered from the following cir-
cumstances which transpired some thirty years
afterwards.

* Thursday, 2nd April, 1719. The Presidemt
represents that the Portuguese priests of St
Thom¢ had very lately taken the liberty fo marry
some English people belonging to this city with-
ont leae ; which practice he apprebended to be of
dangerous consequence ; many of the young Gen-
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tlemen in the Company’s Service being of good
families in England, who would be very much
scandalized at such marriages as were likely to be
contracted here, without the consent of the Presi-
dent ; particularly that one Crane, late chief Mate
of our ship * Faleonbridge’”’, was married to a
French man’s daughter of this place on Sunday
Jast ; and in order to it renounced the Protestant
religion, which he had professed all his life till
within a few days before. The other was one
Dutton, an ordinary fellow, who was married a
week before 2t St. Thomé to Ann Kidley, whose
father was formerly Governor of the West coast.
Her smal! fortune being in the hands of the Churck,
the minister, us one of her guardians, refused his
consent ; on which they went to 5t. Thomeé, and
found a priest to warry them there. The President
adds that, to show his resentment of such a practice,
he had ordered the Mettos not to suffer any of the
Portuguese Padres, belonging to 5t. Thomé to
come into the English bounds He furthe: proposed
to the Board to consider of some proper orders to
be given for preventing the like practices for the
future. After some consideration, it was agreed
that an order be published in the English and
Portuguese languages, and put up in writing
at the 3ea Gate and at the Puriuguese Church,
that if any Christian inhabitant of Madras
shall be married in this city, at St. Thomé,
or elsewhere, without leave from the Presi-
dent ; that if he be in the Company’s service
-he shall be lable to such penalt; as we shall think
fit; but if the person so offending shall not be in
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the Comrpany’s service, and only a free merchant
or inhabitant of the Town, he shull be expelled the
English Government on the Coast of Coromandel.
Also any parent consenting to, or promoting such
marrisze, without leave as aforesaid, shall be liable
to the like penalty of expulsion.”

“ Mouday, 6th Apiil.  Tle President informs
the Doard that on a full enquiry into the marriage
of the Mate Crane, mentioned in last Consultation,
he finds that the said Crane lhad been bred a Pro-
testant, and continued to profess a Protestant re-
ligion till *tithin a few days of his marviage; and
then the woman whom he married refused to have
the ceremony performed in the English Church,
because all Roman Catholics married there are ob-
liged to subseribe a declaration that they will
bring up their children in the Protestant religion,
by an order of Comneil dated the 25th of March
163); and that on her refusal there to comply
with that obligation, he hail renounced the Protes-
tant religion and declared himself a Roman Catho-
lic in order to marry her. The President therefore
proposed to the consideration of the Board, whe-
ther that orderof Council, dated 25th of March
1650, should be repeated or not ; which being
freely debated, it was unanimously agreed to re-
peal the general order, for the following reasons.

¢ Tirst, that the obligation s in its own nature
unjust, and a violation of that natural right which
all parents have to educate their children in that
religion they think most acceptable to Gad.
Secondly, that sudh o promise can he no obliga-
tion on the conscience of any persor, being unlaw.

39



308 HISTORY OF MADRAS, {rio=aw,

ful initself.  Thirdly, that the requiring such a
promise may be attended with ill consequences, as
in the instance now before us; the womin re-
fusing to be married in the English Church for
that reason only ; the consequence of wiich was,
Cranc’s renouncing the Trotestant religion and
declaring himself a Roman Catholie.

* Ordered that the Secretary acquaint the IHo-
norable Company’s "Chaplain of the place in
writing, with the repeal of the aforesaid order,
and that he is not any more to require such
subseription.” -

*The President also acquaiuts the Board, that
the severe methods which he had taken to show
Bis resentment o the Protuguese priests of 5t
"Thomd, for marrying any subjeet of this Govemn-
ment without his consent, had produced a very
moodl effect ; for that the Padre Governor at St.
Thomé had sent him a very subimissive letter or
address, wherein hie obliges himself, and those of
his fraterniiy subject to him, not to marry any
persons suhjeci to this Government for the future,
without asking his previous consent.”

The following entry refers to the general history.

* Thursday, 16th Apil, 1719, General letter
- from Masulipatam dated the 26th ultimo read,
advising that it s reported that there isan in-
surrcction amongst the Seiads, who have de-
throned and imprisoned King Ferokserc. The
said letter further advises, as a confinnation of that
news, that the Nabob of Golcottdah who was ad-
vancing towards Masulipatan, immediately upon
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that intelligence returned to Golcondah, in order
to draw in his effects with all possible expedition.™

The Nabob of Goleondah here mentioned, does
not appear to have been the Seiad Hussein Ali,
Subah of the Dekkan; for he had gone to Delhi
to assist his brother Abdullah, the Vizier, in de-
throning Feroksere, and setting up other puppet
kings in his voom.. Nor could it have been
Gheen Kulich Khar, better kunown as the Nizam-
ool-Mulk ; for he had retired from the Dekkan on
the appoiutment of Hussein Ali, and was at
this time merely Governor of Malwar We there-
fore infer that by the Nabob of fiolconda was
meant Mobariz Khan, the local Governor of Hy-
derabad.  But we shall have more to say upon
this subjeet further on.

To return to the annals of Fort St. George.
The following ineident does not speak much for the
philological attainments of the Lnglish ivhabitants
at this period.

¢ Monday, 25th May, 1719. The President re-
presents to the Board that there is not any person
in the onorable Company’s Serviee in this place,
who i3 able to translate a letter out of the Portu-
guese and French languages into Euglish; or
tice versd, to translate English into thosc lan-
guages ; which has rendered it difficalt for him to
maintain the neeessaory correspondence in  the
Honorable Company’s affairs ; the Portuguese lan-
guage being the coninon Janguage of India amongst
all Yuropeanz. He therefore proposes to admit o,
young man, namdl George Feriano, son of Mr,
Nathaniel Foriano (Super Cargo of the Honorable
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Company’s Ship © Hertford” to China), who is
wellqualified for the purpose abovementioned, being
skilledl in both those langnages, to be a Factor in
the Honorable Company’s Service here.

¢« Agreed that Mr. George Iorianc be acdmitted
a Factor, Mr. Elwick offering tu be seeurity for
him, and that the Secretary make out his Inden-
tures for three years.”

The next entry is worth preserving as illustratjve
of the times. Singularly enough it expresses the
same fears on a small scale, as those which have
been felt in some guarters in reference to the re-
ductions which are now going on in our Indian
army.

« Thursday, 9th July. The Honorable Court
of Directors having, in the 5th paragraph of their
letters to us by the * Marlborough,” thought fit
to order that the Garrison of this place should be
redueed to 360 men and the Garrison of Fort St.
David to 340,  'The manuer of doing it is taken
into consideration.

¢« Tt appears to us,—First, that this limitation
is only. designed for a time of established pence,
which is not the case at present ; there being by
our last advices from Delbi, two princes with
large armics contending for the Empire, the event
of which may very probably affect us.

*¢ Secondly, it appenrs dangerous to disband the
whole number of supernumcrary forees at once,
even in a time of peace, much 1nore so in a time
of famine. Such number of wmen must he put
wpon violent measures, or else be obliged to go in
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a body inte the scrviee of the Moors, which may
be very dangerous to this settlement.

“ 1t is therefore agreed that the President give
orders to the oflicers to disband gradually the
worst of the Topazes, from about twenty to forty
in a month as he shall think fit ™

In the last chapter we noticed that the Pedda
Naik, or Chicf Watchman, was ismissed from his
post on aceount of neglect of duty. It will be
seen from the following entry that it was soon
found neccssary to restore him to his former
employment.

¢ Monday, 17th August. The petition of Coono-
gozee Timapa Naik read, desiring liberty to re-
sign Lis employment of Chief Watchman to Coono-
rozee Yedda Naik, who officiated in that office be-
fore him, and was very ecapable of executing i,
but was dismissed for his extravagance. The said
Timapa Naik being unfit to do the duty of that
post any longer, by reason of his old age ; and the
former Pedds Naik, being very much reclaimed by
the hardships which his extravagance brought upon
him, promises a faithful discharge of his duty for
the future, and tenders the duties belonging to the
office of Chief Watchman as a secuarity for his fidel-
ity and good Dbehaviour.

“ Agreed therefore that Coonogozee Timapa
Naik be discharged at his request from the office
of Chief Watchman of this city ; and that Coona-
gozee Pedda Naik be appointed in his stead.”

Another entry occurs the same day which illus-
trates the summary method of procecding with
pirates in Governor Collet’s time,
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*¢ The President acquaints the Board that on
Tuesday 11th instant, he, with the rest of the
Commissioners for trving of pirales, did Dring
Roger Bullmore, one of those that ran away with
the * George” Brigantine, to his trial, by virtue of
King George’s Commission; and that haviog
found him guilty of piracy, felony and robbery,
thev had passed sentence of death upon him, and
that he was ordered to be executed onsWednesday
next.”

The hot winds this season appear to have leen
too much for Governor Collet and accordingly he
determined to retire.  But we leave the records to
tell the story.

* Thursday, 15th October, 1719. The Presi-
dent aequaints the Board that having found him-
self indisposed during the last scazon of the land
winds ; so that it is with difficulty that he has
been able to diseharge the duty of his station ; and
that therefore he has detennined fo return to
Furope on the next ship to be despatehed from
lence ; and acguaints them with his purpose so
carly that theve may be time for settling the Go-
vernment according to the Houorable Company’s
standing orders.

* 1{e then proposed that Mr. Francis flastings
shoulit be sent for up from Fort St. David, as soon
as he conld conveniently, in order to take the chair
upon the President’s going off ; and that Mr.
Willinm Jennings, second of Couneil here, should
zo down thither with a Comnfission for Deputy
Governor, and {hat Mr. Nathaniel Elwick, who
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will then Le second here, take on him the office of
accountant,

“ The President then produced a letter wrote
to himself separately by the Honerable Court of
Directors, dated the 8th January 1717, and read
the first para ; by which it appears that they de-
signed Mr. Elbwick for the Export Warchouse-:
kecpers employ partienlarly, as being well skilled
in the sorts of calicoes sent from hence to Fog-
land. 1ie thercfore, proposed that Mi. Klwick
should keep the Export Warehousekceper's emn-
ploy, mut that Mr. Richard Iforden Sea Customner
shoull take the Impurt Warehousckeeper's emn-
ploy upon him ; and that this regulation shouid
contimie in force till the arrival of the next letters
from Furope.

“To gll which proposals the Board agreed
unanimously.”

The last measures of Governor Collet are of
such a simple charaeter that they require no pre-
liminary explanation, and it will be sufficient to
lay the entries themaelves before our readers.

* Monday, 2nd Movember, 1719,  Aceording
to order of lasl consultation, Vizago, the Choultry
Dubash, was brought before the Board on lis
trial, for extorting cxorbitant fees beyoud what
hait ever been practiced, particularly on the re-
gister of slaves. The most that had ever been
allowed was 20 fanams in the whole, including
the Company’s duty ; whereas he had ohliged
great numbers of people to pay him 24 fanams,
and took the 4 farvhms to his own use ; also in
house bills vegistered at the choultry, where the
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true fees are 2 pagodas and 2 fanams per cent.,
he extorted 2 pagodas and 13 fanams, and in
many instances a larger proportion ; aud also in
house bills registered at the conrt, he extorted in
general about 16 per cent above the usual fees ;
and that besides the above mentioned, he has Leen
puilty of great neglect in his office, by putting off
the poor people and refusing to do their business.

* A great number of persons of all ranks ap-
peared to prove the several branches of the charge ;
but there was no occasion to hear any witness ex-
cept to the last article, he confessing all the rest
on their being proposed to him ; some witnesses
were called for the proof of that, who very fully
convicted him of delay, and putting oft their busi-
ness from time to time without acy reasonable
€xcuse.

“ The priscner and witnesses being withdrawn,
it wos considered that the practice was in itself
seandalous and abusive, and particularly oppres-
sive to the poor; many of them being obliged
in this time of famine to sell their children
for rice ; and the extorting £ fanams in the fees
was a considerable hardship on themn ; that,
therefore, it was necessary to put a stop to such
abuses by making the offender a public example.

“ Aceordingly it was resolved that Vizago, the
Choultry Dubash aforementioned, be turned out of
the Honorable Company's service, and disabled
from any future employment therein ; that he
stand in the pillory the next ©heultry day; and
that he Le fined 300 pagodas, onc-half to be paid
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to the Charity School, and the other half to the
Choultry Siock for the maintenance of prisoners.

“The criminal being called in, sentence was
pronounced accordingly.

 To prevent such abuses for the future, it is
ordered that the after wiitten statement of Choul-
try fees, being agreeable to ancient custom, he
bung up in the Choultry by the Chief Justice.

¢ For registering houses and land in the Mayors
Court register, sitnated in the Black town, pettahs,
or out gardens; for every bill to pay oue per cent
to the Chief Justice, and half per cent to the Re-
gistrar on the value of the house or land.

“ And whereas inost of the buildings in the
Christian Town do far cxceed those without in
value, to prevent the charges running too high -
for every bill value under 500 pagodas, is to pay
the same fees as above; but all bills exceeding
that sum are to pay 5 pagodas to the Chief Jus-
tice, and 2§ pagedas to the Registrar, and no
more.

 For registering hounses and land in the Choul-
try Register ; for every billto pay one per cent,
to the Chief Justice, and one per cent. to the
Registrar, on the value of the house or land.

* For Registering slaves; for every slave the
Honorable Company are to reccive § fanams, the
Registrar 8 fanams, and the Chief Justice 2
fanams.

“ And al! bills, either for houses, land, or
slaves, are to pay to the Choultry Duhash one

anam, and fo the Chicf Justice’s Taliars one
40
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fanam, for their trouble in getting the bills regis-
tered.

“ And whereas some small houses in the Black
Town, not exceeding 5 or 6 pagodas in value,
are made over by bills of sale wrote in Gentoo
on Cajan leaves, which are entered in the Register
kept by the Town Conicoply for that purpese ; for
every Uajan bill the Town Conicoply is to receive
2 fanams ; besides the one per cent as above to
the Chief Justice and Registrar.

* The bricklayers for measuring of ground are to
receive for their trouble 2 fanams for all valued at
100 pagodas or upwwrds, and one fanam for all
under.”

 Thursday, 26th November, 1719. The Pre-
sident acquaints the Board that he bad some time
since published an order for registering all houses
and gardens in the Black Town, or the adjacent
parts, in the Mayor’s Court or Choultry, for pre-
vention of frauds in sale and mortgages; but
that some of the poor having complained to him
that during the present dearness of grain it would
be hard upen them to pay the charges though
small, he therefore, proposes that all houses under
60 pagodas value should be cxempted from the
obligation of that order, till plenty returns, which
the Board agrees to.”

* Wednesday, 23rd December, 1719. The Presi-
dent being about to depart for England, demands
for his justification hereafter, a certificate from the
accountant that he stands not indebted upon the
Honorable Company’s General RBooks. He like-
wise demands a certificate from the Sea Customer
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that he has paid all their customs due from him,
one from the Receiver to the same purpose, and
another from the Land Customer. All which are
ordered to be drawn out against next consultation
and delivered him, the Board being satisfied that
he is not in any way indebted to the Honorable
Company.

* Monday, 28th December, 1719. The Presi-
dent delivers in a list of the inhabitants of a new
petiah or town raised near Trivatore, consisting of
105 houses which are inhabited by 489 persons,
male and female, besides children, ranged under
the usual divisions of Right hand and Left hand
Caste. Ue acquaints the Board, that the town,
in which there 1s also a handsome pagoda, is cali-
ed at the desire of the people  Collet’s pettah ;™
and that the inhabitants consist of weavers and
painters, which he encouraged by degrees to come
and live near this place, that they might be ser-
viceable to the Honorable Company. That in
order to prevail with them toa compliance, he
promised them, so soon as the town was completed,
a Cowle should be given them to secure to them
such privileges and immunities ; and the said Town
being now finished, and theinhabitants well settled,
he proposes that his promise which is now claimed,
should be performed, and a Cowle given them ae-
cordingly ; the conditions of which being approved
by the Board, as well as the President’s manage-
ment in this affair, the Seeretary is ordered to pre-
pare.”

* Monday, }8th January, 1720. Early this
morning the Honorable Joseph Collet, Esq., Pre-
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sident, emharked on Board the * King William ;”
whereon the Goverment fell to the Honorable
Francis Hastings, Esq.

Having thus closed the narrative of the tranquil
state of affairs at Fort St. George during the last
vear of Mr. Collet’s administration, it may be as
well to take a brief glance at the contemporary
state of the ruling power at Delhi.  All those in-
fluences which indicate the decline of an empire,
were in full play in the empire of the Mogul. Vice
and sensuality at the court, frequent rebellions in
the provinces, a puppet king struggling for power,
overbearing ministers, a mercenary army without
theshﬂhtest sentiment of leyalty, incessant intrigues
ending In open assassinations ;—these, and a thou-
sand other significant circuwnstances, were tran-
spiring in India. Indeed it must have been evident
to all that ever since the death of Aurungzebe in
1707, the Mogu) empire had been hastening to its
dissolution ; worn out by premature old age
brought on by its political crimes, and vainly
struggling to retain the appearance of strength
and beauty when it was fast sinking into the grave.

It was during this gradual decay of the power
of the Mogul, that a man arose, whose name, and
that if his descendants, must ever take a prominent
place in the history of this Presidency. This man
was Cheen Kulich Khan, better known as Nizam-
ool-Moolk, the first Nizam of the Dekkan. His
father Ghazee-oo-deen was one of those Tartar ad-
venturers, who had migrated info [ndia at a com-
paratively recent period, and risenso eminence du-
ring the wars in the Dekkan. The future Nizam
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was born in 1644, and like his father had distin-
guished himself in the wars of Aurungzebe. Du-
ring the reigus of the immediate successors of
Aurungzebe,—Shah Aulum and Jebandar Shah,—
he had fallen into cbseurity, in consequence of his
rivalry with Zulfikar K han, —that great king maker
to whom both the last mentioned princes owed their
thrones. But in 1713, when he was fast approach-
ing his seventieth year, his fortunes were again on
the rise.  Jehandar Sbhah bad been dethroned by
the two Seiads; and both he and Zulfikar Khan
were put to death. The two Seiads set up Ferok-
sere as a puppet of their own; and Cheen Kulich
Khan, bemng well known as the enemy of Zulfikar
Khan was first appointed Nizam of the Dekkan.

Most of the intrizues of Feroksere to escape
from the thraldom of the Seiads, have already been
noticed in the narrative of the English mission
from Caleutta to Delhi. But the last of all, the
one which led to the downfall of Feroksere, de-
serves especial notice ; for it is one which striking-
ly illustrates the desperate state of public atfairs,
whilst it is closely connected with the rising fortunes
of Cheen Kulich Khan. Bnt the last and most and
important plot of all, the one in which Cheen
Kulich Kbhan was implicated, and which led to the
rain of Feroksere about the very time that Gover-
nor Collet left the Madras Presidency, deserves
especial mention.

Very early in the reigh of Feroksere, Cheen
Kulich Khan had cause to hale the two Seiads,—
Abdullah, the vizies, and Hussein, the commander
in-chief, He had held the government of the



318 HISTORY OF MADRAS. 0ne=%,

Dekkan little more than a year, when he was re-
moved to the small government of Moradabad, and
the Dekkan was handed over to Hussein. Under
such circumstances the disappointed Nizam was
likely to prove a powerful supporter to Feroksere.
Accordingly he was summoned to court, and the
emperor promised to make him vizier in the room
of Abdullah, provided the Seiads were overthrown.

A plot was speedily formed, and was soon ripe
for execution. Hussein was away in the Dekkan,
and Abdullah was alone in Delbi.  Accordingly
it was determined to assassinate Abdullah at that
great festival which terminates the Ramazau ; for
on that day the king went in state to the Mosque,
attended by a train of nobies and troops far ex-
ceeding in munnber the guards of the vizier. But
all went wrong through the criminal weakness of
Feroksere. He had a favourite, a low profligate mi-
nion, who was naturally hated by the whole court.
The influence of this favourite was all powerful.
By lis advice Feroksere was induced to postpone
the plot. Worst of all, Feroksere forgot his promise
to Cheen Kulich Khan, and actually engaged to
make this wretched favourite vizier as soon as the
Seiads were overthrown. Lastly the emperor was
mad enough to give to this favourite the district of
Moradabad as a private jaghire; being the very
district of which Cheen Kulich Khan was Gover-
nor.

These eircumstances’ came out in {ime, and then
Cheen Kulich Khan was more exasperated against
such an infatuated king tham he had previously
been against the Seiads ; whilst the vizier Abdul-
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Iah saw that Feroksere was incorrigible, and that
his own life would be in constant danger so long
as Feroksere continued on the throne. According-
ly he drew over Cheen Kulich Khan by the promise
of the government of Malwa, and immediately
summened his brother Hussein Ali from the Dek-
kem. .

The doom of the emperor Feroksere was now
senled. In bis alarm be sought a reconciliation
with Abdullah, and the vizier engaged with the
emperor in mutual oaths of fidelity and at-
tachment.  Of course such oaths were ut-
terly worthless. Ahbdullah merely desired to
gain time for the arrival of his Drother;
whilst the cowardly Feroksere continued to lay
plots for the assassination of the Seiads. Mean-
time Hussein Ali had made a peace with the Mah-
raitas, and at last reached Delhi with thirty thou-
sand horse, ten thousand of whom were Mahrattas,

The whole city was now filled with dread. Every
one felt, from the highest Omrah to the lowest
dealer in -the bazaars, that a terrible convulsion
was at hand. The very appearance of the
Mahrattas, Hindoo robbers as they were, sug-
gested ideas of massacre and plunder to the
Mussulmen of Delhi ; whilst no one could foretell
who would gain the ascendant, the Seiads or the
emperor. Meantime the wretched Feroksere began
to see hiz own folly. He was however far too
weak and cowardly to attempt the slightest resis-
tance to the two Seiads, and therefore helplessly
submitted to their smercy. They demanded that
the royal guards should be withdrawn from the
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palace, and that their own soldiers should be post-
ed in their room. Feroksere obeyed. Hussein Ali
then paid him a formal visit, and the poor miser-
able emperor made a8 desperate effort to conetliate
his enemy. He received the Seiad with the great-
est distinetion. He burst into tears and placed
his own turban on the head of Hussein ; and even
took the jewels from his dress and pressed Hussein
to accept them. But the Seiad rcfused, and
npbraided the fallen monarch with his ingratitude,
He then left the palace without paying any of the
ordinary ceremonies of respect due to the person
of his sovereign.

In a few days more all was over. On the 15th
of February 1719, Feroksere expressed a wish to
hunt, but the Seiads suspected him of designing
an escape, and obliged him to postpone the inten-
tion. The next day the Seiads surrounded the
palace with their troops, and the vizier entered
the presence of the Emperor, and demanded that
all the cffices of the palace should be given into
his hands. Feroksere promised compliance, but
prayed for delay ; and the evasion threw the vizier
into such a passion, that the terrified emperor re-
treated 1o the haram, which he hoped would be
respecicd by the rebels.

The story of the night which followed is one of
the most thrilling narratives in all the Mussulman
histories. The vizier Abdullah remained in the
palace, and so also did Ajeet Sing, Rajah of
Meway, whose daughter had Dbeen given in
marriage to Fevoksere as a tokvn of submnission to
the Mogul supremacy, The army of Ilussein
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Ali, icluding the ten thousand Mahwatias, P%\
mained under arms the whole night,  Parly m
the morning a rumour flew through the city
that the vizier had been killed by Ajeet Sing, who
Liad resolved 1o protect 1he emperor his son-in-law ;
apd accordingly several omrahs prepared to rise
against 1ussein A, Meautime 1 party of Mah-
rattas had engaged with some soldiers whowm they
bad wmistaken for an encwy ; and (he still more
frightful rumour spread thyough Delhi that the
Maiiratias were plundering the city, At once the
whole population of fiery Mussulmen arose as one
man agairst the idolutrous Mahrattas.  TFifteeu
hundred 1lindoos were massacred in the streets, and
the whole city was thrown iuto frightful disorder.
Those omrahs who supporied the cause of the
Seiads, in their alamm at the supposcd death of the
vizier, were preparing to make their escape {rom the
scene of anarchy.  Tlunder, five, and nwssacre had
already begun, when the news spread  that Abdul-
lah was still alive. Hussein All and his friends now
recovered their spirits and restored order. The
royal servauts were dispersed after a brief resist-
ance ; and it was proclaimed from the walls of the
citadel that another prince had ascended the
throne.

Yhilst these events were being transacled in the
city, still darker horrers were being perpeirated in
the palace. Yeroksere utterly refused to leave the
haram. Meantime Abdullah was inforrued that the
people were already in vevolt, and that no time
was to be lost.  Jn this extremity he comnmanded
some Afghans to force open the doors of the

131
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haram. There was a short conflict with the
euniichs and other attendants, and then the vizier
and his rude soldiery rushed into the sacred apart-
ments. The unbappy emperor, surrounded by his
mother, wife, daughter, and other princesses, was
soon discovered. The royal Jadies filled the air
with their shrieks and prayers for mercy, whilst
Feroksere himself was in an agony of terror.  But
Abdullah turned a deaf ear to all emtreaties, and
pounced upon his prey. The emperor was drag-
ged from the arms of the half frantic women, and
thrown into a dark cimber. A child was taken
from the coufined princes, and immediately seat-
e upon the throne ; and the booming of cannon
and customary strains of music announced to the
people of Delhi that Feroksere was deposed and
that another puppet king reigned in his stead.

The end of Feroksere may be related almost in
the very words of the Mussulman historian. For
two months he was confined in a dark chamber,
enduring various calamities. The hot iron, by
which so many princes had been incapacitated
from reigning, was drawn over the eyes of Ferok-
sete ; but strange to say it did not utterly destroy
bis sight. He sent the most piteous messages to
the Seiads, praving to be restored to the throne
on any terms they chose ; but not the slizhtest
attention was paid to his prayers. Then he pro-
mised immense rewards to his keepers, provided
they wonld connive at his escape. The Sciads
were now alarmed, for Feroksere was still lament-
cd by the lower orders amon¥st whom he had
squandered his treasures, and an escape might be
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followed by arevolt and a revolution.  According-
ly they resolved on his death. On two differeut
oceasions poison was mingled with his victuals,
but without effect.  The third time he was thrown
into violent agonies, and began to invoke God
against his murderers. The bow string was then
sent for, byt the emperor struggled against his
executioners with all the violence of desperation.
He seized the bow string with his hands, and it
was only after he lhad Leen beaten down with
clubs, that the striug was passed round his neck,
and he at last expired. On the following cvening
the hody was interred in the tomb of Huamayun, fol-
lowed by a large crowd, cursing the Seiads and
lamenting their beloved Feroksere.

The new child emperor only reigned four
wonths, and then died of a consumption. Another
child was taken from amongst the confined princes,
but he shared the same fate. At last a healthier
voung prince was selected, who ascended the
throne under the name of Mobamned Shak, He
began to reign before the end of 1719, and
before the end of 1720 the power of the eiads
was entirely over. This eveut is so intimately
connecied with the final establishment of Cheen
Kulich Khan as Nizam of the Dekkan, that we can
scarcely avoid narrating it here.

On the deposition of Feroksere, Cleen Kulich
Khan had obtained his promised reward, namely,
the government of Malwa. There he found every-
thing lapsing into anarchy ;—the Zemiudars as-
serting their independence, and the people either
suflering fromn robbers or Lecoming rvohbers them-
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selves. These disorders justified him in raising
and maintaining troops ; but the Seiads soon sus-
pected that he was aiming at something far hevond
the mere defence of his province. Aceordingly
they tried every friendly 1eans to remove him.
Hussein Ali was still viceroy of the Dekkan, and
they hinted to Cheen Kulich Khan, that as
Mulwa lay hall way between the Dekkan and
Delhi, =0 it would formn a very convenient re-
sidence for Hussein Ali; inasmuech as from that
spot Hussein could both superintend his vice royal-
ty in the Dekkan, and watch the progress of
affairs at the capital. Accordingly they offered
Cheen Kulich Khan four other Subahs, any one
of which he might have in exchange for Malwa.
He sent back an insunlting refusal, and then march-
ed an army over the Nerbudda into the Dekkan,
where he had many old connections both ainongst
the Mussulmans and the Mahrattas. There he
achicved a brilliant success, and the Seiads became
alarmed. Anarmy was sent sgainst him, but hede-
feated it. At the same time, the new king Moham-
med Shal, saw in Cheen Kulich Khan, one whe
might deliver him from the thraldom of the Seiads.
Accordingly he sent secret nmessages assuring him
that he should receive royal support in  his resis-
tance to the Selads.

In this extremity the Seiads resolved that Hus-
sein shonld march against the self-consiituted
Nizam of the Dekkan, whilst Abdullah remained
at Dethi.  To make matters donbly sutre, it was
also resolved that Mohammef Shah should ac-
company Hussein.  Thix circumstance proved the
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ruin of the Seiads. A conspiracy was formed
for assassinating Hussein during the march.
A savage Calieck named Hyder Khan was
pitched upon to strike the blow. Whilst
Hussein was passing along in his palaokeen,
Hyder altracted his attention with a petition ; and
when Hussein commanded him to present it, he
drew out his dagzer and inflicted a mortal blow
upen the Seiad. 1Tussein cuspected the author
of the conspiracy, and cried out ** Put the emperor
todeath.”  But it was toolate. The necessary
preparations had been made for the defence of Mo-
hammed Shah, though the assassin himsel{ was
eut in pieces on the spot by a hundred swords.
Here closes the story of the famous usarpa-
tion of the Beiads. Mohammed Shah returned to
Dellsi, and Abdullah was utterly defeated, and im-
prisoned for life. How the Mogul empire rapidly
faded away, until it seemed to expire in the funeral
pyre heaped up by Nadir Shab, belongs to a future
_episode 1n our annals of the Madras Presidency.
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CHAPTER XXXL

GOVERNORSUIP OF MR, FRANCIS HASTINGS.
1720—21.

The Governorship of Mr. Francis Hastings, the
suecessor of Mr. Collett, was short and turbulent.
1t lasted little more than a year and a haif, name-
Iy, frum the 18th of January, 1720, to the 13th of
October, 1721, The foreign relations wevre quiet
enough at this time, and for some years afterwards,
as both Sadatulla Khan, Nabob of the Carnatic,
and Cheen Kulick Khan, Subah of the Dekkaun,
were far too busy in establishing themselves in
their several governments to pay much attention
to the little Factory at Fort St. George, so long
as it paid the annual rental on the day 1t was due.
But the internal affairs of the settlement were
marked by many irregularitics and disorders during
the administration of Mr. Hastings, and of his
successor Mr. Elwick ; and thus necessitated those
rigid inquiries and thorough reforms which were
subsequently carricd out by one of the most re-
markable of all the early Governors of Fort St.
George, namely, Mr. Junes Macrae.

The fivst incident under the rule of Mr. Hastings
is connected with an extraordinagy dispute with an
Havildar in the neighbourhood of Egmore, which
was brought to a tragical conclusion ; the Havildar



175041, HISTORY OF MADRAS. 327

being shot dead in the midst of the guarrel by the
Company’s Chiefl Peon.  The folluwing is the offi-
cial narrative of the affair.

‘ Baturday, 20th February, 1720, The Presi-
dent acquaints the Board, that last mught the
Havildar of the Meito near Egmore had stopped
some oxen, loaden with bricks and straw, which
belonged to the Honorable Company, which were
coming into Town. This morning, being com-
ploined to about it by the Paymaster, as also of
the people being bheat and imprisoned that were
driving the oxen and refused to pay some money,
which the Metto people would have extorted from
them ;—he (the President) sent the Chiefl Dubash,
with some others, to know the reason of such
an insult, and to demand the delivery of our people
whom he bad imprisoned. The President adds
that instead of receiving answer to that message,
the Havildar returned him a very sauey one, and
refused to let the Honorable Company’s goods and
people pass ; though the Chief Dubash used many
mild persuasive arguments with him for that pur-
pose. At lengih, not Dbeing able to prevail, the
Chicf Dubash returned and gave the President an
account of what had passed ; whereupon he order-
ed the Chief Peon, with some others, to go and
expostulate with the Ilavildar further, and in case
of any resistauce to force the Havildar to a com-
plisnee.  But when the Chief Teon went to him,
he found him at the head of about 50 of his peons
and people i a fighting posture ; and upon going
up to him to ucliver the President’s message,
the Havildar drew his scimetar and struck at
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Lim, which be warded off with Lis targe,
and thereby evaded being cut down. The Chief
Peon immedintely drew a pistol from lis side, and
shot the Ilavildar; which when he had doue, he
with his people fell upon the rest and killed two
more, wlich terrified them all so much that they
Yan away.

“The President adds that he thinks the Chief
Peon has by this action showed himself a trusty
servant to the Honorable Company, and deserves
encouragement ; that if e had sat tamely down
under this first insult, we should not have failed
of receiving many more of a higher degree; and
that our showing our resentment upon this occa-
sion will have a good influence upou all the Metto
people, and Junkameers for the future ; that lest
the matter should be represented to our prejudice
to the Nabob, he has taken care to transmit an ex.
act account of it to our Vakeel au Argot ; and for
the security of the garrison has given‘&\a\ g8 to the
Officers to be upon a very strict guarcgeqq ‘gor of
surpnise.”’ 5

‘I‘)Monday, 14th March, 1720. The \nth:;:;(;nt
acquaints the Board that Te has recei o yiavy
friendly letters from the Nabiob and Du jqer0y
upon the subject of the Metto Havilda ..:ing
unfortunately killed by our peons ; and that appre-
hending no disturbance will ensue, he has ordered
in the guards which he had joined to thase at
Egmore and the Choultries, in order to put a stop
to the expence occasioned thereby.”

The next event is narrated a¢ a length far ex-
cecding its importance, and can be best told in a
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few words, It seems that a discovery was nade
that some sort of correspondence had heen going
on between the principal Chetties in Madras and
the Portuguese Viceroy of Goa. I'rom a perusal
of the papers it would scem that this correspond-
enca only referred to some presents that the Viceroy
of Gon wished to send to Hussein Ali, the previ-
ous Subah of the Dekkan ; hut Governor 1lastings
appears to have suspected that tiie correspondence
had for its object the * revolt of the Chetties,” or
in other words their removal from the English Go-
vernment of Yort Bi. George to the Portuguese
sovernment of St. Thom¢. ‘The matter assumes
an uodue importance in the records, inasmuch as
it was the cause of a tremendons quarrel letween
Governor 1lastings, and Mr. Nathaniel Elwick,
who was at that time third in Council ; Governor
Hastings being inclined to deal harshly with the
Chettics, whilst Mr. Elwick declared that no proaf
whatever had Leen furnizhed that they were really
guilty.,  Under sueh cirenmstances Governor Hast-
ings placed the Heads of the Chetties under con-
finement, and then ordered the following proclmna-
tion to be posted on the Sea Gate, with the view
of obtaining further evidence azainst thein,

« Monday, 25th April, 1720, Whereas a dis-
covery hath lately been made of a design sometime
since formed by the inhabitants of the Chetty
easte of this place, to revolt from this Government
and to take protection under the Portuguese at St.
Thomd ; anid whereas there is just reason to sus-
peet, by the Vicemoy of Gow's letters to (he Heads
of the Chetty caste, that they signified under their
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hands their resolution to desert this place and shel-
ter themselves under the Yortugnese at 8t. Thomé,
in case he could have obtained a grant of that
place fiom the Nahob ; and whereas, furthermore,
the said Chetties upon examination have confident~
ly denied their eugagement in any such conspi-
racy ;—-the llonorable Governor and Council have
therefore thought fit toissuce out this proclamation,
that 1f any person or persous concerned in the
said conspiracy will make discovery to the Presi-
dent, or to any one of the Council, so as that the
rest of the persons concerned may be fully con-
victed, such person or persons shall recrive a
handsome reward and full parden for themselves.”
* By order of the Honorable GGovernor
awd Couneil.”
The Proclamation had no effect whatever. Noone
came forward to volanteerevidence, and the Chet-
ties themselves obstinately denied alf knowledge of
such a couspiracy. Accordingly Governar Hastings
desired them to sign a paper, 1n whick confiscation
of all property and the forteiture of all protection
were declaved to be the penalty of desertion. This
~ however the Chetties refused to do, and then the
Governor proposed that the two head Chetty
merchants, who conducted the Company’s invest-
ments, should be suspended from their office. The
following extiract from the consultation of the
30th May, 1720, will show the wvature of Mr,
Elwick’s opposition,
« Mr. Llwick offered security fov the two Chetty
Merchants, as far as 10,000 pagodas, for their
appearance six months hence ; but being asked if
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he wounld sign the security paper in their behalf
aforementioned (involving the pain of confiscation
and forfeiture) ; and being also asked if he would
suffer the penalty which the Chetties must sutfer
in case their accusation should herealter be turned
Into a conviction ; — he refused them both ; and
being told by some of the Board, that the seeurity
which he eoffered was no move than bail for their
appearance six months hence, and that according
to the laws of our nation all persons taken up
upon suspicion of treason are forthwith imprison-
ed without bail or mainprize, Mr. Elwick’s notion
was thereupon rejected.”

Mr. Elwick continued to be very earnest in his
opposition to the suspension of the two Chetty
Merchants, and declared that the sorting of the
cloth, and the business of the Company generally,
could not go on whilst they were i confinenient.
The records of the dispute sre far too voluminous
for publication, but the following extract from the
consultation book of the 1Uth of July will suffi-
cently ithustrate the party spirit which prevailed.

“ The President acquaints the Board that AMr.
Flwick, the Warehouse keeper, has been very re-
miss in his business in not having given in any
account of the contract ever since it was made,
and in not having sorted any quantity of cloth
since the ° Dawson’s” dispateh ; though out of
perverse, obstinate humour Mr. Elwick pressed
him once or twiee, while the merchants were esn-
fined, for their releasement in order to go to sort-
ing. Mr. Elwick, finding his plea for not sorting
proved fo be nothing else bhul an cxcuse for idle-
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ness, began to be much coraged ; and told the
President that it would draw very strange stories
on the stage, and that the consequence must take
its course, desiring those words might be minuted
verbatim ; to which the President made no reply,
but ordered the Seeretary to minute them ac-
cordingly.”

About this time the attention of the Govem-
ment was excited by the murder of a Chetty whose
name is not mentioned. It was a cold Dblooded
affair. The murderers were two soldiers, nammed
Robert Grott and Richard Righting, who appear
to have killed their victim fur the sake of drink.
The depositions are lengthy, but the following
extract will suffice to show how such cases were
adjudirated on in the Couucil Room.

 Monday, August 1st, 1720, ‘I'he aftair of the
murder is pow resmned.  The President acquaints
the Board, that a Dubash boy (belonging to one
of the prisoners suspected to be guilty of the mur-
der) was apprehended at 3t. Thomé ; who being
sent for in, deposes that he went with lcbert
Grott, his master, from his house in company with
two white men, and a woman, whose names be
could not tel, to drink toddy at a toddy house;
where they staved till past 12 o’clock at night, at
which time the two men and the woman left them.
Then the prisoners Grott and Righting went o a
chenltry and carvied a boltle of arrack ; where they
saw a man covered over with a clout, fast asleep;
whom scon after they awaked Ly giving him a
blow with a cane, anel at the samge time asked for
fanams {0 buy wrack. The man answeved he had
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none. But receiving a blow or two wore from
them, he gave them one fanam, then another, and
afterwards a third. Upon continuing their usage
to him, and repeating their demands, he drew
down lis purse and bid them look if there was
any more. Then the prisoner Righting told him if
he hac no more than three fanans, he would give
him more if he would go with him to the Gover-
nor's Garden ; but instead of carrying hira thither,
they led him to another garden near the Choultry,
where he afterwards heard bim ery out. The
Dubash further deposes that when he would have
followed them, they struck him and bid him be
gone ; and as he was going away he saw Righting
take the club from Grott. After this they went
to Town, and a soldier, by name Clark (whose
house they were in) asked them, how came they so
bloody ; who said they lad been fighting. 'Lhe
Dhubash afterwards went to look for a mat to sleep
on, and saw Righting look over some silver things ;
and upon demamlmfr leave to go home, he demed
him, Clark again asked them how came they so
bloody ; who repllecl as before that they had been
flﬂ‘htmﬂ'

“ l{wl\tmﬂ' being sent for in ard interrogated
coneerping what the bov had deposed against ]mn
says that Te never had the club in his hand, but
carried the Chetty into the Garden; upon which
he was ordered to withdraw and Grott being
called in snys that Righting took the club away
from him and Killed the man,

“ Righting bejg brought in again, and ac-
quainted with what lis comrade had alleged
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against him, declared that they had been drinking,
and that the Dubash boy told Gratt that this
Clietty fellow had money ; upon which Grott went
to him and asked him for some, when he gave
him two fauams; then he demanded two more,
but hie would not give it them. The deponent
Righting, seeing that, took him into a garden, and
told him if he would not comply he would carry
him to the Governor's Garden ; and as they were
talking tegether Grott struck him with the club
and killed him. Grott being called in, again denies
what is laid to his charge ; and being asked where
the Chetty’s silver girdle, his carrings, and other
things were, avers that Righting took them and he
Tt:s heard nothing of them sinee. Upeon which
Righting was again sent for and asked the same
question; who answered that the Dubash boy
taok them off, which is all that bLe knows of the
matter.”

« The prisoners being all dismissed the Room,
the Board debated upon the affair {or some time,
and then unanimeusly pronounced them guilty of
the murder. But the Honorable Company, bav-
ing not yet procured a power to bring to an Exe-
cution, it was agreed they should be continued in
prison and whipped very severely every weck as a
punishment for the disorders they commitied as
soldiers.”

The rourder case being thus deposed of, Go-
vernor Hastings poured out the vials of his
wrath upon Mr. Elwick. He brought forward a
declaration that he would no Jonger sitat the
Council Board whilst Mr. Elwick was present,
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But the story is best told in the lunguage of the
records.

« Monday, 8th August, 1720. The President
acquaints the Board, that he has called this con-
sultation on a very extraordinary occasion, in ordex
to lay before us a declaration concerning the re-
peated afironts that he had received from Mr.
Nathaniel Elwick, a member of this Board, and
also his incapacity for the service of the Honorable
Company. The said declaration being read before
the Board, and duly considered ; Mr. Elwick was
orderel to withdraw ; in pursuance of the Houor-
able Company’s orders, that nhe member of the
Board should continue sitting while such cases
relating to himself were examining.

o Mr. Llwick being withdrawn the President’s
declaration was more maturely considered ; and
most of the members of the Board agreed that
one or other of them was assured of the truths of
all the fucts clirged on Mr. Llwick by the Presi-
dent, in relation to his behaviour at this Board as
well as in this place.

“ The facts alleged to prove his incapacity were
then considered, and thereupon Mr. Draper the
Secvetary delivered in a report, which was read
and observed to prove one article of Mr. Elwick's
remissness. Al the other instances of his negli-
gence were well enough known to most of the
members of the Board, and therefore did require no
other proof.

e« The latter clause of the President’s declarations
was then considesed, wherein he pleased to publish
his full resolution to =it no longer as President at
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this Board, if Mr. Elwick should continue asa
member of it.

* Upon recourse to the Honorable Company’s
letter in order to find out some directions in such
ouf of the way cases, no such appeared ; and there-
fore, we judged it a case of an extraordivary na-
ture.  We observed, however, that suspension is
made the penalty of a refractory disorderly beha-
viour, as well of neglizence and remissness in
busiuess ; and therefore the President desired the
opinion of the Board, if Mr. Elwick had not in-
curred the penalty of suspension.

< "The matter being debated for sometime, the
Board thought fit to come to the following agree-
ment.

“That as Mr. Elwick, on account of his refrac-
tory disorderly and insolent behaviour to  the Pre-
silent, has most justly incurred the puualty order-
ed by our Honorable Masters to be inflicted in
such rases, as well as on account of his negligenee
and remissness in his business, which penalty is
no less than suspension. And as the Honorable
President has been pleased to put the matters
upon so important an issue, as to declare to us ali
that he will not sit any longer as President, if Mr.
Elwick is continued at this Board; we think
ourselves under a necessity of suspending Mr.
Elwick, who has been guilty of remissness in
his business as well as of indecent behaviour
to the President and to the rest of the
Board ; rather than to part with the President,
who has so long suffered M. Elwick’s inso-
lence and passed by his remissness, as well as
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behaved himself to us all with the greatest candour,
mildiness amd decency imaginable. 1t is therefore,
agreed and resolved that Mr. Nathaniel Elwick be
suspended forthwith from the Honorable Com-
pany’s Service (officio et beneficio) till the Honor-
able Company’s pleasure be known concerning him.

* As every Member of the Board was allowed
to give his opinion on this, as well as on all other
occasions very frecly, Messrs. Turner and Benyon
declared that they could not agree to suspend Mr,
Flwiek; becavse they thought the llonorable
Company’s orders did nnt allow of a sufficient
latitude for so doing, although they could not
but confess that he hat not behaved himsell to the
President so respectfuilly as he ought to have
done.”

Mr. Nathaniel Elwick subsequently protested
against the proceedings, and then the matter ended
for a while.

The next incident to which we have to draw at-
tention is a very curious one,  Charles Davers, a
voung gentleman who came out as a writer in
L1717, died this year; and left an extraordinary
will zo illustrative of the times that we give it at
length. Mr. Davers had come out in his eighteenth
year, and was not twenty-one at the tiine he died.
He was the fourth son of Sir Robert Davers, Ba-
ronet. is salary appears to have been only £3
a year, and yet he scemns to have been already en-
gaged in several dommercial adventures. The de-
sire of the young man to have his name and me-
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mory perpetuated i3 very strikine : : .
the wiil tg tell its own s?;rvfnkma ; but e Jeave

* Thureday, 22nd Sepismber, 1720. In the
Name of God, Amen, I, Charles Davers, now of
Fort 8t, George in Fast Tadia, Merchant, being
of sound and perfect mind and memory, do make
and ordain this my last will and testament in man-
ner any form following.

* Imprimis, I recommend my soul to God who
gave it, hopine through the merits of a erucified
Saviour to obtain a jovful resurrcction ; and my
body T commit to the earth to be decently interred ;
andl for all such worldly estates, as these which it
has pleased God to bless me with, I give and
bequeath as follows ; viz.

 Tmprimis, I leave unto the Charity School of
this place 20 parodas ; and desire the boys helong-
ing to this School may attend me to the place of
burial. Itew, I leave unto the Master and Mistress
of said School 20 pagodas each for wmourning. 1
wish all piety and learning may attend them, and
that they may infusc the same into the ehildren, by
the help of our Blessed Lord anid Saviour Jesus
Christ, Amen.

« Item, I leave unto my friend Mr. Thomas
Wrizht 20 pagodas for mowrning. I wish all
health way attend hin in this world and happiness
in the mext,

«Item, 1 leave 200 pagodas for a tomb to be
erected in the Dburial place in form as follows.
TFonr large pillars, each to he six covids high, and
six covids distance one from thetother ; the top to
be arched, and npon each pillar a cherubim ; and on
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the top of the arch the efligy of Justice. My body
to be laid i the middle of the four pillars, with a
handsome stoue i top of me, raised about four feet ;
and Lhis inseription in the stone :— Here lyveth
the body of Charles Davers, fourth son of Sir
Robert Davers, Bart, who depurted this 1ife
the ——of ——Anno  Domini -aged "
The tour pillars to be encompassed in with iron
rails, which are to go from piflar o pillar; and
et every sijuare, steps to be raised with stoues, so
as people may read the inseription.

“ Item, 1 leave the 1lono able Goveraor, Coun-
cil, and Secretary of this place, cach a Gold ring
of one pagoda and a half each value, with these
words to be engraved m them, *° Charles Davers,
obiit,” ete. To whom I wish ail tranquility,
healtl, and prosperity.

¢ Ttem, 1 leave unto D, Pitchers, the sum of
30 pagodas in case I dic of wmy present illuess,
and that I did not pay him befere I dicd.

¢ Ttem, I leave unto wy friend, My, Paul Fox-
ley 20 pagodas for mourning ; to whom I wish all
health 1w this world, amd happiness in the pext.

o Ttewy, Ileave unto the Minister that attend
me 2U pagodas for aring. ,

< Ttem, 1 leave unty my friend Mr. John Mau-
bers 27 pagnrlas for monrning.

“ Lastly, I leave my two trusty and beloved
friends Mr. George Sittwel amd Mr. Cateshy
Oadham, my two exeeutars of this my list will
and testament, and desive them to see we carried
to the plac: ol burial in the mauner ollowing viz.

“ My Corpse to be carried from the Town Hail
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at seven o'clock at night. T desire that all the
free merchants of my acquaintance to attend me
in their palunkeens to the place of buwrial ; and as
many of the Cowpany's servants as I have had
apy intimacy within my life time; that all that
attend me may have scarves and hat bands deceut.
I desive that Mr. Main, and the Charity Boys,
may go before wy corpse, and sing a hynm; ny
corpse to be carmed by six Lnglishen or more;
if occasion, the minister axd the rest of the gentle-
mén following. I desire of the Honorable Gover-
nor that I may have as 1many pgreat guus tired as
I am years old, whieli is uow almost twenty-one.
Tn case it is cuslomary te pay the great guns tiring
1 desire you to do it. I desive the favour of the
Captain of the guard to attend me; and that you
present him with a gold ring the same as the Go-
verzor aml Couneil.  And now as to wy Ustate.
1 have 1586 ounces of silver, which my father sent
we out this year. I min concerned with Mr. Thonas
‘Theobalds in a respondentia bond in the * George™
Brigantine. I have also an adventure with Cap-
tain James Hurdis, the prime cost being 72 pa-
gadas and a half. I have at this time in wy escri-
tore about 1J0 pagodas, besides clothes and
linen ; an aceeunt of which [always keep in my
gseritore. 1 desire of my two executors to accepk
of 31 pagoras cach Jor mcurning ; and each a ring
of 15 pagodas valne, with my vame and time of
death engraved npon 1t.

‘= After my corpse is buried, which T desire may
be done very handsomely, the remainder of my
estate I desire may be laid out in rice, and be
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given to the poor at the burial place, as lonz as it
lasts, This I declare to be my last will and
testawent.”
Crarres Davers.”

Intheearly part of 1721, an event transpived in
Black Town which appeurs to have given no little
trouble to the Governor.  The Warchouse Conico-
pily had seduced a Rajpoot woman residing at
Madras ; and the strictiess of the ideas of houour
prevailing among the lajpoots, led ber relations
to demand the severest punishiment against the
offender.  The story is sufliciently told iu the fol-
lowinyg extract from the censultations.

“Thursday, 2ord Pebruary, 1721, Petition
from Venkatarauze, an inhabitant of this plaee of
the Lajpoot easte, was presented to the Board ;
the import of the said petition, being a cowplaint
against Davaroy, il Warchouse Conicopilly for
seducing his sister from hee lawtul hasband, and
forcibly detuining her when she was dewanded by
himself aml her suid husband.  The President
thereupon acquainted the Board that this eowmplaine
had been made te him swgly a fow davs sinee ;
wherenpon he contfined him to the Choultry, with
a resolution 1o re-examine the cuse at the Board ;
the complainant being very pressing and impor-
tunate for justice ; amid beinyg so much exasperated
at the shame and disgrace which their family was
like to suffer on the oceasion, that they eould
scarcely be vestrained from murdering themselves
as well as the woman ; the caste or tribe to whielt
they belong beiar so uieely strict in iheir rales
with regard to matters that concern their honour,
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that they choose much rather to soffer death than
ignominy or reproach. Davarey being brought be-
fore the Board, and cxamined upon the oceasion ;
he replied that Venkatarauze eame about ten days
ago to him amd told him that his sister had
returned from the place, to which lhe sent her up
in the country, but that he could not find her.
Devaroy added that thercupon he sent to one
Eyamoi-Villevechum a Washerman's wife and bid
her look for the girl ; and when she had found her
she told her that her brother desired she mizht be
earried to Davaroy’s house. Davaray added  that
when the gil was brought thither it was very late,
and that therefore he asked the Waslerwoman why
she brought her at that nnscasonable time of night,
and bid her zo away ; but that they desired to
lodge in the konse that night, for fear of being
taken up by the rounds. That in the moming, just
before he went to the Fort, he enquired which was
the Rajpeot wowan ; who when she saw him  de-
sired his protection from her friends, who, she
snid, wonld use her ill whenever she returned to
them. He affirmed that he then bid her goa
second time, but she replied, she was afrakl and
could not go ; and then the Washerwoman told hin
that if he ¢id not keep her from her relations  she
shonld suffer very much.  Wherenpon le came to
the Tort. Davaroy further declared that e ecould
not deny but that Venkatarauze came to his house
the next day, and dewanded his sister, as having
heard that she was there ; and that he replied that
it wus not in his power to detivesr her up, but that
lic might go to his master. That the third day
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the said Venkatarauze met him in the streei,
and demanded his sister again; ond that he
replied, that he had been hard at work in the
Fort, and was very maoch fatigued, but  that he
would talk with bhim in the morning ; when the
said Venkatarauze went and made his comp]amt
to the Governor,

** Venkatarauze, the Complainant, being called
in, and asked concerning the matter in dispute ; he
declared that about four mounths since, having
heard that his sister frequently went to the afore-
mentioned Washerwoman’s house who bore no
very reputable characler, he began to be ap-
prehensive, lest his sister should be seduced by
her, if he did not timely prevent it ; and that
therefore he sent her upin the country to some
relations there, but that lately returning again
very privately (which however came to his know-
ledge) he sent to the aforesaid Washerman’s ta
enguire where she was. The Washerwoman at first
replied, that she knew not ; but afterwards assur-
ed him she was in the house of Davaroy ; whither
he accordingly went, and mecting him at home, in-
freated bim to deliver vp  his sister in order to
prevent shame and infamy from fulling upon their
whole family, which the detention of his sister
would unavoidably oceasion.  The said Venkata-
rauze further deelares, that the defendant Davaroy
then retiwrned ham for answer, that she was not
in biz house, but some where in the strect;
that thercupon Leing exasperated, he persisted in
his demands of the girl; telling him without that
if he was resotved, himself and family should kill
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themselves or leave the bounds; they would do
either of the two. ‘l'o which Davaray replied,
thev might do what they would, but that he could
not make up the matter in less than eight or ten
day’s time, when the Ships were gone for LEurope.

“The Washerwoman being cailed in, and asked
concerning this matter, she (lccld:etl that the Plain-
tifl' Venkatorauze did go to Duavarov and demand
Lis sister ; and that thereupon she herself was sent
for by him, who bid her look amongst the cooly
washerwomen for the girl ; which she did accord-
ingly, found her, and brought her to Davaroy’s
house, who Lid her go away; that they replied it
was late, and that they were afraid of beinz tuken
up by the rounds ; for which reason they desired to
lie there that night. This deponent further al-
leged, that then Davaroy permitted them to stay,
but ordered her fo take care of the girl, and stay
with her.  In the morning they asked Dave arey
what they shonld do with her ; who replied she
might go. The deponent added that she told
Davaroy, that if the girl returned to her relations
they would murder her. Whereupon Davaroy
gave them leave to continue in his house for three
dayvs; two of which, this deponent adds, she re-
mained with the girl ; but confesses that the third
day she was absent.

* "The sister to the Plaintiff Venkatarauze, be-
ing brought before the Board, was asked if Dava-
roy was guilty of the several particulars where-
with he now stood charzed. In answer whereto,
the woman declared in the affingative and offered
her oath to the same.
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* The foregoing depositions being heard and
fully considered ; Davaroy was remanded to the
Choultry, and the several persons concerned in
this affair, dismissed the room.

This affair was debated at very great length,
and occupies an important place in the records,
Fhe case was subsequently handed over to the ar-
bitration of the heads of the castes, and Davaroy
was sentenced {o pay the sum of four hundred
pagodas.

Cur next extract refers to the genersl state of
affairs in the Dekkan. Ti has already been men-
tioned that Hussein Ali Khan had been assassi-
nated, and that Cheen Kulick Khan, alias Nizam-
ool-Moolk, was Subah of the Dekkan,  The entry
though short roay be useful to the historian.

£ luesday, 21st March, 1721. 7The President
acquaints the Board that he has received repeated
advices from our spy peons at the Naholb’s Camp,
relating to Cheen Kulick Khan’s coming this way
with a very powerful army ; that he (Cheen Kutick
Khan) had summoned all the Nabobs of this eoun-
try to come to him to give an account of their
management ; and that it is thought he will come
to Ginjee. The President thevefore proposes to every
one to consider, whether his coming this way may
not prejudice the Honorable Company’s affairs, if
we do not send a present, attended with proper
persons to treat with him. The President further
acquaints the Board that it is reported Diaram is
with him ; but as there is no certainty of it at pre-
sent, he intends 8 make further enquiry.”’

About this time Governor Hastings was en-

44
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gaged in an enquiry into the murder of two Eng-
lishmen at Syraum in Pegu. The event excited
considerable attention at the time, but has long
since been devoid of interest. The main features
however may be related as illustrative of the mode
in which the British traded with Pegu about a
century and a half ago

in 1720 a Captain Heron resided at Syriam, a
few wiles to the south-east of Rangoom, in the
character of British Resident ; and it had been
customary on the arrival of any of the Company’s
ships at the Syriam river, for Captain Heron to
transact all the nceessary busivess with the Prince
of Syriam, or even the King of Pegu, and to give
the supercargo sueh aid and advice as lay in his
power. About this time the Company’s ship *“ Lusi-
tania,” with Mr. Stephen Orme as Supercargo, ar-
rived at the Syriam river. For the first day or two
Mr. Orme lodged at Captain Heron’s house, and all
things went on smoothly. Mr. Orme however re-
fused the proffered assistance of Captain Heron, and
acted for himself. 1le made bis own presents to
the Prince of Syriam, and rejected the aid of Cap-
tain Heron’s overseer whilst conducting the re-
pairs of his vessel. A coolness naturally sprung up
between the two, which was greatly increased
when Mr. Orme not only took a separate house,
but hoisted the English flag in his compound.
The quarrel soon extended to the subordinates ;
and whenever the Lascars of the «* Lusitania™ went
ashore they were obstructed and affronied by the
Lascars of Captain Heren. The former requested
Mr. Orme that they might be permitted to resent
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these affronts ; but he replied that he should
severely punish any one of Liz crew who should
make any attack upon Captain Heron’s men unless
he had received the first blow,

Under these promising circumstances the time
canie round for the Mussulman feast called “ Hossein
Jossen,”” and the *“ Feast of Jamsee ;" better known
as the Mohurrum. This festival is celebrated by
dancing round large fires in the vicinity of the
Mosque, together with mock fighting which gene-
tally ended in real blows. Accorlingly Captain
Heron had never permitted any Englishman to go
near these festivities, and had very often prevented
the Lascars from doing so. Above all it was strictly
forbidden that any one should carry English colours
on the occasion. It seems however that a number
of Lascars from the  Lusitania,” together with
others from some Moors ships, went to the feast,
followed at a distance by five Eurnpeans.  Whether
colours were carried or not appears to be uncertain.
But an affray broke out, in which Cojee Zackary,
an Armentan merchant at Syriam, interfered at the
head of his Lascars ; being also accouipanied by the
Lascars of Captain Heron. It was in this affray
that the Chief Mate and Gunner were murdered at
the dirvect instigation of Cojee Zachary.  We quote
the deposilion of one of the witnesses as a sample
of the whole.

« T, the under written Manoel DeMonte, inha-
bitant and marred in this city of Madras, do
hereby declare that [ being in Syriam in the time
that the Moors matle their feast: we, the Lascars
belonging to the Frigate called the ¢ Lusitania,”
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and some Moor’s Ships, joined at night and were
going to the place where the {east was kept; and
when we came to the Street wherein lives the
Moors Calafa, we met the Lascars of Cojee Zachary
and Captain Heron, The streets being very
narrow, we could not pass by them in a body, and
the Pilot of the Frigate (who was ik our Com-
pany) went and desired themn friendly to go for-
ward, or grant us liberty to pass them. Instead
of hearing his petition, one of the Moors insulted
him and gave him many blows. We seeing that,
we all arose against them and made them pre-
sently run away ; and so continued our mareh to
the place where the feast was kept. A little while
after came Cojee Zachary on horse back, with a
lance in his hand (macde after the country fashion) ;
and after him his Lascars, and some of the natives,
all armed with sticks and stones, The Pilot of the
Frigate perceiving Zachary, he went to him and
took the reins of his bridle in his band, and beg-
ged of Zachary mnot to take notice of what had
happened. Zachary gave him no answer, and
shakinz his head he went round the fire ery-
ing, * Beat the dogs;” and immediately
the quarrel began, which grew so great that
our people all run away, except the Pilot and
Gunner of the Frigate. Zachary, spying them out
ordered his people to beat them ; and he went
himsclf to assist them, and with the lance that he
carried in his hand, be wounded the FPilot, of
which wound the Pilot fell om the ground.
Zachary pereciving that, and thet the (Gunner was
vet safc and running away, he ordered his people



1780=81] HISTORY OF MADRAS. 349

to run after him and bring him back ; which they
did and beat him in the presence of Zachary till
the Gunner fell dead ; which Zachary perceiving,
and it being near the fire round which the Moors
celebrated the ceremony of their feast, he ordered
to bring a light ; and looking on and examining
the two corpses, and finding they were dead, he re-
vired to his house. To the truth of which, being
acted in my presence, I standing all the while in
a house near the place, where all this was acted,
1 do hercby declare and certify, and take my oath
on the holy Evangelist in Madras, this 8th day of
May, 1721.”

The next day Mr. Orme, appealed to the Prince
of Syriam for juslice against Cojee Zachary, but
appears to have been greatly obstructed by Cap-
tain Heron. The information was transmitted to
the king of Ava, and the latter ordered ‘¢ that
Zachary should be in the sun three days, be bored
through his cheeks and cut in his back seven times,
and pay a hundred viss of silver; and that each
one of all the others concerned should receive one
hundred blows; provided that Captain Heron
would declare in the public Ronda that the whole
story was true.” It would seem that Zachary es-
caped punishment ; and on reaching Madras Mr,
Orme charged Captain Heron before Governor
Hastings with having heen bribed to screen the
murderer. It will be sufficient to say that the
charge of bribery fell to the ground, but thas Cap-
tain Heron reccived a severe reprimand from the
Court of Direetirs.

It was soon after this inguiry that the Gover-
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norship of Mr. Francis Hastings was brought
abruptly to o close. The quarrel with Mr. Elwick
was brought to an unfavorable termination; for
instead of his suspension being confirmed, he was
appointed Governor of Fort 5t. George and Mr.
Hastings was removed. The proceedings are some-
what obscure, the Geueral letters from the Court of
Directors being imissing. We can therefore. only
extract the following entry, after which Mr. Na-
thaniel Elwick took his seat in the President’s
chair.

* Sunday, 15th October, 1721. Ships * Heath-
.cote” and ° Marlborough” (belonging to the
Honorable Company), arrived this afternoon from
Great Britaiu ; by whom received two packets from
the Honorable Court of Directors, directed to the
Honorable Nathaniel Elwick, Esq., President and
Governor, William Jennings, Nathaniel Turner,
Richard Benvon, Catesby Oadham, John Emmer-
son, Randal Fowke, James Hubbard, and George
Drake. All except Mr. Jeunings iremediately met
in the Consultation Room in the Fort ; where all
the Company’s servants, both Civil and Military,
and other inhabitants, were summoned ; and on
their appearance the packet was opened and the
Commission react to them, after which they
withdrew.”
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CHAPTER XXXTI.

GOVERNORSHIP OF MR, NATHANIEL ELWICK,
1721—24.

Our readers will already have remarked that
during the period now under review, Fort St
George was singularly free from any interference
on the part of the Nabob of the Carnatic or Subah
of the Dekkan. This tranquil state of aflairs con-
tinued for some years. The rent was patd regular-
ly, and at intervals compliments and presents were
interchanged, but no differences appear to have
arisen like those which mark the carly annals of
Madras. A change alsois perceptible in what
may be called the domestic history of the Presi-
dency. Much of the roughuess of the early period
had passed away. Manners became less quaint
and simple, but more refined ; and altogether there
is a better tone in the consultations. Decorum
was wmore strictlly preserved, whatever doubts may
be entertained as to any real improvement in the
morality of the times.

The first event in the new administration was
however an extraordinary cne.  On the very Sun-
day, the 15th of-October, 1721, that Mr. Elwick
took the place of Mr, Hastings in the President’s
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chair, the new Governor asked the Seccretary for
the Cash book, in order that he might sce the
balance ; but found that it was closed up only to
the end of the previous month, and that no entry
of receipts or disbursements had been made for
ibe month of October. Accordingly, as it was too
late to examine the actual state of the cash
that evening, the cash chest was sealed uwp, and
the key of the Godown in which the silver was
kept, calied the Silver Godown, was delivered up ;
and Mr. Hastings, the late President, and Mr.
Cooke, the Secretary, were requested to be present
in the morning to see them both opened.

Ou the following morning the council assembled
in the Consultation Room. Mr, Hastings was not
present, but Mr. Cooke was sent for to see the
Silver Godown opened. The proceedings may
here be described in the language of the official
entry.

*“Monday, 16th October, 1721. Mr. Thomas
Cooke being sent for, pursuant to an order of
yesterday’s Consultation, to see the Silver Godown
opened and the treasure delivered, acquaints the
Board that there is none at all in the Godown ; he
having sold the last 29 chests by an order of Mr.
Hastings, since the Consultation of the 2nd in-
stant, at 14 dollars per 10 pagodas ; which he in-
tended to have reported the first Consultation
that should have been held. He was asked to pay
in the produce of the silver, but he answered he
bad mot received it. The Board then told kim
that, as he had sold it without at.y authority, they
looked upon him to be sccountable for it ; and de-
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manded what security he could give for the pay-
ment of it. In answer to which he desired time
till the afterncon, when he doubted not he should
be able to give security to our satisfaction. He
was then ordered to withdraw, and acquainted we
should want him by and by.”

“ The President then acquaints the Board that
he sent to Mr. Hastings, to desire to speak with
him upen the matters of his cash account. Ac-
cordingly Mr. Hastings attended the President at
the Fort, where they had a private conference in
the President’s toom ; the result thereof from Mr.
Hastings was, that he was deficient in the cash ac-
count, but that he would in seven days time make
it good and deliver in the cash account with the
balance. In the mean time he desired to resideat
the garden for his health and convenience; and
likewise desired leave to retire to the Mount till
the next ship sails for England, on which he hopes
to embark,

* Mr. Thomas Cooke was again sent for to the
Board, and the money for the 29 chests of silver
demanded of him. He answered he could not at
present comply therewith, but that in twenty day’s
time he would make good the amount of what the
29 chests sold for. Upon which the Board insisted
on scearity il he has paid the money. He an-
swered at present he had not any to offer, but that
he would go and get security. Aecordingly he
was acquainted we should meet again at four
o’clock, and that then we shall expect he brings it
with bim.”

45
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Four o’clock came, when the following discus-
sion took place in the Consultation Room.

«Mr. Cooke attends the Board (according tor
order in this moming’s consultation}, and acquaints
the Board thut the late President will be answer-
able for the amount of the sale of the 29 chests of
treasure ; and if the Board does not think the late
President’s bond for the same sufficient security,
that he is willing to enter mto the bond with him
for the amount of the same ; and being pressed for
a sum o} money {orthwith in part, he answered, he
hoped in five or six days to be able to pay in on
account of the said silver about ten or twelve
thousand pagodas. Upon which he was ordered
to withdraw till the Board had considered further
on the affair.

¢ Agreed 1hat the late President and Mr. Cooke's
joint bond is no security to the Honorable Com-
pany for the 20 chests of treasure; for a bond,
without assets being joined with it and made over
to the amount of the said treasure, is no more
than an acknowledgment of the debt.

« Agreed that as the President designs this
evening to return Mr. Hasting’s visit to him this
morming, that he does discourse Mr. Hastings on
the subject of his debt om his cash account, and
Mr. Cooke’s debt account, viz. the 29 chestis of
treasure ; and that the President desires to know
of Mr. Hastings if he will give security for his
debt on account of the cash; as also for Mr.
Cooke’s debt on account the 29 shests of silver;
and that the Board do wait the President’s return,
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in order to debate further on this matter whick
bas already taken us up a great deal of time.”

Late in the evening there was another consulta-
tion, the proceedings of which are thus recorded.

*“ The President reports to the Board, that he
haviug been with the late President Mr. Hastings
to return his visit of the morning, dil according
to agreement discourse Mr. Hastings on the
affair of his eash account, and the 29 chests of trea-
sure disposed of by Mr, Thomas Cooke ; and that
having demanded the money, or sullicient security
for each, the late President did thereupon reply to
him, that he would certatuly on the day afier to-
morrow (which he said wus as soon as an afluir of
that nature could be transacted) pay him the ba-
lance of the cash account in money, diamonds, or
other sufficient security ; and that as to the affai of
the 29 chests of silver, he desires till the time is
elapsed which the said silver was sold at ; and con-
cluded with desiring that no nnkind expressions
or entries be made upon otwr Cousultation Book to
slur his reputation. To which the Yresideat re-
plied, he found no member of the Board any way
1nefined thereto.

‘“Agreed that the Board will wait till the day
after to-morrow, and expect the late President
Mr. Hastings’ performance of his proinise, unless
in the meantime there should appear cause for the
contrary.”

During the anterval Mr. Hastings was taken
dangerously ill.  Accordingly on the Wednesday,



356 HISTORY OF MADRAS, [F7a—sh

being the day fixed for peying the balanee of the
eash, the following entries are recorded.

* Wednesday, 18th October, 1721, The Pre-
sident reports that upon bearing of the late Presi-
dent’s dangerous illness, he sent for Mr. Cooke,
and demanded of him security for the 29 chests of
treasure which he has disposed of out of the Ware-
house. He replied he could vot give in security
for the same. Whereupon the President thought
himself obliged to deliver him to the Captain of
the Guard’s charge ; but that upon his request, he
had permitted him to remain in the lodgings of the
Warehouse under sentinels.”

Mr. Cooke being thus confined as security for
the 29 chests of silver, the next thing to be con-
sidered was what was to be done about the cash
balance. On perusing a rough draft of the cash
book, it was discovered that Mr. Hastings was
indebted to the company more than seventy-two
thouzand pagodas; whilst the amount of cash
actually remaining in the treasury may be gathered
from the following extract of the same date as the
foregoing.

« Wednesday, continued. Mr. Walsh brought
the key of the cash chest and opened it; upon
which there was found, in money one Fanam, and
some Firmauns and Husbulhookums; being 29
from the Mogul, and the Commission for trying
the pirates ; also a paper with blue seals, said to
be a putse belonging to Dalton deceased in Pegu.
Theasc were all the things found in the chest, ex-
cept some empty pagoda bags. Mr. Walsh being
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asked if he brought any message from Mr. Hast-
ings, answered he had none.

 Agreed that to-morrow morning the late Pre-
sident’s cash account be drawn out, sent to him,
and the balance demanded to be forthwith paid ;
and alter having bad a long debate upon the mat-
ter, it was also agreed that the President do give
orders to the Captain of the Guard for securing
the person of the late President from making his
escape from the place til} such time as that he has
paid the Honorable Company, what he owes them
on his cash account and the 29 chests of silver re-
ported to be sold by Mr. Cooke.”

Notwithstanding this singularly empty state of
the Silver Godown and Treasury Chest, Mr. Hast-
ings scarcely appears to have heen a dishonest
man ; ond it was only the sudden mannerin which
he wus required to vacate the chair that caused the
deficiency. On the next day he paid in ten thou-
sand pagodas ; on the BSaturday following he de-
posited diamonds to the value of twenty thousand
pagodas 1more, and a few days afterwards gave
ample security for the remainder. Unfortunately
for him the illness with which he had been atiack-*
ed proved fatal. 'The following simnple entries tell
their own story.

“ Tuesday, 12th December, 1721. Mr. Francis
Hastings, late President, desires leave to go home
on the  Marlborough,” which is granted, believing
the security we have on the lonorable Company’s
account more than sufficient to answer their de-
mands ; the verysill state of health he is in, and
the little likelibood of his life if he continues here,
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being sufficient motives thereto. We- have alao
permitted his servant, Thomas Newton, to go
with him ; he being as Mr. Hastings says a very
useful servant to him; and has long since served
his time to the Honorable Company.,

" Friday, 15th December, 1721. This evening
died the late President, Francis Hastings, Esq.”

The year 1721 was rendered memorable by a
great storm, which took place during the North
East monsoon, and oceasioned very great damage.
The records describe exactly the same kind of
weather which still visits the coast of Coromandel
at intervals ; but in addition to the terrors of the
storm, it would seem that in cases of shipwreck
some fears were entertained of the Moors, though
not to the same extent as in former years. The
following extracts will deseribe the commotion
which attended such an event a hundred and forty
years ago. .

< Monday, 13th November, 1721. The Captain
of the “ King George” having yesterday in the af-
ternoon received his dispatches, was this morning
to take his leave of the President, who went with
" him to the Sea Gate to see him off; but the surf
ranning very high, be could not get over, but
hoped for meeting with an opporlunity in the
afternoon ; Lut the wind and weather ineveased
rather than abated, growing very thick to the
north east.  As the evening approached rain came
on and wind in greater abundance, which prevent-
el him from going off that night.

“ 14th November. All last wight and this day
the wind and rain continued with more violence
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than yesterday, and increased towards noon to a
great storm. The rapidity of the waters out of
the country was so great that it broke two of our
bridges, that next to the Fort and the other on the
voad towards Triplicane. At the former of these
there was at least two feet fall, which must be a
prodigious stream to so small a bridge; and as to
the other if was hardly dry, so consequentlv the
more liable to this “disaster. The whole Island
was overflowed, and nothing all round us to be
seen but water, tops of hedges and trees. The
rains and floods have carried away most of the
Macquaw and poor peoples’ houses in the suburbs
of Madras. The weather at one o'clock in the
afternoon was so thick and hazy that we could
not see a stone cast round ws; and notwithe
standing we are extremely alarmed at frequent
firings from the ships in the road ail this afternoon,
yet we cannot do anything for the security cither
of our Honorable Masters’ goods, ships or treasure ;
the surf flying quite np to the gates, and impossi-
ble for almost anything to live upon the sea.
“15th November. This morning the wind be-
gon to abate and the weather to clear up; but
on our looking out into the road we could perceive
only one ship remaining, which in the afternoon
we heard was the ** Heathcote.” The Chief Mate
writes ashore that the brigantine he had not seen
all yesterday, nor the * King George,” nor the
* Dartmouth” since that day at noon. As for the
*“ Marlborough” she drove sbout 3 in the after-
noon ; and he judged that ship which was then
at an anchor within half & mile of the surf off 3t.
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Thomé, to be her. Captains Elliston, Warden, and
Crossing, and Mr. Bates, Chief Mate of the
“ Marlborough,” desired horses to go down and
see her, and Jook if any wmore were to be seen to
the southward, but after all that they could do it
was impossible for them to get over the river, so
they were obliged to return. We endeavoured
immediately after that to send off anchors and
cables to the ** Marlborough,” who made frequent
signalz of distress ; but the boat we pul the cable
mto (and in which the Chief Mate was going) fill-
ed and split to pieces. However we with much
ado got off a cable that afternocn, and the Chief
Mate went aboard. As soon as he was there he
hoisted his Ensign in the fore shrouds, the signal
agreed upon in case of aucther ship in distress
below there ; Lut notwithstanding all that we could
do, we were obliged to defer sending an anchor till
the next morning.

“We also ordered three boats to be got ready
and eeven soldiers to go in each boat; Captains
Warden, Elliston, and Crossing, whose ships and
brigantine were missing, went one in each of
them, Bul an accident prevented that wherein
Captain Warden was from proceeding, which was
her oversetting ; by which misfortune a Serjeant
and three men were drowned.

* The Honorable President in the morning, per-
ceiving the ships were missing, dispatched 100
peons to the southward along the sea side to see
if any wrecks eame ashore ; but the rivers being so
very deep and rapid, and the country under
water, that the peons could not pass; so that had
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not any intelligence till the 17th in the afternoon
from the Chief of Covelong. lIlowever it was
Judged necessary to have an account of the above-
mentioned signal, in order to send the men as be-
fore related. Captain Crossing was in the first
boat that went off that evening; when he got
aboard the * Marlborough” fired one gun, which
was agreed to be done if the signal on the fore
shronds in the evening was not a mistake.

** A Leiter from Captain Tolson’s Chief Mate
to him, of this day's date, giving an account of the
storm is hereunder entered.

*¢ Heatheote,”” November 17th, 1721.
‘ Captain Tolson,
¢ Sir,

These are to inform you that the slip has
met with no further misfortune thun the loss of the
Long boat and the parting of our small Bawer
Cable ; though T must confess it is less than ex-
pected. 1t is impossible to relate the extremity of
weather we lad as to the Ships. 1 cannot ¢ell
further of them thanthat ship to the Southward of
8t. Thomé I take to Le the * Marlboraugh.” The
“ Dartipouth’ 1 see drive yesterday in the after-
noon; the weather coming on so thick saw ne
more of her. The ™ King George” 1 saw vester-
day noon, The brizantme we saw notiing of,
which impute 1o the thickness of the weatler at
that thne ; but heartily wish they may be well,
which | mueh doubt. The “ Ring George”, she
Leing a very pestercd ship, or indeed the rest, 1
cannot see what they could do by going tu sea

46
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wilh the wind at worth east, and north east by
cast, and such a grown sea.
I am Sir,
Your most humble Sexvant,
Rocer Have.”
‘*“ 16th November. The Honorable I'resident
received a letter from Captain Elliston on beard
the ** Marlborough,” acquainting us she rode in
six fathom water, and that since eight o'clock
Tuesday morning she had scen neither of the other
Ships, but she has lost four anchors, and Lad only
their sheet anchor left ; Lut that they had one of
the Company’s stocked, and desired timber to
stock another, andd a large Cattamaran to carry
their anchors out to work further off shore. The
President forthwith sent them an anchor of 23 tous
weizht ready stecked, on a large Cattamaran, ac-
cording to their desire, and they have immediately
gone out in deeper water, and now she is very safe.
“ Captain Tolson also communicated to us a
letter that he reccived from lis Mate, importing
the ship laboured prodigiously during all that
Hurrieane, which has forced all the oakum out of
her upper works ; that they rode almost under
water which had damaged very much their provi-
sions ; that their sheet cable and best bower were
both rubbed very much, and the ontward eable to
the best bower anchor very bad; that she had
worked down all the cabins in the steerage, and
the Lulk head, and breke all their hen coops to
picers, Late at night the President received a
letter from Captains Elliston gud Crossing, two
miles off Covelons, importing they lad met nothing
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like a wreck in their way, but a Long beat and
David which they Delieved belonged uther to the
 Marlborough™ or « Heatheote.”

“TPriday, 17th November, 1721, The Presi-
dent acquaints the Board that, by peons seut from
henee, he receiverl advice about noon frmn the
Chief of Covelong, that a ship is drove ashore
about eight mllestothc Southward  of saud place ;
and that 5 chests and 20 Europeans are come
ashore and seized by the Moors ; but what ship is
stranded, the peons “conid not tell the name of.

““ Acreed that the * 1ealhcote™ be forthwith or-
dered under sail to the wreck; that twenty Euro-
peans and Capiain Sutherland be sent upon her to
protect the wreck, with ten Lascars amd amununi-
tion, as also sixty spare arms for the Ship’s Com-
pany; with all other necessaries and as mamy
Mussoolas as can be spaved, together with such
as we can borrow {rom St Thomé. Fourleen
Europeans are already at Covelong, under com-
mand of Captains Elliston and  Crossing, as also
twenty Lascars.”

“ Friday, 17th November, 1721. Received alet-
ter from the Chief of the Flemings at Covelong,
advising that an English Ship was stranded at
Mauvelipuram, and that the people that we sent
down were arrived there ; that the Moors at his
intercession treated them very well ; let them have
two palanksens and a harse to go to the wreek,
and enquire news of the others that were missing ;
ﬂn‘l they hadd seenyed all the =ailors, but upon he

Captain’s request had released them again : and
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he assures us that the Moors will not in the least
hinder but rather Le assisting to us in this affair.”

We now turn to an incident, which is by no
meaus without o parallel in the early listory of
Malras, and which at the sae time is very signi-
ficant. The Governors of Yort St. George appear
zbout this period to have each had some very
clever Native acting for them under the name of
the Dubash ; and this Governor’s Dubash not only
transacted all the private business of his master,
such as sales and purchases, but was frequently
guilty of extortion and oppression towards his
fellow counttvinen, of which no one can have the
slightest conception who is not intimately ae-
quainted with the native character. Of course
afier the death or depariure of a Governor many of
these arts of tyranny came out, and the Dubash was
made to disgorge a portien of his ill gotten gains.
Thus some time after the death of Mr. Hastings,
his Dubash Mar Kistna, got into trouble ; though
we may remark in passig, that bis evil deeds were
subsequently left in the shade by another Native
who afterwards acted as Dubash to Governor
Marcrae.

The story of Governor Hasting's Dubash is
however somewhat singular from the fact of this
clever extortioner being of a jocular and musi-
cal turn ; and indecd seems to have been a
tyvpe of a character but little known to the
Furopean, namely that of a convivial Ilindoo.
Dickens tells a story of a Loudon eabman who was
sentenced to solitary confinement for six weeks
for having * thrashed a fare ;” aud who there-
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upon lay upon his back and sang comic songs
all day. Tt does however seem somewhat strange
that a similar eharacter should have turned up in
the records of this Presidency. We give the
original entiv.

 Saturday, Sth September, 1722, Welave ac-
guainted the Honorable Court of Directors that
we had secured Mar Kistna, Mr. Hasting's Di-
bash, whom we bhad severe complaints against
for large debts owing to sundry persous, and other
indireet management. e hath now either made
full satisfaction, or given security for all the de-
manils that have appeared aganst him, except
a debt to Amerash Tacea, a compauy’s merchant,
and to the estate of his master [lustings, 1lis
erimes are so enormous that they cail for public
punishment, that he may Le an example to future
Dubaslies Jlow they muke use of their Muster’s
power in an unwarrantable manner.  Ie at pre-
sent complains of a lauteness i his limbs, how
real we cannot determine ; but shall leave the de-
termination of his case till the Europe ships are
gone.. He always had a lodging in the Fort, and a
sentry upon him, and lad the liberty of his ae-
quaintance, till the Company's Merchants reported
that he lived so jecular with his singing master
attending him, that he would never think of pay-
ing him his money ; whick was above two months
since, when the President ordered him into the
Ensign’s room upon the Main Guard, and the
door to be shut ; thongh however he still ob-
scrves a constant levee at his window every
morning.” ¢
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The following extract will furnish a suflicient
illustration of Mar Kistna’s proceedings.

“ Baturday, 8th Scplember 1722

“ A Declaration of Tombee Chetty and Mooia
Venkitta Chetty.

“We, Tombee Chetty and Moota Venkitia
Chetty, do herchy declare that Mar Kistna sent
for and told us, that as we had entered into a con-
tract with the Honorable Company, we ought
to give the Governor 5000 pagodas, whick
he then demsnded. Upen our refusing to give
the said money, e weut and told the Governor
some false stories, which occasioned us to be con-
fined one day at the Gardens. About 12 o’clock that
night the peons carried us to Mar Kistna’s house,
when we asked why we put kim to so muelt trouble
without any reason. He answered, thatif we
would lay down 5000 pagodas we nay go free, or
else we should be confined in the Choultry. Not-
withstanding those threats we still refused to give
any money. Then he sent us to the Choul-
try, and put us in a close prison, where two men
ean scarce stand ; and ordered the peons not to
let us go out without the door upon any acecount
whatsoever, but made us eat and drink and live
entively in that little place. Ahout four or five
days after hie gave orders that we should not have
any provisions whatsoever, but once in four days,
ami} then only a httle rice and  water, and of that
not half enough to zatisfy our appetiles. One day
we lighted a famp in the said godown ; which Mar
Kisina saw, and ordered it immegiately to he put
out. Sometime after, we sent a man to the sal
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Mar Kisina to ask him how fe could be so barbur-
ons to us, 1le answered, that we should not b re-
teased unless we would wive the said 3000 pagodas ;
telling the sid servant that if we would give the said
moeney, to come and tell him; i uot, not to come
to hiio again; and then he ordered the peon to push
the said mwan out of his house. Sometime after he
sent a man to us to tell us that ift we would give
3000 pagodas we should be free ; which we refused.
Sometime after 2000 pagodas ; then that we should
be releused for 1390 pagodas.  Lastly e sent
word, if we would directly lay down 1000 pagodas
we should Dbe set at liberty. But fimbmg he
could not get any thing from us he increased his
barbanty to the utmost of his power, and then
relensed us, all which was by the persuasion of
Mar Kisina.  Thercfore we hope this lonorable
Board will examine tiis attair.”

The subsequent treatmeut of Mar Kistna may
be gaihered from the following cxtracts.

“ Wednesday, 10th October, 1722. Agreed
that Mar Kistna be, as he has petitioned, pegmit-
ted to go about Town under a guard of peons and
Talliars in the day time, to gather in his citects,
in order to satisfy what he owes to the estates of
Messrs. 1lastings, Wright, and other creditors
that the Petitioners be permitted to sue Kistna in
the Mayor’s Court if they please, and that the
peons and Talliars every night do return Mar
Kistna to his confinement, till he has satisfied all
his creditors.”

“Tuesday, 11th December, 1722, Petition of
Mar Kistna read, setting forth that heing under
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confinement at the Fort, and not having con-
veniences proper fo take the necessary physic for
recovery of his health, it is agreed he be delivered
to the charge of the Chief Yeon, and Taliar, and
that he remains at his own house.”

After this Mar Kistna managed to satisfy all his
ereditors and obtained his liberty,

‘The following extracts regarding the Armenians
will he found interesting, as throwing light wpon
itlie mode in which trade was carried on in the
olden time. Qur readers will bear in mind the
distinction between the Company’s trade, and the
trade carried on by the Company’s servants and
merchants of the place.

“ Monday, 27th April, 1724, The President
tolil the Board that the Avmenians had for a long
time behaved themselves i a very jusolent haughty
manner ; awd hl rendered themselves not only
undeserving the great privileges granted them,
but likewise obuoxious to the Government by
several actions, contrary te the rules and regula-
tions thereof ; and that he had ordered them to
attend the Board 1o answer to several facts he
had to charge them with. The first was that
Cadejee (George, and the rest of the owners of the
Ship * London,” had hmported great part of the
-Bhip’s Cargo at Pondicherry, to the amonnt of
14,000 pagodas, contrary to the ovders of the
Company ; as wonld fully appear from theiv letter
of the Tth April 1708, where they order the nalive
inhabitants to be expelled the bounds. if they carry
the trade 10 St. Themd 1o the prejudice of the
customs of Madras; which Ly parity of reason



174143 KISTORY OF MADRAS, 369

holds the same with respect to Pondicherry, since
wherever the zoods are imported, still the customs
are lost to them. He, the President, likewise pro-
duced the Company’s letter of the 19th December
1719, where are these remarkable words, speaking
of the French,—that none of aur Servants, whether
Furopeans or Indians, nor any of our Merchants
or Brokers, be permitted to buy or sell for them,
or otherwise assist them, in their trade or mer-
chandize. Ile added that Codejec Petrus, an
Armenian lately arrived  from  Manilla, and
an inhabitant of this place, bad contracted
with the Freuch this very year for 30,000 dollars
worth of goods upon freight ; and that besides
they had encouraged one Bassilio, a subject of
Manilla, to come hither and carry away the freight
from this place ; oli which actions tend greatly to
the damage of the Company with respect to their
cnstoans, and to the place itself, by encouraging
foreigners and destroying the mavigation of the
English. Te added that this evil had been long
grawing to the height it now is, and that as it is
daily increasing, if the Board do not take some
meazures to prevent it, the commerce of Madras
must inevitably fall away to nothing.

“ The matier being sometime debated, and the
privileges granted the Armenians duly considered,
they were ealled in and told that it was the ex-
press orders of the Company, that no inhabitant
of Madras should be allowed to import goods in
any foreign settlement to the prejudice of the cus-
toms of this places Likewise that rone under the
English protection were to aid and assist other

37
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nations in their trade and navigation, lo the detri-
ment of the Enelish. ‘They affirmed that they
never had donc any thing of this kind ; but being
presssed with the importation of goods at Fondi-
cherry, Codejee George asswred the Board that e
knew nothing of the doing of it till the goods
were ashore amd soll; and as to the contract
with the French, Codejee Petrus told them that
money came from Mauilla for secouut of Spaniards
there, and cousigned to him and another Armenian
upon the French Ship, and that his orders were to
return it v the same Ship.

 They werc then ordered to withdraw, and
after some small debate it was agreed to overlook
what wus past, but to let themn know that if' they
were wuilty of such practices for the future, they
shonld be proceeded against with the utmost

rigour, in compliance with the orders of our

Honorable Masters. They were called in actord-
ingly, and told the resolution of the Board ; to
w hlci\ ihey promised due obedience '

“ Y ednesdm, 20th May, 1724, The Armemnns
not taking warning by the late arders given them
at the Boarcl but Erowing more msolent and
Taving since engaged with one Agastinho Bassilio,
who is a Spantard  and come to this place, where
he hos offered freight at a lower rate than has for
many vears been customar}, ta the vast prejudice
of the trade and navigation of this place; it was
proposed to put a stop to such proceedings ; but
this being a matter of great mowent, after some
debate about the mcthoda ta <be used in such a
case, the Board thought fit to defer coming to a
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resolution thereupon till they had more fully con-
sidered it.”

¢ Tuesdav, 261h May, 1724, The Board then
resumed the debate copeerning the Armenians,
and the Maailla freight, which was deferred the
last consultation day; and it was agreed by the
whole Board that, if some measures were not taken
to prevent it, the trade of this place wonld be en-
tirely lost to the English and given to Foreigners,
But as the Compuny have given great immunitics
to that set of men, 1t was urged that we could not,
without infringing those privileges, prevent their
trading on the best terms they could.  To which
it waa replied tlat the coutract nientioned was an
obsolete one ; and that even at that time it was
made the Conpany complained that the eircwmn-
stances of the times oblized them to grant greater
immunities than they would otherwise have done,
and that probably when those cirenmstanees
should be alterel they might make some altera-
tions therein ; by which it appeared, the Company
themselves did not thoroughly approve of the grant-
ing such privileges. It was added upon this side
that the Armenians had long ago forfeited the
privileges granted them, by carrying on their trade
to and from Iurope on the Panes’ ships, and now
move recently by contracting with the Yrench
andd Bpanjards, direetly  econtrary to the con-
ditions on which these concessions were made
them. 1t was further added on the same side,
that the Company do covenant and agree with their
servants, and Free Merchants whom they per-
mit to reside ih India, thet they shall have
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all manner of freedom in their trade, but that
if ever they think 1it to order any of their own
ships to freight voyages, they do expect to be
first served, and our ships after them. From
whence it is reasonable to suppose, if they will
insist npon the first plan themselves, we ought to
be and are allowed the secoud; or otherwise we
should be on a inuch worse foundation than any set
of men in Tndia, and obliged to leave off all trad-
ing ; being under traded by the natives on the one
hand and obliged to prefer the Company’s ships
on the other, LUpon the whole of the debates,
which was contivued for a considerable time, it
was unanimously agreed and ordered, that the
inhabitants of Madras shall not be allowed to freight
to Manills any goods or money belongiug to this
place on any foreign ship before the English ship
is laden.”

The following complaint addressed to the Geo-
verament of Tort St. George on the 8&th June,
1724, by Mr. Drake, a member of Council, is wortk
preserving as illustrative of the times,

« Honorable Sirs,

“ T am to acquaint you that on Tuesday night
last about 10 o'clock, a Musteez belonging to ship
* Moylip,” did in the open street assault and most
barbarously beat one of my servants. As soon as
I was informed of the same, I sent a civil message
to him by wy Dubash, and only desired to be ac-
quainted with his reasons; but instead of having the
least reply from him he returned to me my Dubash
very much beaten, and had the igsolence to follow
him with blows to my very door. Ithen could
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do no other than send for the Guard, who accord-
ingly came and secared him for the remainder ?f
the might. Vhis no sooner was done, but Captatn
Hill, the Comimander of the Skip this young of-
fender belougs to, came to my house and in a most
indecent manner addressed himself to me; telling
e I had forfeited all good manners, and had sent
a better gentleran than myself on the Gruard, and
that my Councellorship was my only protection for
30 doing, and only on ihat presumption I had
dared to do it, and that it was well for me I had
sach a proteciion to skreen me from his immediate
resentment. In short Captain Hills language and
manners ‘throughout were very foul and rude,
and snch as I Dbelieve your Honours upon
examination will find ought neither to be given
or taken, especially as 1 bad only done my duty,
and taken no more privilege than the meanest of
your inbabitanis may, to quell a riof in the pro-
perest manner 1 could. I should have been very
glad if Captain 11l wonld have recolleeted him-
self the next morning, that 1 might not have given
your Honors this trouble; but as he persists, and
will make me no acknowledgment, I am strictly
obliged to make this application, and do believe
you will find I merited better usage than Cap-
tain Hill was pleased to bestow on me. But this
I refer to your determination.”

It may be gratifying to hear that Captain Hill,
after much expostulation, was induced to make an
apology.

The following , entries are worth preserving on
account of their astorical valye, They seem to refer
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to a confederation of different Nabols in

India, including Sadatulla Khan, Nabgh EF L}\t:l:;?
against the power of Cheen hulich Khan Nizan"l
of the Dekkan. Also to n struggle hetw’een two
Mussulman chiefs for the possession of Ginjee.

“ Wednesday, 1st July, 1724, The President
informed the Board, that yesterday he received
private advices from the country that in a late
engagement near Aurungabad, wherein the Nabobs
of this side of the country were most of them
joined against Cheen Kulich Khan, this latter had
gained a complete victory. Galib Khan, com-
mander of the forces sent ngainst him by our
Nabob, being killed ; as was likewise Fajum Khan
son to Abdul Nabbee Khan, and almost all the
Chief Officers in the Avmy. Sheik Mahmud Khan,
Nabob of Hyiderabad, was likewise wounded and
bis life despaired of. These letters add that a de-
tachmpent of Cheen Kulich Khan’s army, amounting
to abont 15,000 men, were on their march to seize
Sattingurra, one of the passes into the Carnatia
country, which had oceasioned our Nahob to
march to secure it 3 in order to which he was
levying forces with the utmost expedition and at,
very extravagant rates. Further advices say that
Abdul Nabbee Khan was marched against Fyre
Khan, to take possession of the Ginjee country ;
and that we mizht shortly expeet an account of
the engagement from those parts.”

“ Friday, 16th July, 1724. The President pro-
- duced another letter, giving us an account that
there had happened a very bloody engagement be-
tween Abdul Nabby Kban and Fyre Khan, io
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which the former was killed and the latter mortally
wounded, and that there were upwards of 12,000
men cut off in the engagement. That upon this,
onr Nabob was marched to take possession of the
Ginjee country, imagining that after such a vast
loss neither side will be able to oppose Iim ; that
Cheen Kulich Khan* on his march to this side of
the country, and a detachment of his army con-
sisting of 15,000 men, is now encamped at 15
leagues distance from Hyderabad, in their way
hither, followed by himself with the main body.

*“The President added that there are remaining
of Abdul Nabby Khan's family, 23 persons, which
are all resolved to maintain their right tothe
Ginjee conntry or die, so that there is little likeli-
hood of these parts being settled again in peace
for a long thne.”

* Wednesday, 22nd July 1724. There being
a large quantity of Madeira wine in the Godowns,
it was proposed to dispose of some part thereof.
But the Persian Einpire being so much disturbed,
and the Afchanst besciging Shiraz, it was re-
solved, not to sell any Madeiva yet, it being very
unlikely that we should have auy wine from Iersia
this year, and consequently the price of Madeira
will rise which is now very low.”

About this time a crime was committed at Fort

* Tn the records he is styled Nissa Mulmuloch, who
is said to be the same as “ Chicklys Khan.” There can-
not however be the slightest doubt of Lis wdentity.

+ The Afghans are here entitled ** Ophgrons” in the
Records.  Of confbe in this, as in other similar cases, wo
have modernized the spelling.
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8t. David, which is worthy of some notice. A
Gunner was living with a Portuguese woman ; and
one evening an Lnsign of the Garrison made the
GGunner drunk apparently forthe purpose of seducing
the woman. The Gunner however awoke from his
drunken stupor, and after muel altercation shot the
Ensign dead. Many of the details are unfit
for our columns, but the following extracts from
the depositions are curious illustrations of the
Garrison life of the peried.  We must premise that
the Gunner's name was Jens Pitterson ; the En-
sign who was murdered was named Edward Key.

« Jens Pitterson declares, that the 2nd of Oc-
tober 1724, about 5 o'clock in the afterncon, he
came from shooting ; at which time Ensign Edward
Key asked him what game he had got ; to which
ke replied he saw nothing worth shooting, and so
eame home immediately. Afterwards Jens Pit-
terson declares he went home to eat, and when he
had done Ensigh Edward Key asked him, the said
Jens Pitterson, to go to his room to drink & dram
with him. To which the said Pitterson replied,
that he was not used to drink and could not bear
liguor, and therefore desired to be excused ; but
after many persuasions the said Jens Pitterson
declares he went to Ensign Edward Key's room,
end there drank with the Ensign two drams.
After which the said Jens Pitterson savs Le relired
into his own room, and that Ensign Edward Key
about half an hour after followed him to his own
room ; when the Ensign told him, the said Jens
Pitterson, that he wanted a compenion to go with
him to Bengal; for that his pay was going to be
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reduced, and he should be obliged io ask for his
discharge.  To which Jens Pitterson suys le re-
plied, that he had no oceasiou to lease the place
wlile he was maintained ; but that i he was
discharged he must seek his liveliiood where Le
couldl. Upon which Ensign Ldward Kev shook
the said Jens Pitterson b\ the hand, and said te
him “* Comrade yvou must go along with me ;" and
then they fell to drinking in Pitterson’s room to
such an excess, that the said Jens Pitterson de-
clares he knows not what he did afterwards, only
that some of the guard told him this morning that
the Insign had beat him,

“Gulielmo D. Rozario, Sentry from 12 to 2 o’clock
over the gate, deposes that about half an hour
after one o’clock tn the morning, Jeus Pitterson,
Gunner of Trepopolore Guard, waked iu liquor,
and askegd Ensign Key what he was doing.  Some-
time after Jenz D’itterson took his cutlace, which
the Ensizn seeing, retired inta his own room and
shut the door.  Upou which Jens Pitterson enraged
called out, and fell a entting and slashing the bars
of the Ensign’s windows. But Jens Pitterson find-
ing he could not come to the linsign with his eat~
lace, went to his reom and brought a gun. Where-
upon the Deponent declares Lnsm n ]\cy threatened
Jens Pitterson, that if he did not retire from the
window, he would fire upon him without waiting
for orders ; ; and that he the deponent called
out to the Serjeants and Corporals who
awaked, but were afraid to seize the said Jens
Pitterson becanse he had a loaded gun in his hand.
Whereupon Ensign Edward Keys came to the

4
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window of his room, and bidding Jens Pittcrson
be gone to sleep, the said Jens Pitterson fired his
gun in at the window, and shot him ; which alarm-
ed the cuard. but they dared not scize him be-
cause lie had got another loaded piece by him ;
thevefore they waited till he fell asleep when they
seized and bound him.”’

it came out in the evidence that the pay of the
Fnsign was only nine pagodas a month, and that
of the gunner only six pagodas. It will he suili-
cient to say that the prisoner was sent to Fort St.
(George for trial, but the judgment subsequently
passed does not appear in the records.

The admiuistration of Governor Llwick was
now drawing to a close.  The last event in his
administration worth recording, is an enguiry
into the barbarous conluct of seme peons who
were sent to St. Thomé {0 arrest a man named
Anconah for debt. As all the faets were fully
proved, it will be sufficient if we simply publish
the complaint of Anconah, and the punishinent
awarded to the accused. The petition is dated
16th November 1724,

¢ The petition of Gedee Anconsh.
* Humbly showeth,

* That on Saturday night, thres of the Com-
pany’s peons came to my lodgings at St. Thomé,
and told me your Honor sent for me. To which
T replied, I would woit on your tlonar directly.
But one of the peons called Annapah, took hold
of my hand, and drew his sword, and wounded me
in the side. After that he and: the other two
carried me into the vard, and oue of them put my
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head under his arn and cut the tip of iy ears and
took my jewels. My motler-in-law, secing what
they did, asked them why they used me so ill.
At which oue of them drew his sword and cut my
wother-in-faw on the neck. Theun one of mv man-
servauts, seeing me so cruelly used, begged then
to let me alone. One of them presently cut off
hizs hand and gave him a wound on the head ; and
after that they gave me several wounds on my
belly and breast; then tkey best all my woman
servants and brml"ht me into the streets, kicking
and beating me on the belly. Then bringing
me hall way {o Madras they overset 1me,
Leating aud kicking me very basely ; and thinking
that they had killed me, they put their hunds
to my nose to feel if I was breathing, or whe-
ther [ was dead or alive. Then they brought me
before your Honor, whoe was pleased o order
Doctor Piteher to dress my wounds, who told me
that if T had stayed but four hours longer without
a Doctor I bad been a dead man,

I can assure your llonor and Council that I
never wronged the Company, or am indebted to any
body ; but am a free merchant, and pay tie Com-
pany's customs for my Merchandize. I am still
very weak in my Dody and limbe, therefore leave
it \shol]\ to your Honor and COllnCll to see vour
poor petitioner vighted, and the ofenders punished,
aceording to your Tlonor and Coancil’s pleasure.”

Governor Elwick and Council entered upon 2
long and careful examination of all the circum-
stances connecter] with this outrage, Tn the first
istance they resolved that the eifects of An-
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napah and the two other peons should be confis-
cated and sold, in order to recompense the rnan
who had lost his bhand; and that the three cri-
minals showld stand in the pillory and have their
ears cut off, and should then be whipped out of
the bounds. Meantime however Aga Mogheen,
the Governor of St. Thom¢, interceded in belalf of
the prisoners, and begzed that they might be par-
doned ; and accordingly, in order to prevent the
affair from being vepresented to the Nalob of
Arcot in such a way as might prove troublescme
to ithe Madras Government, it was resolved that
the sentence should only be put in force against
Anmapah ; and that the two other peons, who
had only acted under his orders, should be
discharged. Annapah however appears to hdve
been an influential mewmber of the Left IHand
Caste, and the Yeads of the whole of that
Caste appeared before the Board and hegged
that a fine might be substituted for corporal
punishment. Accordingly it was defermined that
Annapah should pay the following, To An-
conah, whose jewels had been taken [rom his ears
but whose circumstances were good, and who de-
sired a public acknowledgraent of the crime, An-
napah was Tequired to pay 200 pagodas, The
manservant who lost his hand, being a much in-
ferior person, would have received less ; but con-
sidering that he had been disabled from getting a
livelilioed, ** it was thought necessary to give him
such a sum as might maintain him, or at least put
himin a way of living casy fer the rest of his
life,"” and therefore he was to receive 200 pagodes.
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Two other persons who were hurt were fo be paid
50 pagodas cach.  Finnlly, in onler that Annapah
might muke public reparation for his crime,
‘it was agreed to fiue him further 200 pagodas,
to be lodged in the Corporation Cash towards
keeping the bridges in repair.”

On the 18th of fanuary 1723, Mr. Elwick resign-
ed the President’s chair, and shortly afterwards re-
turned to Fagland ; and Mr. James Macrae of
Glasgow notoriety assumed the (Government of
Fort St. George. -
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CHAPTER XXXIIL

o
GOVERNORSHIP OF MR. JAMES MACRAE.
1725—246.

Mr. James Macrae, Governor of Fort St. Grorge
an all the Fnglish Settlements on the Coast of
Coromandel from 1725 to 1730, was one of those
rewatkable men who rose from poverty to affluence
at the time when large fortunes were stitl a novelty
in the commereial world. The auuals of his Go-
vernment will thus derive additional interest from
his extraordinary career, especially in the eyes of
those of our readers who come from those parts of
Scottatd where his name and memory are still pre-
sersed in local traditions. Accordingly, before
entelNg ypop the records of his government, it
may i’f: interesting to glance at such particulars
respecling his origin as may be gathered from
storleS which are still current in Glasgow and

Ayr*

* Some jnteresting particulars eoncerning Governor
Mactae and his family, and the mode in which he dis-
‘fl of hiz fortune after his return from Indias, were
published some years ago in the * Ayrshire Observer,”
and Dave heep placed at the disposal of the compiler of
these amals, Tt is curious to notice that all who have
atiembted to collect the traditions respecting this ex-
raordinary nyan, dwell especialiy upon the fact that his
Gevernorshipy of Madras, and indeed his whole Indian
caleeT, Is 3 perfect blank. This Wank will therefore

wow be filled up for the first time.
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AMr. James Macrae was born in Ayrshire about
the latter part of the reign of merry king Charles.
s parents weve of the very lowest class, and he
himself whilst a boy is said to have been emploved
in looking after cattle,  Ilis father however died
whilst James Macraz was still very voung ; and his
mother then removed with ker son to  the town of
Ayr ; where they lived in a little thatched cottage
in the suburbs, aud where the poor widow gained
her living as a washerwoman. Here voung
Macrae added sometling to his mother's earnings
by running messazes ; but ot the saue time seems
to have picked up some little education by weans
anly known to Scotchmen.  Ile appears however
to Wave grown tired of this monotonous life whilst
still a bov., Axr was a scaport, and it is easy to
understand how n young wan, endowed with the
energy which Maerae subsequently proved himself
to possess, should have imbibed a keen desive to
embark in the adventurcus trading of the time, and
finally have turned his back upon the poverty of
home and run off to sea.

Yorty vears passed away before Macrae returned
to his native land ; and it is generally believed that
throughout the whole of that period he held no
coinmunication whatever with his relations or his
home. Meantime his sister married a carpenter
named MacGuire, who was also in great request
as a violin player at kims and weddings, and was
consequenily known as  “Liddler Maclinire.”
The poverty of these people may be gathered from
the fact that the rhildven of MacGuire were on
one ocersion seen erving for bread, whilst their
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mother had left the honse to try and borrow a leaf.
But we shall have more particulars of this family
to relate heresfter.  For the present we must
confine ourselves to the career of Me. Macrae.

The early events in the seafuriug life of the
voung rutivway kst we fear for ever remnain un-
known.  We can learn nothing of him till about
1720, when he must alrendy have been thivty vears
in India, and s simply alladed to as Captain
Macrae.  Most probably he had risen to the eom-
mand of a vessel in the ecountey trade, and had
undertaken vovages to Sumatra, Pegu, and China.
It appears however that he had been successful in
gaining the confidence of his Honorable Masters,
ior he was subserently sent on a speeiul mission
to the English settlement on the West Coust of
Sumatra, to reforie the many abuses which pre-
vatled at that settlement.  Here he acquitted him-
self in such a manner as to cusuve his appointment
to a high post. e effected savings to the extent
of nearly 60,000 pagodas, or about £23,000 per
annuin ; and at the sme time carrted out such re-
forms as promised a very large increase in the sup-
ply of pepper. Accordingly the Directors ordered
that on leaving the West Coast he should be ap-
pointed Deputy Governor of Fort 8t. David,
and thus stand next in saccession to the Gavern-
ment of Fort St. George.  The retivement of Mr.
Elwick led to Mr. Marrne’s advancement to the
latter post sooner than could have been expeeted.
1fe returned from the West Coast towards the end
of 1724, amd without proceeding to Vory St
David, at onee took his scat as second Member of
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Council at Fort St. George. At last on the 15th
of Junngry, 1723, the son of the poor waslerwo-
man of Ayr took his place as Governor of the
Madras Presidency.  The proceedings ou that
occasion are thus recorded in the consultations.

« Monday, 18th January, 1725.  The Presi-
dent {JTames Macrae, Esq.,) opened this consulta-
tion by telling the Board that, as this was the
first time of their mecting since his taking the
chair, he thought it would not be improper to ac-
yuaint them of his resolutions; of which the prin.
cipal was, that he would prosecute the Company’s
interest to the utinost, and endeavour to retricve
the abuscs that had erept into the management of
their aflairs. He rdded that he was determined
not {o interrupt in any -manner the commerce of
the place, but that all the inhabitants both Whites
and Blaeks, the Free Merchants as well as the
Company’s Servants, should have free liburty of
trade, and that e should expect the same freedom
from interruplions in what le should undertake ;
that he would endeavour to be as agreeable to the
Gentlemen as any of his predecessors, but that he
was determined to maintain the privileges and im-
munities belonging to the President ; and he con-
cludud by saving, that he expected a ready assist-
ance from them in the pursuit of the above
resolutions, which was accordingly promised.”

Before proceeding with the annals of Mr.
Macrae’s administration, it may be as well to re-
mark that he was cmphatieally & commereial (o-
vernor and a mcet laborious adininistrative ve-
former, The relations with the Nabob of Arcot

PR 1
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remained nnaltered, and what may be called the
domestic incidents of the Presidency are few in
number,  But in all matters counceted with the
trade of the place, the reduction of the expendi-
ture, the improvement of the revenues, the super-
vision of the mint, and the administration of
justice, his proceedings are distinguished by an
mndefutigable industry, a display of strong semse,
and pbove all by a fullness of vecord far beyond
those of any of his predecessors. Nothing appeared
too large or too small for Governor Macrae.
Everything received his attention in turn, from
such matters of detail as the sorting of cluths and
the Letter preparation of the consultation books,
up to the most ditficult and compheated questions
connected with the coinage, the customs, the quit
rent, or the very doubtful cases of appeal from the
Mayor's Court. Like most men who have risen
from nothing, he was arbitvary and occasionally
harsh towards his subordinates ; but he proved
himself a valuable servant to the Conpany, whaose
orders he rigidly respected ; and wo records which
have as yet fallen into our Lands throw more light
upon the internal administration of Fort Saint
George.

Our first extract seems to illustrate the deter-
mination of the new Governor to support his own
dignity.

 Monday, 22nd February, 1725. The Presi-
dent acquainted the DLoard that Pondy Chetty
Kistna, a person who was formerly whipped out
of I'ort St, David for practices against the Govern-
ment, and afterwards banizhed from henee for the
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same crime; but who had lately ventured again
wilhout leave, and bad wrote a letter into the
country, wherein he tells his correspondent several
things of the President very much to Lis dis-
honour, which coming to his know ledge had oc-
casioned him to conhne the said Pond\ Chetty
Kistza. The letter was produced, and the Board
unanimounsly agreed that he ought to suffer very
severely and his imprisonment was confirmed.”
This letter is unfortunately not entercd in the re-
cords ; otherwise it might have thrown some light
upon the assamed faulis of the Governor.

The first important matter which received the
attention of Governor Maecrae was that of the coin-
age of rupees at the Madras mint. 1t seems that
the Native chiefs had awakened to the profit deriv-
eil by the Madras Government from the coinage of
rupees ; and accordingly they had not only set up
mints of their own, but about this time they con-
trived to make more rupees out of the same
quantity of silver, than were made by the Com-
pany. For instance out of every hundred ources
of silver, the mints at St. Thomé and Arcot twrn-
ed ont to the merchant Rupees 268, annas 14 ;
whilst the mint in Fort 5t. George only turaed out
Rupees 257, annas 7. Thus the merchant ohtain-
ed nine rupees seven annas more for his hundred
ounces of silver at 8t. Thomé and Arcot than he
eould obtain at Fort 8t. George. In other words
the Madras rupee was two per cent dearer than
the rupee of Avcot or of 3t. Thomé. The conse-
quence was that he merchants preferred coining
their silver at the latter mints ; and the Company
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found ita customs decreasing. Aceordingly Go-
vernot Macrae dirceted Messrs, Pitt, Benyon, and
Emmerson, to enguire into the whole matter. Their
report is accordingly entered in the consultations,
but it s not only intricate but devoid of interest
to the general reader. The substance of it, ren-
dercd as clear as we can make it, appears to be
as follows.

At 5%, Thomé, Areot, and Covelong the charge of
custom and coinage had formerly been 33 rupces
per thousand; viz. 15 rupees custom to the
Nabob and 20 rupees for mint charges. Doth
bowever had been recently reduced, the Naboh's
custom to 10 rupecs and the mint charges to 11
rupees : thus the custom and coinage were only 21
rupees per thousand, instead of 33 rupees as hereto-
forc. It seems however that the mint charges were
only nominally {1 rupees per thousand ; and that
actually they were 14 rupees, as may be seen from
the following table.

Ra
Charcoal for making the powder.,.... 14
Waste in melbing......ccocvvi ccvaveere o0 88
4
11}

Rs,

i

v 3

e 1

%jil

Re. 14 per thouzand.
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This smount was made up thus. Lvery 300
ounces of silver ought to have made 974 rupees,
whereas these mints only paid out 971 rupees;

“the difference of three rupees being about the
same as the difference between 11 rupees aml 14
rapees per thousand. Again there was a deprecia-
tion of weight of ome rupee elcven annas per
thousand, and another depreciation of standard of
nine rupees per thousand ; making an additional
profit of ten rupees eleven anmas per thousawd.
This fraud had been introduced ever siuce the re-
duction of custora and charges from 35 rupees to
21 per thousand ; and it had proved successful,
inasmuch as these native mints paid out their
rupees by tale and not by weight, and the differ-
ence was so slight as to render their rupee as good
in the market as the rupee of Fort St, George.

The custom and charges on the Madras rupee
were as follows, two per cent. ar 20 per thousand
io the Company, and two per cent or 20 per
thousand to the mint. Thus making 40 rupees
per thousand.

The 20 per thonsand mint charges were distri-
buted as follows., First 114 per thonsand for char-
coal, waste, pots, flatting, and chopping, as in the
St. Thom¢ and Arcot mints; and the remaining

1 as follows : —

Rupees
Brahmina for their care 31
Goldsmiths 3k
Gold washers 24

» 84
Other mint charges as above 11§

Rupees... 20 per thousany,
,
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It will be seen by the following resolution that
Governor Maucrae endeavoured to put matters to
rights,— Ist, By prolubiting the export of silver from
the Company's bounds, and thus compelling the
merchauts 1o coin their silver at Fori 8t. George ;
2ndly, By lowering the Company’s custow £ per
cent and the mint charges § per cent, or altogether
10 rupees per thousand. Henceforth then the
custom and charges at Madras would be 30 rupees
per thousand ; whilst the custom and cliarges at
St. Thomé, Arcot, and Covelong would be nomi-
nally 21 rupees per thousand, bt actually 31 ru-
pees 11 anoas per thousond.  The original entry
will serve to render the subject more intclligib!c.

< Monday, 8th March, 1725. DMessrs. Pitt,
Benyon, and Bmmerson deliver in a report of the
Loinuge, together with an account of the charges
“and customs collected at our int, and those in

the country ; as likewise an account of the pro-
duce of a hundred ounces of silver of ihe fineness
of the Ttupce in our and St. Thomé Mints.

¢ This matter being fully debated it was upon
the whole agreed, that no silver except rupees
shall be permitted to be exported to any part of
the coast of Coromande) under penalty of confisea-
tion, half to the informer and half to the Com-
pany ; and the Seerctary do give notice hercof at
all the publie places in the town.

“ As by the calculates and reports abovemen-
tioned, it appears that our rupee is two per cent.
dearer to the merchants than the St. Thomé and
Arcot rupee ; it was further argued that we onght
to find out some method to lessen the char ve of
coluage, that so we may bring it nearer toa par
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with the country eoin; and it appearing that the
Bralmins actually indisburse [1§ rupees per thou-
sand, and that they wust have something besides
for their trouble, it was plain their custom could
not be reduced above a § per cent; which not
being sufficient it was agreed to strike off a half
per cent likewise from the custom paid the
Company ; which it is hoped will be approved
by the Honorable Court of Directors for the fol-
lowing reasons.

* First, that the present charge of coinage leing
4 per cent in our Mint, and but 2! per thousand
in the St. Thomé Mint, nobody will bring any
silver 10 us, butl on the contrary earry it away
thither ; but that when our custom is reduced to
three per cent, the diffcrence will be so much less
that probably we may have the greatest part of the
coinage retuin o us, especially since our rupee is
in greater esteem in the country than theirs.

“ Secondly, that we shall reccive orders from
Burepe in two vears; and if our IHonorable
Masters shall disapprove hereof, which we caunot
believe they will, 1t may be laid ou again.

¢ Thirdly, that at present the revenue is sunk to
almost nothing, so that should no mare silver be
coined here than has been for sometime past, the
diflerence will be very inconsiderable ; whereas
ghould we lereby regain the coinage it will be
very apparently advantageous to the Company.

¢ Lastly, that the Company will save } per cent
in the ceinage ¢f their own silver; which as we
coin one-thind generally of what goes down 1o the
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Bay, will verv near if not over compensate for the
rednection of the custom on other silver.

¢ These being the causes why it is thought ne-
cessary to lessen the charge of the coinage, it was
recommended to the President to talk with the
Mint Brahmins, and bring them to an agreement
for lowering the charn'e agreeable to the above
resolve, which he qccou!mﬂlv promised.”

How far the Government order respecting the
exportation of silver was regarded by the Madras
merchants may be gathered from the following
cntry.

“ Tuesday, 30tl March, 1723, Two parcels of
silver hd\l]l" been seized last night upon some
shrolfs, who were carrying it out of the Lrounds,
contrary to the late order affixed at all the gates
and in all the Janguages, so that the proprietors
coulil not pretend ignorance :—agreed that «t be
confiscated ; and Mr. 1Tubban offering to take it
at 153} dollars for ten pagodas, the Sceretary was
ordeved to weigh it off to him and receive the
money, which is to be divided agrecably to the said
order at the gates, half to the Company and  half
to the informer.”

The following petition is interesting from illus-
trating the mode in which private property was
or;wm.llh acquired in the Madras Presidency. It
was received by the Government on the 30th of
March, 1725.

“To the Honorable James Macrae, Esq.

President and Governor of Fort 8t. George.

“The humble petition of Mariuw Pois, Widow,

showeth, That a few vears after the Honorable
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Company’s settlemep§ here, a great many inhabi-
tants, and your petitioner’s wrand fatber, planted
gardens without any title thercto from the then
President and Council.  Some of their prerrity
hiave sold this ground and gardens as their own,
some port to the inhabitouts to build ou, and
some still enjoy 1t themselves; several have also
since his Honor larrison’s time planted gardeas
without any title, and enjov them as their own.
But your pelitioner’s grand father, believing it
proper to have a ttle to his garden, and having
then an interest with the Honorable the Prestdent,
Council, and Gentlemen in the place was promised
the title; but in the interim he died, and Lis son
his succcssor, being soft aud illiterate, lost his
fathews interest, but got a cowle from the Honora-
ble the President and Council for thirty-one vears,
contrary to his father's request and desire ; and if
he had not troubled the Honorable President and
Council for a cowle, might have enjoyed it as
the rest have dooe, him and his heirs for ever.
All this your petitioner was unacquainted with
till the time was expired.  Your poor petitioner
having built a house, planted trees, and bronght
the garden to a vast perfection, this your petitioner
laid before the then President, how simply the son
of the decensed managed it ; to insist on a cowle
but for 31 years, when the vest have ever since
enjoyed the same as their own and heirs for
ever,

“ Now the Ilonorable President and Couneil
compassionately ook this, your petitioner’s case,
into conmsideration ; and rented said house and

50
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Garden to your petitioner; it being extremely
hard, after having built the house and brought
the garden into perfection, to lose all, your peti-
ticner having no other subsistance, This Garden
your petitioner has rented of the Honorable Com-
pany ever since the expiration of the cowle.

“Your petitioner 13 now informed that said
house and garden is to be put up at outery to
rent ; if 30 it is an immediate ruin to your peor
petitioner, it being your petitioner's only subsist-
ance ; she, having no habitation or place of abade,
mosi humbly begs your Honor will, out of your
abundant clemency and goodness, look upon this
vour petitioners case with compassion, and suffer
her to rent said house and garden as usual, as she
answers vearly the income of ihe garden 4o the
Honorable Company. 1f not your petitioner will
be reduced to extreme want and misery, ‘Fhere-
fore humbly begs vour Honor will continue your
poor petitioner to rent said house and garden, and
as in duty bound shall ever pray.”

Governor Macrae however showed himself to be
a stern mar, not easily moved by petitions whether
from widows or from any one else. Accordingly
the prayer of Maria Pois was rejected, and it was
agreed that licr farm should be put up to public
outery.
. Our next extract shows that the arbitrary order
for prohibiting the exportation of silver was now
extended to gold.

« Tuesday, Gth April. The President acquaint-
ed the Board that several shoes of gold* had been

» A +shoe of gold” was ten thousand pagodas.
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lately carried out of the bounds, which he believed
was to be coined at St. Thomd¢ ; and therefore he
proposed that an order should be made prohibiting
any gold, except what 1s wrought or ready coined,
shall be carried out of the bounds under penalty
of confiscation, the one balf to the Company and
the other 1o the informer ; which is agreed to and
the Secretary ordered to affix a note at the gates
accordingly.”

It wili be seen from the following entry how the
occupations of the Governors in the olden time
differed from those of the more aristocratic Presi-
dents of modern times,

* Monday, 2Ist June. The President and
Couucil et in the Sorting Godown, aud examined
the Fort 3t. David Cloth, which proved pretty
good. They also examined several parcels of what
was brought to be sorted here, which they found
for the generalily ameuded in the unumber of
threads, but so thin that it was not fit for the
Company’s use,”

The following extract shows that (Governor
Macrac was learning a lesson in free trade.

> Saturday, 3rd July, 1725. The prohibition
some time since laid eiv the exportaticu of silver
and gold into the country, which wus then thought
fou the benefit of our ldenorable Masters, having
been now found to occasion a general staguation
of trade, and likewize to have fublen the price of
silver very considerably, whichi w.. iu the imain
vastly overbalayce the gain by the coinage.

¢« Agreed that the said prohibition be taken off,
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and that the Secretary do give public notice there-
of at the gates.”

Our uext extracts, referring to the renting of
the thre ont villages, will expluin themselves.

“3priay, Svd July, 1725, The Lease of the
Farms u Lgmicre, Persewauk, and Tandore being
expired, the President informed the Board that he
had received proposals from the present Henters,
who had agreed to take them at the rent of 14,600
pagodas, provided they might have them for ten
years. But that if they could not have them for
longer time than the former lease, they would
give but one thousand pagodas per annum, be-
cause that they actually lost in the last three
years, though very plentiful ones, six hundred pa-
godas ; but that having a long lease, ihey might
have some encowragemeant to improve the lands,
which they shall not have in taking them anly for
three vears, which being considered, it was agreed
that they be let on the above terms,”

“ Monday, 12th July. The President informed
the Board that he had got the old Renters of Eg-
more, Persewauk, and Tandore, to give 1,430
pagoilas per annum  for the reut of those vitlages
for ten years next ensuing; and that Poncala
Kishna, the tobaeeo farmer, was seeurity for the
performance of agreements ; which being the ut-
most he conld raise the vent to, the Cowle was
produced ani sigued to Kishna Reddee Chandra
seaecs, and Chittoinbee.”

The following cxtract refers to almost the only
difference which ever arose begween Governor
Macrae and the native powers.
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“ Monday, 23rd August, 1725. Sometime since
eight bales of goods being brought hither on one
of our ships belonging to a Moorman, were at-
tached for a debt due to Mr. Sitwell from the said
Moorman, who is since run away to Covelong ;
and the goods have been claimed by the Nabob as
his, and bought for his account; which demand -
being now again repeated, it is agreed that since
the Nabob declares the goods are his, it s better
to let them go, than make any dispute thereupon.
Wherefore the President is desired to write him
that upon giving up the Moormau, amd paying the
Company’s customns, the goods shall be delivered
to his order.”

The Nabob however seems to have refused to
deliver up the Moorman, or to pay the Company’s
customs. A correspondence aceordingly ensued
which spread over the oreater part of a year; and
was at length brought to a conclusion on the 21st
July, 1726. We give the extract from the con-
sultations of that day.

* The President represents to the Board that he
had been long importuned by Nabob Sadutalla
Khan, by pressing letters and frequent messages,
to deliver up the eight bales of goods mentioned
in Consultation held the 23rd August 1725, to
have been attached here Ly the creditors of Shaak
Bonlaki for the payment of his debts, as belong-
ng to the said Shaak Bonlaki; but that the Na-
bob continnues to claim them as belonging to him-
self, and insists peremptonly upon their being de-
livered to him, and that without his demand
is complied with, he, the President apprebends a
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breach with him unavoidable ; which in our pre-
sent circumstances would be of very great prejudice
to the Company’s affairs.

“This matter having been considered by the
Board, and the consequences 2 breach at this time
with the Nabob might produce having been duly
weighed ; aud it having likewise been admitted
that the creditors of Shaak Bonlaki might have had
reasons to believe that the eight bales in question
did belong to him, yet the Nubob’s right to them
could not be disproved ; aud he continuing to in-
sist so very peremptorily upon having them de-
livered to him, mnotwithstanding. the President
ewtleavours by repeated messages and many letters
to prevail with ki to suffer them to be sold
for account of Shaak Bonlaki’s crediters.  There
being no prospect of prevailing with the Nabeb, it
is ordered that Mr. Turner do deliver ta Nabab's
order the sald eight bales of goods in dispute.”

The following perjury cases are worthy of being
preserved, as showing how false witnesses were
punished in the olden time.

“ Friday, 10th September, 1725. In the exa-
mination of Anconah’s affair one Magdulla Kistna
confessed himself perjured, by a declaration under
his own hand, whereupon he was ordeved into con-
- finement ; and it is now ovdered that he he Pillo-
ried to-morrow at the usual hours, and afterwards
whipped at the Chounltry, and then released from
his imprisonment.”’

A year afterwards we find Governor Macrae
still determined to put down pexjyry with a strong
hand.  He had been engaged nupon deciding upon
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a long list of appeals from the Mayor’s Court,
chicfly equity cases counected of course with wills,
bonds, and disputes about property of all kinds.
These interminable and complicated cases may
bave been interesting to the parties concerned, but
present not a particle of interest now, beyond the
fact that they are marked by CO’ﬂtI‘ddlCtIOnS, palpa-
ble perjuries, forgeries, and oppressions of all kinds.
Many of the cases werereversed byGovernorMacrae,
whilst others were sent home ta be adjudicated
on by the Directors, and even to be tried in West-
minster Hall; from which we wmay infer that the
old stories of corruption in the Mayor’s Court, so
frequent in the narratives of old travellers, were
not withont some foundation in truth. How far
Governor Macrae was exasperated at this state of
things may be gathered from the following punish-
ment ordered upon ¢ another perjurer.

“ Monday, 29th Angust, 1726, Ordered that
Amagery for punishment of his crime of perjury,
and for terror to all such abandoned villains, be
remanded to the Choultry prison, and be thence
conveyedd to the Dillory every first day of the
month for the next six months, and set upon it
from ten to twelve o’clock ; and immediately after
he is taken down from the Pillory to receive thirty-
nine lashes each time at the whipping post, and
be afterwards turned out of the bounds with order
never to return again under severe punishment.”

The following extract respecting the circulation
of falze pagodas will explain itself.

“ Monday, 27th September, 1725. The Presi-
dent informed the Board of a complaint the
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Shroffs had made to him, that vast quantities of
pasodas had been brought into the place lately,
which were worse than Pagodamatt, aud hore the
Negapataw stam) so nicely counterfeited, that it
was almost hmpossible to distinguish themn ; and
therefore he proposed that some method should
be taken to stop this evil, which being for some
tirue debated, it was agreed that the SBecretary do
affix a note at the gntes to give notice, that who-
soever should be found Dringing in such bad pa-
godas, or offering them in pavment, should be
punished at the diseretion of the Governor and
Council, and the money be forfeited, one half to
the informer aml one half to the Company; and
that whatever shroft should find such pagodas
should be obliged to carry them to some one of
the Justices of the Choultry to be defaced, or if he
did not, he shonld be pilloried and whipped out
of the bounds.”

Governor Maerae was far too fond of Commit-
tees of inquiry to let such a matter pass without
the most searching investigation.  Accordingly
abouat three weeks afterwards we find the follow-
ing report entered in the consultations, which
will be found interesting as illustrating the condi-
tion of the country generally.

“Monday, 18th October, 1725, The following
report was presented to the Honorable James
Macrae, Esq., the President and Gavernor of Fort
St George and Council.

‘ Honorable Sir and Sirs, «
“ The commitice you were pleased to appeint,
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to enguire into the business of the present eurrent
pagodas, and put a stop to an abuse which will
at last be attended with such dangerous conse-
quences, do now hwnbly lay before you their pro-
ceedings and opinion of the most proper remedy
effectually to prevent this mischief without giving
a shock to commerce.

“ We find upon examining Lhe shroffs that this
has been n growing evil, introduced by the corrup-
tion of the country Govermment in coniviug at
the cireulation of auny sort of pagodas, provided
their profits from those who have the hiherty of
cotuing them are answerable; and as this i3 so
considerable an advantage to them it is not
from the Nabob we are to expeet any velief. There-
fore we thousht it most proper to have the opinion
of the merchantz in general which method we
should pursue; who on a meeting came to this re-
solution, which we offer to your hounors as what
we Likewise think suflicient fo answer the design,
without riskiog a stagnation in the civeulation.

< That five shops shall be appoiuted in the most
convenient parts of the town, for the exchanging
of all money which is necessary for the currency
of the Bazar; in each of which mwust be placed,
two shroffs, a gold smith, aad a Company’s peon,
whose stations are to be changed every day
with power to cut or deface all such pagodas as
are fonnd to be bad.  As 1o payments of large
sums the merchants themselves will wndoubtedly
be cautious fovdheir own security, and {ake such
carc as not to be imposed upon in what they re-

51
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ceive, by employing such shroffs in whose fidelity
they may confide,
“ GGeorge Mortan Pitt.
* Nathaniel Turner,
* Richard Benyon.
- “ John Emmerson.”

*The most convenient places for the shops
are Jappa Chetty’s Street, Choultry Street,
Mutala Pettah, Pedda Naick’s Pettah, Jaga Mulla
Street.”

Another point which attracted the attention of
Governor Macrae at this lime is also worthy of
some notice. For some years past different sums
of money had been lodged in the Company’s cash
chest at Fort St. George on account of the Tesuit
Missionaries in China ; for which the Government
of Fort t. George, under orders from the Couxt
of Directors, had allowed interest at the rate of six
per cent. per annum. In September 1725, Father
Moriset at Fort St. David wrote to Governor
Macrae respecting a further deposit of cash, on the
same terms ; but the econorical President, having
plenty of money in hand, considered that this
would be a favorable moment for reducing the
yearly interest from six per cent. to five. The
matter led to a Committee of inquiry into all the
monies lodged in the Company’s chest at various
times by the Jesnit Missionaries in China. The
following extracts from their report will be suffi-
clent to explain the state of affairs. It will be
seen that the sums deposited were not to be re-
turned ; the yearly interest paid betag supposed to
be u sufficient return, without any repayment of
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the principal. We must therefore suppose that
the sums lodged ai Fort St. George were of the
nature of an endowment to provide for the perpe-
tual support of the Jesuit Missionaries itn China.
Our report from whence the following extracts are
taken is dated 21st July 1726.
‘To the Honorable James Macrae, Fsq.,
President und Governor and Council of
Fort St. George.

* Honorable Sir and Sirs,

* In pursuance of an order of Council, we lay
before your Honors what orders have been re-
ceived from the Honorable Court of Directors, re-
lating to the receiving into the Company’s cash
money from the Jesuit Missionaries in China at
interest ; iogether with an account of the several
sums that have been hitherto recelved into cash
for their account, and what has been writ by this
Board to the Honorable Court of Directors on
that subject.

‘ We find that the sum of 10,000 pagedas was
reccived into cash for their account the S1st
August 1721, but no interest to be paid them
thereupon till the Company’s order should be had
for that effect.

“ The Honorable Court of Directors in their
general letter dated 26th April 1722 say as fol-
lows.

* We have had application made us by Monsr.
Labbe, agent for the French Jesuit Missionaries in
China, to receive 10,000 pagodas of theirs into
our cash at Fox St. George ; that President Hast-
ings had received the money conditionally to await
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our orders, though he had no occasion for any
having a flowing cash ; that said agent desires the
money may remain in our cash and the proprietors
to be for ever dispossest of the property thereof,
on the Company’s yearly allowing them a reason-
able interest.  We have considered of the whole,
and in regard we sometimes have and at other times
have not occasion to borrow money at Fort St.
George ; therefore we are willing to allow them a
certain interest of six per cent. though it is one
more than we pay here per annum, and bope it
will be to their satisfaction.”

“ In consequence of which general letter a bond
was executed by the Governor and Council, and
delivered to the Agent to the said Missionaries, to
pay them interest 6v0 pagodas per anrum upon
the sum of 10,000 pagodas received.

“The 25th Tebruary 1724 their agent paid
into cash the further sum of 2,000 pagodas ; and
the same day the Governor and Council delivered
him a bound for six per cent. interest per annum
upon it.

The receipt of this sum was advised to England
1o which the Honorable Court answered as follows :

“ Your fetter advises that the Jesuits in China
have by their attorney offered to deposit in our
cash with you a sum of money, which you intend
1o receive and give bond to pay six per cent. per
annum for it. Padre de Goville, lately returned to
Europe, has by writing requested of us to receive
10,000 pagodas into our cash, and to pay the
Missionaries for it 600 pagodas (-vear, which we
have agreed to.”



1735—30.) HISTORY OF MADRAS. 405

It would thus appear that at this time the Com-
pany had agreed to receive in all the sum of
20,000 pagodas on belalf of the Jesuit Mission-
aries in China, for which they were to pay a per-
petual interest at the rate of & per cent. per
annum, the principal not to be returned.  Accord-
ingly it would seem that the China Missionaries
paid in that amount, and derived from the Com-
pany alone a yearly income of twelve hundred
pagodas, or about five hundred pounds sterling.
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CHAPTER XXXIV,

GOVERNORSHIP OF MR, JAMIS MACRAE.
1726—27.

The commercial character of the administration
of Mr. James Macrae hos been already noticed,
and the very lucid manner in which commercial
transactions are recorded in the consultation books
of the period, induces usto pay more attention to
such extracts as serve to illusirate the mode in which
the Company carried on their business with Native
merchants, either for providing a sufficient number
of bales of Native cloth for exportation to Europe,
or for disposing of broadeloth, iron, and other arti-
cles of home produce which had been imported from
England. These extracts however we shall not group
by themselves, but simply arrange them, together
with other selectione, in strict chronological order ;
by which means the reader will be enabled to
form a better idea of the miscellaneous character
and general scope of the records themselves, than
by any other method.

Our first extract refers to the supervision of
native goods maintained in old time by the Govern-
ment of Fort St. {feorge.

¢ Thursday, 6% January, 1826. The Ware-
house-keeper repiai&l to the Board, that the
chintzes being bre W&t from painting (dyeing) had
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been examined at the Sorting Godown, and that it
was the general opinion of the SBorters that both the
cloth and paiitings were worse than the musters ;
wherefore they had resolved, if the Board approved
thereof, to allow the merchants only 35 pagodas
per corge, instead of 40 for the cloth ; and the
painter 47} pagodas per corge, instead of 60, which
they used to have. This being approved, the mer-
chants were called in and told the resolution of the
Board.” -

*“ At the same time the Warehouse-keeper re-
ported that the Puiicat Betillag, bronght in by the
merchants upon The muster, for which in the con-
tract we were to give 120 pagodas per corge, were
vastly inferior to the muster ; and that it had been
agreed in the Sorting Godown that 100 pagodas per
corge war the value of them ; so that he (the
President) desired the order of the Board for bring-
ing them to account at that price, which was agreed
to, and the merchants accordingly told these re-
solutions.”

The Native merchants appeared to have submitted
to the reductions very quietly, for no demur on
their part is entered in the proceedings. When
however the Board desired to make a contract with
the same merchants, as to the quantity of Europe
cloth they should purchase, or the quantity of native
cloth they should supply, it was not always found
so easy to deal with them, as will be seen by the
following extract.

* Thursday, 3d March 1726, Our Merchants were
called in, and a poposal made, ta them as follows,

“ That they shall engaze in a contract at Fort
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St. George for 2000 bales of cloth, to be delivered
to us one lalf in August, and the remainder by
the last of January next.”

¢ That they shall take all the broad cloth (from
Europe) at the usual advance, to be kept under
two keys, one of which to be left with themselves
and the other with the Warehouse-keeper ; that
before they take any out of the warehouses, it shall
be paid for in ready money ; and that the whole
amount shall be patd off by the st of April 1727.
In consideration of which the Board (they were
told) would abate the penalty of 30,000 pagodas,
to be inflicted for breach of the last contract, to
10,000 pagodas ; but if they would not do this
they must expect to pay the whole amount of the
penaity.

“ Lpon the hearing these propesals. the Mer-
chants immediately declared they could not engage
by any means, either to take the broad cloth, or
contract for above 800 bales ; and to this they
adhered for a considerable time, but at last after
near two hours debate, finding the Loard determin-
ed to exact the whole penalty if they did not agree
to the terms proposed, and being exeused from any
contract at Fort St. David, they consented ; having
first obtained a promise of the Board that if they
complicd within 300 bales, no penalty should be
exacted.”

Our next extract relers to a forged bond, found
amongst the papers of a deceased Company’s ser-
vant named Woolley.

“ Thursday, 30th June, 1726.¢ Captainr Richard
Uplon, representing that a forged nots, men-
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tioning that he had received of Robert Woolley
deceased 1000 ounces of Silver, for which he was
to be accountable, having been found amongst said
Woolley's papers, whereof pavmeut had been de-
manded, signed as by him and witnessed as by
Messrs. Samuel Harrison, and Richard Stephens ;
and that he and the said pretended witnesses were
ready to make solemn oath, that neither he nor
they ever hal any knowledge of any such note,
nor ever signed the same.  Therefore craving that
he amd they might be sworn to the truth of what
he affirmed, in order to prevent any demand Leing
made upon him for the said 1000 ounces of Silver.

* Captain Upton and Messrs. Harrison and
Stephens being called in, were intervogated as to
the signing and witnessing the said note; and
affirmed each of them that it was forged and
withont their knowledge ; that there was no simili-
tude of hand writing, and severally made oath to
what they afirmed. Whereupon it was ordered
that the said note appearing to be forged be can-
celled ; which was doue.”

The next entries which we consider worthy of
preservation are still more curious. It has been
seen that the revenues of Trivatore, and of the
other ouf villages belonging to the Company, were
furmed out to some of the Company’s Merchants,
on their engaging to pay a certain sum (1450
pagodas) per annum. The Merchants in their
turn rented the villages to a man named Mahadin,
and this Renter appears to have treated the inhabi-
tants in a barbsrous and oppressive manner. Ac.
eordingly two of the villagers sent in the follow-
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ing petition to Governor Macrue in which all their
grievanees are  specified.  The petition will be
found to form an admirable illustration of Native
administration m the olden time.

* To the Honourable James Macrae, Esq. Presi-
dent and Governor of Fort St. George, The humble
petition of the inhabitants of Vessa Caward,

* Showeth, —That the Company has let out Triva-
tore and the other out villages to the Company’s
merchants, who during five vears that they kept
them in their own hands, allowed your petitioners
all their privilezes and allowances as usual, and
they lived very happily. Then one Mahadin took
these villages of these merchants, and promised to
allow your pelitionevs the sume privileges and
allowances as the sald merchants had done ; but
Le has acted contrary, and not given them any
privilege or allowanece. Upon wheh they asked
him the reason ; and he replied that the Company
had solil those villages to Lim, and he could do
what he pleased.  The said-privileges and allow-
ances dne to vonr petitioners for these six vears
amounis to about 100 pagodas.  Besides this he
has distressed vour petitioners and akl many hard-
ships on them. e sef one of their Paviabs half
way in the ground, where he kept him three Lours |
and fined b, Arother Parial he chaubucked 25 ¢
blows, put him into the stocks, and kept him there
an hour.  1e tied ene of their shepherd's neck
and heals, for four or five days, an hour each day,
and biat him very much and tined him.  He broke
a Talliar's baek, and turned L oet of the village.
e tied o shopkeeper of the village, neck and leels,
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putting a Leavy stone on his back, and kept him so
an hour and then fined him. e served another
shopkeeper in the same manner.  He has done too
many other barbarous actions to your petitioners
to give your Honor in writing an aceoant of. There-
fore they humbly implore to take their case iato
consideration, and order them satisfaction. They
cannot go on with their business if le be con-
tinued the Kenter. Your petitioners hope your
Honor will do them justice, and they as in duty
bound shall ever pray.”

To this petition, a Native named Chandarasala,
who seams to have been the steward of Mahardin,
gent in a counter-petition, denying or explaining
away the charges. 'This also is a gem in its way,

 The petition of Chandarasaha.

* Humbly showeth,-—Wheveas your petilioner
has been falsely accused that he has punished the
inhabitants beyond reason, and as to his burving
the man half under ground is wtterly false ; for
the man having, contrary toorder, let the water
run the wrong course, was punished according ta
custom ; that is by Jaying his hand in the water
eourse, which filled with sand and the Company's
ehop put thereon. And as for your petilioner’s
forcing of unreasonable forfeits from the inhabi-
tants, it is also false ; for the inbabitants having
complained to your petitioner that a milkmands
measure was less than it should be, which your
petitioner by examining found true ; therefore fined
him 6 fanams; and to a seller of tobacco and
betel, for selling epnirary to the reuter’s order, was
fined 6 fanams, As to the Talliar, he stole away
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above_ three pagodas worth of Mangoes, for which
ke paid $8 fanams; and when the Talliar had
found the thief, vour petitioner told Lim that he
might do what he would. Also the said Talliar (i. e.
the Talliar who was the thief not the Talliar
who had arrested him) took more than his right
of the paddy, and took it away without leave ;
for which fault he was tied neck and heels iwo
hours. And as for your petition=’s vutting any
body in irons, it is false ; but a Pariah being taken
stealing paddy, was by your petitioner’s order put
in the stocks. That the three persons before men-
tioned have sold the Company’s ground, which
when the Buyer came to take possession, your
petitioner refused to let him take it without your
IIonors leave. That your petitioner for the good of
the inhabitants did Jend them money, and let them
have paddy to the volue of pagodas 260; and
when your petitioner demands his money then
they begin to make a disturbance. Now three of
ihe inhabitants being come 1o this place, they have
taken opportunity to say that all the inhabitants
will leave the place. The Pedda Naik’s allowance
of ground in the said village is 4440 yards, but
now he has taken 14,400 yards, whieh is more
than his due by near 310,000 yards; whieh for
these four years he has not sown, nor would lie let
amy body else, to the loss of about pagodas 229 ;
and now about a thousand yards which he sowed,
the paddy now lies there and he refuses to_divide
it. 'Therefore your poor petitioner most humbly
requests your Honor to give him justice, and as
in duty bound shall ever pray.”
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Governor Macrag’s action upon these two peti-
tious will be gathered from the following extract.

“ Friday, 26th August, 1726. The President
delivers into the Board two petitions which had
been presented to him ; cme from some inhabi-
tant of Vessa Cawarda, against Mahadin the pre-
sent Renter ; the other from Chandarasaha, who
acted as steward to the said Mahadin, and put his
orders in execution. MWhich being read, the Pre-
sident acquaints the Board that both parties had
been befoze him 5 that he had heard them separate-
Iy and also given then o joint hearing ; that he
had examined witnesses to the truth of the facls
charged against Mahadin, and heard the Company’s
Merchants upon the affair. That from the whole,
it appeared to him, that the said Mahadin had
been guilty, and was fully convicted by evidence,
of the charge delivered aguinst him in the first
petition ; which is even acknowledged by the shid
(*bandarasah in his petition, who aeted by order
and authority from Mahadin in all these matters,
as is by Mahadin owned.

“ This affair being taken into consideration,
particularly the presumption of Mahadin in tak-
ing upon him to levy fines and inflict corporal
punishments upon the Honorable Company’s sub-
jects without anthority ; which had actually fright-
ened several inhabitants out of the bounds, as the
President further informs us had been proved be-
fore him, and would deter others from coming out
of the country to secure themselves and properties
under the profection of English Law as usual.
To prevent any such violences and extortions in
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time to come, it is resolved that no Renters or
Farmers of Villages have authority to levy fines, or
inflict corporal punishment npon the inhabitants ;
md that for an example Mahadin be ordered to
resign his Cowle of Trivatore and the other villagea
into the hamds of the Company’s Merchants ;
having forfeited the same by Lis unwarrantable
actions ; awd for a further punishment to him and
example for others, he be fined in the sum of 3¢
pazodas, to be paid into the Company’s Cash, and
that the Secretary do demand the same.”

This decision was vigidly carried out, for three
davs afterwards we find an entry to the cffect that
Mahadin had given up the Cowle and paid the fine
of fifty pagodas.

Terhaps few entries are move liustrative of the
character of Governor Mucrae, than the following
altempt at reduction in  the matter of Ilospital
charges. The decision of the cauny Scot is wonder-
fully suggestive, How far it contributed to the
comfort of the sick we leave to the judgment of
our readers,

“« Saturday, 17th Septeraber, 1726. The Dresi-
dent represents to the Board that, upen reading
the particulars of the article of Hospital charges,
he apprehends there are several of them too large,
an¢l others unnceessary, and onght to he reduced
and discontinued ; which being taken into consi-
deration, and the several particulars again read
and enquired info, it was represented that the
Sureeon, who has the immediate digection of the
Hospital, always insists that the present charge iz
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necessary for entertaining and recovering the sick,
and that no reduction can be made of it.

« Ordered, that wherens it hath been for some
time the enstom for one of the Surgeons to have
the immediate care of the Hospital solely, they do
in future act each six months by tums; that by
their acting thus interchangeably, we may make
the c\pcnmcut whether the one cannot reduce the
charze of the MHospital lower thau the other,
which it is belicved out of emulation to recom-
mend themselves, they may do.”

Next follows a curions entry respecting the
horses sanctioned by the Company far the use of
the President.

“ Mouday, 7th November, 1726. The Presi-
dent represents to the Board, that their being now
remaining alive only two Clinise horses brlonging
to the Company, and these so weak that to swve
them he had been obliged for above a twelve manth
to muke use of a pair of Mauilla horsces of his own
for his Chaise ; that the Honorable Company had
allowed his predcce-501 three horses for his Chaise,
ounc of which had been dead some time, and thc
otber two so much wore that they ave not now fit
to do the service of one; that the Company’s
piebald horze was Intely de'ul, and that the horses
for his guards were very old, and somc of them
quite  worn out, that he was now olliged fa
atlow two Pegu horses of his own for that service.
Whevefore he proposed to the Board to purchasze
the sail two Pegu horses for the use of his guards,
anel the two Mantlla Chaise horses for his (,lnlq(,
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on the Company’s account ; being all of them
Yyoung, well broke, and seasoned to the country.

* Resolved that the foresald four horses be
purchased for the Company for the service above
mentioned, at 150 pagodas each ; and that the
Paymaster do pay for the same ; and that one of
the worst of the guard horses Le sold at pub-
lic outery as soon as the season permits the usual
coneourse of people at the sea gate.”

Whilst Governor Macrae was thus attentive to
his own interests, he was by no means unmindful
ol the interests of the younger servanmts of the
Company, as will be seen by the following extract,
which is well worthy not only of preservation but
of more general imitation.

“ Tuesday, 15th November, 1726. The Presi-
dent represents further to the Board, that ke thinks
it a great discouragement to the subordinate ser-
vants, and inconsistent with that emulation we
ought to excite amongst them to distinguish them-
selves by merit in order to their advancement, that
some should be continued so long in laborious sta-
tions without any profit, while others ?nque(l
places of profit and that required little application.
Particularly that Paul Foxley had served under
the Fxport Ware housekeeper above five years, and
discharged that trust faithfully to the approbation
of his superiors ; and that Edward Croke, had con-
tinited several years Writer at the Sea gate, in.wluch
station he had had but very little opportunity of
cxerting himself in the Service, ’l'hereforc’move(l
that Mr. Foxley be appointed in Mr. Croke's room
Writer at the Sea gate.”
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* Resolved that Paul Foxley do enter upou the.
employ of Writer at the Sea gate the first of
January next, and that Ralph Mansell do succeed
him in the Export Warehouse at the same time.
Edward Croke being Senior in standing to all the
Servants under the Council, it was judged reason-
able that he should be advanced to a station of a
higher trust in the Service. Wherefore resolved
that he be employed in the station of Receiver of
the Honorable Company’s customs, and that he
do enter upon the same the first of January next.”

The following petition is siwply au illustration
of the times.

* The humble petition of Hirdaram,

¢ Sheweth,—That your petitioner’s brother,
Nundaram, brought 2773 rupees from Arcot, and
procured therewiih a Bill of Exchange on Bengal
from Governor Collet.  Your petitioner’s brother
being murdered by robbers on his way to Bengal,
the Bill has rot vet been paid ; which vour Peti-
tioner hearing ecame to Madras with the Nabol’s
perwanna to demand the repayment of the said
money from Governor Elwick aud Mr. Benyon,
attorneys to Governor Collet ; who told your peti-
tioner that if he could bring a suffictent security
to indempify them thev would pay him. Your
petitioner has now brought an attestation, signed
by many great {Gentlemen at Arcot, witnessing
that your petitioner is the next heir to the said
deceased Nundarmn ; which your petitioner hopes
is a sufficient authority for receiving the said
money ; and that vour Honor would please to give
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such orders therein as your Hanor shall think
meet.”

It will be sufficient to say that the security
offered by the gentlemen of Arcot, some of whom
stood high in the favour of the Nabob, was
- deemed sufficient, and the money was accordingly

aid.
P Our next extract is another curious illustration
of the times ; like the previous one it will explain
itself.

* Tuesday, 6th December, 1726, Mr. Emmerson,
Chief Justice of the Choultry, reports te the Board
a late instance of a woman slave having attempted
to poison 3 whole family ; that the poison had
actuslly been given, but operating very violently
quickly discovered ilself, and the effect was prevent-
ed by immediately administering proper emetics,
and that the criminal had confessed the fact. That
in order to strike ferror into such abandoned
mind’s and for securing the lives of the inhabitants
in future from atrocious attempts, the Fustices of the
Choultry were come to a resolution to punish the said
eriminal in the most public and exemplary manner,
the approbation of this Board being first had ; and
that he was further empowered from the Justices
of the Choultry to represent to the Board that, con-
sidering how easily poisons are procurable here, as
in the late instance by low miscreants, even Subli-
mate Mereury, it will be highly necessary to pub-
Yish a prohibition of selling or delivering poisons
of any sort, but under a proper regulation ; that
therefore ihey were of opinion that no person
should be permitted to sell or deliver poison, with-
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out first acquainting one of the Justices of it, under
the penalty of confiscation of half of their estate,
and being further liable to corporal punishment at
the discretion of the said Justice.

“ Approved the proceedings of the Justices im
their affair, and agreed with them to prohibit ihe
selling or delivering poison without the consent of
one of the Justices, and under the penalty above
mentioned, and that & prohibition be forthwith pub-
lished accordingly.”

Strange to say we can see no entry of the punish-
ment which was inflicted on the woman. She was
probably ireated in such a fashion that the Govern-
ment did not care to place it upon record.

Our next extracts will be found interesting, as
exhibiting the amount of expenditure and revenue
at Fort 5t. George and the other settlements on
the Coast of Coromandel. We give an extract
from the consuliation first, and the Aecountants’
report afterwards,

** Tuesday, 6ih December, 1726, Nathaniel
Turner, Accountant, delivers into the Board a
Report of the state of the Honorable Company’s
expenses and customs at their settlements upon
ihis coast, at the balaucing and ¢losing the general
books ending April last ; whick is read and ordered
to be entered after this consultation.

“ The said Report being maturely examined
and considered, the Board are sgreed that the
reduction of the charges of their settlement, and
of Fort 8t. David, has been carried as far as it
has been hitheirto practicable.

“¢ That the increase of the expense of Vizaga-
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patam last year, was owing to the additional
number of soldiers we were obliged to send and
continued there, for the security Of that factory,
while the country roundit was ravaged and they
threatened by contending armies ; that after the
reduction made as advised by \[r Svmonds and
Council in their letter to us dated 7th "\iav last, the
charge of that settlement will appear to have been
vonsiderably diminished upon the next years hooks.

“‘That we mustlikewise refer to next years
books for the reduction of expense at Masulipatam
and Madapallum.

¢ That the decrease of the Sea Customs, and the
increase of the Land Customs here at Madras last
vear, are owing to one and the same cause ; - they
having ordered the whole 5 per cent custom to
be paid at the Choultry upon goeds imported from
the country ; whereas fo:merlv only 21 per cent
was accounted for there and the other 21 at the
Sea gate upon exportation of said goods.”

« “That the decrease of the Customs is general
last year, here and at Fort St. David, and from there
account of the proceedings, seems indeed totally
owing at Fort 81. David to the five per cent charged
in said preceding year upon solarge a quantity of
turned ount cloths, that had been brought in there

upon former investments ; and here in part to the
like five per cent custom having been charged our
Merchants upon a considerable . quantity of turned
out cloths. Besides which the customs have heen
considerably lessened in this fort last year, and
will more conxlderﬂblv this, by theegreat decay in
the trade to Manilla, and the almost total loss of
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the trade of the Patans from Bengal ; both which
trades being principally in ftine goods, and form-
erly to a great value, were very considerable
branches of the Sea Customs.” :

Here foltlows the report of the Accountant to
the Governor and Conneil,

** Homorable Sir and Sirs, .

* The General Books of this settlement ending
April, 1726 Deing balanced and closed, and the sub-
ordinate Factory’s Books, ending April 1726 beng sent
up, I am to lay hefore your Honors the last years ex-
pense of this setflement and its subordinates on the
coast, that you may please to cousider whether any
part of the charges can be saved to the Homorable
Company,

" The Expenseof thie scttlement of

Fort 1. Lrevrge oo the balance of our

Books cuding April 17'25 amountrd

10 Pagodes. .. - DR 1 TR |
“The exprnar_as per our Books cnd-

ing Aprmil 1726 1s as follows :

* Chargea Giarrisen. . .. Pagodas., 15779 25 77
“ Presentn . .. - B 174 18 20
" Charges cattle. . . .. .. ROD 5o
* Charxes T urm:rd_mnry . . 173 21 10

* Parsiocations and repun .. .. 1403 79 30
* Charges Lnet o .. LR ]
** Aecount Salm .- .. .. 2283 34 67
“ Charges Hospital.. ., .. 768 35 20
** Charges Geoeral .. o .o BRE 22 34

— 35546 8 &8

* Lessened the expense of this place

this year. . L . 3488 25 40
“The rxpense of Fort 81. Dhavid on

the balance of their Boocks ending

Tﬁml 1723 amounnted to Pagodas. | “ .. 9268 M 15
“ expense a3 per their Booke

anding April 1728 is a2 followr:

* Charges Garnson - . .. 13082 7 5%
** Charges Extraordinary. . o 34T 26 35
* Peons and Serrants wages .. .. 3T 5 0
* Charges cattle .. . 60 0 0
* Fortitcations and repm-l. . 6 34 10
“ Charges Diet .. . 2066 4 A
* Account Salary .. . Lo B30 40
“ Presents ., e .. 1233 0
" Charges Hu:prta! . ‘. o 219 28 26
* Charges Genernd. . 4, 7, 663 358

—_——— 24215 %3 Rl
Lessened the expenre of 1hai place this vear . Pagodas. ., 5008 34 X4
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4 The Expense of Viragapatam oun
1he Balance of their Books ending
April 1723 amounted _to. . . Pagodas, 5836 1 &1
& TEE txpenee as per their Books
ending April 1726 ix as folluws,
“ Charges Garrison. . . .03 6 0
* Presenta . . . .. 490 & 4%
Uharges Ihiet y . e 578 30 0

Clarges Extreordinary .. .. il 31 35
* Fortitcations and repuiss ., 3456 33 3
* Account Salury .. o Lo 422 M 19
* Account Linrdens - o .. B35 19 4l
" Account Wax . . e 46 234 64
* Bervanta' woges .. L.oa. 1483 25 77
 Factors’ provisions .. . F- I R
* Account repairs o . . 18 & 6
“ Charges Geoernd o M .. 373 13

** Increased theExpence of that place
this sear .. . ..

* Whirh is oceasioned hy 200 European
Soldiers being sent down to that ser.
tlewent on accnont of the troubles
in the country in the beginning of the
vear; ten t3 of which eoldiers
are etil]l ronfinued there, and adde
10 the expense of that place ; but
pince Mr. Svimondn going down be
wriles us thet he has in gpursuance
1o your Honore' « rders made m con-
sideruble reduction in the Peons'
and serrants’ wages, which reduc.
fion wil) appear 1n their next general
Books ending April 1727, .4 .

“ The Expense of Ingeram for one year
ending April 1725, was .. i

* The {xgenx of Ingeram from April
1725 1o May 1726 is . e “

Pagadss. 1315 19 18
.. 132 13

* Leasened the Expente of that place
his Tear,. . o N “ B o . 33
“ The Expense nf Masulipatam and
Madapellum was fast year . Pagodas. 628 34 40
Do, this year ending April 1726 i . 62 29 43
* Decrensed this vear in their expensea o s ‘. &
“ The Exptuses of these twn factories
will next venr be comsiderably de.
eressed by the regulation  four
Honora hase lately made therein.
* Leesened thin year in the expenses of
thin settlement and its suberdinates ..

.. Pagodss, A553

—— e
ae e en e 8Ny 19 M

L1

L

—————

T 58

*Thus having given your Houors afcount of the Ho-
norable Company's annual expenses on this coast, I
shall proceed to lay before you an account of the



1711647, HISTORY OF MADRAS. 423

produce of their customs in this place and at Fort St,
David ending April 1726.

*The Ben Customs of Fort Bl George,
“QOn the balance of our Books end-

ing April 1725 amounted to.. .. 36081 B 19
" The amount 1itto {or one vear end.

o Aprid 1726, - . 8360 T 46
Derrease in this revenoe., .. 7191 0 63

* The wnount of the Lapd Customs of
Fort 8t. George.
* Op the Balance of their Books end-
ing April 1725 wan.. .. .. 4435 8 98
Da. .. April 1726 waa 10183 33 76
Intrease in thia revenue. . $730 15 48

© Less this year in the Customs of

Fort Bt. George than last.. . . 1760 11 13
o The Reveamne pf Fort St David
ending April 1726 amounted to .. 11941 M 75
f)«x 1725, . . #8727 038
* Lesa this year in  the Customs ol
Fort B1. David cthan last .. - o 206 2 3T
—_——

* The Customs of Forts 8t. Geirge ard
8t David hase on the balance of
our geoeral books ending  April
1720 Decreased . PR Pagodas. 2824 35 K2

—
I am with respect,
Hooorable Sir and Sirs,
Your most obedient humble servant,
Fort ST. GEORGE, NatHaNiEL TURNER,

6th Decernber 1726, Accountant,

The following record of an enterprising project
in the olden time is very curious.

* Monday, 26th December, 1726, Petition read
of Stephen Newcome, requesting leave to build o
Sawmill, and a lease for a space of ground to the
northward of the White Tower along the sea side
for building the said mill and proper sheds upon:
Aund he being called before the Board, and Leard to
the benefit he pibposes his mill will prove to be to
the Company and the Corporation, gave sufficient
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reasons fo Lelieve that it will be of public advan-
tage, and affitmed that he would saw timbers and
planks 50 per cent, cheaper upon the cooly hire now
usnally paid.  Besides that ke could saw blocks of
timber to much greater advantage, and prevent the
'waste cccasioned by the unskillfulness of the pre-
sent sawers.”

* Girauted his petition for the space of ground
therein meuntioned, and ordered a leasc to be pre-
pared for the same for 21 years; he paying betore
signing it 20 pagodas fine into the Company’s
cash, and annually one pagoda Quit rent during
the term of his lease; and in consideration of the
expence of preparing the ground, and building the
mill and necessary conveniences, and the benefit it
will prove to be to the Company and the place,— it
is resolved that the sole privilege of sawing tim-
ber and plank by a mill be vested in him for 21
years next ensuing, and no other person have that
liberty but wpon an agreement with kim during
that time.”

We hope that we shall find in future records
that this Sawmill proved a successful speculation.

‘That Mr. Macrae was a most vigilant Governor
is further proved by the {ollowing entry.

< Monday, 9th January, J?"? The Presirlent
represeuts to the Doard, that he had observed in
the Sorting Godown that a great deal of cloth
had been turned out this year, w vhich he was per-
suaded would upon a re-examination be found as
good as muster ; that as he would uvever counte-
nance the taking in bad clot®, so he thought
it was not serving the Ionorable Company well
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to turn out any that was as good as their musters ;
that all he proposed or desired was, that justice
might be done our Masters and the Merchants
fikewise, that they may not be discouraged from
contracting with us again. He therefore moves
that in order to do justice both to our Masters
and to their Merchants the cloth turned out
this year may be restored.” This was of course
agreed to. )

The following consultation respecting the hest
mode of improving the declining trade of Madras,
is very interesting.

‘ Tuesday, 31st Jamaary, 1727. The Board hav-
inz taken into consideration the declining state of
the trade of this place, which appears by the
customs to be greatly diminished ; and if expe-
dients ave not found for its sapport must in con-
sequence affect every other branch of the Hono-
rable Company’s Revenue, and utterly ruin the
inhabitants ;—It principally appears to be owing
to the following caunses.

“ That whereas heretofore the trade was en-
tirely carried on by the shipping of this port, it is
now in part in the possession of the French,
Armenians, and Moors, who traffic on other bot-
toms and import their Cargoes into other Setile-
ments ; which they are enabled to do by the |
money taken up here by Respondentia bonds,
and without which they could not carry on so
extensive a trade. It seems most probable that
the preventing this evil will most conduce to
the recovery of the custorrs, and make all
other ports on this coast dependent on us, though

34
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the duties are less elsewlhere ; and whereas several
of our English Supra-Cargoes take up large sums
of our inhabitants at Respondentia, and afterwards
proceed to Bengal, where they take up as much
more of persons who are ignorant of their engage-
Jnents here ; so Ly thrusting into their private
adventures greater quantitics of goods than the
markets where they are bound can possibly con-
sume, they are forced {o be in those ports two
seasons to dispose of their own private effects ;
to the great prejudice of those concerned in the
stock, and puts a stop to the quick eirculation ;
which will effectually be prevented by leiting the
Gentlemen in the Bay know what engagements
those Supra-Carzoes lie under bere, and by degrees
reduce trade to its proper bounds, which by this
licentious practice has been quite overdone.

 In order therefore, to support the Honorable
Company’s Revenue, and to prevent the injuries
this place receives from these clandestine prac-
tices ;—it is resolved that in future all Responden-
tia bonds, notes, or writings at Respondentia for
moncy lent by the inbabitants of this place,—
Company’s servants as well as others,-—upou all
ships trading from this or any other port in India,
shall be duly and regularly registered in a book to
be kept for that purpose.

“ That in case of any Supra-Cargo, Merchand,
Comumander, Mariner, or other, shall have borrowed
money at Respondentia of any of the said inliabi-
tants proving Insolvent, all such bonds so register-
ed shall be accounted and deemgd a preferable
claim to such os are not,
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¢« That the Sub-Seeretary do keep the said Book
of Hegister, and that he shall receive 9 fanains for
registering ench Respondentia bond or nofe under
100 pagodas principal, or 18 fanams for each such
bond or note for 100 pagodas or upward; that
afier having registered the said Bonds or notes
he shall sign them registered, the day of the
month and year ; and that the Secretary do put up
at the Sea Gatc a publication of this resclution in
writing in the usual languages for the notice and
observation of all the inbabitants.”

Qur next extracts are curious, as clearly show-
ing how the business between the Government
and the Native Merchants was transacted in the
Olden Time.

** Saturday, 1lth February, 1727, The Presi-
dent acquaints the Board that, after a great deal of
management with the Company’s Merchants, he
had engaged them fo agree to a contract for taking
off the woollen goods expected upon the next ship
from Gireat Britain, and for providing goods for Eu-
rope this season ; and delivers in the Contract and
the counterpart to the Board. Which being read
are approved, and the said Merchants being ealled
in, were interchangeably signed and delivered ; and
they promise their utmost endeavours to comply
with their engagements. -

* The President represents to the Board, that
the Merchants having received no tasharief aceord-
ing to custom at signing the contract with the
Company the two preceding years, and that they
row msisted npon their heing now tashariefed for
the three contracts :—it is ordered that the Ware-
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housekeeper deliver seven pieces fine scarlet cloth
for that use. Ordered also that 10,000 pagodas
be advanced them out of the 20,000 promised
them in the terms of the present contract.”

The following is a copy of the eontract as enter-
od in the Consultation Book.

* Saturday, 11th February, 1787. A contract
made, oconcluded, and apreed upon this 11th day
of February 1727, between James Macrae, Esq.
President and Council of Fort 8t. George in be-
half of the English East India Company on the
ene part, and Sunca Ramsh and Towby Chetty
etc, Joint Stock Merchants on the other part.

“ The said Merchants do herehy covenant,
promise and agree, that they will buy of the said
President and Council all the Woollen goods that
they shall receive npon the next expected shipping
from Great Britain, for the said Company’s ac-
count, at thirty per cent. advance upon the Ea-
yopean price ; that it shall be deposited in a Ware-
house under two keys, one of which to be kept
by the Warehousekeeper and another by the said
Merchants ; that before they receive any Woollen-
goods out of the Warehause they will pay the
amount thereof to the Warehonsekeeper, and fur-
ther that they will so receive and pay for the
whole quantity on or before the 1st day of Oeto-
ber 1728,

* The above said Meschauts do further promise,
eovenant and agree, to and with the said President

and Council, that they will provide 3000 hales
" of cloth of the sortments ; to b2 delivered at
least 1,500 bales thereof on or before the 20th
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day of September next, and the remainder on or
before the last day of Jannary following. Al the
cloths now remaining in the Company’s godown
unmeasured to be counted in part of the said
3000 bales now contracted for ; and the said Pre-
sident and Council do promise to receive the sume,
provided it be agreeable to our musters.

“ The sail Merchants do further covenant and
agree that they will not demand any money upon
account of this contract until the goods are de-
livered to the Company and embaled ; excepting
only the sum of 20,000 pagedas which the said
President and Council do hereby promise and are
obliged 1o advance to the said Merchants upon
this contract ; which said sum shall not be by
them accounted for until the conclusion hereof, and
the closing their accounts with the Company.

* The said Merchants do likewise covenant,
and are hereby oblized in case they shall fail in
complving with the terms of this eontract, to pay
a penalty of 20 per cent. for all the bales that they
shall deliver short of the number agreed upon; un-
less it shali be manifestly made appear that troubles
in the country have hindered them ; provided al-
ways, and it is hereby agreed that in case the mer-
chants shall comply with this contract within 500
bales of the whole 3000, that then the President
and Council will remit the penalty for the said 500
bales.

“In witness whereof the said President and
Council have to one part hereof set their hands,
and caused ther Company’s seal to be aftixed ; ane
to the other part the sald Merchants have set their



430 HISTORY OF MADRAS. {1726 —17.

hands and seals the day and year first abaove
written,”

" SuNcA RaMaH,

“ Natro BaLu CHETTY.

* Tompy CHETTY.

* CorrLasTRI CHETTY.

< Moonu VEXKATA CHETTY.”

The following story of attempted frand will ex-
plain itself.

“ Monday, 3rd April, 1727. Goodapilla Ran-
gappah, having brought a large diamond from the
muines to be sold here, and being a stranger, and
recommended o Gruapah a goldsmith, to assist
him in disposing of the said diamond, he had trust-
ed him with the sale of it.  But the said Gruapah,
with intentions to defraud Goodapilla of the real
value of the diamond, persuaded him upon several
delusory pretexts to retire to Conjeveram. In the
mean time, that he might carry on the fraud with
the greatest security, he possessed the ignorant
stranger with several groundless calumnies; to the
prejudice of the President’s characier and to the
trade of the place. Goodapilla being thus removed,
Gruapah applied himself to Gopaul, a Diamond
Merchant ; and ithey entered into an agrcement
to have the Diamond cut without the owner’s
knowledge or consent, and afterwards sold it like-
wisc without aequainting him to Mr. Parkes for
4150 pagodas, of which Gopaul and Gruapah re-
received each one half ; though Gruapah had been
to Conjeveram, and affirmed to Goodapilla that the
President had taken the stone from him, and had
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given him only 1500 pagodas for it ; and told him
that he must not come to Aladras, that if he did
Le would be in danger. But Goodapilla suspect-
ing the frand, came ut last to Madias; and having
information that his diamond had been sold as
ahove, made his complaint thercupon to the Pre-
sident, and craved that justice might be done him.
Whercupen  the  Tresident had  ordered  the
said Gopaul and Gruapah to be committed to
prison ; of all which he now acquaints the Board ;
and they and Goodapilla being called Lefore tle
Board, and the whole aftair being particularly en-
quired into, it appears evident that Gruapah had
imposcd upon, and defrauded Goodapilla Rung-
apah, and aspersed the President very grossly as
above narrated. Mr. Parkes being called, declared
he paid so much for the diamond. Gepal and Gru.
apah acknowledge that it was the same diamond
that Goodapilla had trusted Gruapah with to
sell for him, and that they had reccived each one
half of the money. Gruapah affirms he had paid
Goodapilla 17,000 pagodas ; but the other per-
sists to affirm that he had received only 15,000
pagodas for his diamond, It being likewise evi-
dent that Gopanl was concurring with Gruapah
m this cheat, and that he knew the diamond was
Goodapilla’s, and had treated with Mr. Parkes
abont the sale of it, the Board came to the follow-
ing resohution.

That, after deducting the charge of cutting the
said Diamond, and the sum already paid by UGru-
apah to Goodapillah, Gopaul and Gruapah do
make up to him the sum it was sold for, each one
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half ; that Gruapah being in low circuinstances,
the Secretary do make an inventory of his effects
and sefl them at the Sea Gate by public outery,
for pavment of his half of the said money ; and
that if the amount of all his effects shall not
prove sufficient, that Gopaul shall make up
the sum that shall” be wanting ; and that he shall
recover of Gruapah the sum so wade good if ever
Ite shall be found to have effects; that both be
remanded to prison until the judgment is complied
with, and that Groapah be exemplarily puaished
for groundlessly aspersing the President’s character
in so gross a manuer.’”’

Ifere the matter cnded, and we can only presume
that the money was subsequently paid. M is how-
cver a significant fact that Goodapilla should be so
casily induced to believe in the oppression charged
arainst the Governor, Mr. Macrae’s proceedings
as regards interlopers may be gathered from the
following exiract.

“ Tuesday, 25th April, 1727. The President
represents to the Board that several persons,
without indentures or license to trade as free
Merchants, thrusting themselves into the several
branches of the trade of India, are a great prejudice
to the tradein general, and to the Company's
Covenanted Servants and others that bave license
particularly jn Pegu.  That we are directed by the
Honorzble Court of Directors in their letter dated
Tth January 1726, to send home all such ‘Fraders.
Whercfore the President moves that Miles Barne
and Thomas Pritchard, both now lere and intend-
ed to retumn to Perru, and Lewis Tornery and James

+
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Lander, who are now Lhere trading (though none of
the four has the Company’s Indentures) may be
served with an order to return to Great Britain,
conformably to our Honorable Masters' directions
in that respect,

* Resolved that the orders for Lewis Tornery
and James Lander be sent in a general letter to
Capiain Bereyman, Resident at Syrian, by a con-
veyance that now offers; with directions to him
to serve the said orders and see them eomplied
witl ; and that the Secretary do serve Miles Bame
and Thomas Pritchard who are on the place, with
the like orders.”

These orders were cvaded. Miles Barne and
Thomas Pritchard obtained to go to Pegu for one
year to recover their effects, promising faithfully
to return and embark for England at the cxpira-
tion of that time. Ilowever they broke their word
and stayed at Pegpu; and the resident at legu
appears to have avoided taking any action in the
matter.

We close the present chapter and the present
volume with the following entry, which serves to
illustrate the nature of the irade with China carried
on by the Company’s servauts at Madras, and at
the same time indicates the state of existing re-
lations between Fort 8t. George and Pondicherry.

* Wednesday, lst June, 1727. The President
represents to the Board, that he proposesto send
a ship to China this year, and is on that account .
in want of somegsilver to send on her; that as the
Trench at Pondicherry have lately sold their silyey

55

L]
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at fourteen and three eights dollars weight yper ten
pagodas, he is willing to take the Company’s at that
price, with the allowance of a quarter more as usual
for ships that go for China. Agreed to deliver the
Tresident thirty Chests of silver at those rates.”
The concluding years of Governor Macrae’s ad-
ministration will be treated in the next volume.

END OF THE SECOND YOLUME,
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MADRAS IN THE OLDEN TIME: heinga
history of the Presidency from the first founda-
tion of Fort St. George to the Governorship of
Thomas Pitt, Grandfather of the Earl of Cha-
tham, 1639—1702 compiled from Official Re-
cords, by J. Tareoys WieeLER, Esq., mina-
ture quarto, with Fac similies of the autographs
of the early Governors of Madras...... Rs. 5-0,

HAND-BOOK TO THE MADRAS RECORDS,
with Chronelogical Annals of the Madras Pre-
sidency from 1639 to 1861, 8vo, cloth,..Rs, 2-8,

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS.

¢ Tt affords us much pleasure to ohserve that
two very interesting and valuable publications are
on the eve of being given to the world by Mr. Hie-
civpotuaM. Weallude to My, TaLBoys WHEEL-
ER’'s volume entitled * Madras in  the Olden
Time,” and his ** Hand-Bank to the Madras Re-
cords, preserved in the Government Office.” The
former of these works is a re-print of that admira-
ble series of papers which have for some time past
enriched the columns of the Judiarn Stalesman.
Those papers are so widely kuown and highly ap-
preciated, that We necd say nothing more about
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them. In the meantime we have immediately to
deal with Mr. WREELER'S Summary (i. ¢. Hand-
Boak) of the Records of the Presidency, which
lies beside us. Mr. WraeLER has had a rich
mine opened to him, and has made the best of his
opportunity. He was appointed last year to search
through the Government Records, and to give an
opinion as to the value of them, nor could the task
Lave been placed in better hands. His report on
them has been promounced perfectly satisfactory
by the Madras Government.—.{#kenectin, March
2d, 1861.

¢ The Reporter has performed his task with so
much ability, as we said on a previous occasion,
and has so condensed the voluminous documen-
tary matter submitied to his treatment, that, to
use a pithy old Scotch proverb, we have ™ great
gear packed in little bulk,” and can make extracts
invitingly short. Mr. WHEELER’s toil in wading
through the Records above mentioned, with a view
to that re-classification of the whole effected by
him, must have been enormous.—Atheneum,
March 12th, 1861.

« We have been favoured with & copy of Mr. J,
Tarroys WHEELER'S entertaining work, entitled,
© Madras in the Olden Time,” a history of this
Presidency from ite first foundstion to the Go-
vernorship of Thomas Pitt, Grandfather of the
Earl of Chatham. This interesting work, com-
pilal from official records in the Government
Office, had already afforded us ¢ good deal of
amusement, and no little inatruction, as it appeared
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in a fragmentary state in the Indian Slatesnon. It
eomprises the annals of our Madras Commonwealth
during a period hitherto little known or studied,
extending from 1639 to 1702 : and we must con-
fess we did not imagine that old Madras could
have furnished any thing so interesting. Had the
prospectus of such a work been set before us, we
should have smiled incredulously at the promise
of entertainment ; but we can assure our readers
that a perusal of this little history will amply re-
pay them both with valuable information and
amusement. Mr. WieELER has eliminated what is
dull and commereial, and has thrown a charm over
the corly records of our Presidency by his easy
and pleasant style, whilst he hus also exhibited his
subject in connection with the history of the times
n o most instructive manner.

¢ Madras has reason to be grateful for the la-
bours of Mr. WHEELER, and we hope ere long to
see a continuation of his researches into times of
still increasing interest and importance.—Madras
Observer, March 14th, 1861.

< Madras in the Olden Time,” a compilation
from the records of Government by Mr. J. T,
WHEELER, has just been published in convenient
form by Mr. HiceixBormam. The student of
Indian history will find much to interest him in
the old Records for the first time disinterred and
arranged chronologically by Mr. WHEELER, for
the Indian Statfesmar, and now placed before the
public in a compact volume by Mr. Hicaixnno-
THAM, The compiler appears to bave laboured with
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great zeal and industry, wading through hundreds
of volumes of consultations,” and we think it must
be admitted by all who perused the several ehap-
ters as they appeared in the Slafesman that the
permission accorded by the Government to Mr,
WHEELER has been used very judiciously. So far
as we are able to judge, we should say that no event
of any importance in the history of the infant Pre-
sidency has been omitted, whilst the extracts refer-
ring to the quarrels of the Governors with one
another, with their servants and subjects and with
the native chiefs from the Naik of Poonamallee to
the great Mogul himself, convey the most vivid
description of the position, manners and character
of the first settlers, and of the people by whom
they were surrounded.  As to Mr. WHEELER the
least we can say of him is that whilst he has fur-
nisled the public with some very interesting and
amusing reading, he has added a valuable contri-
bution to Tnhdian History.— Eraminer, March 2d,
1861.

« The whole period about which Mr. WHEELER
writes is between 1639 and 1702, corresponding,
as he remarks, almost exactly with that of Lord
Macaulay’s History. The materials for the nar-
rative have been collected after an amount of la-
beur, which few would voluntarily undertake, from
the old Government Records. It was weil knawn
that, amidst very much that was uninteresting and
having reference only to mercantile transactions,
much that was valuable and amusing might be dis-
covered if any one sufficiently intlefatigable would
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undertake the work. A few scraps of valuable
matter had been disinterred from among the rub-
bish which swirounded them, but it was left for Mr,
WHEELER to gather up all these fragments, sepa-
rate them from the worthless material by which they
are encrusted, and work them into one, continuous
and readable narrative.”’ — Aadras Crescent, March
28d, 1851,

The Hurkaru writing of Mr. WHEELER'S work
5ays:—

* We have to acknowledge the receipt of < Mad-
rasin the Olden Time,”” from 1639 to 1702 a
seemingly very interesting work, by J. T. Wakk-
LER, Esq.  Every page of it into which we lave
had time to look contains matter of much interest
to any settler in the Fast.”

‘“ In conclusion, we may notice the fact two works
have issued from one of the local presses of great
mterest to all who are conneeted with Madras, and
of considerable importance to the student of Indian
History. They ave both written by Mr. J. Tar-
BoYS WHEELER, the Editor of the Indian Siates-
man, and are deservedly spoken of in the highest
terms in iwo reviews whick we quote elsewhere,
One is “ Madras in the Olden Time” being a his-
tory of this Presidency from its first foundation to
the Governorship of My, Thomas Pitt, Grandfather
of the Far] of Chatham, that is, from 1639 to *
1702. This Period hus been almost ignored by
Mill, and where alluded to by him is in many in-
stances  inaccuvately treated.  As the present
work is compiled’ from the Government Records,
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which were placed at Mr. WHEELER's disposal
by the Madras Government, all the facts connected
with the early history of the Presidency have been
for the first time brought to light in & handy and
well printed volume. The other work is a Hand-
Book to the old Records of Madras which has
been prepared for Government, It deals with the
same subjeet of Madras in the Olden Time, but is
of course more official in style : it is nevertheless
highly interesting.” —Overiand Adiheneun, March
291, 1861.

“ We have now beside us the publication referred
to, in the form of a ** Hand-Book to the Madras
Reeords,” a pamphlet in boards extending to the
length of 94 pages, (with Chronological annals ex-
teniding over 40 pages,) and full of most interesting
raatter connected with the past history of our Presi-
dency, which we heartily eommend to the notice of
our readers, as a valuable addition to theirlibraries,
They will learn from it much that even the most
studious among them, and those best acquainted
with cxtant hooks relative to India, ncver knew
before, beeausc he has wiscly been permitted to
open to them sources of information hitherto con-
cealed, and the nature and value of which was
unknown to the possessors of the treasure so long
kept under lock and key, in the archieves of Fort
- Saint George. Regarding the excellence of the
Report, and the amount of labour hestowed on the
preparation of it, we need add nothing to what we
have said already, but we must Enrt.icularly men-
tion in addition to the Report, as'now printed, of
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thirty-one pages, which are perhaps more valuable
for the purposes of reference, although less directly
instructive and amusing, than the Report itself, as
they contain “ Chronological Annals of the British
Government at Madras, from the earliest period to
the present day ; 1631 to 1861, In those = An-
nals” Mr. WaEELER has brought lis work down
to the 5th of March 1861, his record concluding
with a notice of the late lamented Bishop of Mad-
ras. He has furnished a minute and correct chro-
nological series of past events, unot to Le found
elsewhere, which every one who wishes to leamn
the past history of Madras will do well to con-
sult.— Athenoum, April 13th, 1861,

“MaDpras 1IN Tue OLpeEN 11ME; being a
history of the Presidency from the first foundation
to the Governorship of Thomas Pitt, Grandfather
of the Earl of Chatham—1689--1702 ;* such is
the title of a work compiled from official records,
by J. Tarsoys WnEeLER, Professor of Moral
Philosophy and Logic, Madras Presidency College.
The work first appeared as a series of papers in
one of the ablest of our Indian journals, the In-
dian Statesman, Many of our readers will remem-
ber that a similar work, entitled “ The English in
Western India,” by the late lamented FPhillip An-
derson, a Chaplain on this Establishment, appear-
ed as a series of papers in our own columms, The
two works are the lbest we bave on “ the Olden
time in India.” They are replete with information,
amusement, and interest, ..o e ere e ee

’

Lae e wer vae ar are

We could give our readers, if our space permitted,
56
3
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many more amusing pictures from the work before
us. We shall, however, conclude by supplying
them with a teblequ vivant of Fort St. George at
the end of the seventeenth century. ¢ They will
hear the gun fired at early morning,—and they will
see the gradual stir of the inhabitants,—the mea--
sured tramp of the European soldier,—the little
stately peon with his sword and buckler,—the rush
of noisy and naked coolies,— the appearance of ap-
prentices, writers, factors, and merchants in hall-
Hindoo costume,—the assembly for morning pray-
ers in the little chapel, good master Patrick War-
ner officiating in his gown and bands, and indig-
nant at the smallness of his congregation,—the
opening of the Tactory and jobbering crowd of
Native traders,—the grand displays of European
goods for sale, and packing up of Native Mer-
chandise for export home,— the little school-room
and long array of little hoys and girls,—the order-
ly dinner shortly after noon, where all are assem-
bled at the general table from the apprentices to
ihe Honorable Governor himself,—the return to
the labors of the desk and ware-house, until the
Jjnyous hour of closing has arrived, and the jaded
Furopeans recruit their exhausted spirits with the
pleasures of punch, tobacco, and other persuits
which we need not and cannot name. Ifitis
Sunday, all would be changed ; for in old times
English Sundays were rigidly observed as little
festivals. Then Europeans, civilians as well as
soldiers dropped their half native attire, and were
apparelled in the European fastéon of the time,
Then for a brief hour or two the Chaplain would be a
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greater man than the Governor. Then he would
denounce vice and popery to his heart’s content,
and expound the Scriptures by the light of a theo-
logical learuing which was almost general in those
days when the Church was a living reality, but
which is fast passing away now, Then the Church
could boast of literary giants, such as Walton,
Lightfoot, Stillingfleet, Beveridge : thousand time-
honored names. She has few men to boast of
now."'—Bonbay Gazetle,



